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3) IDC, Worldwide Supply Chain Management Applications Market Shares, 2021: Growth Resumed, Doc ##US49846822,
2022 12
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Players Maintain Share, Doc #US49273722, 2022 6

5) IDC, Worldwide Travel and Expense Management Software Market Shares, 2021: Data Management Forms New
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) (
)
SAP Deutschland SE
& Co. KG 100% 5,213,029 1,724,802 ™
@)
SAP (Schweiz) AG
(Schweiz) 100% 1,220,424 240,769 )
AP (UK)Limit
SAP (U)Limited 100% 1,326,666 174,850 Q)
SAP Espafia —
Sistemas,
Aplicaciones y
Productos en la 100% 555,000 207,794 ™
Informatica,
S.A.
SAP F S.A.
rance 100% 1,095,975 1,982,374 Q)
SAP ltalia Sistemi
Applicazioni
Prodott! In Data 100% 643,856 147,910 ™
Processing
S.p-A.
SAP Nederland
B.V. 100% 749,366 827,982 ™
(©)]
Ariba, Inc.
100% 1,457,046 6,147,376 (@)
Concur
Technologies,
Inc. 100% 2,036,964 8,702,490 ™
SAP America, Inc.
100% 7,679,678 20,620,854 ™
SAP Industries,
Inc.
100% 589,487 1,316,745 ™
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SuccessFactors,
Inc.
100% 817,875 5,416,686 ™
Qualtrics, LLC
100% 1,389,345 8,276,577 ™
SAP Brasil Ltda. .
) 100% 680,482 67,004 ™
SAP C Inc.
anada Inc 100% 1,143,722 701,953 Q)
SAP México S.A.
de C.V. 100% 517,905 119,388 Q)
SAP
100% 1,186,733 407,789 ™
SAP Australia Pty
Ltd. 100% 854,197 114,663 ™
SAP (China) Co.,
Ltd. 100% 1,315,556 -115,740 (@)
(O]
SAP India Private
Limited 100% 752,754 439,985 *)
™
() IFRS
@ SAP SE
(©) 2 403 2022 12 31 2022 9 30
SAP SE
(4) SAPSE
EMEA
APJ
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EMEA APJ EMEA APJ EMEA APJ

5,672 4,617 5,247 15,536 5,947 4,586 5,113 15,646 6,278 4,589 5,525 16,392

8,247 5,580 5,841 19,669 8,229 5,491 5,924 19,644 8,175 5,934 5,733 19,842

16,606 6,416 11,100 34,122 15,347 6,326 10,571 32,244 13,705 6,094 9,781 29,580

12,207 12,511 5,831 30,548 11,136 11,598 5,481 28,215 10,348 10,48 5,000 25,834

3,466 2,186 1,280 6,932 3,374 2,306 1,199 6,879 3,285 2,161 1,243 6,689

2,800 1,440 914 5,154 2,609 1,353 824 4,786 2,291 1,107 696 4,094

SAP Q@ 3 ) 48,999 32,749 30,213 111,961 46,641 31,660 29,113 107,415 44,082 30,369 27,979 102,430
188 214 8 410 462 407 45 914 609 97 75 781

SAP ( ) 48,408 32,668 29,939 111,015 45,359 30,651 28,354 104,364 43,340 30,306 27,830 101,476
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2024 5
SAP SE Works Council WoC
SAP SE WoC
SAP SE SAP SE
SAP Deutschland SE & Co. KG SAP Germany hybris GmbH Concur
(Germany) GmbH Emarsys Interactive Services GmbH
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Emarsys Interactive Services GmbH SAP SE SAP
Germany SAP SE
SAP France SAP France Holding SAP Labs France Concur (France) SAS
SYNTEC 2019 12 31

SAP France SAP France Holding
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SAP France SAP France Holding SAP Labs France

Concur (France) SAS SAP Espafia —
Sistemas, Aplicaciones y Productos en la Informatica, S.A. SAP Belgium NV/SA. SAP Israel SAP
Nederland B.V. SAP Italia Sistemi Applicazioni Prodotti inDataProcessing S.p.A. SAP China Beijing

SAP CR, spol. s r.o. SAP Services s.r.o. Ariba Czech s.r.o.

Concur Czech (s.r.o.) SAP Brasil Ltda SAP Korea Ltd. SAP North West Africa Ltd.
SAP Slovensko s.r.o. SAP sistemi, aplikacije in produkti za obdelavo podatkov
d.o.o. SAP Romania SRL  SAP Svenska Aktiebolag SAP UK Ltd. SAP
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2022 SAP Build Apps SAP AppGyver SAP Build Process Automation SAP Process
Automation SAP Build Work Zone SAP Work Zone SAP BTP
SAP Build SAP Build
SAP BTP
SAP BTP
SAP
SAP Signavio
SAP Signavio SAP Process Automation

Qualtrics
IT

24/396



EDINETOOOO
O00DO0000O0O0n(E24727)
oOoOooodn

SAP Cloud for Sustainable Enterprises

ESG
SAP Product Footprint Management
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SAP  PwC ESG

XM Qualtrics
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SAP
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SAP Enterprise Support

Success SAP Cloud Application Services
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2022
KP1 2022 2022
@ 115.5 116.8
118.5
@ 250 250.2
255
. e 76.8
79
45 43.5
3 8 3
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)
85
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* 2022 2022 1 2022 4 7 10 2022 2022
10
(1)  IFRS
(@)
2023
KP1 2022 2023
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’ 157 @)
265.2 282
’ 287 @
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80-3 @ o1 NO)
43.5 50
3 ——
(2022 )
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80% 76%  80%
85 0
(1)  IFRS
(@)

27/396



EDINETOOOO
DO0O0OoDoOoOgOooOo(E24727)
oOoOooodn

(3) 2023
2022
2025
2023
KP1 2025
220
360
(€Y) 115
80
84%  86%
0 2023 2030
() IFRS
3 2 3 3 3
3 4 3 5
ADR
EU COVID-19

28/396



EDINETOOOO
DO0O0OoDoOoOgOooOo(E24727)
oOoOooodn

SAP

ESG

29/396



EU

EU

CoEBC

30/396

IFRS

EU

EDINETOOOO
DO0O0OoDoOoOgOooOo(E24727)
oOoOooodn

GDPR

EU

Al



EDINETOOOO
DO0O0OoDoOoOgOooOo(E24727)
oOoOooodn

31/396



EDINETOOOO
DO0O0OoDoOoOgOooOo(E24727)
oOoOooodn

SLA

SLA

PCI (PCI DSS)

32/396



EDINETOOOO
DO0O0OoDoOoOgOooOo(E24727)
oOoOooodn

Cloud4C
Cloud4C Cloud4C
Cloud4C
Cloud4C

Cloud4C

33/396



EDINETOOOO
DO0O0OoDoOoOgOooOo(E24727)
oOoOooodn

SAP Business Technology Platform (SAP BTP)

34/396



EDINETOOOO
DO0O0OoDoOoOgOooOo(E24727)
oOoOooodn

go-to-market

35/396



EDINETOOOO
DO0O0OoDoOoOgOooOo(E24727)
oOoOooodn

3 3 (3

2 3 3 3 (B

(A-D

2022
ECB 1

2022

COVID-19 ECB

ECB EMEA

10 2022

ECB

2022

APJ GDP 3 4 ECB

12

IT

COVID-19

International Data Corporation IDC 2022
IDC

36/396



EDINETOOOO
DO0O0OoDoOoOgOooOo(E24727)

ooooodd
IDC —
Al
3
1DC 3
3 IDC
DX
2
IDC IT
4
4
IDC 2022 IT
5
1 8/2022 2023 1 12

2 IDC FutureScape: Worldwide Future of Digital Innovation 2023 Predictions, Doc #US48598522, 2022 10
3 IDC FutureScape: Worldwide Digital Business Strategies 2023 Predictions, Doc #CA49743822, 2022 10
4 IDC Future Scape: Worldwide Sustainability/ESG 2023 Predictions, Doc #US48709922, 2022 10

5 IDC"s Worldwide Low-Code, No-Code, and Intelligent Developer Technologies Taxonomy, 2022, Doc #US49779722, 2022

11
2022
IFRS 410 IFRS 290
(A.2) (B-6) (©.2)
2022
33 126
27 120 11 309 IFRS
470 IFRS 2 80
43.5
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80 84 86 80 84
25 85 70 90 95
2023 2025
2022 IFRS
2022
IFRS IFRS IFRS
IFRS IFRS IFRS
2022 IFRS
2022 2022
115.5 118.5 250 255
78
IFRS 78 82.5 2022 IFRS 25.0
28.0 2021 21.5 IFRS 22.0 25.0 2021 20.0
Sapphire Ventures
2020 4 IFRS 28.0 32.0 IFRS 23.0
27.0 Sapphire Ventures 2022
2022 7
IFRS 76 79
IFRS 34.0 38.0
Sapphire Ventures 2022
IFRS 2022 IFRS 23.0
27.0
2022 10 2022 IFRS
IFRS 2022 IFRS 45.0 IFRS
30.0 Sapphire Ventures 2022

2022 IFRS
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2022
2021 2022 2022 2022 2022 2022
2021 1 3
95.9 115.5 115.5 115.5 115.5 116.8
¢ ) 118.5 118.5 118.5 118.5
244.1 250 250 250 250 250.2
( ) 255 255 255 255
84.1 78 78 76 76 76.8
( IFRS
) 82.5 82.5 79 79
75% 78% 78% 78% 78% 79%
(IFRS) 21.5% 25.0%  28.0% 28.0%  32.0% 34.0%  38.0% 45.00% 44.7%
( IFRS) 20.06 22.0%  25.0% 23.0%  27.0% 23.0%  27.0% 30.0% 29.6%
CovID
12
117.3 120.3 2021 94.5
Litmos
1.5 24 2021
26
2021
2022 12 31
35 342
2022 2021 94.2 116.8
115.5 118.5
24
4 250.2 2021
240.8 2022 250.0 255.0
4.4
1 79 2021 75
2022 5 201.1 2021 278.4
2022 IFRS 9 214.3 2021
196.1
2022 2022
IFRS 2.1 72
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2022 IFRS 7 76.8 2021 82.3
IFRS SAP Litmos 109
FTE 4,546
4,136 IFRS 76.8
76.0 79.0
447 IFRS 29.6 IFRS 2022 10
45.0 IFRS 30.0 IFRS
IFRS
IFRS IFRS IFRS
EMEA
APJ 3
(A.D)
=Y
Hifir : B == — 0 i A b
30,871
27,553 27,338 27,842
24,708
[ 12%
296
=1%6
2018 I 20194E E 20204 HE 20214 HE 20224 BE
2022 30,871 2021 27,842 11 3,029
2022 86 2021 86 2022
2021 3,764 16 4,350 14
2021 14
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FIZOFBIUY 7 =TI
HifiL : @7 =—o  HiE A

23,012 23,228 24,078

20,622

58k

20| S HE 20194 HE DOVZOAE HE 20214 HE SO22EEHE
2022 2021 24,078 10 26,521
b e A

Hifir « B — o PR

9,418
3% 8,080
6,933
4,093
1T 17%
201 S5 1 2] B 20204 20214E 1 202245 [IF
2022 2021 9,418 33 3,138 12,555
SAP S/4HANA
2021 1,090 91 2022 2,081
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2022
2021 253 2022 27
2021 9,447 2022 SAP S/4HANA
3,171 2021 1,707
2021 3,248 1,192
2022 11,909 2021
SAP Enterprise Support
2021 14,660
13,965
& 0 TRzl
difir : ga—o
VIR eT W=k mrSsaE 24,465
18,480 19,586
6,933 8,080
11,547 11,506 11,412 11,909
201945 202075 202040 20221
2021 20,829 24,465
17 2022
79 2021 75
4,350 2021 3,764 16 586
2021 3,294 15
3,793 2022
87 2021 87 12 2021
18 87 558 2021 471
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AP 4,495
EMEA
2022 EMEA
EMEA 13,081 2021 12,589 42
2021 45 4 4,504 2021 4,343
EMEA 34 2021 34 EMEA
S0 FBLUTYZ PO =TIndE (EMEA)
Bl fHo—n
P2 eTRITRE— s SR
10,831 11,236
211 10,364 :
9,339 "
7.898 8,096 7,756 7624 5,943
20| SiE G 201941 2020418 20214 202041
EMEA 11,236 2021 10,931
86 2021 87 2022 EMEA
30 4,293 2021 3,308 2022
9 6,943 2021 7,624
2022 43 2021 39
21 13,295 2021 10,969
10,811 2021 8,870
81 2021 81 18 2,484
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VIR aFTELITSE=F 0S50 K 11,333
9,172 9,239 9,348
7,973
2,941
5,082 5,227 4 800 4,455 4,646
. -21}] “iiF."."_ EDI':?TF"'}-_: ziﬂfﬂil'iff.‘-_. 202141 111}22‘1"—.@
11,333 2021
9,348 85 2021 85 2022
37 6,687 2021 4,894
83 2022
4,646
2021 4,455
APJ
2022 APJ 15 2021 15 APJ
5 4,495 2021 4,285 1,242
2021 1,301
APJ 28 2021 30 APJ
9 APJ
FFUFBLEUY 7 R =TI (AP])
B - @ 2—1
VIR TREFE— s TFHR
3,629 3,625 =48 HES
3,310
2,699 2,757 2,592 2,582 2,377
2018 HE D194 20204 1 2021 SEHE 2022 5E
APJ 3,952 2021 3,798
88 2021 89 2022 APJ
29 1,575 2021 1,217 2022
2021 2,582 2,377
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(Christian Klein)

CEO

2022 2022 2022 2021 2021 2021 2022 2021

c > C ) «c > C
1,100.0 1,100.0 1,100.0 1,100.0 1,100.0 1,100.0 1,100.0 23.5 1,100.0 18.7
1 13.5 0 220.0 18.6 0 220.0 13.5 0.3 18.6 0.3
1,113.5 1,100.0 1,320.0 1,118.6 1,100.0 1,320.0 1,113.5 23.8 1,118.6 19.1
0 0 0 1,100.0 18.7
STI 2021 1,900.0 0 2,660.0 0 2,532.7 43.1
STI 2022 1,900.0 0 2,660.0 1,162.8 24.9 0
LTI 2016 - 2018 -163.9 -3.5 1,118.4 19.1
LTI 2016 - 2019 2,561.8 54.8 0
LTI 2020 - 2021 5,500.0 0 14,666.7 0 0
LTI 2020 - 2022 5,500.0 0 14,666.7 0 0
7,400.0 0 17,326.7 7,400.0 0 17,326.7 3,560.6 76.2 4,751.1 80.9
8,513.5 1,100.0 18,646.7 8,518.6 1,100.0 18,646.7 4,674.1 100.0 5,869.7 100.0
LTI12016 2018 954.5
1,118.4 163.9

(Sabine Bendiek)

2022 2022 2022 2021 2021 2021 2022 2021

c > C ) «c > C

700.0 700.0 700.0 700.0 700.0 700.0 700.0 49.6  700.0 17.3
1 23.4 0 70.0 53.7 0 70.0 23.4 1.7 53.7 1.3
1,400.0 1,400.0 1,400.0 0 1,400.0 34.5
723.4 700.0 770.0 2,153.7 2,100.0 2,170.0 723.4 51.2 2,153.7 53.1
STI 2021 1,425.8 0 1,99.1 0 1,900.5 46.9
STI 2022 1,125.8 0 1,576.1 689.0 48.8 0
LTI 2020 - 2021 3,374.3 0 8,998.1 0 0
LTI 2020 - 2022 2,754.3 0 7,344.8 0 0
3,880.1 0 8,920.9 4,800.1 0 10,994.3 689.0 48.8 1,900.5 46.9
4,603.4 700.0 9,690.9 6,953.8 2,100.0 13,164.3 1,412.3 100.0 4,054.2 100.0
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3.48
2022 LTI 0.58 2021 STI 0.3 LTI 1.2
1.4

(Luka Mucic)

2022 2022 2022 2021 2021 2021 2022 2021

c > C ) «C > C D
750.0 750.0 750.0 737.5 737.5 737.5 750.0 23.1 737.5 17.1
1 17.2 0 75.0 17.2 0 74.0 17.2 0.5 17.2 0.4
767.2 750.0 825.0 754.7 737.5 811.5 767.2 23.6 754.7 17.5
0 700.0 16.3
STI 2021 1,144.0 0 1,601.6 0 1,525.0 35.4
STI 2022 1,150.0 0 1,610.0 703.8 21.7 0
LTI 2016 - 2018 -194.7 -6.0 1,327.7 30.8
LTI 2016 - 2019 1,971.6 60.7 0
LTI 2020 - 2021 2,770.4 0 7,387.7 0 0
LTI 2020 - 2022 2,900.0 0 7,733.3 0 0
4,050.0 0 9,343.3 3,914.4 0 8,989.3 2,480.7 76.4 3,552.7 82.5
4,817.2 750.0 10,168.3 4,669.1 737.5 9,800.8 3,247.9  100.0 4,307.4 100.0
LTI12016 2018 1,133.0
1,327.7 194.7

(Juergen Mueller)

2022 2022 2022 2021 2021 2021 2022 2021

c > C ) «c > C D

700.0 700.0 700.0 700.0 700.0 700.0 700.0 21.8  700.0 24.0
1 15.7 0 70.0 21.8 0 70.0 15.7 0.5 21.8 0.7
715.7 700.0 770.0 721.8 700.0 770.0 715.7 22.3 721.8 24.7
0 700.0 24.0
STI 2021 1,125.8 0 1,576.1 0 1,500.6 51.3
STI 2022 1,125.8 0 1,576.1 689.0 21.5 0
LTI 2016 - 2019 1,805.4 56.2 0
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LTI 2020 - 2021 2,174.3 0 5,798.1 0 0
LTI 2020 - 2022 2,174.3 0 5,798.1 0 0
3,300.1 0 7,374.2 3,300.1 0 7,374.2 2,494.3 77.7 2,200.6 75.3
4,015.7 700.0 8,144.2 4,021.9 700.0 8,144.2 3,210.0 100.0 2,922.4  100.0
(Scott Russell)

2022 2022 2022 2021 2021 2021 2022 2021

c > > C D «c > C
1,000.0 1,000.0 1,000.0 733.3 733.3 733.3 1,000.0 43.8  733.3 32.8
1 70.1 0 250.0 12.6 0 183.0 70.1 3.1 12.6 0.6
( 202.8 0 1,100.0 85.0 0 878.7 202.8 8.9 85.0 3.8
)2
1,272.8 1,000.0 2,350.0 830.9 733.3 1,795.0 1,272.8 55.8 830.9 37.2
STI 2021 1,052.3 0 1,473.2 0 1,402.8 62.8
STI 2022 1,650.0 0 2,310.0 1,009.8 44.2 0
LTI 2020 - 2021 2,607.9 0 6,954.5 0 0
LTI 2020 - 2022 2,850.0 0 7,600.0 0 0
4,500.0 0 9,910.0 3,660.2 0 8,427.7 1,009.8 44.2 1,402.8 62.8
5,772.8 1,000.0 12,260.0 4,491.1 733.3 10,222.7 2,282.6  100.0 2,233.7 100.0
2022 1 1
4.8 5.5 2021 12

(Thomas
Saueressig)

2022 2022 2022 2021 2021 2021 2022 2021

c > > C ) «c > C )

716.7 716.7 716.7 700.0 700.0 700.0 716.7 41.4  700.0 24.0
1 15.7 0 72.0 19.0 0 70.0 15.7 0.9 19.0 0.7
732.4 716.7 788.7 719.0 700.0 770.0 732.4 42.3 719.0 24.6
0 700.0 24.0
STI 2021 1,125.8 0 1,576.1 0 1,500.6 51.4
STI 2022 1,138.2 0 1,593.4 696.6 40.2 0
LTI 2016 - 2019 301.7 17.4 0
LTI 2020 - 2021 2,174.3 0 5,798.1 0 0
LTI 2020 - 2022 2,278.8 0 6,076.8 0 0
3,417.0 0 7,670.2 3,300.1 0 7,374.2 998.3 57.7 2,200.6 75.4
4,149.4 716.7 8,458.9 4,019.1 700.0 8,144.2 1,730.7 100.0 2,919.6  100.0
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4 4.8
2022 11 1
(Julia White)
2022 2022 2022 2021 2021 2021 2022 2021
c )y C D «c )y )
750.0 750.0 750.0 625.0 625.0 625.0 750.0 32.9 625.0 15.1
1 89.8 0 188.0 20.6 0 156.0 89.8 3.9 20.6 0.5
369.6 0 800.0 141.6 0 669.9 369.6 16.2  141.6 3.4
) 3
1,500.0 1,500.0 1,500.0 0 1,500.0 36.2
1,209.4 750.0 1,738.0 2,287.2 2,125.0 2,950.9 1,209.4 53.0 2,287.2 55.1
STI 2021 1,396.2 0 1,954.7 0 1,861.2 44.9
STI 2022 1,750.0 0 2,450.0 1,071.0 47.0 0
LTI 2020 - 2021 2,768.7 0 7,383.2 0 0
LTI 2020 - 2022 3,500.0 0 9,333.3 0 0
5,250.0 0 11,783.3 4,164.9 0 9,337.9 1,071.0 47.0 1,861.2 44.9
6,459.4 750.0 13,521.3 6,452.1 2,125.0 12,288.8 2,280.4 100.0 4,148.4 100.0
5.46
2022 STl 0.6 LTI 1.4 2021 STl 0.4
LTI 1.0 1.5
2023 STI LTI
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2022 2022 2022 2021 2021 2021 2022 2021
c ) C D c ) C )
5,716.7 5,716.7 5,716.7 5,295.8 5,295.8 5,295.8 5,716.7  30.3 5,295.8  20.0
T 245.4 0  945.0 163.5 0 843.0 245.4 1.3 163.5 0.6
( 572.4 0 1,000.0 226.6 0 1,548.6 572.4 3.0 226.6 0.9
)
0 0 0 2,900.0 2,900.0 2,900.0 0 0 2,900.0  11.0
6,534.4 5,716.7 8,561.7 8,585.0 8,195.8 10,587.4 6,534.4  34.7 8,585.9  32.5
0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3,200.0 12.1
STI 2021 0 0 0 9,169.8 0 12,837.7 0 012,223.4  46.2
STI 2022 9,839.7 0 13,775.5 0 0 0 6,021.9  32.0 0 0
LTI 2016 ~ 2018 0 0 0 0 0 0 358.6 1.9 2,446.0 9.2
LTI 2016 ~ 2019 0 0 0 0 0 0 6,640.4  35.2 0 0
LTI 2020 - 2021 0 0 0 21,369.9 0 56,986.6 0 0 0 0
LTI 2020 - 2022 21,957.4 0 58,553.1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
31,7971 0 72,328.7 30,530.7 0 69,824.3 12,303.7  65.317,860.4  67.5
38,331.5 5,716.7 80,890.4 39,125.6 8,195.8 80,4117 18,838.1  100.026,455.3  100.0
1
2
3
LT12020
LT12016
(8-3)
202 1 1 2022 12 31
&)/
w7/
™
LTI 2020 — 2022 2022 0 17,197 0 17,197 17,197 17,197
~ FSU 3 28
LTI 2020 — 2022 2022 0 17,197 0 17,197 17,197 17,197
sy 3 28
LTI 2020 — 2022 2022 0 17,197 0 17,197 17,197 17,197
RSy 3 28
LTI 2020 — 2021 2021 17,230 0 0 17,230 17,230 17,230
~ FSU 3 2
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nin]=[sls]s]=

LTI 2020 — 2021 2021 17,230 0 0 17,230 17,230 17,230
usu 3 2

LTI 2020 — 2021 2021 17,230 0 0 17,230 17,230 17,230
— RSU 8 22

LTI 2020 — 2020 2020 14,834 0 0 14,834 14,834 14,834
- FSU 229

LTI 2020 — 2020 2020 14,834 0 0 14,834 14,834 14,834
usu 2 29

(CEO)

LTI 2020 — 2020 2020 14,834 0 0 14,834 14,834 14,834
_RsU 2 29

LTI 2016 — 2019 2019 4,678 0 0 4,678 0 4,678
_psy 11 20

LTI 2016 — 2019 2019 15,628 0 0 15,628 0 15,628
—~ PSU 2

LTI 2016 - 2019 2019 3,119 0 0 3,119 0 3,119
_RsU 11 20

LTI 2016 — 2019 2019 10,419 0 0 10,419 0 10,419
RSy 2 20

LTI 2016 — 2018 2018 13,431 0 13,431 A 0 0 0
- PSU 2 2

LTI 2016 — 2018 2018 8,954 0 8,954 E 0 0 0
_RsU 2 2

LTI 2020 — 2022 2022 0 8,612 0 8,612 8,612 8,612
~ FSU 3 28

LTI 2020 — 2022 2022 0 8,612 0 8,612 8,612 8,612
sy 3 28

LTI 2020 — 2022 2022 0 8,612 0 8,612 8,612 8,612
_ RsU 3 28

LTI 2020 — 2021 2021 10,570 0 0 10,570 10,570 10,570
~ FSU 3 2

LTI 2020 — 2021 2021 10,570 0 0 10,570 10,570 10,570
usu 3 2

LTI 2020 — 2021 2021 10,570 0 0 10,570 10,570 10,570
— RSU 3 22

LTI 2020 — 2022 2022 0 9,068 0 9,068 9,068 9,068
- FSU 3 28

LTI 2020 — 2022 2022 0 9,068 0 9,068 9,068 9,068
usu 3 28

LTI 2020 — 2022 2022 0 9,068 0 9,068 9,068 9,068
— RSU 3 28

LTI 2020 — 2021 2021 8,679 0 0 8,679 8,679 8,679
~ FSU 3 22

LTI 2020 — 2021 2021 8,679 0 0 8,679 8,679 8,679
su 3 2

LTI 2020 — 2021 2021 8,679 0 0 8,679 8,679 8,679
_RsU 3 2
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LTI 2020 — 2020 2020 6,403 0 0 6,403 6,403 6,403
_ EsU 2 29

LTI 2020 - 2020 2020 6,403 0 0 6,403 6,403 6,403
sy 2 29

LTI 2020 — 2020 2020 6,403 0 0 6,403 6,403 6,403
_ RSU 2 29

LTI 2016 — 2019 2019 15,628 0 0 15,628 0 15,628
— psu 2 20

LTI 2016 — 2019 2019 10,419 0 0 10,419 0 10,419
_ RSU 2 20

LTI 2016 — 2018 2018 15,944 0 -15,944 A 0 0 0
— psy 2 21

LTI 2016 — 2018 2018 10,630 0 -10,630 E 0 0 0
_ RSU 2 21

LTI 2020 — 2022 2022 0 8,911 0 8,911 8,911 8,911
_ EsU 3 28

LTI 2020 - 2022 2022 0 8,911 0 8,911 8,911 8,911
—uSU 3 28

LTI 2020 — 2022 2022 0 8,911 0 8,911 8,911 8,911
_ RSU 3 28

LTI 2020 — 2021 2021 8,170 0 0 8,170 8,170 8,170
_ EsU 3 22

LTI 2020 — 2021 2021 8,170 0 0 8,170 8,170 8,170
—usU 3 22

LTI 2020 - 2021 2021 8,170 0 0 8,170 8,170 8,170
~ RSU 3 22

LTI 2020 — 2022 2022 0 6,798 0 6,798 6,798 6,798
~ FsU 3 28

LTI 2020 — 2022 2022 0 6,798 0 6,798 6,798 6,798
— uSU 3 28

LTI 2020 - 2022 2022 0 6,798 0 6,798 6,798 6,798
_ RSU 3 28

LTI 2020 - 2021 2021 6,811 0 0 6,811 6,811 6,811
~ EsU 3 22

LTI 2020 — 2021 2021 6,811 0 0 6,811 6,811 6,811
~ uSU 3 22

LTI 2020 — 2021 2021 6,811 0 0 6,811 6,811 6,811
_ RSU 3 22

LTI 2020 - 2020 2020 5,864 0 0 5,864 5,864 5,864
_ EsU 2 29

LTI 2020 — 2020 2020 5,864 0 0 5,864 5,864 5,864
Sy 2 29

LTI 2020 — 2020 2020 5,864 0 0 5,864 5,864 5,864
_ RSU 2 29
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LTI 2016 — 2019 2019 14,311 0 0 14,311 0 14,311
~ PSU 22

LTI 2016 — 2019 2019 9,541 0 0 9,541 0 9,541
Ry 2 20

LTI 2020 — 2022 2022 0 7,125 0 7,125 7,125 7,125
- FSU 3 28

LTI 2020 — 2022 2022 0 7,125 0 7,125 7,125 7,125
sy 3 28

LTI 2020 — 2022 2022 0 7,125 0 7,125 7,125 7,125
_asy 3 28

LTI 2020 — 2021 2021 6,811 0 0 6,811 6,811 6,811
—~ FsU 8 22

LTI 2020 — 2021 2021 6,811 0 0 6,811 6,811 6,811
sy 3 2

LTI 2020 - 2021 2021 6,811 0 0 6,811 6,811 6,811
_asy 3 2

LTI 2020 - 2020 2020 5,864 0 0 5,864 5,864 5,864
- FSU 2 29

LTI 2020 - 2020 2020 5,864 0 0 5,864 5,864 5,864
s 2 29

LTI 2020 - 2020 2020 5,864 0 0 5,864 5,864 5,864
RSy 2 29

LTI 2016 - 2019 2019 2,392 0 0 2,392 0 2,392
~ PSU 1

LTI 2016 — 2019 2019 1,594 0 0 1,594 0 1,594
~ RSU i1 1

LTI 2020 - 2022 2022 0 10,944 0 10,944 10,944 10,944
- FSU 8 28

LTI 2020 — 2022 2022 0 10,944 0 10,944 10,944 10,944
sy 3 28

LTI 2020 — 2022 2022 0 10,944 0 10,944 10,944 10,944
_asy 3 28

LTI 2020 - 2021 2021 8,674 0 0 8,674 8,674 8,674
~ FsU 8 22

LTI 2020 — 2021 2021 8,674 0 0 8,674 8,674 8,674
sy 3 2

LTI 2020 — 2021 2021 8,674 0 0 8,674 8,674 8,674
_asu 3 2

436,418 205,965 48,959 503,424 505,695 593,424

( )
( )
LTI 2020 - 2022 - 2022 106.605 96.84 2024 12 2025 2026 5
FSU 3 28 12 31
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LTI 2020 - 2022 - 2022 106.605 108.20 2025 2 2025 2026 5
MSU 3 28 12 31

LTI 2020 — 2022 - 2022 106.605 96.84 NA 2025 2026 5
RSU 3 28 12 31

LTI 2020 - 2021 - 2021 106.405 100.28 2023 12 2024 2025 5
FSU 3 22 12 31

LTI 2020 - 2021 - 2021 106.405 115.19 2024 2 2024 2025 5
MSU 3 22 12 31

LTI 2020 - 2021 - 2021 106.405 100.28 NA 2024 2025 5
RSU 3 22 12 31

LTI 2020 — 2020 - 2020 123.593 110.65 2022 12 2023 2024 5
FSU 2 29 12 31

LTI 2020 — 2020 - 2020 123.593 122.22 2023 2 2023 2024 5
MSU 2 29 12 31

LTI 2020 - 2020 - 2020 123.593 110.65 NA 2023 2024 5
RSU 2 29 12 31

LTI 2016 - 2019 - 2019 92.886 93.71 2023 2 2022 2023 5
PSU 2 20 12 31

LTI 2016 — 2019 - 2019 92.886 88.54 NA 2022 2023 5
RSU 2 20 12 31

LTI 2016 - 2018 - 2018 85.236 80.84 2022 2 2021 2022 5
PSU 2 21 12 31

LTI 2016 - 2018 - 2018 85.236 79.01 NA 2021 2022 5
RSU 2 21 12 31

62
100 62
60
SAP SE
1
62
4
14
180
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(DBO) « )

2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021

2022 2021 12 31 12 31 12 31 12 31 12 31 12 31
(cE0)! 217.4 251.1 420.0 878.3 990.2 751.7 -570.2 126.6
1 125.6 156.3 145.6 133.1 324.8 162.2 -179.2 -29.1
1 155.7 173.4 548.5 1,184.9 1,292.6 1,120.9 7441 64.0
1 124.1 139.8 180.1 373.0 615.0 456.9 -434.9 -83.9
1 146.4 170.1 167.4 324.9 454.4 307.9 -287.0 17.0
769.2 890.7 1,461.6 2,894.2 3,677.0 2,799.6 -2,215.4 94.6
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(DBO) C )
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
2022 2021 12 31 12 31 12 31 12 31 12 31 12 31
102.1 102.1 1,766.0 2,545.8 1,655.4 1,693.9 110.6 851.9
(2014 6 30 )
0 0 91.8 161.2 183.8 180.9 -92.0 -19.7
(2013 6 30 )
0 0 331.1 540.3 734.2 720.1 -403.1 -179.8
(2021 6 30 )
0 0 501.5 900.2 1,117.6 1,100.0 -616.1 -199.8
(2019 3 31 )
342.3 342.3 5,931.9 8,150.5 5,335.3 5,481.8 596.6 2,668.8
(2016 12 31 )
0 0 295.3 509.0 665.8 653.1 -370.5 -144.1
(2020 5 31 )
12
50 3
GCGC
2022
)
(CEO) 2025 4 30 3.7 2,153.2
2023 12 31 3.54 682.0
2024 12 31 3.68 1,493.1
2024 1 31 3.56 1,098.9
2025 10 31 3.75 779.6
2024 2 29 3.56 1,097.8
7,304.6
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SAP SE

GCGC G.13 2

150

1 SAP SE

SAP SE 8

SAP SE

SAP SE

SAP SE
SAP SE

12

2023 3 31

2026 5 31 9,600,000
2023 3 31
ST12022 ST12023 ST12023

LT12016 LT12020

2023
GCGC  G.13
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2022
LTI 2016 — LTI 2016 -
2019 2018 1 ()
(2019 4 5 ) 1,053.3 -65.4 987.9 100.0 987.9
(2020 4 30 ) 1,763.6 -146.1 1,617.5 100.0  1,617.5
(2019 3 31 ) 1,894.2 -177.9 1,716.2 100.0  1,716.2
(2019 11 15 ) 3,609.8 -294.4 3,315.4 100.0  3,315.4
(2020 4 30 ) 2,805.0 -104.7 2,610.4 100.0  2,610.4
(2020 5 31 ) 1,660.7 -164.0 1,496.7 100.0  1,496.7
1 2022 2021 12 31
2022 LTI
202 1 1 2022 12 31
®&/
»y/
(@)
LTI 2016 — 2019 2019 15,893 0 15,893 0 15,893
~ PSU 2 20
LTI 2016 — 2019 2019 722 0 722 0 722
~ RSU 2 20
(2019 4 5 LTI 2016 — 2018 2018 5,354 5,354 A 0 0 0
) — PsU 2 21
LTI 2016 — 2018 2018 3,569 3,569 E 0 0 0
~ RSU 2 21
LTI 2020 — 2020 2020 6,403 0 6,403 0 6,403
~ FSU 2 29
LTI 2020 — 2020 2020 6,403 0 6,403 0 6,403
—~ Nsu 2 29
LTI 2020 — 2020 2020 6,403 0 6,403 0 6,403
~ RSU 2 29
LTI 2016 — 2019 2019 20,375 0 20,375 0 20,375
(2020 4 30 - PSU 2 20
) LTI 2016 — 2019 2019 5,213 0 5,213 0 5,213
~ RSU 2 20
LTI 2016 — 2018 2018 15,944 15,944 A 0 0 0
— PSU 2 21
LTI 2016 — 2018 2018 7,974 7,974 E 0 0 0
~ RSU 2 21
LTI 2016 — 2019 2019 20,335 0 20,335 0 20,335
—~ PSU 2 20
LTI 2016 — 2019 2019 6,504 0 6,594 0 6,504
~ RSU 2 20
(2019 3 31 LTI 2016 — 2018 2018 17,959 17,959 A 0 0 0
) — PSU 2 21
LTI 2016 — 2018 2018 9,719 9,719 E 0 0 0
~ RSU 2 21
LTI 2016 — 2019 2019 46,880 0 46,880 0 46,880
— PSU 2 20
LTI 2016 — 2019 2019 7,348 0 7,348 0 7,348
~ RSU 2 20
(2019 11 15 LTI 2016 — 2018 2018 24,113 24,113 A 0 0 0
) — psu 2 21
LTI 2016 — 2018 2018 16,075 16,075 E 0 0 0
— RSU 2 21
LTI 2020 — 2020 2020 4,904 0 4,904 0 4,904
~ FSU 2 29
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LTI 2020 - 2020 2020 4,904 0 4,904 0 4,904
- MSU 2 29
LTI 2020 - 2020 2020 4,904 0 4,904 0 4,904
- RSU 2 29
LTI 2016 - 2019 2019 3,826 0 3,826 0 3,826
- PSU 11 20
LTI 2016 - 2019 2019 2,781 0 2,781 0 2,781
- PSU 7 25
LTI 2016 - 2019 2019 15,628 0 15,628 0 15,628
(2020 4 30 - PSU 2 20
) LTI 2016 - 2019 2019 2,552 0 2,552 0 2,552
— RSU 11 20
LTI 2016 - 2019 2019 1,853 0 1,853 0 1,853
— RSU 7 25
LTI 2016 - 2019 2019 10,419 0 10,419 0 10,419
- RSU 2 20
LTI 2016 - 2018 2018 15,944 -15,944 0 0 0
- PSU 2 21
LTI 2016 - 2018 2018 10,630 -10,630 0 0 0
- RSU 2 21
LTI 2020 - 2020 2020 2,240 0 2,240 0 2,240
- FSU 2 29
LTI 2020 - 2020 2020 2,240 0 2,240 0 2,240
- MSU 2 29
LTI 2020 - 2020 2020 2,240 0 2,240 0 2,240
- RSU 2 29
LTI 2016 - 2019 2019 13,165 0 13,165 0 13,165
(2020 5 31 _ psu 2 20
) LTI 2016 - 2019 2019 8,776 0 8,776 0 8,776
— RSU 2 20
LTI 2016 - 2018 2018 13,431 -13,431 0 0 0
- PSU 2 21
LTI 2016 - 2018 2018 8,954 -8,954 0 0 0
- RSU 2 21
372,667 -149,666 223,001 0 223,001
2022
SAP SE
D&0O
D&O AKEG 93 (2) SAP SE
AKEG 162
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AktG 162
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2017 2018 2019 2021 2020 2022 2021
2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

) ) ) (G )
(CEO) NA 7 -40 5,870 425 4,674 -20

(2018 1 1 )
NA NA NA 4,054 NA 1,412 65

(021 1 1 )
107 -36 —46 4,307 127 3,248 -25

(2023 3 31 )
NA NA -56 2,922 307 3,210 10

(2019 1 1 )
NA NA NA 2,234 NA 2,283 2

(021 2 1 )
NA NA 162 2,920 307 1,731 -1

(019 11 1 )
NA NA NA 4,148 NA 2,280 -45

(2021 3 1 )
1 0 2 102 2 102 0

(2014 6 30 )
62 -59 -70 446 =37 988 121

(2019 4 5 )
31 57 38 1,683 -65 1,617 -4

(2020 4 30 )
86 62 -59 1,804 -51 1,716 -5

(2019 3 31 )
48 -10 -79 2,008 =27 3,315 65

(2019 11 15 )
62 10 747 1,328 -92 2,610 97

(2020 4 30 )
-3 -82 -53 342 0 342 0

(2016 12 31 )
3 61 230 1,880 -80 1,497 -20

(2020 5 31 )
SAP ( IFRS) 5 12 -1 27,842 2 30,871 11
SAP SE ( ) 4 7 —4 15,370 5 17,786 16
SAP 6 15 1 8,230 -1 8,032 -2

( IFRS)
SAP SE ( ) -32 31 87 2,692 8 1,912 -29
SAP -8 21 -12 145 13 151 4
16 2022 5 18
165,000
275,000 220,000
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50,000
35,000 95,000
50,000 43,500
72,500
12 1
2022
2022 2021
)
)
) )
275.0 62.6 164.2  37.4 439.2  275.0 79.6 70.6  20.4 345.6

(Prof. Dr. h.c. mult.
Hasso Plattner)( )

220.0 67.7 105.0 32.3 325.0 165.0 83.3 33.0 16.7 198.0
(Lars Lamadé)
(2022 1 1 )

NA NA NA NA NA 68.8 83.4 13.8 16.7 82.5

(Pekka Ala-Pietild)
(2021 5 12 )

165.0 64.5 90.8 35.5 255.8 82.5 96.7 2.8 3.3 85.3
(Manuela Asche-Holstein)
(2021 7 8 )

NA NA NA NA NA 82.5 83.8 16.0 16.2 98.5

(Panagiotis Bissiritsas)
(2021 7 7 )

165.0 51.6 155.0 48.4  320.0 165.0 78.3 45.8  21.7 210.8
(Aicha Evans)

165.0 70.2 70.0 29.8 235.0 165.0 88.2 22.0 11.8 187.0
(Prof. Dr. Gesche Joost)

165.0 57.9 120.0 42.1 285.0 220.0 85.1 38.5 14.9 258.5
(Margret Klein-Magar)
(2021 12 31
)

165.0 61.1 105.0 38.9 270.0 165.0 86.9 24.8 13.1 189.8
(Monika Kovachka-
Dimitrova)

165.0 57.9 120.0 42.1  285.0 68.8 85.8 11.5 14.3 80.2
(Peter Lengler)
(2021 8 10 )

110.0 60.8 70.8 39.2 180.8 NA NA NA NA NA

(Jennifer Xin-Zhe Li)
(2022 5 18 )
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68.8 70.3 29.2 29.8 97.9 165.0 86.1 26.6  13.9 191.6
(Bernard Liautaud)
(2022 5 18 )
165.0 61.1 105.0 38.9 270.0 165.0 86.1 26.6  13.9 191.6
(Or. Qi Lu)
165.0 59.7 111.2 40.3 276.2 165.0 73.9 58.2  26.1 223.2
(Gerhard Oswald)
165.0 59.2 113.5 40.8 278.5 165.0 79.3 43.1  20.7 208.1
(Christine Regitz)
165.0 49.3 170.0 50.7 335.0 165.0 71.2 66.9  28.8 231.9
(Dr. Friederike Rotsch)
165.0 61.1 105.0 38.9 270.0 165.0 80.7 39.4  19.3 204.4
(Heike Steck)
165.0 100.0 0 0 165.0 41.3 100.0 0 0 41.3
(Helmut Stengele)
(2021 10 29 )
NA NA NA NA NA 110.0 87.3 16.0 12.7 126.0
(Christa Vergien-Knopf)
(2021 8 9 )
165.0 51.0 158.3 49.0 323.3 110.0 79.2 28.9  20.8 138.9
(Dr. Rouven Westphal)
(2021 5 12 )
165.0 53.3 144.6 46.7 309.6 165.0 81.1 38.5 18.9 203.5
(DOr. Gunnar Wiedenfels)
165.0 57.9 120.0 42.1 285.0 165.0 81.1 38.5 18.9 203.5
(James Wright)
NA NA NA NA NA 137.5 88.3 18.3  11.7 155.8
(Ralf Zeiger)
(2021 10 28 )
3,148.8 2,057.7 5,206.4 3,176.3 679.7 3,856.0
2022 1,855,000 2021 1,698,000
2022
2003 5
D&0
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2017 2018 2019 2021 2020 2022 2021
2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
) () (@) ) )
0 -10 4 346 1 439 27
C )
0 0 0 198 6 825 64
(022 1 1 )
NA NA NA 85 NA 256 200
(021 7 8 )
108 2 0 211 6 320 52
(017 7 1 )
0 0 0 187 0 235 26
-2 2 0 259 4 285 10
(2021 12 31 )
NA NA 50 190 1 270 42
(2019 5 15 )
NA NA NA 80 NA 285 255
(2021 8 10 )
NA NA NA NA NA 181 NA
(2022 5 18 )
0 0 -6 198 6 192 -3
NA NA NA 192 1,288 270 a1
(2020 12 21 )
NA NA 6 223 =3 276 24
(2019 1 1 )
0 4 1 208 5 279 34
NA 62 3 232 8 335 14
(2018 5 17 )
NA NA 50 204 9 270 32
(2019 5 15 )
NA NA NA 41 NA 165 300
(2021 10 29 )
NA NA NA 139 NA 323 133
(021 5 12 )
NA NA 50 204 0 310 52
(2019 5 15 )
NA NA 50 204 0 285 40
(2019 5 15 )
0 -6 6 192 -3 98 -9
(2022 5 18 )
SAP ( IFRS) 5 12 -1 27,842 2 30,871 11
SAP SE ( ) 4 7 —4 15,370 5 17,786 16
SAP 6 15 1 8,230 -1 8,032 -2
( IFRS)
SAP SE ( ) -32 =31 87 2,692 8 1,912 -29
SAP -8 21 -12 145 13 151 4
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€H)
11 2 5 3 (2)
SAP SE
CEO
CEO
SAP SE
4 3 COVID-19
2022
9
2022 SAP SE
®
7 7 14 12 21 19 90%

(Prof. Dr. h.c. Hasso
Plattner)( )
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7 7 14 14 21 21 100%
(Lars Lamadé)( )

7 6 11 11 18 17 94%
(Manuela Asche-Holstein)

7 6 14 13 21 19 90%
(Aicha Evans)

7 7 10 10 17 17 100%
(Prof. Dr. Gesche Joost)

7 6 20 20 27 26 96%
(Margret Klein-Magar)

7 7 14 14 21 21 100%
(Monika Kovachka-Dimitrova)

7 7 18 18 25 25 100%
(Peter Lengler)

2 2 11 11 13 13 100%
(Jennifer Xin-Zhe Li)
(2022 5 18 )

5 3 6 4 11 7 64%
(Bernard Liautaud)
(2022 5 18 )

7 6 10 10 17 16 94%
(Or. Qi Lu)

7 7 14 14 21 21 100%
(Gerhard Oswald)

7 7 21 21 28 28 100%
(Christine Regitz)

7 7 18 18 25 25 100%
(Dr. Friederike Rotsch)

7 7 21 21 28 28 100%
(Heike Steck)

7 7 n/a n/a 7 7 100%
(Helmut Stengele)l

7 7 23 23 30 30 100%
(Dr. Rouven Westphal)

7 6 21 19 28 25 89%
(Gunnar Wiedenfels)

7 7 25 25 32 32 100%
(James Wright)

2022 Form 20-F
2022 2 6

2022

112/396



EDINETOOOO
DO0O0OoDoOoOgOooOo(E24727)

oooooog
2022 3 2
2022 3 25 CEO
2022 3
4 7 10
4
10
2022 3
2022 4 28
GCGC
2022 2 9 2022 5 18
LID 2022 2
23 2022 5 18
LID LID LID
LID
2023
LID
17
2022 9 10
2021
2022 2 23
2022 7 27 GCGC
2022 10 27

2022 8 GCGC
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2022 4 28

2022

27

2022 12

2023 5

GCGC

ESG

2022

10

GCGC

IT

2024
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4
LID 9
10
2022 12
2022 2 20 2021 2022
ST1)2021
ST12022
2020 LTI2020 2022 2022

STI2021 2022 LT12020 5 3 ()
@
2022
2

2022 2 5
2

2022 2 23 2021

2021 2022 2021
SAP SE
2021
2021 2022 5 18  SAP SE
2022 2023

2021
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2022 4 14

2022 7 29

Litmos

Francisco Partners

Sapphire Ventures funds

Sapphire Ventures Fund VII

10
2022 10 27

SAP S/4HANA Cloud public edition

1 EMEA

2 2022

4 2022 5 18

Sapphire Ventures Fund 1V

2022 8 1
2

3

MEE
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7
8 2023 3 7 CFO
12 2023 3 2023 1 1
2022
7 11 6 4 5 11 4
0 21 11 0 0 0 0
4 92 53 2 0 102,3 4
/ 3 0 0 2 5 1 0
1 1
2 2
3 1
@
@ 11 @
©))
2022 5 18 KPMG AG Wirtschaftsprifungsgesellschaft
KPMG 2022 KPMG 2002
KPMG
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2
2022 2021
7 6 0
(1,050 ) © ) (900 ) © )
17 13 0
(2,551 ) (© ) (1,951 ) © )
24 19 0
(3,601 ) (© ) (2,851 ) © )
KPMG KPMG 2022
2022 2021 2020
KPMG AG KPNG KPMG AG KPMG KPMG AG KPMG
( ) ( ) ( )
4 10 14 3 8 12 3 9 12
(600 ) (1,500 ) (2,101 ) (450 ) (1,200 ) (1,800 ) (450 ) (1,350 ) (1,800 )
3 7 10 2 5 7 0 1 2
450 ) (1,050 ) (1,500 ) (300 )y (750 ) (1,050 )y (0 ) (150 ) (300 )
0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
0 ) © ) © ) (o ) (0 ) (Y ) (0 ) © ) © )
0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
[ ) © ) © ) (o ) [ ) (Y ) (o ) © ) © )
7 17 24 6 13 19 3 10 14
(1,050 ) (2,551 ) (3,601 ) (900 ) (1,951 ) (2,851 ) (450 ) (1,500 ) (2,101 )
SAP SE KPMG
KPMG
KPMG
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1
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.l SAP
12 31
2022 2021 2020

12,555 1,883,752 9,418 1,413,077 8,080 1,212,323
2,056 308,482 3,248 487,330 3,642 546,446
11,909 1,786,826 11,412 1,712,256 11,506 1,726,360
13,965 2,095,309 14,660 2,199,586 15,148 2,272,806
26,521 3,979,211 24,078 3,612,663 23,228 3,485,129
4,350 652,674 3,764 564,751 4,110 616,664

A-D
(c.2) 30,871 4,631,885 27,842 4,177,414 27,338 4,101,794
-3,853 -578,104 -3,105 -465,874  -2,699 -404,958
-1,694 -254,168 -1,925 -288,827  -2,008 -301,280
-5,547 -832,272 -5,030 -754,701  -4,707 -706,238
-3,388 -508,336 -2,916 -437,517  -3,178 -476,827
-8,936 -1,340,757 -7,946 -1,192,218 -7,886 -1,183,215
21,935 3,291,127 19,897 2,985,346 19,453 2,918,728
-6,166 -925,147 -5,190 -778,708  -4,454 -668,278
-8,943 -1,341,808 -7,505 -1,126,050 -7,106 -1,066,184
-2,072 -310,883 -2,431 -364,747  -1,356 -203,454
(B-6) -138 -20,706 -157 -23,556 3 450
/ 54 8,102 43 6,452 84 12,603
-26,200 -3,931,048 -23,186 -3,478,827 -20,715 -3,108,079
4,670 700,687 4,656 698,586 6,623 993,715
/ .3 -195 -29,258 17 2,551 -179 -26,857
820 123,033 3,123 468,575 1,473 221,009
-2,205 -330,838 -949 -142,388 -697 -104,578
(C.4) -1,385 -207,805 2,174 326,187 776 116,431
(.2) 3,090 463,624 6,847 1,027,324 7,220 1,083,289
(C.5) -1,382 -207,355 -1,471 -220,709  -1,938 -290,778
1,708 256,268 5,376 806,615 5,283 792,661
2,284 342,691 5,256 788,610 5,145 771,956
-576 -86,423 121 18,155 138 20,706

1

1.95 293.00 4.46 669.00 4.35 653.00

( ) (€.6)

1

1.94 291.00 4.46 669.00 4.35 653.00

( ) (€.6)
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2022 2021 2020
al 1,708 256,268 5,376 806,615 5,283 792,661
( ) 71 10,653 43 6,452 39 5,852
-15 -2,251 -9 -1,350 -9 -1,350
( ) 56 8,402 34 5,101 30 4,501
56 8,402 34 5,101 30 4,501
2,190 328,588 2,825 423,863 -2,793 -419,062
6 900 30 4,501 0 0
( ) 2,195 329,338 2,855 428,364 -2,793 -419,062
-10 -1,500 -9 -1,350 1 150
( ) (E.2) 2,186 327,987 2,846 427,014 -2,792 -418,912
53 7,952 -39 -5,852 20 3,001
0 0 4 600 -6 -900
(F.1) 53 7,952 -35 -5,251 14 2,101
-14 -2,101 9 1,350 -4 -600
( ) (E.2) 39 5,852 -26 -3,901 10 1,500
2,224 333,689 2,819 422,963 -2,782 -417,411
2,280 342,001 2,853 428,064 -2,752 -412,910
3,988 598,360 8,230 1,234,829 2,531 379,751
4,385 657,925 8,058 1,209,022 2,393 359,046
-396 -59,416 172 25,807 138 20,706
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FSAP
12 31
2022 2021
(E.3) 9,008 1,351,560 8,898 1,335,056

(0.6), (E.3) 853 127,984 2,758 413,810
(A.2) 6,236 935,649 6,352 953,054

(A.3),(6.1) 2,139 320,936 1,633 245,015

287 43,061 403 60,466

18,522 2,779,041 20,044 3,007,402

(0.2) 33,106 4,967,224 31,089 4,664,594
(0.3) 3,835 575,403 3,965 594,909

(0.4),(D.8) 4,934 740,297 4,977 746,749

(0.6), (E.3) 5,626 844,125 6,275 941,501
(A.2) 169 25,357 147 22,056

(A.3),(6.1) 3,580 537,143 2,628 394,305

323 48,463 263 39,461

(C.5) 2,065 309,833 1,786 267,971

53,638 8,047,846 51,130 7,671,545

72,159 10,826,736 71,174 10,678,947

2,146 321,986 1,580 237,063

283 42,461 304 45,612

(E.3),(D.5) 4,808 721,392 4,528 679,381
(8-3),(8B.5),

(6.2) 4,818 722,893 5,203 780,658
(A.4),(B.4),

(B.5), (B.6) 90 13,504 89 13,354

(A.1) 5,309 796,562 4,431 664,827

17,453 2,618,648 16,136 2,421,045

79 11,853 122 18,305

893 133,986 827 124,083

(E.3),(D.5) 9,547 1,432,432 11,042 1,656,742
(B-3),(B.5),

(6.2) 705 105,778 860 129,034
(A.4),(B.4),

(B.5), (B.6) 359 53,864 355 53,264
(C.5) 241 36,160 296 44,412
(A.1) 33 4,951 13 1,951

11,858 1,779,174 13,515 2,027,791

29,311 4,397,822 29,651 4,448,836

1,229 184,399 1,229 184,399

3,081 462,273 1,918 287,777

36,418 5,464,157 37,022 5,554,781

3,801 570,302 1,756 263,470

4,341  -651,324 -3,072  -460,923

40,186 6,029,507 38,853 5,829,504

(E.2) 2,662 399,406 2,670 400,607
(E.2) 42,848 6,428,914 41,523 6,230,111
72,159 10,826,736 71,174 10,678,947
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SAP
12 31
(E.2) (E.2) (E-2) (E.2)
2020/1/1 1,229 545 28,783 1,770 -1,580 30,746 76 30,822
al 5,145 5,145 138 5,283
30 -2,782 -2,752 -2,752
5,175  -2,782 2,393 138 2,531
1 1 1
-1,864 -1,864 -2 -1,866
-1,492  -1,492 -1,492
-64 -64 -64
-4 -4 0 -5
2020/12/31 1,229 545 32,026 -1,012 -3,072 29,716 211 29,927
al 5,256 5,256 121 5,376
34 2,768 2,802 51 2,853
5,290 2,768 8,058 172 8,230
1,373 1,373 311 1,684
-2,182 -2,182 -88  -2,271
1,933 1,933 2,050 3,983
-44 -44 14 -30
2021/12/31 1,229 1,918 37,022 1,757 -3,072 38,853 2,670 41,523
al 2,284 2,284 -576 1,708
56 2,044 2,100 180 2,280
2,340 2,044 4,385 -396 3,988
1,163 1,163 325 1,488
-2,865 -2,865 -29  -2,895
-1,500 -1,500 -1,500
230 230 230
-92 -92 90 -3
13 13 2 15
2022/12/31 1,229 3,081 36,418 3,801 -4,341 40,186 2,662 42,848
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12 31
(E-2 (-2 (E.2) (E-2)
2020/1/1 184,399 81,772 4,318,601 265,571 -237,063 4,613,130 11,403 4,624,533
al 771,956 771,956 20,706 792,661
4,501  -417,411 -412,910 -412,910
776,457  -417,411 359,046 20,706 379,751
150 150 150
-279,675 -279,675 -300  -279,975
-223,860  -223,860 -223,860
-9,603 -9,603 -9,603
-600 -600 0 -750
2020/12/31 184,399 81,772 4,805,181 -151,840 -460,923 4,458,589 31,658 4,490,247
aul 788,610 788,610 18,155 806,615
5,101 415,311 420,412 7,652 428,064
793,712 415,311 1,209,022 25,807 1,234,829
206,005 206,005 46,662 252,667
-327,387 -327,387 -13,204  -340,741
290,027 290,027 307,582 597,609
-6,602 -6,602 2,101 -4,501
2021/12/31 184,399 287,777 5,554,781 263,620 -460,923 5,829,504 400,607 6,230,111
ul 342,691 342,691 -86,423 256,268
8,402 306,682 315,084 27,007 342,001
351,094 306,682 657,925 -59,416 598,360
174,497 174,497 48,763 223,260
-429,865 -429,865 -4,351  -434,366
-225,060  -225,060 -225,060
34,509 34,509 34,509
-13,804 -13,804 13,504 -450
1,951 1,951 300 2,251
2022/12/31 184,399 462,273 5,464,157 570,302 -651,324 6,029,507 399,406 6,428,914
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SAP
12 31
2022 2021 2020
aul 1,708 256,268 5,376 806,615 5,283 792,661
(0.2)-
®.4) 1,896 284,476 1,775 266,321 1,831 274,723
(B-3) 2,614 392,205 2,794 419,212 1,084 162,643
al (.5) 1,382 207,355 1,471 220,709 1,938 290,778
al .4 1,385 207,805 -2,174 -326,187 -776  -116,431
90 13,504 -11 -1,650 68 10,203
-173 -25,957 39 5,852 -198 -29,708
149 22,356 414 62,117 821 123,183
-1,312  -196,852 -706 -105,928 -651 -97,676
163 24,457 475 71,269 293 43,962
685 102,777 100 15,004 128 19,205
(B-3) -1,182  -177,347 -1,120 -168,045  -1,310 -196,552
-248 -37,210 -202 -30,308 -244 -36,610
166 24,907 56 8,402 122 18,305
( ) -1,675 -251,317 -2,063 -309,533  -1,194 -179,148
5,647 847,276 6,223 933,699 7,194 1,079,388
-679 -101,877 -1,142 -171,346 -662 -99,326
289 43,362 -72 -10,803 203 30,458
-874  -131,135 -800 -120,032 -816 -122,433
60 9,002 91 13,654 88 13,204
-2,320 -348,093 -4,368 -655,375 -2,535 -380,351
4,190 628,668 3,229 484,479 735 110,279
667 100,077 -3,063 -459,573  -2,986 -448,019
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2022 2021 2020
(E.2) -2,865 -429,865 -2,182 -327,387  -1,864 -279,675
-12 -1,800 -54 -8,102 -2 -300
(E.2) -1,500 -225,060 0 0 -1,492 -223,860
33 4,951 2,828 424,313 95 14,254
(B-3) -282 -42,311 0 0 0 0
(E.3) 158 23,706 1,680 252,067 2,132 319,885
(E.3) -1,445 -216,808 -1,952 -292,878  -2,430 -364,597
-424 -63,617 -374 -56,115 -378 -56,715
(E.2) 0 0 -2 -300 -59 -8,852
-6,337 -950,803 -56 -8,402 -3,997 -599,710
134 20,105 484 72,619 -214 -32,109
109 16,354 3,587 538,193 -4 -600
(E.3) 8,898 1,335,056 5,311 796,862 5,314 797,313
(E.3) 9,008 1,351,560 8,898 1,335,056 5,311 796,862
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SAP SE
(IN.D)

SAP SE HRB 719915  SAP SE

SAP 2022
( IFRS)
2022 12 31 EU IFRS
2022 12 31 EU 2022 2021 2020 12 31
1ASB
EU IFRS
2023 2 22
al I a T
@ IFRS
IFRS
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(IN.1)
(IN.2)
(A.D)
(A.2)
(A.3)
A.9
(B-3)
B-9
(8.5)
(B-6)
€.D)
(€.5)
®.1)
®.2)
®-3
®-9
(0.5
®.6)
(E.-2)
(E-3)
(F.-D)
(F.-2)
6.3
(6.5)

129/396



EDINETOOOO
DO0O0OoDoOoOgOooOo(E24727)

oOoOooodn
(FX)
/
2022 2021 2022 2021 2020
AUD 1.5693 1.5615 1.5174 1.5747 1.6554
CAD 1.4440 1.4393 1.3703 1.4835 1.5294
CHF 0.9847 1.0331 1.0052 1.0814 1.0703
GBP 0.8869 0.8403 0.8526 0.8600 0.8892
JPY 140.66 130.38 138.01 129.86 121.78
USD 1.0666 1.1326 1.0539 1.1835 1.1413
A3
(®-3)
A.3
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A.D
(A.2)
(A-4)
(8-3)
(.5
®-1
(0-2)

(0-3)

(0-6)
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1ASB

IFRS

I1AS
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(IN.2)

2022

Al
A.2 B.6 D.2
D.4
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A.1)

(Saas

SaaS

PaaS

(1aas)
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EMEA
APJ

2022 2021 2020

4,504 4,343 4,015

EMEA 8,577 8,246 8,052

EMEA 13,081 12,589 12,067

10,811 8,870 9,110

2,484 2,099 1,996

13,295 10,969 11,106

1,242 1,301 1,305

APJ 3,253 2,984 2,859

APJ 4,495 4,285 4,165

1 SAP 30,871 27,842 27,338
2022 2021 2020 2022 2021 2020
EMEA 4,293 3,308 2,608 11,236 10,931 10,364
6,687 4,894 4,439 11,333 9,348 9,239
APJ 1,575 1,217 1,033 3,952 3,798 3,625
.l SAP 12,555 9,418 8,080 26,521 24,078 23,228

(58,
2022
220
2022 12 31 489 2021 12 31 :5399
2022 12
31 342 2021 12 31 : 253

12
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2022 12 31
2022
F2022 1 1 4.4
10.9
-10.1
@ 0.1
T2022 12 31 5.3
)
41 2021 12 31 :36
@A.2)
@
F.D
/
/
2022 2021
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5,782 0 5,782 5,887 1 5,888
454 169 623 465 146 611
- 6,236 169 6,405 6,352 147 6,499
2022 62 2021 5
2022 12 31 343 2021 12 31 :-360
(F-D
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2022 2021
871 2,812 3,684 667 2,158 2,826
164 206 370 126 175 301
1,036 3,019 4,054 793 2,333 3,127
2,139 3,580 5,719 1,633 2,628 4,261
T

48 84 71 49 89 73

2022 2021

762 523

243 171
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@A.9

IFRS 15

SAP

143/396



EDINETOOOO
DO0O0OoDoOoOgOooOo(E24727)
oOoOooodn

(©.5)

8.1

EMEA APJ

2022 12 31 2021 12 31 2020 12 31

EMEA APJ EMEA APJ EMEA APJ

5,672 4,617 5,247 15,536 5,947 4,586 5,113 15,646 6,278 4,589 5,525 16,392

8,247 5,580 5,841 19,669 8,229 5,491 5,924 19,644 8,175 5,934 5,733 19,842

16,606 6,416 11,110 34,122 15,347 6,326 10,571 32,244 13,705 6,094 9,781 29,580

12,207 12,511 5,831 30,548 11,136 11,598 5,481 28,215 10,348 10,485 5,000 25,834

3,466 2,186 1,280 6,932 3,374 2,306 1,199 6,879 3,285 2,161 1,243 6,689

2,800 1,440 914 5,154 2,609 1,353 824 4,786 2,291 1,107 696 4,094

SAP

@z 31 48,999 32,749 30,213 111,961 46,641 31,660 29,113 107,415 44,082 30,369 27,979 102,430
188 214 8 410 462 407 45 914 609 97 75 781

SAP

48,408 32,668 29,939 111,015 45,359 30,651 28,354 104,364 43,340 30,306 27,830 101,476

(8.2)

2022 2021 2020
12,140 10,635 10,413
1,894 1,589 1,439
2,614 2,794 1,084
479 408 419

85 25 -7

44 101 72
17,256 15,552 13,420
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(®-3)
@
PSU
LT12016
)
LTI 2020 NASDAQ-100
TSR NASDAQ-100 TRS TSR
LTI 2016
LTI
2020 NASDAQ-100 TSR
LTI 2020 SAP
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2022 2021 2020
68 59 40
70 70 55
281 266 175
625 513 296
773 655 360
798 1,230 157
2,614 2,794 1,084
355 1,147 893
2,258 1,647 191
a)
SAP 2020 LTI 2020
LTI 2020 LTI 2020
SAP
LTI 2020 SAP
LTI 2020
LTI 2020 4 1
4 20 SAP SAP
FSU 3 1 MSU 3
1 RSU 3 4
RSU FSU MSU
FSU SAP
3 IFRS KPI 3
3 KPI FSU
KP1 100%
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m’uﬁ

SAP

MSU
100 TSR SAP TSR
SAP TSR
100%
200%
M 150%
B 100%
#E
B 50%
0%
25—t AL )
SAP
3 SAP
4
200%
RSU PSU
2016 LTI 2016
LTI 2016 ( IFRS
SAP
LTI 4 2016-2019
LTI
80 120
SAP XETRA
60% PSU 40% RSU
20 SAP XETRA
LTI
PSU (
RSU
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SAP (SAP
) SAP
150
SAP SAP
50 PSU
Grow SAP Move SAP Move
Move
2022
Move SAP B.3 b 2022
2020 2021 2022 6 Grow SAP
Move SAP SAP
COVID-19 RSU
- RSU
-6 3
- KPI PSU
- 12 3
2021 PSU 2 KPI
( IFRS ) IFRS 2021
IFRS KPI PSU
0 200 KPI 2022 84.3% 2021 :130.9 2020 :100.4 )
PSU
2022
LT12016 LTI 2020 Move
(2019 (2020-2022 (2019-2022
) )
2022 12 31
67.81 94.83 94.78
()
96.39 96.39 96.39
() 0.37 NA NA
() 27 24 31 NA
() 2.03 NA 2.03
2022 12 31
() 0.2 2.3 0.8
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2021
LT12016 LTI 2020 Move
(2018-2019 (2020-2021 (2018-2021
) )
2021 12 31
64.16 118.73 122.88
)
124.90 124.90 124.90
() —0.72 -0.12 NA -0.72  -0.32
() 21 30 32 NA
() 1.52 NA 1.52
2021 12 31
() 0.7 2.8 1.1
)

LT12016 2022 12 31 432.27 (2021
593.37 ) 1.16 (2021  1.00 ) 32% 2021
17 18 39% 2021 35 36 )

LTI 2020 2022 12 31  NASDAQ-100 12,994.57 2021
19,217.94 NASDAQ-100 36 41 2021 36 38 SAP  NASDAQ-100

26 32 2021 31 34 SAP  NASDAQ-100 TRS
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LTI12016 LT12020 RSU
2018-2019 2020-2021 2017-2020
2020 12 31 767 172 16,993
0 238 12,204
KPI -150 NA 153
-92 0 -8,092
NA NA -1,309
-57 -70 -1,165
2021 12 31 469 340 18,783
@ 0 206 2,997
KPI =122 NA -36
-77 0 -8,869
0 0 -1,016
2022 12 31 270 546 11,859
2021 12 31 28 15 1,260
2022 12 31 18 23 752
2021 12 31 38 4 0
2022 12 31 22 3 0
2021 106.68 NA 107.69
2022 106.59 NA 97.35
2020 -9 6 760
2021 -11 9 1,139
2022 -2 8 346
@ Move

2022 2021

524 279 803 839 462 1,302

E 4,818 705 5,523 5,203 860 6,063

T
11 40 15 16 54 21
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b)
Move SAP Move
2022 Move
6 3 PSU

1FRS 2 KPI
- RSU

- 6 3
- KPI PSU

-1
- 12 3
(E-2)

Own SAP Own

Own SAP

40%
20 50 2022 1 3
40 80 2022
2022 2021 2020

Own 9.2 5.7 5.5

Own SAP
Qualtrics
Qualtrics Qualtrics

Qualtrics Qualtrics Qualtrics Qualtrics

RSU
Qualtrics PSU Qualtrics RSU

- RSU

- 4

-6 12 4
- Qualtrics PSU

- 4

Qualtrics
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2019 Qualtrics Qualtrics
RSA RSU PSU
Qualtrics 2021 1 28 1PO Qualtrics
540 Qualtrics 130 RSU 1,280 Qualtrics RSU
Qualtrics SAP RSU
Qualtrics RSU 30 Qualtrics IPO
Qualtrics 2021 9
2022 2021 2020
Own 307 200 191
Qualtrics 1,164 1,426 NA
Move (2022 ) 768 NA NA
19 21 0
2,258 1,647 191
2022
Move (2022 ) Qualtrics
93.80 20.69
® ®
97.61 20.69
2.43 0
1.6 2.1
2022 12 31 () 1.2 2.4
®
2021 12 31 Qualtrics 3.0
44.27
0 Qualtrics
Qualtrics
Move (2022 ) Qualtrics
2020 12 31 NA 0
NA 12,872
NA 80,856
NA -7,467
NA -2,241
2021 12 31 NA 84,018
@ 15,371 35,490
KPI -139 0
-3,258 -34,320
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-470

-7,048

2022 12 31

11,504

78,140

*

Move
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2022 2021 2020
457 346 326
22 62 93
479 408 419
DBO
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
949 1,194 577 667 211 217 1,737 2,078
953 1,183 579 578 91 91 1,623 1,852
o 0 11 57 89 120 126 177 226
« )
0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
0 3 20 27 33 35 54 65
DBO 899 2021 1,125
DBO 448 2021 524
2022 2021 2020 2022 2021 2020 2022 2021 2020

4.2 1.2 0.9 2.6 0.5 0.4 5.5 3.1 3.0
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2022 2021 2020 2022 2021 2020 2022 2021 2020 2022 2021 2020

50
908 1,134 1,066 505 626 573 203 203 185 1,616 1,964 1,824
50
993 1,260 1,195 562 714 663 219 223 204 1,774 2,196 2,062
2022 2021
611 1,012 597 1,254
170 0 182 0
190 0 202 0
41 1,012 39 1,254
2023
2022 12 31 10 2021 12 31 11
2022 12 31 2,404 2021 : 2,289
76 (021 77 ) 5 61 (2021 62 )
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2022 2021
3,632 426 4,058 3,717 398 4,115
3 4,818 705 5,523 5,203 860 6,063
T
% 75 60 73 71 46 68
(8.6)
@
2022 2021 2020
-85 -25 7
-52 -132 -4
al -138 -157 3
2022
2021
2022 2021 2020
20 -127 0
-9 -5 1

-70 -13 -3
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-16 -12 1
-58 3 3
-4 ) 2
-138 -157 3
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€.D

2022 CODM

Qualtrics

Qualtrics
Qualtrics

Qualtrics International Inc.

SAP Signavio

2021 Signavio
Emarsys
2022 1 Taulia
Taulia D.1
2022 3
ESG
2022
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IFRS IFRS
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c.2)
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2022 2021 2020
) o )

10,239 9,573 7,835 7,970 6,940

2,053 1,969 3,244 3,236 3,637

11,906 11,361 11,410 11,575 11,506

13,959 13,330 14,654 14,812 15,143

24,198 22,904 22,488 22,782 22,083

4,100 3,868 3,565 3,618 3,659

28,298 26,772 26,054 26,400 25,742

-3,434 -3,153 -2,754 -2,807 -2,367

-1,623 -1,540 -1,736 -1,754 -1,795

-5,057 -4,693 -4,490 -4,561 -4,162

-2,849 -2,702 -2,449 -2,482 -2,616

-7,906 -7,395 -6,939 -7,043 -6,778

20,391 19,376 19,114 19,357 18,963

-11,585 -10,921 -9,830 -9,924 -9,551

8,806 8,456 9,284 9,434 9,412

2022 2021 2021 2020
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Qualtrics
2022 2021 2020
( ) [6h) @
1,198 1,071 757 780 518
1,198 1,071 757 780 518
225 200 173 178 162
1,423 1,271 930 957 681
-133 -120 -65 -66 -43
0 0 0 0 0
-133 -120 -65 -66 -43
-182 -164 -125 -128 -110
-315 -284 -190 -194 -152
1,108 986 740 764 528
-1,013 -882 -696 -719 -533
95 104 44 44 -4
1 2022 2021 2021 2020
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EMEA APJ
( ) 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
&
12,507 12,280 12,209 11,531 10,319 9,780 4,259 4,173 4,064 28,298 26,772 26,054
Qualtrics 218 198 153 1,087 967 690 117 105 87 1,423 1,271 930
12,725 12,478 12,362 12,619 11,286 10,471 4,376 4,278 4,151 29,720 28,042 26,984
EMEA APJ
( ) 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020
&
12,209 12,206 11,800 9,780 10,062 9,986 4,064 4,132 3,956 26,054 26,400 25,742
Qualtrics 153 157 97 690 711 528 87 89 55 930 957 681
12,362 12,363 11,898 10,471 10,773 10,514 4,151 4,221 4,011 26,984 27,357 26,422
SAP A.1)
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(C.2)
2022 2021 2020
( ) o @
&
28,298 26,772 26,054 26,400 25,742
Qualtrics 1,423 1,271 930 957 681
29,720 28,042 26,984 27,357 26,422
1,150 1,067 859 875 921
0 1,762 0 -390 0
0 0 0 0 -5
al 30,871 30,871 27,842 27,842 27,338
&
8,806 8,456 9,284 9,434 9,412
Qualtrics 95 104 44 44 -4
8,902 8,560 9,329 9,478 9,408
1,150 1,067 859 875 921
-2,020 -1,944 -1,958 -1,945 -2,041
0 350 0 -178 0
0 0 0 0 -5
-610 -610 -622 -622 -577
-2,614 -2,614 -2,794 -2,794 -1,084
al -138 -138 -157 -157 3
al 4,670 4,670 4,656 4,656 6,623
al -195 -195 17 17 -179
al -1,385 -1,385 2,174 2,174 776
al 3,090 3,090 6,847 6,847 7,220
1 2022 2021 2021 2020
(€.3) / C )
2022 2021 2020
C ) -151 49 -154
515 316 601
218 111 -134
-766 -382 -487
-95 -70 -34
/ C ) -44 -33 -25
al / « ) -195 17 -179
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€9 )
2022 2021 2020
820 3,123 1,473
608 3,067 1,360
-2,205 -949 -697
-1,802 -654 -342
-208 -160 -179
-69 -50 -76
aul -1,385 2,174 776

€.5
©
SAP
IFRS

165/396



EDINETOOOO
DO0O0OoDoOoOgOooOo(E24727)

Ogoooood
2022 2021 2020
539 608 895
1,195 1,360 1,001
1,734 1,968 1,896
/
89 109 -38
-441 -606 80
/ -352 -497 42
1,382 1,471 1,938
2022 2021 2020
/
1,746 1,707 1,653
-12 261 243
1,734 1,968 1,896
/
-313 -526 47
-39 29 -5
/ -352 -497 42
1,382 1,471 1,938
/ 124 2021 :15
2020 : 4
2022 2021 2020
1,785 2,040 2,481
1,305 4,807 4,739
3,090 6,847 7,220
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26.4% (2021 : 26.4% 2020 : 26.3%)
2022 15.0% (2021 :15.0% 2020 : 15.0%) 5.5% (2021 : 5.5%
2020 :5.5%) 10.6% (2021 : 10.6% 2020 :10.5%)
2022 2021 2020
al 3,090 6,847 7,220
26.4% 2021 26.4% 2020 26.3% 817 1,808 1,901
-117 -126 -166
431 420 254
297 -630 -282
179 204 105
-95 -75 -100
4 9 128
-124 -34 41
-10 -105 57
al 1,382 1,471 1,938
% 4.7 21.5 26.8
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2022 2021
1,069 759
27 19
503 472
23 14

81 58

203 196
226 278
753 625
994 781
150 148
110 77
134 139
4,273 3,566
-2,208 -1,780
E 3 2,065 1,786
835 903
108 120
437 405
170 169
269 206

35 29

269 50

5 7

321 187
2,449 2,076
-2,208 -1,780
E 3 241 296
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2022 2021 2020
345 430 570
14 26 25
453 309 338
812 765 933
378 602 587
9 28 26
20 20 17
29 48 43
294 2021 183 2020 179 us
289.1 2021 1 240.4
1,571 2021
1,283 857 2021 677
2021 10 135
2021 12 OECD 750 15%
2022 12 EU EU
2023 12 31
EU
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cC.6)1
2022 2021 2020
2,284 5,256 5,145
1,229 1,229 1,229
-58 -49 -46
1,170 1,180 1,182
5 0 0
1,175 1,180 1,182
SAP 1.95 4.46 4.35
SAP 1.94 4.46 4.35
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(0.1)
@
2022
2022 Taulia Inc. Taulia INNAAS
srl
Taulia
2022 1 27 SAP Taulia
G.9 SAP
2022 3 9
SAP CFO SAP
705
Taulia
Taulia

157
59
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216
88
88
128
577
705
2022 12 31 Taulia
SCF
IFRS 10 SCF
SCF
Taulia
Taulia
SAP SAP
SAP CFO SAP
Taulia SAP
Taulia
Taulia

D.2

172/396
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2022 2022 Taulia
Taulia :SAP
2022
o 30,871 59
a 1,708 -38
2022 1 1 2022
2022
2022 8 17 SAP  Francisco Partners FP FP  SAP America, Inc. FP SAP SAP Litmos
2022 12 1
175 /
2021
2021 Signavio GmbH Signavio Clarabridge,
Inc. Clarabridge 2021 2021
Signavio
2021 1 SAP
Signavio
949 2021 3 5
Signavio
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Signavio
Signavio
255
73
328
108
108
220
729
949
Signavio
SAP SAP
Signavio SAP Signavio SAP
SAP S/4HANA  RISE with SAP
Signavio
Signavio Signavio
Clarabridge
2021 10 1 Qualtrics
Clarabridge Clarabridge
Agreement and Plan of
Reorganization and Merger Qualtrics A 1,125
Qualtrics 37.33
1,298 1,116
910 115 91
Qualtrics Clarabridge Clarabridge
Qualtrics Qualtrics Qualtrics Clarabridge
Clarabridge
Clarabridge
218
84
302
107
107
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ooooodd
195
921
1,116
Clarabridge Qualtrics SAP
2021 2021 Signavio Clarabridge
2021 SAP Signavio Clarabridge
2021 2021
-l 27,842 70
a 5,376 -89
2021 1 1 2021

175/396



EDINETOOOO
DO0O0OoDoOoOgOooOo(E24727)
oOoOooodn

2021
2021 4 13 SAP Dediq GmbH Dediq
2021 9
SAP Dediq SAP Fioneer SAP
SAP  SAP Fioneer
IP / 7

2020
2020 11 4 Emarsys eMarketing

Systems AG Emarsys 100
Emarsys 2020 11 4

Emarsys
SAP SAP
SAP Emarsys

Emarsys

2020
2020 5 5 SAP Sinch AB Sinch Sinch SAP Digital
Interconnect SAP SAP
SAP 225
194 /
2020 11 1
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2021 1 1 27,636
1,838
1,736
-20
2021 12 31 31,190
1,526
589
-95
2022 12 31 33,210
2021 1 1 99
3
2021 12 31 102
2
2022 12 31 104
2021 12 31 31,088
2022 12 31 33,106
2022 (.1
2022
2022 Qualtrics International Inc. 2021 Qualtrics
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- SAP -
Qualtrics Emarsys Signavio® Taulia
( )
2021 12 31 26,441 3,844 395 408 NA NA NA 31,088
2022 12 31 26,812 4,083 395 410 322 1,052 32 33,106
@ Business Process Intelligence
Taulia 577
246 Taulia 307
24 Taulia D.1
1,135 34
2022 C.1
367 2021
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SAP

WACC)

@

Emarsys SAP Signavio(2) Taulia Business

Network

2022 20213 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021

11.4 8.4 13.9 15.3 20.7 31.7 24.8 NA 14.0 NA 34.6 NA
11.1 8.8 11.7 10.0 11.7 11.5 11.3 NA 11.9 NA 10.9 NA
3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 3.0 NA 3.0 NA 3.0 NA
) 5 5 12 12 14 14 13 NA 10 NA 12 NA
(1 2022 Qualtrics
@ Business Process Intelligence
® 2021
2022 10 1
2022 C.1
3

27.8 2021 33.1
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Qualtrics
Qualtrics
2022 10 1 2022 10 3
2022 10 3 10.90 2021 10 1 37.85 2022 9 30
957 2021 15,396
Qualtrics
Qualtrics
2022 2021
-15 -76
Emarsys
3
29.4 2021 24.6
Emarsys
513 2021 547
Emarsys
2022 2021
-2.0 -1.7
-16 -14
SAP Signavio

22.5 2021 24.8

SAP Signavio

845 2021 1,225
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SAP Signavio

2022 2021
-1.9 -2.5
-18 -20

Taulia
3
24.9
Taulia
366
Taulia
2022
-1.1
-11
3.4
3
24.2
2,821
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2022

-2.8

-19

26.2

112

2022

-1.4

3.9

183/396



EDINETOOOO
DO0O0OoDoOoOgOooOo(E24727)
oOoOooodn

38

IFRS

IFRS

20

1AS
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/

2021 1 1 793 2,565 6,038 9,396
12 205 427 644

0 233 303 536

19 0 66 85

-84 -7 -11 -102

93 0 -89 4

2021 12 31 833 2,996 6,734 10,563
8 170 337 515

0 65 98 163

244 0 65 309

-115 -703 -92 -910

87 -1 -85 1

2022 12 31 1,057 2,527 7,057 10,641
2021 1 1 523 2,043 3,046 5,612
11 171 211 393

77 195 406 678

-64 -11 -10 -85

2021 12 31 547 2,398 3,653 6,598
7 137 171 315

99 209 458 766

-109 -703 -61 -873

2022 12 31 544 2,041 4,221 6,806
2021 12 31 286 598 3,081 3,965
2022 12 31 513 486 2,836 3,835
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2022 2021
Ariba - 140 174 3-5
Concur - 704 755 8 -12
Callidus - 181 241 6 -10
Qualtrics - 195 286 3
Qualtrics - 937 983 10 - 15
Emarsys — 145 163 5-12
Signavio - 183 184 14

2,485 2,786
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©-9
@
25-50
2-6
4-20
2-5
2021 12 31 1,609 1,801 1,450 40 77 4,977
2022 12 31 1,585 1,758 1,406 43 142 4,934
2021 144 313 518 23 69 1,067
2022 46 399 567 30 87 1,129
IT
(8-6)
(0-5)
@

IFRS 16
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2022 2021

12 31 12 31

- 1,758 1,800

- 43 40

1,801 1,840

I 4,934 4,977

I ) 37 37

349 407

T 4,808 4,528

I ) 7 9

1,791 1,736

T 9,547 11,042

I ) 19 16

SAP 2022 12 31 49 2021 172
IFRS 16 5 2021 226
D.8
2022 2021
419 398
®.4) (F.-1)

(€.3)
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(©-6)
©
AC
Fv Cl FVTPL
FVTPL Fv CI
FVTPL
FvOCI
2022 2021
0 5,138 5,138 0 5,799 5,799
0 151 151 0 155 155
0 5,289 5,289 0 5,954 5,954
¥ 853 5,626 6,479 2,758 6,275 9,033
T
0 94 82 0 95 66
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20

2022 2021
151 155
-4 -9
SAP Fioneer GmbH 2021
SAP Fioneer SAP 1
G.9
2022 2021
303 255
SAP
2022 12 31 957 2021 757
654 2021 502
2022 12 31
2023 303
303

190/396



EDINETOOOO
DO0O0OoDoOoOgOooOo(E24727)

oOoOooodn
(R
2022 2021
5,897 5,305
EMEA 5,897 5,927
EMEA 11,794 11,232
32,414 30,141
510 441
32,923 30,582
333 279
APJ 1,210 1,263
SAP 45,928 43,079
B.1 A.l
©-8
2022 2021
144 99
7,491 4,680
7,635 4,779
2022 12 31
2023 1,682
2024 2027 4,441
1,512

7,635
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A2 & A
2022 12 31 2021 12 31 %
% %
T 42,848 59 41,523 58 3
T 17,453 24 16,136 23 8
T 11,858 16 13,515 19 -12
T 29,311 41 29,651 42 -1
11,764 16 13,094 18 -10
2,140 3 2,143 3 0
T 72,159 100 71,174 100 1
900 445
2
E-2)
@
SAP
SAP NCI
1
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2020 1 1 1,228.5 -34.9
0 -14.1
2020 12 31 1,228.5 —48.9
2021 12 31 1,228.5 —48.9
0 -15.7
0 3.3
2022 12 31 1,228.5 -61.4
2022
15 2022 2 1 2022 9 6
Move SAP 3.3
- 2025 5 19
- 2025 5 19
]
2022 12
100 2021 100
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2022 9 2022 12

250

250

31 100



EDINETOOOO
DO0O0OoDoOoOgOooOo(E24727)

ooooOoog
/

2020 1 1 1,776 —6 1,770

-2,792 10 -2,782

2020 12 31 -1,016 4 -1,012

2,846 -26 2,819

2021 12 31 1,830 -22 1,808

2,186 39 2,224

2022 12 31 4,015 16 4,031
2013 6 4 2018 5 17
SAP SE 2023 5 16

120
SAP SE SAP SE
SAP SE 10%
40
2022 2021 2,865 2.45 50 0.50
2021 2020 2,182 1.85 2020
2019 1,864 1.58
Handelsgesetzbuch
2022 12 31
2.05 2,393
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2022

2022 Qualtrics Qualtrics Omnibus
Qualtrics 2021: 74% 2021
2,828 1,159
366 2021 : 274
(E.3)
@
( 3
AC
Fv CI
FVTPL
FVTPL
AC
FVTPL

AC
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AC

FVTPL

12

CP

AC
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2022 2021

I 9,008 8,898 109

686 2,632 -1,946

9,694 11,530 -1,837

-3,986 -3,755 -230

7,778 -9,338 1,560

-11,764 -13,094 1,330

-2,070 -1,563 -507

2022 2021
3,176 0 3,176 3,149 0 3,149
2,932 0 2,932 1,420 0 1,420
2,855 0 2,855 4,281 0 4,281
47 0 47 50 0 50
-3 0 -3 -3 0 -3
k3 9,008 0 9,008 8,898 0 8,898
2022 2021
657 0 657 2,605 0 2,605
32 0 32 30 0 30
0 203 203 0 201 201
104 129 233 79 107 186
-3 0 -3 -3 0 -3
790 332 1,122 2,711 308 3,019
T 853 5,626 6,479 2,758 6,275 9,033
T 93 6 17 98 5 33
()
3
(-1

197/396
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2022 2021
1,600 7,381 1,600 6,556 8,155 900 8,965 900 8,851 9,751
0 397 0 405 405 393 373 396 393 790
930 0 928 0 928 930 0 931 0 931
1,456 0 1,456 0 1,456 1,533 0 1,533 0 1,533
3,086 7,778 3,983 6,960 10,943 3,756 9,338 3,760 9,245 13,005
4,808 9,547 14,354 4,528 11,042 15,570
E 83 73 76 83 84 84

()

2022 1.23 2021 0.83 2020 0.87
(F-1) (F-2)
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2022 2021
1.125%
8-2014 2023 99.478% 1.24% 1,000 1,000 999
1.750%
9-2014 2027 99.284% 1.87% 1,000 869 985
1.000%
122015 2025 99.264% 1.13% 600 598 597
1.000%
15-2018 2026 99.576% 1.06% 500 499 499
1.375%
16-2018 2030 98.687% 1.50% 500 401 491
0.250%
18-2018 2022 99.654% 0.36% 900 0 900
0.750%
19-2018 2024 99.227% 0.89% 850 848 847
1.250%
20-2018 2028 98.871% 1.38% 1,000 843 982
1.625%
21-2018 2031 98.382% 1.78% 1,250 976 1,223
0.000%
22-2020 2023 99.794% 0.07% 600 600 599
0.125%
232000 2026 99.200% 0.26% 600 597 596
0.375%
242020 2029 98.787% 0.51% 800 643 769
7,874 9,487
us 4.69%
2018 2025 100.000% 4.74% 300 281 264
8,155 9,751
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2022 2021

( )

7-2012 2022 3.18% ( ) 3.22% 444.5 0 396

8-2012 2024 3.33% ( ) 3.37% 323 306 300

9-2012 2027 3.53% ( ) 3.57% 100 99 94

405 790

2022 12 31 6 930
928 2021 12 31 931
2022 12 31 1.96 2021 12 31 -0.48%

2021 3 SAP 950 500 2023 9 30
3.25 3.22
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2022 2022
11 12 31
3,755 -1,406 0 36 0 1,600 3,986
9,338 0 0 40 0 -1,600 7,778
13,094 -1,406 0 76 0 0 11,764
-34 0 0 2 -741 0 -773
-55 0 0 0 0 8 -47
13,005 -1,406 0 77 -741 8 10,943
60 119 0 0 0 24 203
42 0 0 -1 711 0 753
@ 2,143 -424 0 55 0 366 2,140
15,250 -1,711 0 131 -29 398 14,039
€))
2021 2021
11 12 31
1,482 980 1 1 0 1,291 3,755
11,801 -1,252 2 78 0 -1,291 9,338
13,283 =272 3 79 0 0 13,094
126 0 0 3 -163 0 -34
—66 0 0 0 0 11 -55
13,344 =272 3 82 -163 11 13,005
61 0 0 0 0 -1 60
-114 0 0 -1 157 0 42
@ 2,120 -374 4 106 0 287 2,143
15,411 -646 7 187 -6 297 15,250
)
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FVTPL

a)
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b)
©
IFRS 9 IAS 39 IFRS 16 IFRS 4 IFRS 7 —
IASB 2020 8 27 2 IFRS 9 IAS 39 IFRS 16 IFRS 4
IFRS 7 1BOR
EURIBOR
IBOR
1 2021 1 EONIA €STR +8.5
(bps)
1 2022 4 3 LIBOR 300
2022 LIBOR
25 1BOR
1BOR
IBOR
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SAP 1P
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1:1
12

12

2022 12 31

2022

32

32

2022 12 31

2022

1,371

33

0Cl 32

0Cl -9

ocCl1

ocCl1
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2022 12 31
2022
16 7 12
822 550
EUR GBP 0.86 0.88
EUR JPY 136.83 138.23
EUR CHF 1.00 0.97
EUR AUD 1.53 1.54
EUR USD 1.05 1.03
SAP
12 31
2022 2021

1.7 1.4

1.6 1.3

1.7 1.6

1.3 1.0
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+/- 10 2021
+/- 10 2020 +/- 10 2020 2021
2022 12 31
)
2022 2021 2020 2022 2021 2020
-10%  2021:
135 106 43
-10% 2020: -10%
+10%  2021: 135 106 43
+10% 2020: +10%
-10% 31 40 40
+10% -38 -49 -49

(2022 64 2021 67 )
2022 87 2021 87

1:1
2022 12 31 52% 2021 50%
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2022 12 31
2022
4,550 94
3,732 95
782 -9
782 2
0 11
2022 12 31

2022

4,550 94

0 0

-749 -3

-749 -3

2022 12 31
2022
2024 2027 2028 2029 2030 2031
EUR
1,000 1,000 800 500 1,250
3.949% 3.373% 2.713%  3.348%  3.511%
USD
94
5.150%
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12 31
2022 2021
0.03 0.04 0.04 0.03 0.03 0.03 0.03 0.02
( ) 6.19 5.83 7.21 4.87 7.72 6.25 7.72 4.67
1.45 1.71 1.76 1.45 1.71 2.07 2.95 1.70
4.64 4.84 4.88 4.64 4.83 4.82 4.83 4.81
IFRS 7
+75
+125 (bps) 2021 / +75/+20bps 2020
/ +50/+10bps -25/-10bps
2021 / -25/-20bps 2020 / -50/-20bps
2020 2021 2022 12 31
2022 2021 2020
+75 bps / +125 bps
2021 +75 bps / +20 bps
-58 -11 -6
2020 +50 bps / +10 bps
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-25bps / -10 bps
2021 -25bps / -20 bps 10 10
2020 -50 bps / -20 bps

+75 bps / +125 bps
2021 +75 bps / +20 bps -4 -1
2020 +50 bps / +10 bps

-25bps / -10 bps
2021 -25bps / -20 bps 3 1
2020 -50 bps / -20 bps

2022 12 31 5,137 2021 5,799
2020 3,113
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2022 2021 2020
503 515 259
10
-503 -515 -259
10
BBB
2022 2021
A
1
Tier 1
3
12
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90
A.2
2022 12 31

2022

1- AAA BBB- -0.0% 6,554 0 -3

2 - BB+ D 0.0% 33 0 0

3 - NA —6.5% 46 0 -3

-0.1% 6,633 0 -6
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2021
1- AAA BBB- -0.0% 6,864 0 -3
2 - BB D 0.0% 37 0 0
3 - NA -10.3% 29 0 -3
-0.1% 6,930 0 -6
2022 12 31
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2022 12 31
2022
-1.0% 3,146 10 —31
30 -1.0% 1,420 80 -15
30 90 —2.3% 582 64 —15
90
—27.2% 499 236 -200
—4.3% 5,647 390 —261
2021
-0.5% 4,106 6 —19
30 -1.0% 611 57 —7
30 90 —1.8% 514 48 -10
90
~19.3% 482 240 ~139
—2.9% 5,713 351 -175
2022
) 2022 2021
11 -175 -186
-187 -87
101 98
12 31 -261 -175
A.2
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2017

2019 9
930
2021 2022 12 31

2022 12 31

2022 12 31

2024 25
EURIBOR LIBOR 17
5.95
CP
2021 930
346
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12/31/2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028

-1,496  -1,496 0 0 0 0 0
-2,140 -398 =317 —257 —228 -188 -1,071
-11,365 4,422 -1,288 965 -1,165 -1,142 -3,636

-15,002 6,316 -1,605 -1,222 -1,393 -1,330 4,707

12/31/2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027
-1,089 -1,089 0 0 0 0 0
-2,143 —448 -338 -263 -208 -184 -934

-13,285 -4,084 -1,695 1,228 936 -1,165 4,773

-16,517 5,621 -2,033 -1,491 1,144 -1,349 5,707

12/31/2022 2023 2024 12/31/2021 2022 2023
-88 -62
-3,185 -13 -2,381 -12
3,113 0 2,327 0
-9 =31
-309 -919
302 885
753 -49
-102 -1,201 -48 —476
63 364 60 421
-849 -118 -850 -142 —76 —67
30 41
-1,713 -2,878
1,740 2,923
33 1
-1,039 -136
1,069 137
0 7
0 0 -4 -4
0 0 9 6
63 57 0 50 51 2

7187 —61 -850 —92 -25 —65
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2022 12 31
9,008
[©) AC 3,176 3,176
[©) AC 2,976 2,976
FVTPL 2,855 2,855 2,855 2,855
6,405
[©) AC 5,776 5,776
® - 629
6,479
AC 32 32 32 32
FVIPL 5,138 5,138 258 0 4,880 5,138
@ - 151
AC 654 654 654 654
@ - 203
AC 233 233 233 233
FX - 33 33 33 33
- 0 0 0 0
FX FVTPL 30 30 30 30
FVTPL 0
FVTPL 5
-2,226
) AC  -1,496  -1,496
® - -730
-14,355
AC  -1,456 -1,456 -1,456 -1,456
AC  -9,083 -9,083 -8,301 -928 -9,229
AC -405 -405 -383 -383
[©) AC  -2,562 -2,562 -422 -422
FX - -9 -9 -9 -9
- -753 -753 -753 -753
FX FVTPL -88 -88 -88 -88
5,311 -2,154 7,212 -5,156 -3,087 4,886 -3,357
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2021 12 31
8,898
) AC 3,149 3,149
[©) AC 1,467 1,467
FVTPL 4,281 4,281 4,281 4,281
6,499
) AC 5,888 5,888
[©) - 611
9,033
AC 30 30 30 30
FVTPL 5,799 5,799 772 155 4,871 5,799
® - 155
AC 2,602 2,602 2,602 2,602
@ - 201
AC 186 186 186 186
FX - 1 1
- 7 7
FX FVTPL 41 41 41 41
FVTPL 0 0 0 0
FVTPL 10 10 10 10
-1,702
(@) AC  -1,089  -1,089
[®) - -613
-15,571
AC -1,533 -1,533 -1,533 -1,533
AC -10,682 -10,682 -10,248 -931 -11,179
AC -790 -790 -801 -801
[©) AC  -2,424 2,424 -281 -281
FX - -31 -31 -31 -31
- -49 -49 -49 -49
FX FVTPL -62 -62 -62 -62
7,158 -3,194 9,997 -5,164 -695 4,881 -978
()
@
®
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FVTPL 8,028 8,028
AC 12,847 12,847
FVTPL -88 -88
AC -15,002 -15,002
2021 12 31
FVTPL 10,131 10,131
AC 13,323 13,323
FVTPL -62 -62
AC -16,517 -16,517
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0.75-
24.0)

7.3%-28.3%
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1
2
1 2022
93 (2021 : 1,030 ) 1
3
3

2022 2021
11 4,881 2,508
0 0
-25 455
522 1,076
-43 -852
-789 2,348
337 256
12 31 4,883 4,881
-788 1,789

FVTPL
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(G.1)
2022 2021
828 512 1,340 588 242 830
244 49 293 219 53 272
1,072 561 1,633 807 295 1,102
T 2,139 3,580 5,719 1,633 2,628 4,261
T 50 16 29 49 11 26
(%)
VAT
G.2)
) 2022 2021
662 0 662 646 0 646
T 4,818 705 5,523 5,203 860 6,063
L 14 0 12 12 0 11

*
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6.-3)
c.5

@

A.49

2022 12 31
SAP
2021 2022 12 31
2022 12 31
2018 6 Teradata Corporation Teradata US, Inc Teradata Operations, Inc Teradata
SAP SE  SAP America, Inc SAP Labs, LLC Teradata
SAP Teradata Teradata
Teradata
2019 SAP Teradata
2020 Teradata SAP 2
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Teradata

344

OEC
U.S.D0J

U.S.SEC U.S.D0OJ

2021 2
Teradata
Teradata
c.5
FCPA
SAP
U.S.SEC
FCPA
SAP
2022 12 31

226/396

EDINETOOOO
DO0O0OoDoOoOgOooOo(E24727)
oOoOooodn

2023

(2021 195



EDINETOOOO
DO0O0OoDoOoOgOooOo(E24727)
oOoOooodn

G.9

2022 12 31 SAP

Christian Klein
CEO adidas AG, Herzogenaurach

Sabine Bendiek
Schaeffler AG, Herzogenaurach

Luka Mucic
(CFO) IR HeidelbergCement AG, Heidelberg

Juergen Mueller
DFKI GmbH, Kaiserslautern

2022 2 15
SAP
Scott Russell
Thomas Saueressig
SAP Nokia Corporation, Espoo
SAP 2022 4 5

SAP

Julia White
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2022 12 31 SAP

Prof. Dr. h.c. mult. Hasso Plattner

Lars Lamadé

Manuela Asche-Holstein
SAP SE Co. KG

Aicha Evans
Zoox, Inc.

Prof. Dr. Gesche Joost

Margret Klein-Magar

SAP 0B 0G
SAP SE

Monika Kovachka-Dimitrova
SAP SE
Peter Lengler

SAP Germany SE & Co. KG

@.4.06).)

@D,2.®.6)
Rhein-Neckar Loewen GmbH

®).(™M.®)

@.®.6).C )
Joby Aviation LLC

®»,(M
Ottobock SE & Co. KGaA

ING-DiBa AG

®,@,3,®

®0.@,C ).()

(OHONOHO)

SAP SE (2022 11
21 )
Jennifer Xin-Zhe Li 2022 5 18 ®.
Changcheng Investment Partners ) Flex Ltd.
2022 8 25
ABB Ltd.
Kone Oy

Full Truck Alliance Co. Ltd.
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Dr. Qi Lu @®.(M.®
CEO, MiraclePlus Ltd. Pinduoduo Inc.

Pine Field Holding Limited

Pine Field Holding Limited

Pine Field Ltd.
Gerhard Oswald @.®.®
Osward Consulting GmbH TSG 1899 Hoffenheim FuRbal I-Spielbetriebs GmbH
Christine Regitz ®D..%.)

Schloss Dagstuhl —  Leibniz Center for Informatics
Tech@SAP 2022 5 20
HV Capital Manager GmbH

2022 5 1
Dr. Friederike Rotsch @.®.6).M
Merck KgaA
Heike Steck ™. ).6G).()
SAP SE
Helmut Stengele
Dr. Rouven Westphal 3).0).(6).(8
Hasso Plattner Foundation Sharks Sports & Entertainment LLC
HPC Germany GmbH & Co. KG
Dr. Gunnar Wiedenfels 3).®.6)
Warner Bros. Discovery, Inc. OWN LLC

Speechagain, Inc.

James Wright D.3).6).®
SAP SE 2022
11 21

SAP SE 2022
11 22

2022
Bernard Liautaud 2022 5 18
(DsaAp SE
&)
®
O]
®
®
)
(8 Go-To-Market and Operations
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G.5
©
2020 2021 2022 LT12020
B.3
IFRS 2
2020 2021 2022
2022 2021 2020
12,556 25,015 5,094
20,726 25,095 23,095
33,282 50,110 28,189
-1,429 464 488
-1,433 461 487
4 3 1
9,600 NA NA
41,453 50,574 28,677
2022 2021 2020
205,965 238,428 201,690
9,986 6,356 11,173
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DBO
( ) 2022 2021 2020
DBO 12 31 1,462 3,435 3,520
114 108 98
( ) 2022 2021 2020
5,206 3,856 3,755
3,149 3,176 3,149
2,058 680 606
/DBO
( ) 2022 2021 2020
2,217 2,159 3,010
DBO 12 31 31,217 42,313 44,043
2020 2021 2022

SAP  Web
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G-6)
SAP
SAP SE SAP
SAP SAP SAP
SAP SE SAP
SAP
( ) 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
NA NA 0 0 1 2 11 6
NA NA 2D 2D 4 4 93 37
NA NA NA NA 5 3 NA NA
) NA NA 0 0 0 0 -18 -15
) NA NA 0 0 0 0 4 4
NA NA 0 0 512 6 NA NA
Msap
&) 6

©-5)
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6.7
2022 5 18 2022 KPMG AG
Wirtschaftsprifungsgesellschaft (KPMG) KPMG 2002 KPMG KPMG
2022
2022 2021 2020
KPMG KPMG KPMG
KPMG KPMG KPMG
( ( (
4 10 14 3 8 12 3 9 12
3 7 10 2 5 7 0 1 2
0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
7 17 24 6 13 19 3 10 14
KPMG SAP SE
KPMG
(6.8)
2023 SAP go-
to-market
2.5% 250 300
2023 1 IFRS
Qualtrics
SAP Qualtrics
go-to-market
IFRS 5
SAP SE
2023
G.

233/396



EDINETOOOO
DO0O0OoDoOoOgOooOo(E24727)
oOoOooodn

2020 12 31 269

39

-18

2021 12 31 290

26

-28

2022 12 31 288
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@
2022 2022 2022
2022 12 31 12 31
@ / @
2022 12 31 @ (©)
% ) ( ) )
Ariba Technologies India
Private Limited,
, 100 104,281 18,076 41,087 1,308
Ariba Inc., ,
, 100 1,457,046 543,678 6,147,376 1,647
Concur Technologies,
Inc., ,
, 100 2,036,964 329,150 8,702,490 3,368
Qualtrics. LLC,
100 1,389,345 -1,279,289 8,276,577 3,920
SAP (China) Co., Ltd.,
, 100 1,315,556 78,398 -115,740 6,485 (18)
SAP (Schweiz) AG, ,
100 1,220,424 121,350 240,769 860
SAP(UK) Limited,
, 100 1,326,666 109,566 174,850 1,721
SAP America, Inc.,
s 100 7,679,678 -49,123 20,620,854 9,275
SAP Argentina S.A_,
100 211,896 20,369 54,086 1,115 (18)
SAP Asia Pte. Limited.,
100 658,218 18,237 16,758 1,109 (18)
SAP Australia Pty Ltd,
, 100 854,197 64,877 114,663 1,317
SAP Brasil Ltda,
, 100 680,482 10,379 67,004 2,532 (18)
SAP Canada, Inc.,
, 100 1,143,722 61,871 701,953 3,106
SAP Deutschland SE & Co.
KG, , 100 5,213,029 792,021 1,724,802 4,915 (9)
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2022 2022 2022
2022 12 31 12 31
@ / @
2022 12 31 @ (©)
% ) ( ) )
SAP Espafia — Sistemas,
Aplicaciones y Productos
en la Informatica,
S.A., ,
100 555,000 16,247 207,794 912
SAP France,
, 100 1,095,975 271,450 1,982,374 1,562
SAP Hungary Rendszerek,
Alkalmazéasok és Termékek
az Adatfeldolgozasban
Informatikai Kft.,
, 100 149,269 3,350 26,803 1,317
SAP India Private Limited,
> 100 752,754 105,449 439,985 2,279
SAP Industries, Inc.,
, 100 589,487 122,241 1,316,745 256
SAP Italia Sistemi
Applicazioni Prodotti in
Data Processing S.p.A.,
, 100 643,856 30,780 147,910 792
SAP Japan Co., Ltd., ,
100 1,186,733 103,861 407,789 1,424
SAP Labs Bulgaria EOOD,
, 100 97,599 4,192 25,753 1,249
SAP Labs India Private
Limited,
100 807,222 77,473 285,829 10,406
SAP Labs, LLC,
, 100 628,751 86,076 758,813 1,871
SAP México S.A. de C.V.,
, 100 517,905 7,337 119,388 1,060
SAP National Security
Services, Inc.,
, 100 1,148,035 225,370 554,346 592
SAP Nederland B.V.,
, 100 749,366 384,264 827,982 693 (13)
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2022 2022 2022
2022 12 31 12 31
&) / &)
2022 12 31 @ )
% ) ) )
SAP Service and Support
Centre (Ireland) Limited,
s 100 273,401 43,567 68,008 1,706
SAP Services s.r.o.,
) 100 100,727 1,264 17,933 1,280
SuccessFactors, Inc.,
’ 100 817,875 322,698 5,416,686 767
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*

““SAP Kazakhstan““ LLP, , 100
110405, Inc., , , 100
Abakus Ukraine Limited Liability Company, , 100

Ambin Properties Proprietary Limited, Johannesburg, , 100 (18)
Apex Expert Solutions LLC, , , 100
AppGyver Inc., , , 100
AppGyver Oy., , 100

Ariba Czech s.r.o., , 100

Ariba India Private Limited, , 100

Ariba International Holdings, Inc., , , 100

Ariba International Singapore Pte. Ltd., , 100

Ariba International, Inc., , , 100

Ariba Slovak Republic, s.r.o. 100

Ariba Software Technology Services (Shanghai) Co., Ltd., , 100

Ariba Technologies Netherlands B.V., 100 (13)
Baiza Capital LLC, , , 0 (5).(8)
Baiza Capital S.A., , 0 (5,
Business Objects Holding B.V., 100 (13)
Business Objects Option LLC, , , 100
Business Objects Software Limited, (Trading as SAP Solutions), , 100
Callidus Software Inc., , , 100
Callidus Software Pty. Ltd., , 100
CallidusCloud (India) Pvt. Ltd., , 100
Clarabridge Netherlands B.V._, , 100
Clarabridge UK Ltd, s 100
Clarabridge, Inc., , , 100
Christie Partners Holding C.V., , 100
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ClearTrip Inc. (Mauritius), . 100
ClearTrip Inc., , 57

CNQR Operations Mexico S. de. R.L. de. C.V., , 100
Concur (Canada), Inc., , 100
Concur (Czech) s.r.o., , 100
Concur (France) S.A.S., , 100
Concur (Germany) GmbH, . 100 (10),(11)
Concur (Japan) Ltd., , 97
Concur (New Zealand) Limited, , 100 (16)
Concur (Philippines) Inc., , 100
Concur (Switzerland) GmbH, , 100 (15)
Concur Holdings (France) S.A.S., , 100
Concur Holdings (Netherlands) B.V., , 100 (13)
Concur Technologies (Australia) Pty. Limited, , 100
Concur Technologies (Hong Kong) Limited, , 100
Concur Technologies (India) Private Limited, , 100
Concur Technologies (Singapore) Pte. Ltd., , 100 (18)
Concur Technologies (UK) Limited, s 100
ConTgo Consulting Limited, , 100 (18)
ConTgo Limited, , 100 (12)
Crystal Decisions (UK) Limited, , 100 (12)
Delighted LLC., s , 100

Delos Cloud GmbH, , 100 (5)
Emarsys Beijing Limited, , 100
Emarsys eMarketing Systems GmbH, , 100
Emarsys iletisim Sistemleri Tic. Ltd Sti., , 100
Emarsys Interactive Services GmbH, s 100
Emarsys Limited, , 100
Emarsys North America, Inc., , , 100
Emarsys Pte. Ltd., , 100
Emarsys Pty Ltd, , 100
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Emarsys S.A_S., , 100
Emarsys Schweiz GmbH, , 100
Emarsys UK Ltd, , 100
EMARSYS-Technologies Informatikai Szolgaltatoé Kft., 100
Engagor N.V., , 100
Engagor, Inc., , . 100

Ess Cubed Procurement Proprietary Limited, , 100
Extended Systems, Inc., , , 100
Financial Fusion, Inc., , , 100
Flyin Travel and Tourism Private Limited, , 100
FreeMarkets Ltda., , 100
Hipmunk, Inc., , , 100
hybris (U.S.) Corporation, , , 100
hybris GmbH, , 100 (10),(11)
INNAAS s.r. 1., , 100 (5)
Inxight Federal Systems Group, Inc., , , 100

IP Asset Holdings.LLC, , , 100
LeadFormix, Inc., , s 100

LLC “Emarsys”, , 100

LLC ““SAP Labs”, , 100

LLC ““SAP Ukraine’”, , 100 (18)
Loyalsys GmbH, , 100
Loyalsys Technologies Israel Ltd., s 100
Market Metrix lberiaS.L., , 100
Market Metrix Singapore Pte. Ltd., , 100
Market Metrix, A Clarabridge Company, LLC, , , 100

New Debden Merger Sub 11 LLC, , , 100
Nihon Ariba K.K., , 100
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Outerjoin, Inc., , , 100
OutlookSoft Deutschland GmbH, , 100 (10),(11)
Plat.One Inc., , , 100
Plat.One Lab Srl, , 100

PT SAP Indonesia, , 99

QAL Technologies Pty Ltd, , 100

QCL Technologies Holdings, LLC, , , 100 (5)
QCL Technologies Ltd., , 100

QDL Technologies GmbH, , 100

QFL Technologies S.A.R.L., , 100

QIL Technologies Limited, , 100

QPL Technologies sp. z 0.0., , 100

QSL Technologies Pte., , 100
Quadrem Africa Pty. Ltd., s 100
Quadrem Brazil Ltda., , 100
Quadrem Chile Ltda., , 100
Quadrem International Ltd., , 100
Quadrem Netherlands B.V., s 100 (13)
Quadrem Overseas Cooperatief U.A., , 100
Quadrem Peru S.A.C., , 100
Qualtrics Colombia S.A.S., , 100 (5)
Qualtrics de Argentina S.R.L., , 100 (5)
Qualtrics Holdings I, LLC, , 100 (5)
Qualtrics Holdings 11, LLC, , 100 (5)
Qualtrics Holdings Inc., , 100
Qualtrics Hong Kong Limited, , 100
Qualtrics India Private Limited, , 100
Qualtrics International Inc., , , 71 (19)
Qualtrics Ireland Limited, , 100
Qualtrics Japan LLC., , 100
Qualtrics Korea, LLC, , 100
Qualtrics Mexico, S. DER.L. DEC.V., , 100
Qualtrics Middle East FZ-LLC, , 100 (5)
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Qualtrics Netherlands B.V., , 100
Qualtrics Provo HQ, LLC, , S 100
Qualtrics Sweden AB., , 100
Qualtrics Switzerland AG, , 100
Qualtrics Technologies Brasil Ltda., , 100
Qualtrics Technologies Spain, S.L.U., , 100

QUL Technologies Limited, , 100

SAP (Beijing) Software System Co., Ltd., , 100

SAP (China) Holding Co., Ltd., , 100

SAP Andina y del.Caribe C.A_, , 100 (18)
SAP AZ LLC, , 100

SAP Belgium — Systems, Applications and Products S.A., s 100

SAP Beteiligungs GmbH, , 100

SAP Bulgaria EOOD, , 100

SAP Business Services Center Nederland B.V., , 100 (13)
SAP Chile Limitada, , 100 (18)
SAP CIS, LLC, , 100

SAP Colombia S.A.S., , 100 (18)
SAP Costa Rica, S.A., , 100 (18)
SAP CR, spol. s r.o., , 100

SAP Cyprus Limited, , 100

SAP d.o.o0., , 100 (18)
SAP Danmark A/S, , 100

SAP Dritte Beteiligungs- und Vermogensverwaltungs 100

GmbH, »

SAP East Africa Limited, , 100 (18)
SAP Egypt LLC, , 100 (18)
SAP EMEA Inside Sales S.L., , 100

SAP Erste Beteiligungs- und Vermdgensverwaltungs 100 (10).(11)
GmbH, s

SAP Estonia 0U, , 100

SAP Financial, Inc., , 100
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SAP Finland Oy, , 100

SAP Foreign Holdings GmbH, , 100

SAP France Holding, S.A., , 100

SAP Global Marketing, Inc., , , 100

SAP Hellas Single Member S_A_, , 100

SAP Hong Kong Co., Ltd., , 100 (18)
SAP Hosting Beteiligungs GmbH, , 100 (10),(11)
SAP India (Holding) Pte. Ltd., , 100

SAP International Panama, S.A., , 100

SAP International, Inc., , , 100

SAP Investments, Inc., , , 100

SAP Ireland Limited, , 100 (14)
SAP Ireland US - Financial Services Designated Activity Company, , 100

SAP Israel Ltd., , 100 (18)
SAP Korea Ltd., , 100

SAP Labs France SAS, , 100

SAP Labs Israel Ltd., , 100

SAP Labs Korea, Inc., , 100

SAP Latvia SIA, , 100

SAP Malaysia Sdn. Bhd., , 100

SAP Middle East and North Africa L.L.C., , 49 (6),(18)
SAP Middle East FZL.L.C., , 100 (18)
SAP Nederland Holding B.V., , 100 (13)
SAP New Zealand Limited, , 100

SAP Norge AS, s 100

SAP North West Africa Ltd, , 100

SAP Osterreich GmbH, , 100

SAP Pert S.A.C., , 100 (18)
SAP Philippines, Inc., , 100 (18)
SAP Polska Sp. z o0.0., , 100

SAP Portals Europe GmbH, , 100

SAP Portals Holding Beteiligungs GmbH, , 100
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SAP Portals lIsrael Ltd., , 100

SAP Portugal - Sistemas, AplicacBes e Produtos Informdticos, Sociedade 100

Unipessoal, Lda., ,

SAP Projektverwaltungs- und Beteiligungs GmbH, , 100

SAP Public Services, Inc., DC, 100

SAP Puerto Rico GmbH, , 100 10). (D).
(18)

SAP Retail Solutions Beteiligungsgesellschaft GmbH, s 100

SAP Romania SRL, , 100

SAP Saudi Arabia Software Services Ltd, , 100

SAP Saudi Arabia Software Trading Ltd, , 75 (18)

SAP Sechste Beteiligungs- und Vermégensverwaltungs GmbH, ,

100  (10),(11)

SAP Siebte Beteiligungs- und Vermdgensverwaltungs GmbH, ,
gung g g 100 (10),(1D)

SAP sistemi, aplikacije in produkti za obdelavo podatkov d.o.o.,

100
SAP Slovensko s.r.o., , 100
SAP Software and Services LLC, , 49 (6),(18)
SAP Svenska Aktiebolag, , 100
SAP System Application and Products Asia Myanmar Limited, ) 100
SAP Systems, Applications and Products in Data Processing (Thailand) Ltd., .
SAP Taiwan Co., Ltd., , 100
SAP Technologies Inc., , , 100
SAP Training and Development Institute FZCO, , 100 (18)
SAP Tirkiye Yazilim Uretim ve Ticaret A.S., , 100
SAP UAB, , 100
SAP Ventures Investment GmbH, , 100 (10),(11)
SAP Vierte Beteiligungs- und Vermégensverwaltungs GmbH, , 100
SAP Vietnam Company Limited, , 100
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SAP West Balkans d.o.0., , 100

SAP Zweite Beteiligungs- und Vermdgensverwaltungs GmbH, , 100 (10),(11)
SAP.i0 Fund, L.P., , , 0
Sapphire Fund Investments 11 Holdings LLC., , , 100 (7)
Sapphire Fund Investments 11, L.P., s , 0
Sapphire Fund Investments 111, Holdings LLC., , , 100 (5).(7)
Sapphire Fund Investments 111, L.P., , , 0o
Sapphire SAP HANA Fund of Funds, L.P., , , 0o (M
Sapphire Ventures Fund I, L.P., s s 0 (M
Sapphire Ventures Fund Il, L.P., , , 0o (M
Sapphire Ventures Fund II1, L.P., , , 0
Sapphire Ventures Fund 1V, L.P., , , 0 (M)
Sapphire Ventures Fund V, L.P., , , ()]
Sapphire Ventures Fund VI, L.P., s , 0 (M
Sapphire Ventures Fund VII-A, L_.P., , , 0 B).(M
SAPV (Mauritius), , 100 (7)
Shanghai SAP Cloud Technology Company, Ltd., , 70 (5)
Signavio ANZ Pty Ltd, , 100

Signavio Pte. Ltd., , 100

Signavio UK Ltd, , 100 (12)
Signavio, Inc., , , 100
Statwing. LLC., , , 100
SuccessFactors (Philippines), Inc., s 100 (18)
SuccessFactors Cayman, Ltd., s 100
SurveyVitals A Qualtrics Company, LLC, , , 100

Sybase Angola, LDA, , 100 (17)
Sybase lberia S.L., , 100

Sybase International Holdings Corporation, LLC, , 100
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Sybase, Inc., , , 100
Systems Applications Products (Africa Region) Proprietary Limited, 100
Systems Applications Products (Africa) Proprietary Limited, 100
Systems Applications Products (South Africa) Proprietary Limited, 81 (18)
Systems Applications Products Nigeria Limited, , 100 (18)
Taulia (Shanghai) Smart Technology Co. Ltd., , 100 (5)
Taulia Australia Pty. Ltd., , 100 (5)
Taulia Bulgaria EOOD, , 100 (5)
Taulia GmbH, , 100 (5)
Taulia LLC, , s 9% (5)
Taulia Singapore Pte. Ltd_, , 100 (5)
Taulia Trade Technology GmbH, , 100 (5)
Taulia UK Ltd., , 100 (5)
Technology Management Associates Inc., , , 100
Temkin Group, LLC, s , 100
TM Property Holdings, LLC, , , 100
TomorrowNow, Inc., , , 100
TRX Europe Limited, , 100
TRX Technologies India Private Limited, , 100
TRX UK Limited, , 100 (12)
TRX, Inc., , , 100
Usermind d.o.o Beograd, , 100
Usermind International, LLC, , , 100
Usermind, LLC, , , 100
Volume Integration, Inc., , , 100
(@
@ IFRS
/

(3 2022 12 31 FTE
4 HGB, 285 313 SAP S.E.

HGB, 313(2) 3 4 286(3)1 1
(5 2022
(6 SAP SE
@ SAP SE SAP IFRS 10
(8 IFRS 10
© SAP SE
1o )
(11 HeB, 264(3) 264b
(12 2006 480 2022 12 31
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@s

(16

a7

@18
19

2 403 2022 12 31 2022 9 30
SAP SE
2014 6 16 365 2022 12 31
727a 2 2022 12 31 2022 9 30
1993 211 (3) 2013 45 (2)
2022 9 30

2013 10 1 147/13
2022 12 31
SAP SE

96%
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%

China DataCom Corporation Limited, , 28
Procurement Negdcios Eletronicos S/A, , 17
SAP Fioneer GmbH, , 20

€ )
47th Street Partners I, L.P_, , ,
83North 1V, L.P., ,
Adverity GmbH, ,

Alation, Inc., ,

Alchemist Accelerator Fund |1 LLC,

Aleph-Bigg SPV, L.P., ,

All Tax Platform - Solucoes Tributarias S.A.,

Amplify Partners, L.P_, ,

Amplify Partners 11 L.P., ,

Amplify Partners 111, L.P_, ,

Amplify Partners IV, L_P., )

Amplify Partners Select Fund 1V, L.P.,

BGS Holdings, Inc., , ,

Bitonic Technology Labs, Inc., ,

Blue Yard Capital 1 Alternative GmbH & Co. KG,

Blue Yard Capital 1 GmbH & Co. KG, ,

Blue Yard Crytpo 1, L.P_,

Boldstart Ventures V, L.P., ,

Boldstart Ventures VI, L.P., , ,
Brightfield Holdings. Inc., , ,
By Capital 2 GmbH & Co. KG, ,

Canvas Ventures 3, L.P., ,
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G )
Catchpoint Systems, Inc., , ;
CDQ AG, ,
Chalfen Ventures Fund I L.P., s ,
Chalfen Ventures Fund 11 L.P_, , )
Chalfen Ventures Fund 111 L.P., ) s
CircleCl, Inc., , ,
Clari.Inc., Inc. , ,
ComponentLab, Inc., , s
Contentful Global, Inc., )

Costanoa Venture capital 11 L.P_, s ,

Costanoa Venture capital 111 L.P., , s

Costanoa Venture capital Qz, LLC, s ,

Creandum SPV TR (D) AB, ,

Culture Amp, Inc., , s

Cypress.io, Inc., , )

Data Collective Il L.P., , s
Data Collective 11l L.P., , ,
Data Collective IV, L.P., , s

Digital Hub Rhein-Neckar GmbH, ,

Dremio Corporation, , ,

FeedZai S.A., )

Felix Capital Fund I11, )

Felix Ventures 11, L.P., )

Finco Services, Inc. (dba Current), , ,
Follow Analytics, Inc., , ,

GitGuardian SAS, ,

Gorgias, Inc., , ,

Haystack Ventures V. L.P., , ,
Haystack Ventures VI. L.P., , ,

IDG Ventures USA 111, L.P., , .
IEX Group, Inc., , s
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G )

InfluxData, Inc., , ,

Initialized CBH SPV LLC, , ,

InnovationLab GmbH, ,

innoWerft Technologie- und Grinderzentrum Walldorf Stiftung GmbH, ,

Involve.ai, Inc., , ,

JupiterOne, Inc., , ,

Kaltura, Inc., , ,

LeanData, Inc., s ,

LGVP F I LLC, , ,

Local Globe VII, L.P., , ,
Local Globe VIII, L.P_, , ;
Local Globe X, L.P., , s

Local Globe XI, L.P., , s

Local Globe XI1, L.P., s ,

Local Globe Opportunity Fund, L.P., , )

Mango Capital 2018, L.P., , ,

Mango Capital 2020, L.P., , ,

Mango Capital 2022, L.P., ; )

Matillion Ltd., )

Medable Inc., , ,

MVP Strategic Partnership Fund GmbH & Co. KG. ,
Notation Capital Il CIRC, LLC, , s
Notation Capital, L.P., , ,
Notation Capital Il, L.P_, , s
Notation Capital, Ill, L.P., , s
NOTATION 1 SPV SV OCT 2020, LLC, , .
OpenX Software Limited, , ;
OpsRamp, Inc., , s

Paper Education Company, Inc., ,

Pendo.io, Inc., , s

PivotNorth Early Fund 1. L.P., , ,
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G )

Point Nine Annex GmbH & Co. KG, ,

Point Nine Capital Fund Il GmbH & Co. KG, ,
Point Nine Capital Fund 111 GmbH & Co. KG, ,
Point Nine Capital Fund IV GmbH & Co. KG, ,
Point Nine Capital Fund V GmbH & Co. ,

Project 44, Inc., , ,

PubNub, Inc., , .

Qualified.com, Inc., , s

Reltio, Inc., , ’

Restream, Inc., , ,

Ridge Ventures 1V, L.P., , s

Ridge Ventures V, L.P_, , ,
SafeGraph, Inc., , ,

Sapphire Sport, L.P., , ,

Sapphire Sport, Parallel Fund, L.P., , ,
Sapphire Sport, Parallel Fund Il, L.P_, , s
Side, Inc., , ,

Smart City Planning, Inc., )

Splashtop, Inc., , s

Spring Mobile Solutions, Inc., s ,
StackHawk, Inc., , ,

Storm Ventures V, L.P_, , »

Sun Basket. Inc., , ,

SV Angel 1V, L.P., , ,
Tetrate.io, Inc., , ,

The SaaStr Fund, L.P., , s

The SaaStr Fund 11, L.P., , ,

Third Kind Venture Capital Il, L.P_, ,

Third Kind Venture Capital 111, L.P_, , )
Tribe Capital LLC Series 3, ,
Tribe Capital LLC Series 8, , ,
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G )

UJET. Inc., , ,

Unmind Ltd., )

Upfront v, L.P_, , ,

Uptycs, Inc., , ,

VerblIT, Inc., , ,

Vistex, Inc., , ,

Walkabout Ventures Fund Il L.P., , ,

Yapily Ltd., ,

Zesty Tech Ltd., ,
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T O Cowritired Groud Comsolidated Findnclal Fustber infornition an  Addlional
Stakehoiders Maragerend FRepar Statemcnis IFRS Sustanabiity nlormation

a1l Consolidated Income Statements of SAP Group for the Years Ended December 31

€ il B, Liii-d oliuefads e [ e Tq o ik g 21 A0
—

Claad 12,555 9,418 2,080
Soware icenses 2056 3,748 3642
Sarwnre suppon 11000 11417 11506

Softwarn (oenses and suppot 13,965 14,550 15,148

L"lﬂ;.llilll‘l sofvemane H.m 24078 ﬂ.m

Services . -1..3.51 3,764 -ﬂ.!J.IEl

Total revenue fh 1) e 30,871 27842 27,338
Cost of cioud -3,853 3,105 2
€51 o softertre lioevmses. and suppon 1,504 -19%5 2008

Comt of cioud and sahwaze 5,547 5030 707

PEr— -3.388 ~2818 3478

Totsl cost of revenise 8,938 7548 6

Gross pafit ' 2935 19807 19,453

ﬂl’!ﬂ\;ﬂﬂ‘:b’\d fa Tl L ] —5.1.55. 5,100 4454

Sates and marEtng -A.043 =1.505 ~7.1056

aeneial and adminsiraion -2 T2 =-2431 =1,356

Aestruciunng (.67 =138 -157 3

Oither coenating incomedexpense, net B4 &3 Bs

Total operating expenses. -26,200 -F3ABE  -20.715
Opevating profit LR A 50 [ 7]
Other non-apeeating incomelezpense, net 3 195 17 -1
Finance ircome 820 3123 1473
Finance costs 2205 —94g 07
Finanelal income, nat (c4 1388 2174 776
PTDI'.ltbn‘:rﬂ'ﬁllJl Jm 6.BAT 7230
oot eopense ol 1] =1,382 <1471 =1538
Prafit atter tax 1,708 5376 5283
oAbl 1o owners of parent 2,284 5,755 5,145
ANEBANGIE 10 or-Coni nol ling wberests =576 121 138
Eamingt per shane, besic (€} (.8 145 2.8 438
Eamings por share, dituted fin £) P 194 448 435
Tudéa;ﬁwngnﬁmwh-mrpumdlhmm TRABACIE SRIIASNE L -
1581335
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Stakehoiders Maragerend Fepar Statemcnis IFRS Sustanabiity nlormation

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income of SAP Group for the Years

Ended December 31
€ siiead
Al Pelie e tax
herrs ithai will inot b ceclassfed o profs or loss
R urdiiems on diteed Dineil panton plans, Defons
Income Taxes relating o remagsureynents o defred beneld perdion plars
Remegsuements on defined benefit pevesion plins, met of lox
Cthier compreharmiod incomi for itbmad that will not be meclasiifiod 1o profit of lods, ned of tae
Ibers thal will be reclassified Sotsequentny ba giodit o osd
Gairs {losses) on exchange ditferences on iansaton, belon tax
.m:'.;-wrummn ams.l:n'.lomn on exchenge dHemrces s uur:gd;np:\, i:.rsut o
Exchange d ®erenced, befoce Lax
ncome taxes relating 10 exchange dfeences on translation
Exchange differences, m't aftax
Galrs rlm.m]-;m :.n.h fure hedigesicost of hedging. before tax
Hecuss-htmn m:bu:tl:nenu on cash Sow heq_eu'\cml of .N.:dgins, before tax
Cash fiowr hn-u.:gpsrcum n::dgng,bo:muq . .
Income taxes retating 1o cash low hedgesicast of hedging
Cash N becigesicost of hedging, net of tax
Diher comprehenskes Income for lbems that will be reclassified to profit or loss, net of fax
ﬂmwmlum.ﬁﬂﬂfuu .
ﬁlinmﬁhﬂhimm .
idtrinAnble i owners of parent
Bt ANDLE 10 noa-Cont ol ling Siees
Th: B2 Eaemfultying Noles &6 a0 imegral par of thre Corallaed Minsasial SEalement
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L 2022

1,708

Fi |
=15

2,190

2,195
-10
JE2) 2,186

53

{F.-I} 53

2021

8376

43

k

2825

2 B55
-0

2BLE

-35

~26
2819
2..855
8,230
8,058

172
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SAP saAP integrated Report 2022

Tor Ouad
Stakeholders

Cariireid G
Maragement Repor

Consolidated Findnclal  Fustber informition an
Statements IFRS Sustanabiiy

AdStional
nlormation

T consolidated Statements of Financial Position of SAP Group as at December 31

€ mlbong
Cash ard agh squivaiens
Deher AinAncial ALsets
Traches Jnd olhat mCevEDi.
Ofhir nom-Tingntild Msas
Tax agssts
Total curnient aesets
Gioaehetd
Imargise SRsets
Puoparty. plim, and dguiprsnt
Cahix financial sttt
Trachs and other neosivabied
Oahir’ noe-linsndial Kses
Tax psats
Dofereed tax assets
Tatal nan-current assets
Tetal sdsiis
Teadde and cthes M‘#h?i-
Tax Llaislitees
Financal labdities
Dher non-financal I.-lhl.rlln
Provisions
: Contract lablites
Total current labilities
Teade and other payabies
Tas Iild:llili!‘vl o
Fnancal lakelnes
nhat non-financal Lasbises
Pronisions
Defpired 1A Linbdites
o Lamsnes
Tatal non-current Bsbilitios
Tatal liakilities
saed capital
Shane geemim
Aetained eamings
her cnt.rp-m:ﬂs- of equity
Treasury shares .
qu.llty atiributable to owners of parent
Nurb.-l:.\uﬂlrnllr‘ ey

Total equity
Total equity and Babilities

The g corpisng Motes and an megral pae of thise Corrialdated Financal Suibeswsnb.

Motes 2022

[E3; 0008
[DLEL (E.3) A53
B 6.236
(AL G0 2,139
287

18,522

(.7 33,106
o A835
{Erad ), i) @03
(D&). [E3 5,626
[ 3y 159
(LRI NN 1580

c.5 2065
H3,630

72,159

.2.11.6

783

(€3}, (Er5) 4808
4

5,300

17,453

(E-3}, (D5} 'D.'Stl'.."
8.3}, (B.5) (G50 105
(A, (4, (R.5), (5.6} 50
c.5 241

AL} a3
11,858

8011

1230

3081

35.5.15-

3801

4341

20,106

[E-2 2662

¥2,159
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2758
B.352
1631

£03
EL=E ]
ELRC
3065
4,977
6275
147
2628
263

122
a7

18083

355

1918
oz
1756
-3}'.;.?2
mas3
2670
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Stakehoiders Maragerend Repar Statements IFRS Sustanability nlormation

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity of SAP Group for the Years Ended

December 31
Equity Attributabie 1o Owners ol Parent
€ miiorn " : Other 1 J.'.nnlr\a:l.l::;;: Total Equity
Em m::.:: E;'r;? wm *;:uﬂ Total N
Notes {E3) (E2 {EX (E2y
b1 v 1Lzr il mM.Tay 17 =1 580 TG M W0uee
ok Pt ahies ko 5145 5,145 138 5283
Othar compeahensha incoma . -2.782 -2.752 -2.T52
Comprehemnshne income 2175 =272 2,391 138 2531
Share-based payments 1 1 1
mm —1.55 -1-.Iﬁ'l- -2 -Lash
Puncihirie of bedsury shams =1 452 =1,4%2 -I.;-EIZ
v 54 54 5k
Dehey uu..-.;q-: 4 -4 ] -5
pFiEs (] 1z b prAer. ] -1.012 =3072 28,716 211 Fac bk
ol Prefit alae as 5356 5,358 121 5376
" Other compeehensve incoma = 2768 z802 51 zas3
Comprehenshne income 8790 2768 8,052 172 8230
Shase-based paymens 1373 1,373 11 1584
Craidhiricy 2182 -2, 262 -84 -227
R W T SRS 1933 1033 2,050 3083
Oeher changes wltd =il 14 =30
AHINIOFL 122 1,918 37,022 1,757 =3,072 38,853 2,670 41523
nl Frofit after tax "1 2004 =57 1. 708
Other compeehensive income 55 Z08s 2,100 180 2.280
Comprehaning oo I‘.,.I'l'ﬂ 044 4,335 06 3064
Share-based payments L163 1,153 125 1488
Dividends ~7,855 -2,BE5 -2 ~2.885
Purchase of troasuey shans 1,500 -1..5;3'.‘-1 —I.ﬂ-'li].
o = m =
E:imim nonmﬂ.mu.ng &2 52 B0 -1
Cther changes 13 13 2 15
LALFEE 1.8 3081 418 3801 —41.1.'". 40,286 662 42848

Thet acortigasning Motes ant an integral pan of thive Qorreldated Minancial Seateswnts,
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‘Stakehoiders Maragerend Repar Statements IFRS Sustanability nlormation

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows of SAP Group for the Years Ended

December 31
€ Esiiead Meotes 2022 2021 frinkil}
Al Pelie atver tax 1,708 8376 5283
Adjsdmenis o reconcle peofit after tax do neil cash Rosw frosn opemiing acbyes
Depredation and amodization ) 024 1856 1.3 A3
Sham-based payment expenses {833 2.51,!1. 2,794 1088
il Incoee e @x P 7] 1,382 1471 L4338
dnl Fraeeiad incame, ot CLat ] 1,385 -2,174 ~T75
Decreaseircreass in allwaroes on tade receables .Dtl =11 &/
Oihier adustmens ko ron-cash Boms -173 an . L]
Decresselircieass in irpde and ciher receivables 140 414 Azl
Dacrpaspfircisase in other assets -1.312 -6 —£51
Brcreasatdecoenss i irade papables, prowsions, and ofher Lablltes 163 475 3
B SR e Cre RS e BN Soenaracy (sl BRE 100 128
Shaee-based paymens EH -1,182 -1.120 -1.310
Ingerest paid ~248 -2 S o
Interest receved 166 5 122
Incorme tames. paid, net of nefunds =1,678 =263 =1.184
Mt mhflmmm-upemln;mlmlu -5.543 6,223 7184
Cash fows Por buminess combnations, net n‘u.m.md c.uhequmlzr-ls acqumd -ur:l -1m -a-.a.z
Cash fowrs from sle of subs-ianes of businesses Bﬂ!l =72 203
Purchasa of mlzr'.a_i:lnl‘.l assety and D'Dpeﬂ'.' plaand, and aquipment ~H74 800 ~ElG
Procesds from sales of mtangiole assels of propeity, plart, and equspment BI:I a1 &8
Puchuse of sguity of dedl instrumants of ot erliles —2.320 —4,368 -2.535
Proceeds fom salas of sguly of debt watnuerings of other entilias &, 100 3220 T35
Mt cash flows fram investing activities 667 -3,063 -EBEE
Diwidends paid £.2} —2865 -2.1682 -LB564
Dividends paid on non-cortolling intenesis -12 -5 -2
Purcharie of Heasury shaes (.2} =150 o -paaz
Piooeeds fiown changes mmeu.hln-rﬂnmm sl 1hal ﬂarunes.ra i Bhe lois of ooetned . .33 2828 o5
F‘a'p'rr-ﬂ‘l: l‘nflu.l.lea related b net share Seftlemere ul rquw arecands a5 =202 . 1] 1]
Humd:- feowm blmumrp {E.3} :I_"ia- 1,680 113?.
Rwuﬂmmnﬂ (£ _|;. —1.:-‘5 -1.852 -!'.J-NEI
F‘l'n!‘-!m ul'u".'as-lrllanlrlln . .-.Iz.i .-3_'.". J;r.a
Trmﬂm wlh i 1:u'lml|-lu: 2 o1t fE 2} : {l .-2 ]
Mt ulhﬂulu!'r\omﬂmrtqu aullu‘i‘blu . =6,337 -BIE -B,i'i.i‘
Effect nlfurﬂ;n cumrency rates on cash and cash equivalents : 13.4 =84 -Zl.d
Pzt mmlmmnlnc&h.rﬂmwﬂwm :I.IH. 3,587 =4
P Caah and cash equivalonts ot the boginning of the peviad {E 3} 8,838 5,311 5314
P Caah and cash equivalents ot the end of the peried {E.3} 9,008 8,888 5311

The accompanydng Noles ane an iniegral pan of these Cormolidated Financlal Satements.
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Stakehoiders Maragereri Report Statemicnts IFRS Sustanabiity information

Notes

(IN.1) Basis for Preparation

General Information

Thie registened dormicile of SAP SE & in Walldod, Germany (Commerncead Register of the Lower Court of
Mannheim HRE T19915). The Consolidated Financial Statements for 2022 of SAP SE and its
subsidianes (collectively, “we,” "us,” "aur” "SAP" "Group.” and "Company”) have been prepaned in
accordance with intemnational Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS)

W have applied all IFRS standards and sterpretations that were effectve on and endorsed by the
Ewropean Unign (ELU) as at December 31, 2022. There were no standards of imterpretabions as at
December 31, 2022, impacting owf Consolidated Financial Statements for the years ended
December 31, 2022, 2021, and 2020, that were effective but nat wet endorsed. Therafore, our
Corsobdated Fenancial Statements comply wilh both, IFRS as sued by the Intérnational Accounting:
Standards Board (LASE} and IFRS as endarsed by the ELL

Owr Executve Board approved the Consalidated Financial Staterments on Felbruary 22, 2023, foe
submission 10 our Supendsory Board wiich approved the Consolidated Financial Statemants an the
same day.

Al amounts imcluded in the Consolidated Financial Statements are reparted in millions of euros

(€ millions) except where otherwise stated. As figures are rounded, numbers presented throughout
this document may nat add up precisely to the totals we provide and percentages may nat precisely
reflect the absolute figures.

Amaunts disclosed in the Notes that ane taken directly fram our &l Comsolidated Income Statements
or our T Consolidated Statements of Financial Pasition are marked with the symbols &l and T,
respeciivaly.

Accounting Policies, Management Judgments, and Sources of Estimation
Uncertainty

How We Present Our Accounting Policies, Judgments, and Estimates

To ease the understanding of our fimancial statements, we present the accounting policies,
management judgments, and sources of estimation uncertainty (hereafter: accounting palicies,
judgments, and estimates) on a given subject together with other disclosures related ta the same
subgect in the MNate that deals with this subject. Accounting policies, judgments, and estimates that do
not relate to a specific subject are presented in the following section.

For easier identification of our accounting policies. [udgments, and estimales, the respective
disclosures ane marked with the symial 2 and highlighted with a light gray bes, They focus on the
atcoenting choices made withan the [amewosk of the prevailing IFRS and refrain from repeating the
undertying promulgated IFRS guidance, uniess we censider it panticularly important to the
understanding of a Nate's cantant.
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The foliowing table provides 30 avenses of when ow acoounting policies, management judgments,
and estimates ane dsclosed

Wote & Accounting Policics, Judgments, and Eslimates
(LI} Basis it Preparation

dLE) llv‘.:\a-c-lnilh.e 'l;d'.lr-n.u-u'n.rq..-

T Revenve

i Trade and Dther Receaties

(a3} .c;pn:.nim.s Coost from Contaacts with Crsiomers
(A4 lCud.nmur.-Hq'.ldrd Prvision

(8.3 Shag-Based Payments

(8.4 Pension Plans and Smilar Obtigations

(A5} Caher Employee-Retated Doligations

P(:EH Restruciuring

. Resuts of Segmons

.5 Frcoma Taxes

o Business Comnalions and Deveslinees

o] L

(.5 SR

o4 Property, Pur-'.nndtq.-pr-«t

.5 [

{08 Equl'r.lml:m

E:2) Total Eq..—r.r,-

€3 Liquédity

LA+ Financial R Faciors and Risk Managemen
L] Fau Van Desclosans on Francal nsinimems
(.3 Cahar Litigation, Claims., and Legal Cortingencies
[{7] Exrtutian and Sipirisory Boand Compensaton
&) General Accounting Policies

Bases of Measurement

The Consolidated Financial Statements hawe bean prepaned on the histarical cost basis except lor the
lefloeang:

= Dermvatree financial instrurments, babilives for cash-settled shane-based payments, and inancial
assels with cash flows that are nol solaly payrnents of principal or mlarest ang measned at fas
value,

= Post-employment benefits are measured at the present value of the defined benefit obligations
less the fair value of the plan assets

— Monetary assets and Eabilities denominated in fareign currencies are transiated at pericd-end
exchange rates.

— The financial statements of our subsidiaries o which hypeninflation accounting applies are restated,
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Foreign Currencies

Income and expenses and operating cash flows of our loreign subsidiaries that wse a functional
currency other than the Eurd ane translated at average rates of foreign exchange (FX) compuled on a
manthly basis. Exchange dilerences resulting from foreign curnency ransactions are recagnzed in
ather non-operatng incomalexpense, met

The exchange rates of key curencies affecting the Company were as follows:

Exchange Rates
addle Rate
Arraal Avreage Excharge Rone
Eqpusvaleng 1 £1 e s
BOEE 3 022 3L 000
—
Aarsiralian dollar s 15553 15615 15174 15747 16554
Canadan dollas L=+ Lada) Lakad 13m0 14835 15204
St R CHF 08847 LOEH 1.0052 10814 Loma
Posind stering GBP 08853 OLB403 [11:1%: 1 OLHE00 0LBasE
AEpanese yen »ny 140 66 1300 13801 129 04 121
LS, dotln usD L0655 1.133% 1055 118315 11413
Cost Classification
Cost of Cloud and Softwara

Cost of cloud and software includes the costs incurred in providing the senaces and producing the
goads that generate cloud and software revenue. Consaquently, this ine item primarily includes
employee expenses relating to these senices, amortization of acquired intangibles, fees for third-party
licenses, depreciation of our propey, plant, and equipment (for example, of our data centers in which
we hast our cloud solutions), and costs for third-party hosting services. For more infeemation absout
itve capitalization of costs from contracts with customers, see Ao (430

Cost of Services

Cost of services includes the costs incuned in praviding the senaces that generale Sendce revenue.
Corsequently, this line item primanily includes empiloyee expenses and related raining, system and
system administration costs, and costs for third-party resources.

Research and Development

Research and development includes the costs incurred by activities related to the development of
cloud and software solutions including resource and hardware costs for the development systems. For
more information about the recognition of intermally generated intangible assets fram developrent,
see Nowe (0.3)

Sales and Marketing

Sales and marketing includes the costs incurred for the selling activities {such as sales commissions
and amartization of capitalized sales commissions) and marketing activities related to our soffware
and cloud selutions and our service portfolo, For more information about the capitalization of costs
fromy conbiacts with customers, see Aone (431
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Genaral and Administration

General and administration includes the costs related o finance and administrative lunctions, human
resaurces, and general managemant as long as they ane not directly attributable to one of the ather
aperating expense [ine items

& Management Judgments and Sources of Estimation Uncertainty

The preparation of the Consolidated Financial Slatements requires our management (0 make
judgments, estimates, and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the
reporied amounts of assets, labilities, revenues. and expenses, as well as disclosure of contingent
liabilities

‘We base our judgmenis. estimates. and assumptions on hestorical and forecast information, and en
regeonal and industry economic conditions in which we or our customess operate. Changes to these
conditions could adversely affect our estimates. Although we believe we have made reasonable
estimates about the ultimate resclution of the underhing uncertaintes, No ASSUTance can e given
that the final cutcome ol these matters will be consistent with what & reflected in our recognized
assats, liabilities, revenues, and expenses and disclosed contingent liabilfties. Actual results coutd
ditfer significantty from ariginal estimates,

The accounting policies that mast requently or significantly require us to make judgrnents. estirmates,
and assumptions, and therefare ae oitical 1o understanding our results of operations, include the

Tetlowing:
Hate @ significant Accounting Policies
(A1} Pty MSogrtion
[T ‘4'-I|.l.lal.-'¢|'\- of h.ﬂlﬁ.rﬂei\'—lﬂ.ﬁ
.'n i}, r&..,l.,- Mw“ﬂﬁ-hi IE;W. l:l;t;ﬁ.l;ﬁeﬂ‘..!t'.':
) Accounting for share Dised paymerts
.:.L'-:,,u Al:mtrw 't.:u ;r\.t.mlnm
fo.1 Anr.mumwng Inrmrleumr.bnibm
1Ry ;Dcnurt-ngmrgmﬂi
o3 Afehuniing |-IJ| argile a5eets I"'ﬂ;.ﬂil'lﬂ lm V.ll'ﬁil'l-'h‘p’ m'm i‘ﬂﬂl"ﬂ“ I-'!f!.elﬁ figen

) develapment]
6 Accounting for equty imestments

Our mansgement penodically discusses these signilicant accounting policies with the Audit and
Compliance Commiltee of our Supenisory Board,

&) New Accounting Standards Mot Yet Adopted

The IASE has issued vanous amendments to IFRS standards (such as IAS 1 (Presentation of Financial
Staterments)} that are refevant for SAP but not yet effectve, We are currenily assassing the impact on
SAP, but do not expect material effects on ow’ Bnandal position o resulls of operabons.
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(IN.2) Impact of the War in Ukraine

&) Management Judgments and Estimates Due to the Impact of the War in Ukraine

Management judgments and estimaes can affect the amounts and reporting of assets and habilines
a5-at the reporting date. and the amounts of income and expense repcaed for the penaod. Due to the
global consequences of ihe ongoing war in Ukraine, these management judgments and estimates
continue 1o be subject to uncenainty. Actual amounts may differ from the management judgments
and estimates; changes could have a material impact on the Consolidated Financial Statements. All
available lormation o the expedied economic develaprmonts was inchuted when updating the
management judgrments and estimates. This informaticn was also included in the analyss of the
recoverability and collectability of assets and receivables.

‘W will continue to analyze possible futune effects of the war in Ukraane an the measunement of
indivicdual assets and Labilities.

In 2022, SAP's business was impacted by the war in Ukraine and SAP's decision to wind down its
buessness operabions in Russia and Belanes. We evaluated the resulting impact an the Consolidated
Financial Statements. In the cows=e of aur analysis. which was based on quantitative and qualitative
aspects, we considered, for example, the impact on individus! bad debt provisions on our trade
receivables and restrecturing expenses including severance payments to employess, and
impairments of ouwr current and non-currant assets (sales commissians and property, plant, and
equipment}. Furthermorne, we assessed the impact on goodwill and the need to record further
liabilities resulting from the wind-down.

For mare information about the inpacts of the war in Ukraine and SAPS et from Russia and Belarus,
see Mafe (4 1) concemning our revenues, AMore (4.2 concerning irade and other receivables,

Neve (B &) concerning restructuring, Node (0.2} concernang goodwill, and Abde (5 4] conceming
property, plant, and equipment

Ot future impacts doe o thes ragedly evoleng Stuation ane Currenily unkndwn and could potentially
subject our busaness to matenially adwverse consegquences should the situation escalate beyond its
Cunhent Soope
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Section A - Customers

This section discusses disclosures elated 10 conkracts with owr customers. These include Dul ane not
limited o explanations of how we recognize revenue, revenue disaggregation, and information about
our trade recenables and customer-related obligations

(A.1) Revenue

& Accounting for Revenue from Contracts with Customers
Classes of Revenue

‘We derhve our revenue fram lees charged 1o our customers for the wse of cwr cloud offerngs, fod
licenses o our on-premise software products, and for standardized and premium support senices,
consulting. customer-specific software developments, trasning. and other sendces.

Cloud and software revenue, a5 presentad i our Consolidated Income Statements, is the surm ol
our cloud revenue, our software license revenue, and our software support revenue,

Cloud revenue reprasents fees samed from providing customers with any of the following:

Sofware a5 a senace (5aa5), that is, a right to use softwane functionality {including standard
functionalities and custom cloud applications and extensions) in a cloud-based infrastructure hosted
by SAP or third parties engaged by SAP, where the customer does not have the right to terminate the
hosting conbract and take possession of the soltware 1o either nun it on its own IT Infrastruciune or o
engage a third-party provider unrelated to SARP 1o host and manage the software; 5aa5 also incledes.
transaction and agent fees for tansactions that customers of our network business execule an our
choud-based transaction platicoms.

FPlarfonmt 85 @ Senice (Faas). that is. access to a doud-based platlorm (o develop, deploy, integrate,
and manage appications.

Infrastructure as 3 service (1aa5), that is. hesting and related application management Services for
saltware hosted by SAP o third panies engaged by SAP.

Fremium clowd suppart, that is, support beyond the regular support embedded in the underlying
choud subscription senices,

Software license revenue represents fees earned from the sale or license of software 1o customers
for use on the premises cwned or fully controlled by the customey, in othes words, where the
customer has the right to take possession of the soltware for installation on the Customer's premises
ar an harchware of thind-party hasting providers unnelated to 3AP {on-premise software), Software
licensa revenue includes revenue from bath the sale of cur standard software products and custamer-
specific cn-premise-saftwane development agreemants.

Software support revenue represents fees eamned from providing oustomers with standardized
suppod sendces that comprise unspecified future software updates. upgrades, and enhancements as
well a5 technical produect support sendces Tor on-premise software producs.

Services revenue primarily represents lees garmed rom professional consuling Seqvices, premium
SUpPaNt senaces, and Kraining services,
Identification of Contract

‘W lrecuently enter irfa multiple contracks with the same customer. For atcounting pusposes, we
ireat these conlracls as a single contract if they are entered into at or near the same time and are
econamically interrelated. We do not combine contracts with chosing days maore than three months
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apan because we do not conssder them being entered into near the same time. Judgment is required
in evaluating whether various contracts are vtermelated, which includes considerations as o wihether
ihey were negotiated as & package with a single commercial objective, whether the amount of
consideration on one contract is dependent on the perlormance of the other contract. or if some of all
goods in the contfacts ane a single periormance abligation

My arrangerments with existing cuslomerns can be aither-a new contract o the modification of prior
contracts with the customer, Our judgrment in making this determination conssders whether there is a
canrection betwesn the new acangement and the pre-exsting conlracts, whether the goods and
sendices under the new arrangement are highly inerrelated with the goods and senvices sold undes
prios contracts, and how the goods and services undar the new arrangement are priced. In
determining whether a change in transaction price fepresents a contract modilication ar a change in
variabie consideration, we examine whether the change i price results from changing the contract o
frexm applying unchanged existing contract provisions.

identification of Performance Obligations

Dur customer contracts aften include various products and senaces. Typically, the prodiucts and
senvices gutlined in the Classes of Revenue section qualily as separate perfformance obligalions and
the partion of the contractual fee allocated 1o them is recognized separately, Judgment is required,
himarever, in determinmg whether a good or senace 5 cansidened a separate performance abligation
In particular for owe professional services and implementation attivities, judgment is required to
evaluate whether such senices signaificantty integrate, customize, or modify the on-premise soltware
or choud sendce 1o which they relate. in this cantext, we consider the nature of the senices and their
volume relative ta the volume of the on-premise software or cloud service to which they relate, In
general, the implementation services for our cloud senices go beyond pure setup activites and
qualty as separate perlormance abligations. Similarly, our cn-pramise imphementation senices and
aur custom develapment services typically qualify as separate performance cbligabons. Mon-distinct
goods and senices are combined into ane distinct bundle of goods and services (combined
performance obligation).

‘When selling goods or senvices, we frequently grant customers options to acquine additional goods or
senaces (lor example. renewals of cloud or suppont arrangements, o additional volumes of purchased
cloud solutions or software). We apply judgment in determining whether such options provide a
material right 1o the cusicmer Mal the cusiomer would not receive without entering into that contract.
In this judgment, we consider, for example, whether the oplions entitle the customer 1o a discount that
exceeds the discount granted for the respective goods or senices sold tagether with the option,

Determination of Transaction Price

W appdy judgrnent in determining the amaount 10 which we expect to be entitied in exchange for
transhering promised goods or senvices (o a customer, Generally, varable consideration is estimated
based on the most Dkely amount and is inciuded in the transaction pace to he extent that the
constraint does nat apply. This includes estimates as 1o-whether and 1o what extent subseguent
CONCESSICNSs may be granted to cusicmens and wiether the custamer is expected to pay the
contractual fees. In this judgment, we consader our history with the respective Customer or on a
podnfolio basis,

The recognition conslraint is appled to on-premise softwase tansactions that include usage-based ar
sales-based contingent fees. In contrast, ow’ lypical clowd services do not pravide the customer with a
software license because the cusiomer does nol have the right 1o terminate the hosting contract and
1ake possesson of the salbeane. Comsequently, variable cloud bees are considered in the tiansaction
price based on estimates, rather than beng accounted for as usage-based or sales-based license
fenyalties.

Only very rarely do ow contracts include significant financing componants. We do not account for
fnancing components if the period behween when SAP ransfers the promised goods or senvices to
the customer and when the customer pays for those goods or senaces is one year of less.
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Allscation of Transaction Price

We have established & hietarchy 1o idantify (e Sandalons selling prices (SSPs) that we use o
allocate the transaction price of a customer contract to the performance obligations in the contract.

= Where standalone salling prices for an offering are obsenable and reasonably consistent across
custamers (hat is, not highly vadabla), our SSP estimates ane dedved fiom owr respective pricing
history, Typically, our standiardized suppont offerings and ouwr professional service offenngs follow
this approach.

= Where sales prices for an offenng are no directly observable or highly variable across customers,
we use estimation techniques. For rengwable offerings with highly variable pricng acrass
customers, these techniques consider the individual contract’s expected renewal price as faras this
price Is substantive. Typically, ow clowd offerings follow this approach. For non-renewable
offerings. thesa estimations follow a cost-plus-margin approach,

— For offerings that lack renewals, have highly variable pricing, and lack substantal direct costs to
estimate based an & cost-plus-margin approach, we allecate the transaction price by applying 8
residual approach, We wse this echnique in particular for cuwr standand on-premise software
offerings

Judgment is required when estimating 55Ps. To judge whether the histoncal pricing of our goods and
sendgces is highly variable, we have established threshalds of pricing variability. For judging whether
cantractual renewal prices ane substaniive, wa have established Roor prices which inclode a minimum
mangin that we use as 55Ps whenever the contraciual renewal prices are below these floor prices. In
judsing whather contracts ase axpestad 1o renew at thair contractual renewal prices, we rely on cur
respectie remewal histany. The 55Ps of material right ogteons depend on the probabdity of option
exerces, Ineshimating these probabsfities, we apply judgment considering histoncal exercise pattems.

We review the 55Ps periodically or whenever facks and drcumstances change 10 ensure the most
objective input parameters available are used,

Recognition of Revenue

Clowd revenue is recognized over ime a5 the services are parormed. For cloud busingss models
where we grant rights 1o continuously access and use one or moee cloud offerings for a certan e,
revenue is recogrized based on time elapsed and thus ratably over this ferm, For cloud business
models provisianed on a consumplion basis where a cusiomer commils to a fixed value of spend on
cloud senvices throughout the contract term, bul with the discretion io call off cloud services dusing
the contract temm, we recognize revenue based on consumplion as it best reflects ow measure
lgwands satislaction of that performance cligation, In limited scenarios where the transaction price is
entirely variable and determined Dy the Customers conSuUmprion, we recognze revenue based on
usage in the period in which it was eamed,

SOMiaarng (e se AenLe IS fecogrized At & pont In e of cver Bme depending on wihathes we
deliver standard software, customer-speclic software, of soltwarne SubSCHpLon Contracts that combine
ihe delivery of software and the obligation to delier, in the future, unspecified softwase products:

= Licenses for our standard on-premise softwane products are typically delivered by providing the
customer with acoess o download the software. We recognize revenue lor these on-premise
licenses at the point in teme whian we gram the beense nghts to the custamer and the custarmer has
access o and thus controd over the software. In judging whether our on-premise soltware offerngs
Erant custamers a right to wse, rather than a right 1o access, our intellectual property, we have
considered the usefulness of owr software withow subsadquent updates to it

- Typically, our custamer-specific on-premise scftware development agieements:

* Represant software developed lor specific needs of indhvidual customers and therefore do not
have any use for us
= Prevade us with an enforceable right to payment for performance completed 1o date
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For such development agreemants, wo recognize revenue over time as the solwase development
progresses, Judgment is required in identitying an appropriate method 10 measure the progress
teward complete satistaction of such performance obligations. We typically measure progress of
our developmant agreements based on the direct costs ncumed 1o date i developing the software
a5 4 percertage of the total reasonalbly estirmated direct costs 1o fully complete the demelopment
work (pedcentage-of-complation method). Ths methad of measunng peogress Faithfully depicts the
transder of the development senices (o the customer, 85 substantially all of these costs are cost of
the statf or third parties performing the development work In estimating the total cost 1o lully
complets the development work, we oonsider aur histony with: similas projects.

- For agreements that combéne the delivery of software and the obligation to deliver, in the fuluse,
unspecific soltware products, we eognize revenue 3ta point i tirme for icenses that are made
immediately accessible to the customer. We recognize revenue ratably over the term of the
software subscription contract for the unspecifed soltware products, as owr perlormance obligation
i to stand ready 1o defver such products on a when-and-i#-available basis.

Software support revenue is typically recognized based an ime elapsed and thus mtably over the
term of the support anangement: Under owr standardized support sendces, our performance
obligation is to stand ready to provide technical preduct suppart and unspecified updates, upgrades,
and enhancements on a when-and-if-available basis. O customers simultanesusly receive and
consume the benefits of these support services &5 we perdorm

Senvice reverwe ts iypically recognized over time. Where we stand ready to provide the service (such
A% access to learning content), we recognize revenue based on time elapsed and thus ratably over the
senice penod, Consumption-based services (such as separalely identifiable consulting services and
premiurm Suppont senvices and classiodm raining sendces) are recognized over time a5 the senaces
ang utilized, typically following the percentage-of-completon methad or ratably. When using the
percentage-of-completion method, we ypically measure the progress toward complete satisfaction of
the pedormance oblgation in the same way and with the same reasaning and judgment as we do for
customer-specific on-premise software development agreements, \We apply judgment in determining
whether a service qualifies as a siand-ready service or as a corsumplion-based service.

Revenue for combined pedormance obligations is recognized over the [engest panod of all promises
in the combined performance obligation,

Judgment is also required to determine whethar revenue is to be recognized at a paint in ime or over
time. For performance obligations satisfied over time, we need 1o measue progress using the method
1hat best reflects SAP's performance. When using oost incurred as a measure of peogress lor
TeCOENIZIng revenue aver ime, we apply judgment in estimating the total cost to satishy the
performance obligation

All of the judgments and estimates mentioned above can significantly impact the timing and amount
af reveniue 1o be recognized.

Contract Balances

‘We recognize rade receivables for performance cbligations satisfled over time gradually as the
peormance obligation is satished and in full once the imaosce &5 due. Judgment is reduened in
determining whether a right to consideration is unconditional and thus qualifies as a receivable.
Conract Gabilies primarnly rafiect inoices due o payments ieceived in sdvance of revenue
MECOgTLcn.

Typically, we imnaice fees for an-premise standard software an contract closure and software delivery.
Petiodic lixed frees for clowd subscription sendces, softwane suppont services, and other muiti-period
agreements ane typically mvoiced yeary or quarterdy in advance. Such fee prepayments acoount lor
the majority of our contract liability balance. Fees based an actual transaction volumes for tloud
subscriptions and fees chasged for non-penochcal services are invaiced as the services are delivered.
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While payrnent terms and conditions vary by contract typse and regicn, our terms typically requine
paymeent within 30 1o 60 days.
Geographic Information

The amaounts for revenue by regan in the fallowing tables are based on the lacation of customers.
The regians in the fallowing table are EMEA (Europe, Middbe East, and Alnca), Amencas (Noeh
Areaica and Laten Amencah, and ARJ (Asia Pacific tapan)

Total Revenue by Region

£ millions 2022 icrd) 000
Gerrany _ﬂm . 4,343 4,015
et of EMEA a7 8246 8Osz
EMIEA 13,081 12,589 12,067
Unkted States 10811 nem a0
Poest of Americas ' 2484 2009 1996
Americas 13705 10,969 11,1085
Japan 1:24'2 1301 1308
et of 4P [ 1381 2084 2850
AP1 ‘aus e 4,165
&l SAP Group '.Iﬂ.:ﬂ'.!-!l. 27,847 27,338

Major Revenue Classes by Region

Cloud Reveroe Clouad and Software Reveries

£ melliaes
M2 e | 2000 2022 221 Ao
EMEA 4,293 3,78 2,608 11,236 10,931 1035
Americas B.BET s 2438 11,333 9348 9739
AP 1,578 127 1033 Aa62 aras 35N
&l SAP Group 12,555 5418 8,080 6,521 24008 Fekre

Far information about the breakdown of revenue by segment and segment revenue by region, see

Neve (1),

In 2022, SAF's busingss was impacted by the war in Ukraine and 58P decision to wind down its
business operations in Russia and Belarus, Comparned 1o the previous year, revenue was
approximately €220 milbion lower

Remaining Performance Obligations

Amaunts of a cuslomer contract’s ransaction price that are allocated to the remaining performance
obzations represent contracted revenue that has not yet been recoginized. They include amounts
recognized as contract Habilities and amounts that are contracted but not yet due,

The transaction price allocated to performance obdigations that were unsatisfied or partially
unsatisfied as at December 31, 2022, was €489 bitlion (December 31, 2021; £39.9 bilkon). The
transaction price thereof allocated to cloud performance coligations that were unsatished or partially
unsatisfied as at December 31, 2022, was £34.2 bilion (December 31, 2021: €253 bilkon), The
remaining amount mostly comprises obligations to provide software support services, The vast
majority of software suppart contracts are confracts in the renewal phase that typically have a one-
year contract term, while cloud subscription contracts hpically are multiple-year contracts, The portion
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of rarmaining perormance obligations related to services consists of pan-cancelable revanuee from
contracts for propects with a predefined culgat

Crerall about hadl of the remaining performance obligations is axpected to be recognized daver the
nesd 12 manths fallowing the respectve batance sheet date. This estimate i5 based an our best
judgment, as it for example, needs o consider estimates of possible futune contract modifications ar
custormers deployment of the selutans. The amount of Fansactan price aliocated o the remaining
performance abligations, and changes in this amount over Bme, are impacted by, among others

Currancy fluctuations

The contract period of our clowd and sofiware support contracts remaining at the balance sheet
date and thas by the timing of contract renewals

Contract Balances

The following table presents the acfiviies impacting contract liabdlites balances during the year ended
December 31, 2022

Contract Liabilities

£ billions birH
F L0 a4
InCeeRins cesulling from DLbng and imvaioe Decoming due ' 108
Decreases resuting from satisfaction of perfonmance obiigations =10.1
athert 01
£ 12002022 ' 53

' Oeher incluses, Pod axaenle, B 0t of 100N CurmenCy IRANSIAton Bnd Pusiniss combinations.

The amount of fevenee recognized @ the repomting penad that was included in the contiact hakklty
batance at the beginning of the repoing pericd was €4.1 bellion (December 31. 2021: €3.6 bilkon),

(A.2) Trade and Other Receivables

& Accounting for Trade and Other Receivables

Wi measure trade recefvables and contract assets from contracts with oustomers at amortized cost
less expected credit losses. We acoount for expected oredit losses by recording an allewance an a
portfolio basis, We apply the simplified impairment approach, On imltial measurement of the
recaivables, we consider all credit losses that afe expected o otcur during the lfetime of the
receivables, We use a provision matrix to estimate these losses,

Additionally, we recognize allowances lor indnddual receivables if there is objective evidence of credit
impairment,

Account balances are varten off ether pamially or in Full if we judge that the tkelihood of recovery is
remobe:

Far information abaut how the default sk for irade recehables is analyzed and managed, how the
loss rates for the provision matrix ane determined, Moy credit |mpairmn-m Is determined and whal our
e for wiite-alfs ane, see the sechon on credit risk in AMote (5 1)

In owr Consofidated Income Statements, net gainsfosses from expected credit loss allowances are
included in Cther operaling income/expense, nel. Gainslosses fiom loreign cumency exchange rate
fuctuations are included in Other non-aperaling incomea/expensa, nat.
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Determining our expected cedil (oss allovwance mobes significant judgment. in this judgment. we
primarily congsider our historical experience with credit losses in the respective provision matrix nisk
class and current data on overdue receivables. We expect that our histoncal default rates represent a
reasonable appaoximation for fulure expected customer defaulls. Besides hestoncal data; our
judigment used in developing the prowvision matrx considers reasonable and suppanable fonwand-
loeking information (lor exampée, changes in country fisk ratings, and llutiuations in credit default
swaps of the countries in which our customers ane located).

The assessrmant of whisther a recenabla is callectible involes the use of jedgrment and requines us to
make assumplions about customer defaults that coutd change significantly:

By apphing thes judgment, we record an allesance lar a specific customer when it is probabide that a
credit loss has occurred and the amaount of the kass is reasonably estimable. Basing the expected
credit loss allowance for the remaining recenvables primarily on our historical loss experience likewise
requires judgmant, as histony may not be indicative of fulure development. Also, including reasonable
and suppodable forward-tooleng information in the loss rates of the expected credit loss allowance
requires judgment, as they may nof proside a reliable prediction for future developmeant.

Trade and Other Receivables

222 201
s Curert MO Totsl  Curert  hon Total
Trade recesbies, net 8,742 o 5,780 5887 1 e
Oty ipcmivabies asd 169 623 pre 146 11
B Towl 5235 169 5,405 8,352 147 E.499

The impact of the war in Ukraine has significantly increased the credd risk on our irade recewables in
Russia and Belarus. The expected credit loss in Russia and Belanus in 2002 was €62 milkon
{2021: €5 mifion)

Contract assels as at December 31, 2022, were €343 millon (December 31, 2021: €360 millicn)

Far mane infarmation about financial nsk, how we manage credit sk, and details of our rade
receivables and confract assets aliowances, see Aoke (F.1)

(A.3) Capitalized Cost from Contracts with Customers

&) Costs of Obtalning Customer Contracts

Capaabzed costs lrom customer contracts ara classiied &5 Other non-financal agsets s our
staterment of Hinancial position.

The capitalized assets for the incremental costs of oblaining a customes contract consist of sales
commissions eanned by our sales lorce and partners as well 35 amounts paid to emplayess with nan-
sales roles when the payments meet the definiticn of being an incrememtal cost ko -obtain a contract
with a customer. Judgrment is required in determining the amounts to be capitalized, particularty
where the commissions are based on cumulatve targets and where commissions relate to multiple
perfarmance abligations in one custormer contract. We capitalize such cumulative target comimissions
for all eustormer contracts thal count towards the cumulative target but anly if nothing ather than
oblaining custormer contracts can conbribute 1 achieving the cumulative tangel. Commissions fos
contracts with multiple performance obligations or for probable renewals thereof are allocated 1o
ihese perfarmance obligations and probable ranewals rolative to the respective standaione seling
price,

Our sales commission payments for customer contract renewals ane typically not commensurate with
the commissions paid for new contracts. Thus, the commissions paid for renewable new contracts
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also relate 1o expected renewals of these contracts. Consequently, we amotize Sales commissions
paid for new customer contracts on a straight-line basis over the expected contract life including
probable conbract renewals. Judgment is required in estimating these contract Ives. In exercising this
judgment, we consider our expectation about fulure contract renewais wihich we evaluate periodically
1o confirm that the resulting amortization penod propedy relects the expected contract Be or il thene
ane potential indicaton of impairment. Commensurale payments are amartized over the contract term
1o which they relate. The amortization pericds range from 18 montin 1o nine years depending on the
type of offering. Amortization of the capitalized costs of obtaining customer contracts is classified
mainly a5 saies and marketing expanse.

Wie expense mcramental costs af olblameng & customer contract as incurned o we expect an
amaortization period of ome year or lass.

) Costs to Fulfill Customer Contracts

Capitalized costs incunmed 1o Fullil customer contracts mainly consist of direct costs for sat-up and
implementation of clowd products and custom cloud development contracts as lar as these costs are
nekin scope of ather accounting standards than IFRS 15 These costs are amorntized alter comgletion
of the setup and implementation of the deveiopment, respectively, on a straight-ine basis over the
expected lite of the cloud subscription contract including expecied renewals. For the life of the
contract, we consider our expactation about future contract renewals which we evaluate periodically
ta confirm that the resulting amortization peniod properdy reflects the expected contract Be. The
amortization periads range from six to eight vears depending on the type of olfeding. In addition, the
capitaized costs inciude third-party icense tees which anse amortized over the term of the third-paty
license conbract. Judgment is required in evaluating whether costs ade directly related o cusbormer
cantracts and in estmating contract lves

Amartization of capitalized costs to fulfill contracts for custom cloud applications and extensions is
included in the cost of clowd.

Capitalized Cost from Contracts with Customers

2022 2021
€ millions.

Curinl  Mon-Curmen Total Cusmant  Moe-Curen Toal
Captalized Cost of cbianing
CUSIGMET Conracks L _MJ.E E.HH = e -
i ped cosl b MRl
it ConiBeE 174 =9 0 et 3 i
Capitalired contract oSl 1,036 1018 @054 T3 2,333 3T
F b poe-TeanciE a0 2,138 1,580 5719 1,533 2,628 261
‘Captaized contrad cost 1 =
a5 % ot & Other non-financlal 48 B 7 43 B FE |
FItEE]
Amortization Expense
£ milliom fa-rr] 2021

T
Capitalred cosl of oblaining customer conlracts LT 573
Caphalped ool to Sl customer confracts 243 171
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{(A.4) Customer-Related Provisions

) Expected Contract Losses

Customer-related prowvisions mainly include expected contract losses. We adjust these provisions as
tunther infarmation becomes avaitable and as circumstances change. Non-cument provisions are
measured al the present vatue of their expected serlement amounts as at the reporting date

The unit of account for the identifcation of potential onerous customer confracts is based on the
cantract delinstion of IFRS 15 including the contract comixnation guidance. The economic benefits
considensd in the assessment comprise the future Berefits wa are directly entitied 1o under the
contract as well as the anticipated futune benefits that are the econamss cansequence of the contract
if these benefits can be reliably determined.

& Customer-Related Litigation and Claims

Customer-related provisions also include obligations resulting from custamer-related Litigation and
claims: Wie are cumently confrontizd with various claims and legal proceedings, including claims that
redate bo customers demanding indemnification for proceedings intiated against them based on their
use of SAP saftware, and occasianally claims that relate to custormers being dissatished with the
products and senvices that we have delivered 1o them. The obligations arising from customer-related
litgation and claims comprise cases inwhich we indemnify our cusiomers against liabalities ansing
{rom a claim that our products infringe a third pamy’s patent, copyright, trade sacrat, or ather
prognetany nghts.

Due to uncertainties relating to these matters, provisions ane based on the best information available.
Significant judgment s required in the determination of whether and when a prowision is 1o be
recorded and what the appeopriate amount for such provision should be. Notably, judgment is
required in the Following areas:

= Determining whether an cbligation exisis

= Determining the probabidty of outliow of economic beneis

— DBetermining wheather the amount of an abligation is reliably estimable

= Estimating the amount of the expenditure fequired to setile the present obligation

Al the end of each reporing period. we reassess the potential obigations related to our pending
claims and bilgation and adjust our respectve provisions 1o reflect the current Dest estimate, n
addiion, we monitor and evaluate new information that we receive alter ihe end ef the respective
repodting perod, but before the Consolidated Financial Statements arg authorized for issue, to
determing whether this provides additional information regarding conditions that existed at the end of
e pepearting pencd. Changes 1o e estmates and assurmplions underlying our socounting for legal
cantingencies, and outcomes that ditfer from these estimates and assumplions, could requsre material
adjustments o the camying amounts of the respective provisions recorded and additional provisions,
The expected iméng or amounts of arry outfiows of economic benefils resulting from these [awsuits
and claims are uncertain and not estmable, as they generally depend on the duration of the legal
proceedings and selilement negotiations requaned o resolve the litigation and claims and the
unprechiclabidity of the cotcomes of legal disputes in severad jurisdictions.

Contingent liabdiies exist in respect of custemeryelated ltigation and claims lar which no provision
has bean recognized. It is not practicabbe toestimate the firancial impact of these contingent liabdties
due to the uncertanties amound these lnvsuwts and claims as outlined above

176335
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Section B - Employees

This section provides hnanciad insights inbd cuwr employes benedit arangements. It should be read in
canjunchon with the compensation dsclosures for key management personnel i Alaie (G5

(B.1) Employee Headcount

The foliowing table provides an avendew of employee headoount, broken down by function and by
1 regions EMEA (Europe, Middle East, and Africa), Americas (Morth America and Latin America), and
AR (Asia Pacific Japan}.

Employee Headcount by Region and Function

1HIUH022 121315021 L3N

Pl B ingearwanlieribs.

EMEA Americas AR Tastal EMEEA  Amaiicas AP Testal EMEA  Amadicas ARy Tednl
Cloud and software B 4,817 a7 15 5306 8547 4 BAn 113 1% 546 [ ey ] 4,585 S526 15362
Sendces 8247 L] LE:E 15,659 B335 5401 504 14,644 2,175 5,034 5711 15,847
Resaarch and
i i 16,506 6415 11,100 34,122 15,347 E,326 10571 32,244 13,705 6,094 o781 29,580
Saled and

12407 1250 5431 0,548 LL13s 11.508 EEEH 2215 10348 1485 S.000 FSAd
markeling
General and =
o ch 3,466 2184 1280 6932 3ara 2306 (KL LAY 3285 2161 1283 LR
Infrastructae 2 8040 1440 214 5.154 2600 1,353 - 4,784 20 Li0? 606 400
RNP A 48,999 32,749 30,213 111961 46,641 31,660 29013 107415 44082 30,369 27,979 102430
(Dooember 31} ¢ . X
Thereal
poquistions 1648 hd f a1l 467 07 45 i o o7 fi] Thi
SAP Group
(enenths’ end 4B 408 32,6583 20058 111015 45,359 30,651 AT 104,364 43,380 30,306 7830 A0L4ATE
A

(B.2) Employee Benefits Expenses

£ el frasry 2021 2020
Salaries 12,140 10635 10,413
Social ucunt-,-zxponm 1584 1559 1438
EI'JIN-IHHGWFW 2514 2,7 1084
Perditn eaperded ATS Fra A8
[Employee-reiated estiuciuning expenses a5 ] -7
Teamdnation benafis uiside of cesteructunng plars 44 Lk ] 77
Ermplayie benefild dxpenses AT x5 15552 13420
17735

273/396



EDINETOOOO
DO0O0OoDoOoOgOooOo(E24727)

oOoOooodn

T O Cawritird Group Consolidated Findnclal  Funber infornition an  Addional
Stakehoiders Maragereri Roport Statements IFRS Sustanabiiy nlormation

(B.3) Share-Based Payments

& Accounting for Share-Based Payments
Classification in the Income Statement

Share-based payments cover cash-settled and equity-settled awards issued 1o cur employees, The
respective expenses are ecognized as employees benelits and classifed in-our Consolidated Incomae
Statements acconding to the activities thal the recenving emplovees perform.

Valuation, Judgment, and Sources of Estimation Uncertainty

We use CEain assumptions in estimating the fair values for ger share-Dased payments, including
expected shade prce valatility and expected dhndend vields, In additon, the sl number of
Perlormance Share Linits (PSUs) vesting also depends on the achievement of performance indcators.
Furthermore, the payout for cash-settled shane umis depends on our share price on the respective
vesting dates. Changes (o these assumplions and cutcomes that differ from these assumplions could
reqquing material adiustments (o the carmyng amount of the labsites we have recognized lor these
share-based payments, The fair value of the share undls granted under the LTI 2016 Plan is dependent
on our parfarmance agamst a group of peer companies (Peer Group index), the voiatility, and the
expected canmglation between the price of the index and ow shane pace, The fair value of the share
s grartesd under the LTI 2020 are depandent on our pedanmance against the total shareholder
retun (TSR} for NASDAO-100 companies, the volatility, and the expected cormelation between the
TSR of the NASDAG-100 companies and ow TSR,

Reganding future payout under our cash-settied plans, the SAP share price is the most relevant factor.
With respect ta our LTI 2016 Plan, we belbeve that fuluse payout will be ssgndficantly impacted not cnly
by cwr share peicea bul also by the retative performance against the Peer Group Index. With respact 1o
our LT1 2020, we believe that fubure payout will be significantly impacted nat only by our share price
but atser by the relative TSR pedarmance sgasnst the NASDAG-100 companies. Future paycuds under
aur LTI 2020 wél atsa be dependent an meeting non-market-based performance conditions based on
SAP's long-term strategy, The latter, however, is not incorporated inlo our fair value calculation ba
leadt 1o adjustments of the quantity of awards grantad. Changes in thesa factors could significantly
altect the estimated fair values as calcuwlated by the valuation model, and the fubune payoul.

Under certain programs, we granl our employees discounts on share purchases. [f those discounts are
nct dependent on future senvices to be provided by our empboyees, the discount is recognized as an
expense when the discounts are granted.

Presentation in the Statements of Cash Flows

‘We present the payments of owr cash-sefiled share-based payment plans separately in our
Statements of Cash Flows under Cash flows from operating activities. As a result, the changes in ather
assets and in other liabilities presented in the reconciliation of operating cash flow do net consider
share-based payment-related assets or liabilities

Payrnents for taxes redated 1o the net share sattlement for our cquity-setbed share-based payment

plans are presented separately in our Statement of Cash Fiows under Cash flows from financing

17833
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Thix oparating expersa ling hems in ouw income staterment include the follovwang share-based payman
ERPENSES

Share-Based Payment Expenses by Functional Area

€ millions or? w071 207
Conit o cloud i &8 58 &
Cost o software Learses and Sppon i ™ ™ 55
Cast of sanvices. - m 266 s
Reseaich and devesapment i a2t 13 295
Saies ard maroeting ] (i 30
Genersl and administeation Tap 1230 157
Share-based payment experses 2414 2784 1oma
Tharea! cash-settied shace-based payments 365 La47 k]
Treveol squiy ed srase based payeaess 2258 1547 ey

Our major share-based payment plans are described below,

a) Cash-Settled Share-Based Payments
SAP Long-Term Incentive Program 2020 (LTI 2020)

The LTI 2020 is & iong-term, multivear perdormance-based elerment of Executive Board compensation
that is granted in annual tranches. The LTI 2020 reflects SAPS long-term strategy and thus sets
uniform incemives to achieve key targets from the long-tesm strategic plans, The LTI 2020 also serves
o rewsard the Executive Board members for long-termm SAP share price performance as compared 1o
e market, thus ensuring that shareholders” interests are atso honored, In addition, the LTI 2020
includes a companent ba ensure long-lerm retention of cur Executive Board members,

The LTI 2020 is a vinwal share program under which annwad ranches with a term of approwimatiety tour
years each ane granted, When the individual tranches. are granted, & certain grant amount specified in
the Executive Board members senice contract is converted into vinlual shares (share umats). For this
purpose, the grant amount & divided by the price of the SAP share which cormesponds 1o the
arifhwnetic mean of the SAP shane price on the 20 trading days after scheduled publication of the
preliminary results for the fourth quaner and the year as 8 whote (grant price). The share units
allocated ane composed of 173 Financial Performance Share Units (FSUs), 103 Markel Performance
Share Units (h3Us), and 1/3 Betention Share Units. AR three types of share units have a vesting
perod of approximately lour years. In conlrast to Retention Share Units, F5LUS and MSUS are subject
to changes in quantity, In this context, the following applies:

The number of FSUs initially awarded is multipied by a perdformance facion, The perfarmance Lactor
consists of three equally weighted indnddual perlormance indicators relating io the theee non-IFRS
KIPis at constant currencies, dereed lom SAPS long-term sirategy: total revenue, cioud revenge, and
operating income, The performance period thicughout winch the target achievement for these three
KPis i ieasiined starts at the beginning of the financial year in which the FSUs are swanded and
concludies upon the end of the second year following the yearn in which the shane units wene awarded,
A numerical target value equaling 10096 target achievement is seq for each KPL This constitutes, in
each case, a cumylalive value for the three years of the performance pericd
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g ~ Cloud revenuea I
£} 1508 Total revenue
g
5 lom
E
g 500 Operating income
o
03
T4 B0 B0A% 100% 1109 120 13084

Target achievement

The nurmber of MSUS initaily awarded is lkewise multipied by a perffiormance factorn, The
perfarmance factor depeands on the amount of the TSR on the SAF shane, measured lor an entire
performance penod of apprawrmalely three years, compared to the TSR for MASDAQ-100 companies.
I the TSR an the S5AP share equals the median, the parfarmance factor wall be 100%. # the TSR an
e SAP shaie over the performance penod is negative, the maximurm perarmance acio: will,
hireriver, i denvation From the summarny abowve, be 1009

Perfarmance factor

IE | peareendle Redian PESH o reer e

Ranking

The porfarmance of e shame unis is nked b the petdormance of the SAP shae pace. including
dividend payments. Accordingly. an armouw is paid out far each share unit which equais the SAP
share price plus those dendends disbursed in respect of an SAP share in the penod from the
beginring of thie year in which the share units were awarded until the end of the third year fellowing
the wear in which the share urats were awarded. The antbmetic mean of the SAP shane pace on the
20 rading days alter scheduled publication of the preliminady resulls for the lounh quadeds and the
year as a wihole will be used as the SAP shane pece. The payout amount per sharne wil, including the
dividend amounts due an the shang uning, is capped at 2009 of the grant paice, The tranche is cash-
sotthed and paid in eures afted the Arvpal Genersl Meeting of Sharehabders of the comesponding ybar

Il an Executive Board member's service contract is terminated befare the end of the third year
fellowing the wear inwhich the share units weare granted, the Retenlion Shara Units and PSUS are
feeteited in whaole ar in pant, depending on the circumstances of the relevant resignation frosm office or
termination of the serice contract.
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Long-Term Incentive 2016 Plan (LTI 2016 Plan)

The purpose of the LTI 2006 Plan was 1o reward our Executive Board members for the annual
achsevement of SAF's operating profit (non-IFRS at constant currencies) targets, to ensure long-term
retention of our Executive Board members, and to reward them for the long-lerm SAF share price
perfgrmance as compared [0 its main peer group (Peer Group).

An LTI ranche was gramed annually and has 3 term of fowr vears (2016-2019 tranches). Each grant
staned with determining a grant amaunt i eurcs, The grant amount was based on the Executig
Board mermbers’ contractus] LTI target amount and the operating profil tangel achiewameant fos the
previous year, The Supenvisory Board set the grant amount at a level between 80%h and 1305 of the
contractual LTI target amount, laking into account the operating profit target achievement. This grant
amount was comverted inta vinual shares, relerred to 85 share wits, By dividing the grant amaunt by
the grant price, The grant price was the anthmetic mean of the XETRA closing prices of the SAP shae
on the 20 trading days following the pulblication of SAP's fourth-quarter resulis,

Al share units granted in thes way, comprising 605 PSUs and 405 Retention Share Units. have a
vesting pericd of approximately four years. AL the end of the vesting periad, the eormesponding share
units are non-farfeitable. The payod price wsed for the sattlement is the asithmetic mean of the
XETRA cloging prsces of the SAP share on the 20 vading days feliowing the publication of SAP'S
feaurth-gquarter resulls subsequent 1o the end of the vesting peniad. The payout price is capped at
30096 of the grant price, The LTI tranche is cash-settled and paid in eunos after the Annual General
Shareholders Meeting of the corresponding year

The numbres af PSUs ulimately paid cut depends an the perfeemance of the SAP share - absaolute
and relative to the Peer Group index in contrast, the final number of Retention Share Units is fixed.
SAP's abselute share price perfarmance is measured by comparing the grant price against the payout
price. If the SAP share price performance equals the Peer Growp index perfformance ower the same
period, the perdormance factar is set at 100%. if the SAP share price perdorms better than the Peer
Group Index {measured as difference batween SAP share price performance and Peer Growp Index
performance), the performance factor is increased by the percentage paint of the outperformance of
the SAP share price. The percentage point is doubled if, additionally, the payoul price is higher than
the grant price. The pedosmance factor is capped at 150%. i the Peer Group Index performs better
than the SAP share price, the perdormance factor is decreased by the percentage paint of the
autperarmance of the Peer Graup Index All PSUS lapee if the parfarmance lactar is below 500,

Cash-Settled Move SAP Plan (Move) Including Grow SAP Plan

To retain and engage executives and cefain employeses, we granted virbia! shares under Move
representing a contingent right to receive a cash payment determined by the SAP share price and the
nurnber of share urits that ultimately vest. Under our préviows policy, we sendced obligations arising
from the plan with cash payments, but stasting in 2022, we intend to setthe share units granted from
then an predominantly in shares. Far mare information about the terms and conditions of the equity-
sattied hMove SAP Plan, see saction b) Equity-Setiled Share-Based Payments in this More (831
Obligations from outstanding share units granted bafare 2022 will contenue 1o be settled in cash.

In June 2020, 2021, and 3027 respectively, we granted share units under the Grow SAP Plan that we
intend to settle in cash, This fixed term plan has broadly the same terms and conditions as the
Mowe SAP Plan, recognizes all employees’ commitment o SAP's success, and deepens their
participation in our future company performance, In prensous years, grants under the COVID-19
Recognition Plan and the Restricted Stock Unit Plan were also included.

Ditterent vesting schedutes apply 1o specdic share units. Granted dhade units under the espeative
plans will west in different tranches, as follows:

Restrictid Stock Units (RSLS) with sendce condibon anly
Cwver a hall-year period,
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Cror 3 three-year panod on annual Basis,
Ower a three-year penod on a quarterty basis alter a waiting period of sx manths, or
Perfarmance Share Units {PSUs} with service condition and upan achieving certain key

performance indicators (KPIs)

Crier @ three-year period, o
Crwvar a threayear period on a quarterly basis after a wailing pericd of 12 months,

From 2021 omeands, the number of PSLUs that will vest under the different tranches is mainly
conbirgent upon achievernent of two equally weighted KPIS in the vear of grant: operating peofit (non-
IFRS at constant currencies) and clowd revenue (at constant curmancies), Until 2021, aperating prafi
[non-IFRS &t constant currencies) was the only KPL. Depending on the weighted average
pertormance, the numiber of PSUS vesting ranges. between 056 and 2009 of the number initially
granted, Performance against the KPI target was B4,3% in 2022 (2021 130,99, 20:20: 100.49%%). The
share units granted as cash-seliled PSUs are pasd aut in cash upan vesting,

Thit valuation of our autstanding cash-sefiled plans was based on the !nuow-rg pasarmeters and
FSSLME NS

Fair Value and Parameters Used at Year End 2022

T e
wuwwumuum """ §7.81 T T a7
Iﬁwnuﬁunhmflivlummuuvd at measurement date
Vialistion model uted whonde Carle Merte Carlo Otbae’
Ehate poee " aeas o839 s6.38
[T — sate, deperslng on matuty (0 ) 037 HA rA
Eapactsd voatity m o P 2w [
Expeected chvidend yieid G %4} 203 [ 208
ml:;lnllt-l-nmn mhqﬂﬁi;lmmmll;ﬁ_u:wn {IH'.'HII’!] D_'E ; L; D.B.

! For e devards, T e vilue i caloulned by sublracting expected baaune dhvidends, if iy, unttl matuty of the fespecive iveind Rom
fhe previding, share price &% af the mermnement date.

Fair Value and Parameters Used at Year End 2021

LT 2016 Plan LT 2020 M
€, unkens coherwise stated [ZO1-2010 (2021 (OB~
Tranchaes) Tramthes) Trarches)
Wirlghtid svorage tsir value a4 ot 123052004 6418 a7 FrerTY
Dﬂﬂwm Mvﬂutwumur.nd Ot migasuemient datn
'-mlunm —— T — Morts Carlo Othar
JrT— peica 172.90 Trzemo “1zen0
H'rsk-‘ue ﬂernl ME.:lepend-ﬂgon maturity [in H}. =0T b -l:ll! N.lu -O:'! bo =032
Expecied wolaliity (s S} R Hina 32 A
Expecid dividend yield [n %) 152 ha 152
Weighied average remasning e of swards autsianding as 1 12rI1I071 [in years) 07 28 11

! P B awardh, waanmumbrumw:lpﬂuﬂimmmdw st maturity of Bhe despective ieand Bom
i prewaling Shane prce oo ol The meaunmen dale

Far the LTI 2016 Plan valuation, the Peer Group Index price on December 31, 2022, was US$432 27
[2021: USS593.37); the expected dividend yield of the index of 1.16% (2021 1.0004), the axpected
wolatility of the index of 32% (2021: 17% to 18%), and the expected correlation of the SAP share price
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and the isdex piece of 39% (2021: 35% to 36%6) ame based on hestoncal data bor the SAF share price
and index price

Far the LTI 2020 valuation, the MASDA-100 Total Return inded on December 31, 2022, was
USE12 954 57 (2021 USS19.217.94), The expected volatility of the NASDAD-100 comparies of 3656
1o 41% (2021 36% to 3B%), and the expected comelation of 5AP and the NASDAQ-100 companies of
269 10 32% (2021 31% 1o 34%6) ane based on historical TSR data for SAP and the NASDAO-100
campanies

The risk-free interest rate is derived hom German government bonds with a similar duration. The SAP
dividend yield is based on expected fulure dividends

Changes in Outstanding Awards

LTI 2006 Pian LTI 2030 Mo
Trounands, uniess othersiie stated 00S-2019 02002 (AE-2022
Tranches) Tranches) Trarchies]
LAR0 7 i 16993
Cemried Q 238 1204
Adfrrsiregnl Dacked upon KPP nnget achimament =150 B 153
Exprcsed -1z o 8,092
Eschanged HA I-I.ﬁ. ~1.300
Forieted -'.5]' =7 -1.1‘&5
130 469 340 18,783
Gearded® L 206 2597
Affurrent biced usan KP1arget sthimarent =122 B, =36
Esprcited -1 o =860
Foreited 0 0 -1016
1231022 o s 1ims
Todal carrying amourt (in € millions) of labilites as at
e Teaes | 28 15 1260
P Tk ] 1 Fa TEX
Total iearirsle valug of vosted awards (in € méllions] a5 st
|1.’:i;m21 38 4
ANFNIOEZ 22. 3 3
Weightied average share price (in €] for swards exercised in
200 1065 58 LT 10760
i 206,50 HA 97.35
Toaal lcl.PIMl- [ l:.l'l'UIIJzH'H\] WIM i
2020 - . 750
ratrd ] =11 9 1,139
o -2 2 ]

¥ We hawe changed the clevsficatan of some vhare unies gramed inder tha Wowe plan with the inElal intention to settie in thares lrom
quity-writbed b3 cash-uettied Bacause 4§ cath Gutfiow Secame probable, Shave unih with vwitched climsfcation ste coniidered in e
Fnamibser of gassed whate Ly,
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Share-Based Payment Balances
oz2 2021
Curreng Hon-Current Total Cunmesnd Fean-Cunmen Total
Share-based paymont Habititios B4 T B0 3w i 1,50
T Cher roe-Rnancia) Fabdigs 45818 0 5523 5203 850 5063
FERrE M paTman. Pateits 11 2 15 18 5 =

s e of T Other mon-fnandsl lebaitie

b) Equity-Settled Share-Based Payments
Equity-Settled Move SAP Plan (Move)

Starting in 2022, we decided o grant share units under Move that we intend to settle in shares instead
af cash. Most of the share units vest quamerly owver three years alfter a sic-month waitng penod. In
addiion, PSUS ane subject to the achievernent of two equally weighted KPIS in the year of gram:
aperating profit (nan-IFRS at constant currencies) and clawd revenue (at constant currencies).

Ditferart vasting schedules apply to specilic share units, Granted share units will vast in different
tranches as follows:

RSUs with service condition anly
Over a hall-year period,
Crver a three-year penod on a quarterdy basis alter 3 waiting period of st manths, ar
PEUs with service condition and upon achieving cerlain key perdormance indicators (KPis)
CEr & Gneyear pericd,
Cror 3 three-year pefod on a quartedy bass after a waiting penod of 12 months.

‘W intend to settle the shane units classified as equity-settted by reissuing treasury shares upan
vesting (for mane information, see Maode (E2).

Own SAP Plan (Own)

Under Cwn, emplayees have the oppartunity 1o parchase, on a monthly basis, SAP shares without
any required holding period. The ivestiment per each eligibte employes is limited to a percentage of
1w respective employes’s monthly base salary. SAP matches the employes investment by 4084 and
adds a subsidy of €20 per manth for non-executives. As part of 5AP' 50th anniversary celebration,
SAP's confributon was lemparady doubled from 4050 to BO%E from Januany to March 2022,
contributing 1o the peak in 2022, This plan is not open (o members of the Executive Boand,

Numbers of Shares Purchased
Mgy 2022 22l 2020
L] a2 57 55

As @ resull of our Cwn SAP Plan, we have commaiments to grant SAP shares 1o employees. We have
fulfitled and intend to continwe to mest these commitments through an agent who administers the
equity-selfied programs and purchasas shares on the open market

Qualtrics Equity Awards
Qualtrics Omnibus Plan (Qualtrics Plan)

Qualtrics granis equity awards settled with Qualirics shares to eligible employees and the execulive
afficers of Qualtrics. Qualtrics intends. to meet these commitments by issuing shares. Granted units
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aig either RSU awards sulbject 1o 3 me-based vesting. or PSUS subsect 1o the achievement of cenain
perfarmance conditions. as establshed by Qualtrics’ board of directors and measaed annually
[Qualirics B5Us)

Granted share units will vest in differant ranches as follows:
RSUs with senice condition anly
Crwver a four-year perigd on a quarterly basis,
. O 8 four-year period on a quarterdy bass alter 2 waiting penod of six or 12 months, o

PSUs with senvice condition and upan achieving certain non-market-based Qualirics performance
conditions

Crer a four-year period an an annual basis.
Pre-Acquisition Qualtrics Awards and Exchange Ofer

In canjunction with the acquisition of Qualtees in 2019, under the teims of the acquistion agrearmeant,
SAP exchanged urvested Restricted Share Awands (RSA5), Restricted Share Units (RSLUS),
Padformance Share Units (PSUs). and options held by employees of Qualirics into cash-setted share-
based payment swaids of SAP (Cualiries Rights). After completian of 3 volunary excharge offer for
eligibbe Cualirics employees in conjunction with the IPQ an Januany 28, 2021, 5.4 millicn cash-sattied
Dualtrics Rights and 1.3 millian 54P RSU awards were aschanged into 12.8 milion equity-settled
Qualtrics FSU awands, The terms and conditions of the voluntary exchange offer, including the
exchange ratio, were designed 1o presenve the intrinss value of the Qualtrics Rights and 5AP R5Us
that wene tendesed, The modifcation date fa= value of the Cualtries RSU awands was USE30000,
which is equivalent to the Qualincs IPO price: Funbermone, 3 subsedguent exchange offer far certain
Qualtrics employees in Australia took place in Seplember 2021

Recognized Expense
4 millisn 2022 m2y 2070
o ' 307 Foil 191
Qualirics Plen 1,164 1475 KA
Mhove (2022 Tranches) i 758 ha A
Otters - En o
Toaal 2758 1647 191
Thie valuation of our autstanding equity-settied plans a1 grant date was based on the fallowing
parameters and assuemplsons:
Fair Value and Parameters Used at Grant Date in 2022
£ urfess otherwie staied 022 Tr-l-r:t:]- Quaitdes Plan
'l'-l'ﬂ;ml!!ﬂ g i HMHFEHH;‘I.H! ﬁ-.ﬁ-?- Uﬁ;:‘ﬂﬁi
e R per !
bl St bk — —
\Weighted average shane price 8761 LEER0 S
VAR Swerae expected theidend yitld (in ) .43 o
Whrizhied average indial e ot Eract dste 0 pesrs] 18 21
WEENMB Iobnge amainng e of Susids oulstendng 85 M LIELIHIGE (in pears) 1.2 24

! Fior e awt i, vt Pk vl i calenlated by sbiracteg napected fture dividends, il ary, untll matuity of B sespeclve iveird o
W prinealing shane pricar i al the Seinosemend dale,

The wesghted average rermaining lite of Qualtrics Plan awards cutstanding as at Decamber 31, 2021
{in years) was 3.0 years and the weighted average grant date fair value was 534427, The fair value
af the equity-settied share wnit rights at grant date was estimated by taking the share price of the
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undetying shares on that date less expected dividends, The fair values of our equity-seitled Qualincs
Plan equal the Cualtrics share price at grant date, as the expected dividend weld is (5%

Changes in Outstanding Awards
Trousands, uniess oihenwise stated i Trm“,::; Qualirics Plan
— S -
Exchanged M 12872
Geared Fd 80855
Enircited 5 =7 E5T
Forteited ot 2241
e NA 84018
Jr—— : asam 35400
Exercised -!.E”B =34 330
Forteited 470 -7.028
1z 11,504 8,180

" Wie harwe chageed the el aton of some shane unies gramed under the Mo plam with the inila] e Bon 1o sette in shades fiom
aguity-seitied b6 cash-iettied Eatause 4 cosh tutflow Became probable, Shate wnits with swiiched elonifcation aie coridered in P
mumber of granted share unis

(B.4) Pension Plans and Similar Obligations

&) Defined Contribution Plans

Amaounts for domestic and foreign defined contribution plans are based on a percentage of the
employees salanes or on the amount of contributians made by employees. in Germany and same
ather countries, we make contnbutions (o public pension schemes that are operated by national or
local government or similar instiietions. Expenses for such local state pension plans ase recoginized as
shor-lerm employes benelits, that is, socal secunity expenses,

&) Defined Benefit Pension Plans

The discownt rates wsed in measuring ow post-employment benefit assets and liabilities ane derived
from rates available cn high-quality corporate bends and government bonds for which the timing and
amounts of payments match the timing and the amounts of aur projected pension payments. Net
interest expense and other expenses related to defined benefit plans are recagnized as employes
benefits expenses and classified in cur Consobdated Income Slatements according to the activities
that the employees oewning the awards perfarm. Since our domestic defined benefit pension plans
prinarily consict of an employee-financed pest-retirement plan that i fully financed with qualibing
insurance polcies, current service cost may become a creditas a result of adjusting the defined
benefit Gability's carmying amaunt ta the fair value of the qualiying plan assets. Such adjustments are
recorded in service cost. Tolal expenses an defined benefit pensicn plans comprise related curmant
and past service Costs as well as interest income and expense,

Total Expense of Pension Plans

o s 2022 e 2020
Db Conbritution plans I_i‘.'\? 3E6 126
Defined benef pension lars ' = 52 P
Penslan expenses ' are a0n ap
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Defined Benefit Plans
Present Value of the Defined Benefit Obligations (DBO) and the Fair Value of the Plan Assets

€ milions Cornestic Plans: Foreign Plans c;?;m;.m:s Total

2027 lird | 022 i 2022 i 2022 2031

Prewent value of the DB _m 1,054 _l-'ﬂ' T M1 nr 1.7 2,000

Fair value of the plan assels 953 1,183 573 578 (0] 7 1,623 1,853

Mt defined benetit lability (asses) o 1 57 B 120 126 i 26
Nt defirad beneit Dabdty (auset) as o ol

E mon-curent other rir.\a.ru:s;ll Attt 1] o (1] 0 1] o [i] o

B non-curent poovisions a 3 I 7 3 k3 54 65

' after the effects of the assel ceding

Of the present value of the DED of our domestic plans, €899 mlbon (2021 €1.125 million) redate to
plans that provide for lump-sum payments not based on final salary: of the present value of the DBO
ol our lorelgn plans, €448 milllon (2021: €524 milton) relate to plans hat provide for annuity
payments not based on inal salary,

The fellowing significant weighted sverage assumphons wene used for the actuarial valuation of our
domaztic and fareign pension liabilibes as well as other post-empleyment beneht obSgations as at the
respective measurement date:

Significant Actuarial Assumptions
Othed Foneign Post-

Dertestic Plan Forirign Plans
P Ernpm.mm Pl
ez 2091 o0 Rz 2021 M@0 zorz oM 020
Disncoount rate 432 12 =X} 25 o5 g 55 a1 an

The sensitivity anahests akle balow shows how the present vatue of all defined benefit obligations
would Rave been influenced by reascnably passible changes 1o significant actuanal assumptions. The
Sensirity analysis COMsiders change in discount rate assumptions, Palchng all ather actuarial
ASSuMEhons Constant.

Sensitivity Analysis
Cithad Fasign Post-
Domestic Plons Foil Fial Total

€ milios " el - Employment Plans 2

2022 200 2020 TOER 2001 w0 2022 2021 2000 022 2021 2020

B ] — ] —
Present walue of all defined
benefit obligations M-
Desoourd rabe veis S0 Dass
paints Higher S08 1134 1066 505 21 573 203 203 185 1616 1,964 1Az
Disoour rate v 50 pass
i 3 1760 1,105 553 714 663 Pl 723 04 1774 219 2053
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Investments in Plan Assets

Qur rvesdment siralegy on domesie benefit plans is ta imest all comrbutans in stable iInsurance
podicies,

Cur srvestrment strategies for foreign beneht plans vary acconding 1 the conditions in the contry in
which the respectve benefit plans are situated. We have adopied a long-term investiment horizon for
&ll magor foreign benefit plans. Althaugh our policy &S fo imest in a rsk-diversified pontolio consisting
of a micof assets, both the defined benefit obligation and plan assets can fluctuate over ime, which
expases the Growp 19 sctuanal and market Eestrment) ks Depending on the statutony
requIrements in each country, it might be necessary to reduce any wnderfunding by addition of bquid
assels

Plan Asset Allocation

2022 2021

£ millions Quoted fnan Mot Guoted [nan  Quotedinan Nt Gooted in an

Activng Markel Active Marlkel  Actve Make Aciineg MEre

.TI:H.II. plan assets 511 1012 E;? 1..254
Thereof: Asset category

-Eq.-t:r ety 170 o 182 o

Comonte bonds ] 10 o 202 o

[ PALEANDE DO CHS a1 12 an 1,754

Dur expected confribution in 2023 to our domestic and foreign defined benelit pansian plans is
irmmatenal The weighted duration of our defined benetit plans amounted (0 10 yearns as at
Decernber 31, 2022, and 11 years a5 at Decermnbaer 31, 2021,

Total future benafit payments from our defined benefit plans as 3t December 31, 2022, are expoacted
o b £2.404 million (2021 €2.289 million). OF this amount, 76% (2021 77%) have maturities of over
Tree years, and 61% (2021: 52%) relate 1o domestc plans,

(B.5) Other Employee-Related Obligations

@ Accounting Policy
As far as the abligation lor long-term employes benefils is securad by pledged réinsurance coverage,
it is offset with the relating plan asset.

Other Employee-Related Liabilities

a0zz raird g

€ =iliora
Curnent Non-Carrent Tosl CuEnint Kon-Cument Tolal
Other employes-related Babilities 3632 426 4,058 anz an 4115
T Onhr rort-financial Eabiies 4,218 05 5523 5203 850 5063
Ceher empliyee-ribed fabdites - 50 + H o €

a5 % of I Other non-finandal ladlites

Oiher employee-retated Eabilities mainly relate 1o obligatons from bonuses and Sales COMMESSIoNS,
ourstanding vacation, time credits accumadated in the working Bme account, employes-related social
SECUMTY BxPENSES, SEVETaNce DBYITENTS Sulside resuCtuning PIOgams, and jubdes expenses.
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(B.6) Restructuring
&) Recognition of Restructuring Provisions
W only recognize provisions lor restructuring if and wien the following occws;

- SAP has designed a program that materially changes the scope of one of our businesses of the
manner in wiich the business is conducted, and

= A detailed and documented restrectuning plan has been approved by owr Executve Board, a
member thereod, or a disect repart of an Executive Boand member, and

= The program established is planned io start shorthy after the program plan is approved and is
expected to be completed in a timeframe that makes significant changes to the plan unlikely, and

~ The program has been announced 1o the partes alfected or has commencid,

We conSider whather & chiangs in Business is materal Based on the Busingess alfected rather thar for
SAP a5 a whaole, In judging whether a unit qualifies as a business for restructuring purpases. we
cansicher if the unit has its cwn management team, has access ta all inputs and processes necassary
o previde cutputs, and penerates or could gensrale revenues. The materiality of a change tooa
buszness is assessed based on both the size and the nature of the change and iherefore does not
necessarily imvalve a maternial quantitative impact on our Financial statements.

Restructuring Expenses

£ rrallig T ranrd | ranrai]
Employee-reated rednucturing expenes s -5 L4
OnenoLes oMt -rea ed

WESEUCIUNNgG exponses and restruciunng-relaied -5 B = 4
igainenen losses

& Restrucharing oxpenses =138 =157 3

heost of the restructuning expenses presented in 2022 relate to the wind-down of business in Russia
and Belarus, Restoecturing costs ane mainly comprised of Severance payments (o employees,
impairrents of Aght-ol-use assets for office buildngs, impairments ol daa center eguepment, and
expenses related 1o the accelerated harmonization of SAPS cloud infrastructure and platicnms

Il mat presented separately in our inCame statemeant, restrucluring expenses would have been
classified in the defferent expense ibems in our imcome statément as follows:

Restructuring Expenses by Functional Area

£ mitlions. o) 202 Faerai]
st o Clodd 20 S a
ﬁst:ﬂ:m-e liemrtrs and Supipon F -'B 5 1
Cont of senvices =70 -13 =3
Resoarch and :Ihlh:nﬂmurd _:,5- -12 1
P ] = = e
'Gen.er.ll and administration ol 2 2
-l hmmm BRPENLEL 138 =157 3
18933

285/396



EDINETOOOO
DO0O0OoDoOoOgOooOo(E24727)

oOoOooodn

T O Cawritird Group Consolidated Findnclal  Funber infornition an  Addional
Stakehoiders Maragereri Roport Statements IFRS Sustanabiiy nlormation

Section C - Financial Results

This section prnvides insight into the financial results of SAP's reponable segments and af SAP overall
as far as not already covered by previous sections. This includes but is ned limited 1o segment results,
inoome 1axes, and eamings per shane.

(C.1) Results of Segments

General Information

At year end 2022, SAP had seven operating segments that are regularly reviewed by the Executive
Board, which is respansible for assessing the perfarmance of the Company and for making rescurce
allacation decisions as our chief operating decsion-maker (CODM). The operating segments are
largely organized and managed separately accarding to their product and sendce afferings. The
Applications. Technology & Services segment and the Qualtrics segment are reportable segments.

The Services segment was dissolved and integrated into the former Appbcations, Technology &
Support segment which was therefore re-named to Applications, Technofogy & Services. The
Applications, Technology & Senvices segmant derives ils revenues primarity from the sale of software
licenses, suppart offerings, and cloud subscriptions. Marketing costs that we primarily incur fior
procluct and solution-specilic actvites in the Apphcations, Technology & Sendces segment were
included in the results of this segment and are no longer aliocaied fo SAP's conporate funclions.

The Qualtrics segment derves ils revenues mainky fram the sale of expenence management slouwd
sobuticns that run oni-affice lunclions across expernence data, and lram the sale of related services
Thia figures of the Qualirics segrment of SAP and the linancial results of Qualtrics Ivternational inc,
cannat be compaded, natably due 1o diferent accounting standards,

Do b their Sz, the Following segrnemts are non-reportable:;

The Business Process Intefligence segment was renamed to SAF Signavio without changing the
composiion of this segment. The segment derives. its revenues from the sale of business process
ransioemation offerings from SAF and Signavio, a company acquired by SAP in 2021

The Emarsys segment derives its revenues mainty from the sale of cloud-based customer
expenence afferings and from the sate of related services.

In the lirst quarter of 2022, the acquistion of Taulia, a leading provider of werking capatal
management solutions, ed 1o a new aperating segment, For mare infarmation about this
acquisition, see Aove (L1}

Follerwing ceganizatonal changes, we established two new operaling segments, the Business
Metwoak segment and the Sustainabidity segment, in the third quarter of 2022

= The Business Netwark segment combines SAFs network offenings, covenng procurement,
logistics, asset management, and indusiry-specific solutions spanning end-ic-end value chains.
The segment generates revenues from cloud application subscriptions, transactional fees, and
SEMVICES

— The Sustasnability segment bundles a pertfolio of sustamnability-elated salutions that enables
SAF's customers to record and repaea Fnancial and non-financial metrics and act on impaowing
their sustasnability foatprint across all ESG (Ermvinonmental, Social, and Governance)
dimensions.
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The segment imformation for 2022 and the comparative price peniods wene restated 1o confarm with
e meve Segment composition

() Segment Reporting Policies

DOur management reporting system, and hence our segment reponing Sysbem, repornts our
inmsegnmnt Sievions &5 ot reductions and does nol track tham as mtemal revedse, Intersegrment
SEnices mainky represant utiization of human resources of one segment by anciher segment an a
project basis. Intersegment services are changed based oo internal cost rates including certain indinect
overead costs but exeluding a profit manging

Maost of our depreciation and amartization expense atfecting segment profits is allocated 1o the
sagments as part of broader infrastructure allocations and s thus not tracked separately on the
operating segment bevel. Depreciation and amonization expense that is directly atlocated o the
aperating segrments i immaterial in all segments presanted.

Dur management reporting system produces a variety of reports that difier by the currency exchange
rates used in the accounting for foreign-currency ransactions and operations, where both actual and
constant currency numbsers are repeeed to and used by our CODM. Repons based on actual
cufmencies use the same cumency rates as are wsed in our inancial statements. Reparts based an
constant currencies report revenues and expenses using the average exchange rates from the
previous year's codresponding period,

‘We use an operating profit indicator io measure e perermance of owr operating segments. The
aCcounting policies appled in the measuremnent of operating segment expenses and piolit differ as
Tedlows from the IFRS accounting principles used to determine the operating profit measure in aur
ingame stalement:

The expense measures exclude;

- Acquisition-related changes such as amostization expense and impairment charges for inlangibles
acquired in business combinations and certain stand-alone. acquisitions of inteliectual property
(including purchased in-process research and development) as well as salefdispesal gains and
losses for these intangibles, settberments of pre-axistng business relationships in connection with 3
business combination, and acguisition-related third-pasty expenses

- Share-based paymeant expenses
Restrucluning expenses

SAP headquarter functions which are exclusively managed on corporate level, such as finance,
accounting, legal. human resources, global business operations, and corporate marketing. ane not
included in the results of ow reponable SeETnts.

Revenuwes and expenses of our operating but non-repaortable segments, and the certain activities
managed on corporate level, as outlined above, are presented under the Other revenue and Other
expenses items in the reconciliation in Aote (C210

Informatian abowt assets and liabilities and additions to non-current assets by segment are not
regularly provided 1o our Executive Board. Goodwill by segment is disclesed in AVove (0.2

191335
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Applications, Technology & Services

fra g 021 2020
Fin actal  Constam Actal  Constars Actual
Currgncy  Cumnency' Cumency Cumrency” Comency
Cloud 10,7239 573 7,835 7970 5,840
‘Sohware leanses 2053 1960 3,240 1238 1637
Soltvedit Sl 11,006 11361 11410 LLSTS 11506
Sofanng Eopnes and Suppon | 13.95% 13,330 14,658 12812 15,123
Cloud and softwann 24,198 22,904 23,588 2782 22,083
Senvices 4,100 3864 3,555 2518 A659
Total segmens revenue 20,2594 06,772 26,084 0,800 25,142
: Cost ol cionsd ; -:I.L‘ﬁ -3..153 .-2.'-'51 -1B07 -L.367
Cost o scftware bosases and suppon 1g33 158 173 Ci7se 1708
Coat of cioud and sofhwase . [ —;.IE-'." —‘I.E&B -4, 50 -4, 5561 —4,152
Conl of senices =2.B49 =2, MO -3 485 =Z L82 =25615
Total cost of revenae =7, 906 =1,39% =5,83% =703 =6,778
Sogment gross proft 20,0m 19,378 Wi 1w 18063
Other segment sxponses ises 10901 8830 Py _as5L
Segment profit .m BASE a.z-aq. 9434 412
¥ The 3023 corsiani Cmency MMounis ane only oomparatle 1o 3021 acual cumency amounts; B0 CoMsE Oumenty Smoums are only compasable 5o 230 actual curency
P T
Qualtrics
fi=r s Fuieal 2020
fmitens Actusl  Constand Attual  Comstant actual
Currency  Cusrency’ (=T Cunency® TNy
Clowd 1108 1071 757 T 18
Cliead and softwane 1,158 1071 57 -] L
SRS 135 2 173 17E 16%
'l';ml BEEEEN, revenue :I,ﬂ!: : 1.2.1;1. 230 7 i1
Coat of cioud -1.3.3- =120 <5 ] =43
mnlimmhﬂmﬂ A SUppon D‘ .ﬂ l:l 0 L]
Comt of cloud and softwaee . -13&1: -12.13. —6.5 ] 43
Tt of senaces =1H3 =14 =125 =138 =110
Total cosr o revenue -3:1.5 -.H-l =150 =194 =153
Segmbnt groid praf 1108 Ll a0 Ted pr ]
rther segment expenses =1,013 o) Ak =719 Xk ]
Segment profit 95 104 44 '™ -4
" The 3053 corLe ELTENTY SMOunDs i ooly comparatle 1o 3021 sl curtency amounts; 2031 Conilant curency Asounts ane only comparasle 50 2030 actual cumety
LT N
1927335
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Segment Revenue by Region
EMEf Amricas ARrd Total Segment Revenuoe
Faireg e | 2022 2021 Fari] 2021 2022 2021
€ =iliorn 2 - L - - -
Actual Consiant Aol Actual  Constarm Aechizal Actual  Cofnstant Al Actual Constant Atual
Curteney Curtency Cumency  Currensy  Currency Curenty  Gumency Cufenty  Curency Gurrency Currency  Cumenty
Applcations,
Technology 12507 12280 12309 11,531 10,315 &, 780 4,750 4173 4,064 78,208 36,772  IE054
& Gardoes
Crualtrics 218 188 153 1,087 a6 650 117 105 ar 1,423 1271 °430
Tatal
repartable 12,725 24T 1M 12,619 11206 10471 4,370 4278 4,191 28,720 20,042 R6uba
sEgments
EMEA Americas APA Total Segment Revenue
€ milions Hrl 2020 Hol g0 2071 ?‘DN 2021 X
Actual  CoriEant AT, Actual  Cofmtang AT Actual  Constars Actum Agtual  Constar Actunl
Currency Cwrrency Cumency Currency Cuwrenmcy  Cumency  Currency  Cwrrency Cumercy  Currency  Currency  Cumency
AppLcations,
Tachnmogy 13,200 §3a0s 11,800 780 10,062 s 4,064 4,132 A 26,054 26,400 8,742
& Gervioes
Cualirics 153 157 ar B3} 711 o] ar B9 5L 530 g5 L4
Tatal
repartable 12,362 12,363 11,852 10,471 10,773 10314 4,151 4221 4011 26,984 27,357 2422
sEgmEnls

For @ breakdown of revenue by region Far thve SAP Group, see Aot (4]
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Consolidated Financial

{€.2) Reconciliation of Segment Measures to the Consolidated Income Statements

Appications, Techrology & Services
Cuaites
Total segmant fewenue fof reportable Segments
rther seweriae
Adiustment o cunency imgact
At of fevenue urcler T vl SIeounting

.l Toeal rsvens

Applications, Techrology & Services
IEkA.HII'{.‘l
Total segment profit for repartable segnents
Oither peverue
othisr dupanses
A stmert for cunency impacd
Bttt for
Rtrwirast under 13i walus sOCounting
Acrpa siton-relsled chages
Shase-Cased payment gupenses

Ml Restructuring

i Operating profic

ol OBt non-apenating ntomeen pense, net

il Finarcial incame, net

al Potin bedore tax

(C.2) Other Non-Operating Income/Expense, Net

€ imullions

Fadeign durrency dnchange gianflods, mel
Thareal from francis] asdets &1 fir value through

prof or loss

2022
Actual COnGLen
Currensy Currency”
8708 28772
VA3 1,271
.70 28,042
1150 1067
1] 1,762

0 o
AT 30,871
B B0 B.a55
= 1
1502 1,560
L) 1,087
2000 nad
0 0

0 0
=BED ]
—?.ﬁ|4 =2,E614
18 138
45670 4570
—|*; =195
Ci3es 1385
3,000 3,090

Thareol frem Fnancinl issets ol amortized oost
Thareal fiaem BAaNCN SanAties 8 i valus theough

profi o lods

Thareal frarn financial Sabdites ot smortized oot

Mcellaneous incomelenpenss, net

&l Other non-operating incomeleapense, net
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a0z2

=151

515

Actual
Cultinty

26,058
a30
260
859

1842
0,284

84248
a5
-1.058

o

S vl
2,794
-157
ey
17
2174
By

2021 0
Corsan Actua
Cuimgry’ Chamirey
20,500 iR
poT [ 58
27,357 X
B75 @2l
=30 1]
o 5
27,842 27330
8,834 2812
G : —t‘
gam 8,400
i iR
-1.045 -2
=178 a
o -5
=l STF
-3, -L.08s
-157 3
4,656 623
17 =173
2178 s
6,047 T

316

=382

=T
=33
a7

" The 023 conatant Culmency SMounts ane ooly comparatle 1o 2021 actual Cumency amoonts, B0 L Consiant ouTency ameunts ate only comparable i 2050 sciual Corency
s,

0l
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{C.4) Financial Income, Net

o il FoiFF] gl 030
Finamce income 820 3173 1473
Thareo! gains fiom Snamcal aseris a8 fad valie thicegh peofil of Lo L] 1087 1,360
Finamncs costs =205 =iy =Gf?
Thereo! bosses from frarcial assets at far value Bhiough peofit or loss =1 802 Bl =347
Ti'urmhmﬁmﬂpumimmrmml lnbities at amortized cos —m. -.IEI:I -1
l‘r:ﬁr::lmu!ﬂpcmimhnm labiites at far value trough 60 = T

& Financial imcams, net =1,385 2174 776

(C.5) Income Taxes
& Judgments and Estimates

We are subject to changing tas laws in muttiple jurisdections within the countries in which we operate.
Our ardinany business activities alsa include transactions where the ultimate tax outtome s uncertain
due 1o different interpeetations of 1ax Laws, such as those invabving transier pricing and intercompany
ransactions bebween SAP Growp entities. In additian, the amount of income taxes we pay is generally
subject to ongroing awdits by domestic and foreign tax authorities. In determining our worldwide
income lax peovisions, judgment & invebved in assessing whether to consider each uncertain tax
ireatment separately or together with one or mare other uncertain tax reatments and whether to
redlact the respective effect of uncertainty based on the maost likely amount or the expected value. In
applying these judgments, we consider the natwe and the individua! facts and circumstances of each
uncertain tax treatmant as well a5 the specifics of the respective jurisdiction, including applicable tax
laws and our interpretation thereol.

The assessment whether a delered tax asset is impained requires judgment, as we need to estimate
fulure taxable peodits Lo determine whiether the utilization of the deferred tax assal ks probable. In
evaluating our abslity to utilize our deferred tax assets, we consider all available positive and negative
evidence, including the leved of historical taxable income and projections for future taxable income
over the periods in which the deferred tax assels are recoverable, Our pudgment regarding future
taxable income is based on assumplions aboul fulure markel conditions and future profits of SAP,

Judgment is also required in evalualing whether interest or penalties related 1o income taxes meet the
definiton of income taxes, and, il not, whether it is of financial nature, In ths judgrment, we panicutarly
coansider applicable lecal tax laws and interpretaticns on IFRS by national standard setters in the area
of group financial reporting.

Tax Expense by Geographic Location

£ millions w22 3071 T

Cunrerd tas oxpenss

P I 530 8 05
Foweign 1,155 1360 5001
Todal cusrrerd Cak EXpen e 1,734 1868 1. EDE
Dferved Lax dporse ]

Gerany = 10 34
Founign 441 05 20
Total deterred tax eapensafincoms e e 42
.H'I'uu:lmt.l!m.gptn.u Lﬂi 1471 1,530
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Major Components of Tax Expense

£ rrallions Farrrd Jraurd | racrii]
Current tax expensalincome

Tax suparse ior current year 1,745 1,.7a7 1553
Taues lox prioc years. 12 kS 243
Todal current Eax expense l,?.ﬂ. Lil QDG
Deferred tax cxpenssincome

{lriijn-'ﬂ:l PR — emponany Ao -313 56 &7
Unused tax losses, reseanch and deveiopment lax credits, and forsign ta -5 P %
eredins

Todal deferred tax expendeincome -352 —-HT Az
o Teal incom tax oxperme :.:ﬂi 1471 1,938

Tatal daferred tax expensafincome includes a banefit of €124 million (2021: £15 millan;
2020 €4 milban) ansing rom prevaously unrecogmized tax [osses and temporary diffeences,

Profit Before Tax by Geographic Location

€ milions i 201 b
—_—

Gireray L& 2040 JAR1

Foreign 1,308 4807 4,73

&l Total 3,090 EE4T Txe0

The following table reconciles the expected income tax expense, computed by applying our
combingd German tax rate of 26.4% (2021 26.4%:; 2030 26.3%), to the actual income 1ax expense,
Qur 2022 combaned German tax rate includes a corporate income tax rate of 15,09 (2021 15.0%:
2020; 15,088}, plus a solidasity surcharge of 5.5% (3021 5.5%; 2020 5.5%) thereon, and trade taxes of
10.6% (2021; 1006%: 2020 10.5%7),

Relationship Between Tax Expense and Profit Before Tax

o mullindg, unlEd olheweiss SLissd 022 IE el

i Prodit Before tax 1.0%0 [N TH) T20
Tax exparse 3t applicable 1oy rabe of 26.436

I T6.4%; T 26.37%) LT LBCE 1801
R Ep——
Foreign tax rabed =117 ] =186
Mor-deduct ins fperses 431 L] The
Tas- doempl inoome . ﬂ'-". -3 —-I5e
wWithihadd ng Lo l.?E Far 105
Research and development and lorsgn @ oredis =25 ] =100
; F\.iiw-m:.f s i & 9 :I.?.I.I
F!Mumr;‘lh‘lol ﬁhumla-a@amamh W 134 34 n
deviiopment i credits, and forsign 1A crits
Ceher -IE‘I =105 57
-.H'l'utu“nm‘t.“cmmt .I.E:E 147 :l-.'iﬂ
PR ———— a4z ns ™8
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Components of Recognized Deferred Tax Assets and Liabilities

£ millions ez e vl )
Desferred tam assets.

Intangioe assets 1,063 758
mﬂ’:f. gt pnd W’ﬂ@ﬂl -27 1;3
Leases 'Sﬂ‘! &72
Other fnancial assets 23 14
Trace ard caher peoevamies Bl ]
Preresion prisions. pen 19
Share-based payrenis o 28
DI PHOARS ARG SDEEA IS =3 535
Cowrlrget lingliiey. LT AL
Canrpfoswands of uresed tax loises 150 148
fesparch and deveopment and fofegn tax Credis 110 w
it I:H 130
Todal deferred tox assets (gross) 42T 566
Hetting -z,:;-:ﬂ ~1,7R0
! Total deferred tax assets (net] 2085 1786
Deterred tax iabisties

intangie assets B35 003
ﬂrmr;-.r.nuﬂ.ud Buinment ma 120
Leases 437 &5
Ot Fancisl sssets 1 160
Trade and other cecshaiie a0 206
[PeTaa0e pIoRE TS ] sz |
LHEWT prowiEons and cbigalons -] 50
Conmract liasinies. 5 T
ey 1 a7
Total deterred tax Labilities urnu]-. z,m 2076
Heming 2,708 1780
I Testal deferred ta labilities (pet) . 24 206

Thiz increase n delerred tax assets Tor intangibbe assats mainly resulls from the capitalization of
resedarch and developrment expenses for tax puiposes. Fuihermane, the defered 1ax assets for
contract labilities increased mainly because of delared revenue

The increase in deferred tax [atities for other provisions and obligatons masnly results from linancial
ekt
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Items Mot Resulting in a Deferred Tax Asset
£ malliong i rerd | ranrai]

Unased tax losses

WOl exprng 31\5 430 510
Expieng in the Wiowng year ' Ty ™ s
Kxpiring ahe! IMe Yotiving yedt i asy 0 e
Todal unused tax losses TES wiz
Deductibls temparary difterences wz sa7
Unwuied ressarch and development and foreign thx credits

ot expinng -] - 25
Exprng aher the dodiowing year [ o o 17
Totsl unused tox credits » 4 4

Of the unused tax losses, €294 million (20Z1: €183 millsan; 2020: €179 millan) reiate ta LS, state fax
loss carmdarwards,

W hawe not recognized a deferrad tax liabdity on approxemately £28.91 bilion (2021 £24.04 bilon)
o undistributed profits of ow subsidianes, because we dre in a pasition bo condrol the timing of the
fevarsal of the temporary differance and it & probable that such diferences will fot reverse in the
foreseeable future,

Income Tax-Related Litigation

‘We are subject to ongoing tax audits by domestic and foresgn tax autharities. Curvenily, we are in
dispute mainty with the German and only a few foreign tax authorities. The German dispete is in
respect of certain secured capital investments, while the few loreign disputes are in respect of the
deductibiity of intercompany ravalty payments and intercomparny sendces, In all cases, we axpect
that a favorable cutcome can only be achieved through Btigation. For all of these matters, we have not
recorded a provision as we believe that the tax authorities’ claims hawe no marit and that no
adjustment is watranted. if, cantrary to our view. the tax authorities ware 1o prevail in their arguments
belore the court, we would expect bo have an additional expense of approximately £1.571 millian
{2021: £1,283 mélion} in tota! (including refated inderest expenses and penalties of £857 million

[2021; €677 milion))

Reform of International Taxation Rules

In Chctober 2021, over 135 junisdictions agreed on & mew framework for the internaticnal tax system
covenng the re-allocation of taxeng rights and the mtroduction of a global minimum conporate tax rate.
In December 2021, the Qeganization for Economic Co-operation and Development (QECD) reteased
mrodel rutes, wheoh shall ensiire that mulinational enterpases with revenue above £750 million will be
subfect to a 15% minimum corporate tax rate. in December 2022, the Member States of the Eurapean
Umson (EU) adopied a directive on a global minimum level of tasation for multinational enterprise
groups and lavge-scabe domestic groups in the ELL. By the end of 2023, this directive needs 1o be
ransposed into natonal kaw by the EL member states to be applicabile for iscal years beginning from
December 31, 2023, Therefore, we cannol yel assess possible impacts for SAP, though we expect o
be sulbject 1o such rules.
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(C.6) Earnings per Share

o b, uileis (herasas staned 2023 0Fl 200
[
Peotl aftrbatable io equity holdems of SAP SE 2,284 5155 5,145
sudd oidinany shases® 1229 L 1220
[Mect of neisiory shanes! =58 -45 =iy
Weighted mwesage shares oulstanding, basic! 1170 1,180 1,182
Delutive ¢He of shase-based paymens? 5 Q 1]
Wisghed nosmpe Aharey M“Haﬁd:ﬂﬂ. e 1:1?%) L& 1182
Earrdngs per shane, basic, attributa bic to equity holders of 507 SE {in €] 1485 A48 435
Earrings per share, diluted, aributable to quulql]ml&t.s-nd-m SE.{IH{j 184 445 435

T Husbe o Shant in milliees
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Section D - Invested Capital

This section highlights our non-Current assets including investments that fonm the basis of our
operating aciviies, Additons to invested capital include separate asset scquisitions or business
combinations. Funher, we disciose information about purchase obligations and capitsl contribulions

(D.1) Business Combinations and Divestitures
& Measuring Non-Controlling Interests and Allocation of Consideration Transferred

‘We decide for each business combination whether to measure the non-controlling interest in the
acquiree at fair value or at the praportionate share of the acquires’s identifiable net assats.

‘We classify costs related to execuling basiness combinations as general and administration expense

In our accounting for busingss combinations, jwdgrment is required in determining whether an
intangible assel ks identifiable and wihether it should be recorded separately from gocdwill
Additionatly, estimating the acquisiton-date fair values of the identifiable assets acquired and
liabilies assumed invohees considerabie judgment. The necessary measwrements are based on
information available on the acquistion date and are based on expectations and assumplions that
have been deemad reasonable by management. These judgments, estimates, and assumplions can
rriaterially aftect aur inancial pasition and profit for several reasors, including the following:

= Fair values assigned 1o assets subject lo depreciation and amortization affect the amounts of
depreciation and amortization to be recorded i operating prolit in the pericds Tofiowing the
acquisition.

= Subsequent negalive changes in the estimated fair valwes of assets may resull in additional
expense from impairment charges.

- Subsequent changes in the estimated fair values of labibties and provisions may resull in
additional expense (f increasing the estimated fair value) or additional incormia (il decreasing the
estimated fair value),

‘We acquire businesses in specific areas of strategic interest to us, particularly to broaden our product
and senice portialio.

2022 Acquisitions

In 2022, we closed the acquisition of Taulia Inc, San Francisco, California (USA) { Taulia”) and of
INMAAS srl, Rame (Italy)

Taulia Acquisition

On January 27, 2022, SAP armounced its inbert to acouine a majority stake of Taulia (see Mot (G5
Tee SAFS cament shareholding percentage), a leading provader of cloud-based working capaal
management solutions. The acqusition closed on March 5, 2022, following satistaction of customany
chosing conditions and ragulalody approvals: the operating results and the assels and Labdites are
reflected in our consolidated financial statements starting on that date

The acquisition is expected ta further expand 5AF's business nebaark capabilities and strengthen
S5AF's solutions for the CROD office.

200335
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Corsideration tanstered amounted ta €705 millien.
The letiowing table summarizes the values of identifiable assets acqueed and Gabilities assurmed in
cannecton with the acquesition of Tawlia, as a1 the acquisiton date:

Taulia Acquisition: Recognized Assets and Liabilities

£ millism

imangkie asiets 157
b scderdifable AR5es

|8

Tetal identifable st e
it cheraifaole labdnins
Tistal identifiable §abiliies

Bl S

Todol identifiable net asseis

Goodwill
Todal consideration transfered

#1988

Prior 1o December 31, 2022, we completed our accounting assessment relating to the supply chain
femancing (SCF) ransachions offered by Taulia, Based on the setup of the compartiments ansd senes in
which the 5CF recervables and babilities are siloed and based oa the related contractual and lounding
agreements, we concluded we do not contral the recenvables and labilties resulting from the 5CF
activities under IFRS 10. Thus, we do nat include the respective items i our balance shest and do nat
show cash flows Briked 1o the SCF transactons in imestngdfinancing cash flow.

Az we are still ohtaining the information necessany o identify and measwre mainly tax-related assets
and liabilities, the initial accownting for the Taulia business combination is still incomplete in that
regard.

In general, the goodwilt anseng from our acquisibions consists largely of the synergies and the: know-
hews @nd skills of the soquined businesses” worklonges.

Taula goodwall was attributed to expected Symengies from the acquisition, pariculasy in the following
AEAS

Cross-seling to exsting SAP custoemers across all regions, using SAF's sales arganization

Further expanding SAP's business netwaork capabilities and strengthening SAP's solutions for the
CFO office

Creating new offerings by combining Taulia products and SAP products

Irnpecvang prahitabadity i Taulia sales and operaticns

The allocation of the goodwill resulting from the Taulia acquisition to our operating segments depends
on how our operating segments aclually benefit from the synergies of the Taulia business
combination. For more information, see Node (021

Impact of the Business Combination on Our Financial Statements

The amaunts of revenue and proft of oss of the Taulis business acquined in 2022 since the
acquisition date were included in our Consolidated Income Statement for 2022 as follows:
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Taulia Acquisition: Impact on SAP's Financials
2023

o, milione e 4 Cortripution of Taulin
&l Reverue 0,671 50
& Prodit ater tax 1,708 -38

Had Taulia been consobdated as 31 January 1. 2022, our revenue and peofit after tax far 2002 would
not have been matenally different

2022 Divestitures

On Aungust 17, 2022, SAP and Francisco Partners (FF) announced that FP had signed a definitive
agreement with SAF America, Inc, under which FP would acquire SAP Libmos from SAP. The
transadlion closed an December 1, 2022, following satisfaction of applicable regulatary and other
approvals

The disposal gain of €175 million is included in Other cperating incomelexpanse, met

2021 Acquisitions
In 2021, we closed the acquisition of Signavio GmbH, Berlin {Genmany} ("Signavia”) and of
Clarabnidge, Inc., Restan, Vieginia (USA) ("Clarbnidge’). Measurerment period adustments relating to

our 2021 acquisitions have resulted in changes to our 2021 figures (mainly goodwill and tax
assetslizhilities).

Signavio Acquisition
In Jaruary 2021, SAP anncunced it had entered into an agreement 1o aoquire Signavio, a leadear in

the enterpeise business process intelligence and process management space that enables companies
to wnderstand, improve, transform, and manage all their business processes quickly and at scale.

The purchase price was €349 millien, The transaction closed on March 5, 2021, following satisfaction
al regulatory and other aporovals. The ﬁigﬂ-?-'-'"] Dﬁﬂ’-‘ﬂ!iﬂg results and assets and kabilities ane
reflacted in our consalidated financial statements starting on that date,

The fellowing table summarizes the values of identiliatle assels acoueed and Labilities assurmed in
connectian with the acquesition of Signavio, as al the acqusibon date:

Signavio Acquisition: Recognized Assels and Liabilities

€ milions
imangiole assets 255
O dersiFatle assers n
Total Identifiable assets

Otiher identifable Labdities

Todal identifiable labilities
Todal identifiable not asiets
Aol

Todal conuideration trar bomed

SRR

In general, the goodwill arising from our acquisitions consists langely o the synargies and the kngw-
how and skills of the apquired businesses” workforces.
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Signavio goedwill was attribuded to expected synengies from the acquisiion, particulady in the
[oliowing areas.

Cross-saling opponumties to existing SAP customens across all regions, using SAP's sales
arganization

Thie acquisition of Signavio complements SAFs business process intelligence offerings and will
help create new afferings by combinng Signawveo products and SAP produds, but is also expected
to resudt, for example, in increased SAP SAHANA and RISE with SAP sales.

Impeoved profitability in Signavio sales and operations

The allocatian of the goodwill resulting from the Signavio Jcqusion 1o our opeating segments
depends on how ow operating segments actually benedit from the synergies of the Signavio business
combination

Clarabridge Acquisition

On October 1, 2021 (after receipt of requened regulatosy approvals and satisfaction or waiver of ather
customany clasing conditions), Qualtncs completed its prevously annourstad acquesition of
Clarabeidge, a customer axperience management softwane company headguarterad in Restan,
Wirginga, LISA, pursuant ki an Agreement and Plan of Recrganization and Mergers The murmber of
Qualtrics class A common stock issued to the Sellers was fixed based on a valuation of

USE1.125 million (Subject 1o cetain adustmeants) - the assurmed Crualincs share price was U5537.33.
The actual consideration ransterred (mainty @ shares valuved at the acquisation date fair value of the
comman stack) amounted to USEL 208 malion (£1,116 m#lion). This includes €910 milion of issued
shares, €115 milllion of assumed awards, and £91 millian of cash paid

Qualtrics has (1) assumed, amended, and restated Clarabeidge stock plans, and (2) converted the
assumed options to purchase shares of Claratwidge stock culstanding imo corresponding Qualtrics
options, Qualtrics has granted equity incentive awards [0 cenain continuing employees of Clarabridge
and its subsidiaries under its own Qualtrics equity plan at Qualtrics” sobe dscration.

The following table summarizes the values of identifiable assels acquered and labilities assumed in
connection with the acqusitan of Clarabridge, as at the acquisition date

Clarabridge Acquisition: Recognized Assets and Liabilities

£ millisna
uun-zu.e i 218
Otter iderdifable astels BL
Tital identifiable assets 302
iy heraiEa il (il ies 107
Todtol identifiable liabilithes 107
Tedal identifiable ret assets 185
r— P
mtmmm 1116

In pereral. the goadyall arising fram our acquesibons congisns langely of the synergies and the knaw-
howr and skills of the acquined businesses worklonges

The Clarabridge gooduill consiets Langely of the synesgies that SAP expects 18 achieve fom
cambining the acouined assets and opesations with its existing aperations, espedially in its Qualtics
subsidiany.
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Impact of Business Combinations on Our Financial Statements

The amounts of revenue and praf o loss of the Signavio and Clarabdge businesses acquired in
2021 since the apguisition date are included in the 2021 consclidated income statements as follows

2021 Acquisitions: Impact on SAP's Financials (Signavio and Clarabridge)

_ 3L Contrbution of 2021 Aoquistions
o melicns
a5 Rapanad
ol Rivers 7,847 70
ol Prodit atter tax 5376 ~E3

Had the acquired entibes been consadidated a5 at January 1, 2021, our 2021 revenua and profit aftes
ta weuld net hanee beers rmatenslly diffenen.

2021 Divestitures

On April 13, 2021, SAP and investment company Dediq GmioH, Munich (Germany) ("Dedig’)
announced that they had agreed 1o enter o 3 partnership in the area of financial senaces, Following
the close of the transachion in Septembeer 2021 (after satistaction of all closing conditions including
regulatory appravals), SAP and Dediq jointly own the new SAP Fioneer entity (with SAP cwming a
mingarity share).

SAP and 24P Fioneer have execuled transition service and go-1o-madkel agreements, among others

Thie disposal gain relating to iHe transber of e business (predominantly [P and employeses) was
includied in Other operating income/expense, net (E77 milkon)

2020 Acquisitions

On Nowember 4, 2020, we concluded the acquisstion of 10096 of the shares of Emansys abarketing
Systerms AG, Vienna (Austria) [Emarsys’), following satisfaction of applicable reguatcny and other
approvals.

The operating results and assets and liabilities of Emarsys are reflected in our consolidated financial
statements from Movember 4, 2020, onwands.

In general, the goodwill ariseng from our acquisitions consists largely of the synergies and the know-
o @nd skills of the acquired businesses workforces.

Emarsys goodwill is attnibuted 10 expected synengies from the acquisition. pamicularty i the foliowing
illaisl

Cross-seling cpponurities to existing SAP customerns across all regions, using SAP's sales
arganization

Emarsys offerings complementing the existing SAP Customer Experience solutions

Impeoved profilability in Emarsys sales and operations

2020 Divestitures

On May 5, 2020, SAP and Sinch AB, Stackbalm (Sweden) ("Sinch”) announced that thay had entered
inta & definitive agreement for Sinch to acquire the SAP Digital Interconnect business. The business
seld (winch was a non-reparntable segment 1o 58P consisted of several SAP subsidaanes as well as
assets transhemed from certain SAP entities. The imitiad cash purchase pace was £225 milban (on a8
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cash-free, debt-lree basis), The disposil gain of €124 million was included in Other operating
income'expense, net

The transaction closed an Movermber 1, 2020, folkneang satsfaction of applicable regulatory and cthar
apptvals.

(D.2) Goodwill

) Goodwill and Intangible Asset Impairment Testing

The annual gocdhwill impairment test is performed at the tevel of our operating sepments, since there
ane no ower levels in SAP at which goodwill is monitored for infernal management purpases.

I general, the test is performed at the sarme time (at the beginning of the fourth quarter) for all
aperating segments.

In making impasment assessments for our goodwill and intangibée assats, the cutcome of these tests
i highly depandent on management’s assumplions reganding future cash flow projections and
economic rsks, which require significant judgment and assumplions about future develspments. They
can be affected by a variety of factons. ncluding:

= Changes in business slralegy
- Ineernal forecasts
- Estimation of waighted-average cost of capital

Changes 1o the assumplions underlying our goodwill and intangible assets impairment assessments
could require material adjustments to the camying amount of our recognized goodwall and intangibla
assels as well &5 the amounts of impairment charges recognized in prafit or loss

The cutcome of goodwill impainment tests may atso depend on the aiocation of goodwill 1o our
opesating segments, This allocation involves judgment as it 5 based on our estimates regarding wiich
operating segments are expected o benedit from the synergies of business combinations.

Changes in cur segmant structure resull in the realiocation of goodwill with the reallocated goodhwil
being calculated based on relathie values (if a direct aliocation s not possible)

Goodwill

£ rralliong

Mistorical cou

el ZTH36
Fﬁﬁ,gn curnancy sichange diftererces I.ﬂ!:a.
Akdtors hoe business corbiratons L7%
Retremenis'dapoals =20
12312021 31,180
Fauign euererty exchings differertey 1526
Additors from msineis combinations )
Retoements'daposals =45
1Bz  maw
Accumulated amortzation

L0l o
F.ﬂmign curmrcy eichange diererces 3
zsnen 102
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Foneign currency enchange differences. 2
12302022 !.ﬂ.
Carrying amount

ARAAR0E pr K]

12312022 33,106
For mane imdormation about ouwr segrments and the changes in 2022, see ANole (C 1)

Throughout 2022, we have — through a qualitative and quantitative analysis - heen continuously
manitoring whether triggerning events exist.

The negative revenue impact and additional expenses due to the exit of operations in Russia and
Belarus mainly affects our Appbcations, Technology & Senvices segment. We beleve thal no
reasanably possible effect of the exit of operations in Russia and Belarus on revenue and expenses
would cause the carnying amount of our Applications, Technology & Senices segment to exceed the
recoverable amaount.

Throughout 2022, the stock price of Qualtrics international Ine, declined compared ta 2021, We
clasely maonilod the smpairment rsks and potentad nggenng events foe the Qualtnes segment. Wike
we note the decline of the slock price as one aspect in our halistic assessment. we did not evaluale il
1o be the sole indicator that could impéy a triggering event,

Far impairment testing purposes, the canying amount of goodwill i5 allocated o the operating
segrments expectad to benelt frem gocdwill as follows:

Goodwill by Operating Segment
£ enillgeyi 7 JT;::‘:: Qualincs Emaisys SAF Sigravg’ Tadia Busingss Motwork  Sustanabdiny Toial
1HILR0R 76441 1,844 e 08 WA HA MA 3L0ER
T 0,812 4003 1] atn 112 1062 3 3106

'mmnMnmeuMW‘

Based on the expected synengies, the goodwill added through the aoquisition of Taulia (E577 milion}
was provisianally sllocated to the Applications, Technology & Services segment (£246 million), the
Taulia segment (€307 million), and the newly lormed Business Metwork segment (£24 million), As the
initial accounting for the Taulia business combination is incomplete (for mare information, sea

More (0 10, the atlocation of goodwill is provisional. Portions of the goodwill in the Applications,
Technology & Services segment were moved 1o the newdy lormed Business Metwork segment
(£1,135 million) and Sustainability segment (E34 mitlion}

Due to the dissolution of the Sendces segment at the beginning of 2022 {for more information, see
Mare /210, the Services goodwill (E3567 million) was moved to the Applications, Technology &
Sendces segrment, Given the close praximity to the 2021 snnual goodwil impairment test and the
significant haadrmom, na fermal impairmant test was performed on the realiocation date of the
Sendces segment.
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Goodwill Impairment Test

The key assumptions on wivch management based its cash llow propections for the peviad covered by
the underlying business plans are as follows:

Key Assumption Basis for Determining Values Assigned to Key Assumpticn

Budgeted rve s growth Rewenue growth rate achiewed in the cument year, adicsied fof an expected ncrease i SAP's addiessatile cloud and database
markels; gipecied growth in the estabished sofaant appicatons and anslytcs markels. Values assipned el our past
R A S EepRLtIESeS (RgAndng an incooade in (e acdiesinnle markes,

Budgeied opssating mangin Oparating margn budgeled for 8 ghatn budpel penod aguals the operating madgin achiesed n the curtent year, incmased by
npeted eRESEnty QR Valubs Sesigned it ikl experence, sutepl o affcency gairs

DESCoum rates Chur s timaied Cash Aow projections am GEcounied 10 peesent valun using SO0 ranes (RNer-ths fres], Dscount rabes ane

birked or the weighted rebtage o8t of capital (WaCC) spprasch.

Termasal growth rite

O estimat g cash fow projections for penos Deyond 1h busirss plan wire saiapolited wsing Segment-Specie tenmiral
et s, Therse growil cates oo rol exteed the lng-Uirm Serspe geowih aines Sy the siies in wiich our segmens
aperabe.

Key Assumptions and Detailed Planning Period®

Paitint. s Technology & Emarsys SAF Signavio’ Taula Business Network Susta inabiity
P Services

2022 031" g 2021 HFF 2021 202F 071 222 2021 HFF etk §

—

Budgeted revnue
e P [average of 114 Ea 123 153 0.7 a1z 4.8 A 140 P ME L7
i = 3 . = 2
o S 111 BE IL7 100 17 115 113 A 118 TR -1 ] rea
ﬁmmhrﬂ 30 20 a0 3.0 k] 10 3.0 NA 3 a0 P, ] [V
m‘;ﬂm 5 5 12 17 14 14 i3 A 10 Y 1z (Y

" s we one sing Lewsed 1 inputs lor Quadiries in 2022 (simdar io 2001}, na information on smumptons. and the detaied planning pesod & preseried.
! Pravivanly known sa Butine s Precess Intelipenen”
" The 2021 fgures relate b the Anplcatons, Technolsgy & Supeon sepment withaa the realocaton of the Sansoes mepment

On Qctober 1, 2022, wi perfoomed & goodwill irmpairment lest for the operating segments

Apphcations, Techmology & Sendoces Segrnent
For maone iormation about owr 2022 segrnent changes, see Mote (0.1

The recoverable amount was determined based an a fair value less costs of disposal calouation, The
faar value measurament was categonzed as a Level 2 fair value based on the inputs wsed in the
walsaton, Thi cash How Dfﬂil‘:cllﬂl'ls wing based on actual operabng resuits and specilsc eshmates
covering 3 detasied planning penod and the terminal growth rate thereafter, The projected resulls were
determined based on management’s estimates and ane consisbint with the assumplions a marke
participant would make (3 et operabng margin of 27.8% (2021: 332.1%) was used in the valuation),

‘W believe that no reasonably possible change in any of the above key assumplions would cause the
camying amaunt of dur Applications. Technology & Senices segment to exceed the recoverable
amaunt.
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Cualtrics Segment

Thie recoverable amount was determinied based an a fair value less costs of disposal calculabon, The
fas vadue measurement was categonzed as a Level 1 fair value based on the markel capitaiizason
derrved from publicly listed shares of Gualtnes. We utilized the share price a5 at Octeber 3. 2022, as
October 1, 2022, was not a trading day. The share price was 1080 as at Cctober 3, 2022 (€37.85 a5
a4t October 1, 2021), Unlizieg the shane price 35 at Segtemiber 30, 2022, would not hawe changed our
conclusion

The recowerable amount exceeded the canrying amount by €957 million (2021: €15,395 million].

The foliowing table shows the amaunts by which the share price of Qualtics would need 1o change
individually {that is. withoul changing the other inputs) far the recoverable amount 1o be equal ta the
camying amaunt;

Sensitivity to Change in Assumptions

Charrizs
202 Al
‘Shane prick (charde in %) . -15 76

Emarsys Segmen

The recoverable amount was determined based on a fair value less costs of disposal calculation. The
faar vatue measurement was categonzed as a Level 3 fair value based on the inputs used in the
valsation, The cash flow projections were based on aclual operating results and specific estimates
covering & detaded planming peviod and tha terminal growth rate therealter, The projected resulls were
datermined based an management’s estimates and are consistent with the assumptions a market
participant would make (a target operating margin of 29.4% (2021: 24 8%) was used in the valuation)

Gaven e fact thal the Emarsys segment is expocted 10 show dispropomicnate growth in e comng
years and has not yet reached a steady state, we have used a longer detailed planning period than
ane would apply in a mane mature Segment.

The recoverable amount exceeded the canrying amount by €513 million (2021 €547 malion)

The following table shows the amounts by which the key assuemptions would meed to change
individually (that is, without changing the other key assumptions) for the recoverable amount 10 be
equal to the carning amount, For bedgeted revenue growth sensitivity, the cost stnscture was not
adjusted, hence leading 1o 8 modified terminal operating margin;

Sensitivity to Change in Assumptions

Emarsys

2022 2021
Budpeted resnuae growth ¥ -
it A 20 17
Toige! cpsnling fubsigin o 1P dedd of the
Ibutgibed pesiod =16 =1&
il ol L
S4P Sigavio Segment

The recoverable amound was determined based an a fair value less costs of disposal caculation, The
fasr vatue measurerment was categonzed as a Level 3 fair value based on the inputs used in the
valueation, The cash flow projections wene based on actual cperabing reswits and specifec estmales
covering & detaded planning period and the terminal growih rate therealier, The projected resulls were
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determined based on managements estimates and are consistent with the assumptions a market
participant would make (@ target operating margin of 22.5% (2021 24.8%) was used in the valuation),

Gavan tive fact that the SAP Signavio segrment i expected 1o show disproporBonate growth in the
comng years and has not yet reached a steady state, we have used a longer detailed planning period
han ane would apply in a mone matune segment.

The recoverable amount exceeded the camying amount by €845 million (2021: £1,225 millicn)

The following table shows the amounts by which the key assempltions would need to change
indieidually (that is, without changing the ather key assumplions) for the recoverable amount ta be
equal to ihe carrying amount. For budgeted revenue growth sensilivity, the cost structure was nal
adjusted, hence leading 1o a modified terminal operating margin:

Sensitivity to Change in Assumptions

AP Sipnnia
Foer ) 2021
Busdpated fevenue grosh
3 =19 25
Ahaogalapel)
Taget opeeating maingin at the end of the
nudgeled period -18 20
{ehange im e
Taulka Segment

The recoverable amount was determined based on a fair value less costs of disposal calouation, The
fair value measurement was calegonized as a Level 3 fair value based on the inpuls used in the
vabuation, The cash flow projecticds were based on actiual operating resulls and specific estimates
covering a detadled planning period and the terminal growth rate thereatter. The projected results were
determined based on management’s estimates and are consistent with the assumptions a market
participant would make (2 target operating margin of 24.9% was used in the valuation),

Gaven the fact that the Taulia segment is expected to show disproporbonate growth in the coming
years and has not vet reached a sleady state, we have used a longer detailed planning period than
ane would apply in a mone mature segment

The reconerable amount exceeded the casrying amount By £366 mllion.

The following table shows the amaunts by which the key assumptions would reed to change
individually (that is, withoul changing the ather key assumptions) for the recoverable amaount ta be
equal ta the canrying amount For buedgeted revenue growth sensilivity, the cost structure was not
adjusted, hence leading 19 a modified terminal operating margin:

Sensitivity to Change in Assumptions

Taulia
2022
Busdgeted mevenue giovh =11
Achangein pob —
Target opedmting mangin at the end of the budgeted period o
ookl S
Aftertax discount mie 34
Busivhess Network Segtmett

The recoverable amount was determined based on a fair value less costs of disposal calculation. The
fadr value measurement was categornized as a Level 3 fair value based on the inputs used in the
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valuaticn, The cash flow projecticns wene based on aciual operating resulls and specilic estimates
covering a detasied plannng penod and the terminal growth rate therealter, The prgjected resulls were
determined based on management’s estimates and are consistent with ihe assumptions a market
particzpant would make (a target operating margin of 24.2% was used in the valuaton),

Given the fact that the Business Network segment is expected to show dispropodionate grewth in the
commg years and has not yol reached a steady state, wie have wsed a longer detaled plammng period
than e would apply in a mone matune Segment

The recowerable amount exceeded the canying amount by £2,821 million.

The fediowing table shows the amounts by which the key assumptions would need 1o change
individually {that is, withoul changing the other key assumptions) for the recoverable amount o be
equal to the carrying amount. For budgeted revenue groddth sensitivity, the cost struchure was nat
adjusted, hence leading to a modified termina! operating margin:

Sensitivity to Change in Assumptions

By Netwaik
ez
Budgeted revenue growth e
AEnEng e pah
Tagel mmgm:ﬁnn the e ol The Budgeted pedod T
{change in o)
Sustainatnlity Segment

The recoverable amount was determined based on a fair value less costs of disposal calcudation. The
fasr value measurement was categonzed as a Level 3 fair value based an the inputs used in the
valuation, The cash flow projections were based on actual aperating resuits and specific estimates
covering a detafied planning penod and the terminal growth rate thereafter. The projected resulls were
determined based an managements estimates and are consisbent with the assumplions a market
participant would make (& target aperabing margin of 26.2% was used in the valuation).

Given the fact that the Sustanability segment is expected to show disproporfionate growth in the
coming years and has not yet reached a steady state, we have used a longer detailed planning period
than ane would apply in a more mature segment.

The recoverable amount exceeded the camying amounk by £117 milkon,

Thie fedlowing tatshe shows the amounts by which the key assemplions would meed 1o change
individuatly (that is, without changing the other key assumptions) lor fhe recoverable amount ta be
equal to ihe carying amount. For budgetod revenue growth sensitivity, the cost Structune was not
adfjusted, hence leading 1o a modified termingl operating margin:

Sensitivity to Change in Assumptions

Sustainablity
2022
Budpeted iivEnue grandh 14
Achangenpe)
Torget opesatng mangin ot the end of the budgeted poriod e
{change im pao)
After-t dacount e a8
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(D.3) Intangible Assets
& Recognition of Intangibles

‘Whereas in general, expenses for internally generated intangibles are expensad as incurred,
development expenses incumed on standard-related customer development progects (for which the
IAS 38 criteria are met cumuiatively) are capitalized on a limited scale with those amounts being
amartized ower the estimated useful life for the majority of the projects of eight years,

Determining whether internally generated intangible assets from development qualify for recognitson

requines sigrificant judgment, particularly in the [allowing aneas:

= Determining whether acthaties should be considered research activities of devebopment activities

= [Determining whether the conditicns for recognizing an intangible assel e mel fequires
assumptions aboul fulure market conditions, customer demand, and other developmenis.

- The term “technical feassbility” is nat defined in IFRS, and therefane determining whather e
completion of an asset is technically feasible requires judgment and a company-speciflic approach

= Determining the future ability 1o use or sell the intangible asset arising from the development and
the chetermination of the probability of future benefits from sale or use

= Determining whether a cost s directly or indirectly attributable to an intangible asset and whether a
cost is necessary for completing a development

Thase judgments impact the total amount of intangible asses that we presant in our balance shoet 5
well as the timing of recogrizing devetopment expenses in profit of loss.

&) Measurement of Intangibles

All aur purchased intangible assets other than goodwil bave finite useful lives. They are mitialky
measured at acquisition cost and subsequently amonized based on the expected consumption ol
econamic benefts over their estimated wseful Bves ranging from twia to 20 years.

Judgment is required in determining the following;
= The usetul lite of an intangible asset. a5 this is based on owr estimates reganding the period over
which the intangible asset is expected o generate economic benefits to us

- The amortizaton method, 3s IFRS requires the straighi-ine method to be used unless we can
refiabily determine the pattern in which the asset’s future economic benefts are expected ta be
consumed by us

Both the amortization perod and the amarmization method hawe an impact an the amadtization
expansa that is recarded in each pariod.

& Classification of Intangibles

Wi classiy intangible assets according 1o their natue and Use i owr operations. Soffware and
database lkcenses consist primarily of technodogy for internal use, whereas acquired techmology
consists primariy of purchased software to be incorporated into our product offerings. Customer
refationships and other intangbles consist prmarity of customer relatsonships and acquired trademark
licenses

Amarizatan expanses of intangible assets ane classified as cost of cloud; cost of senvices, research
and development, sales and marketing, and general and administraticn, depending on the use of the
respective intangible assels.
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Intangible Assets

1 Cuatomer

s Dommseiownes  Tehvng  (eorhpand o
Histarical cost
L0 ] 2,565 6038 0,305
Foreign cumency exchange & ferences 17 205 427 [
Ao from buliness combirations ] 13 a i
Cehir addtions 19 (] i i}
Reteementsidaposals B-13 =7 =11 =102
Trarsfen e o -B% 2
pHIE ] f e 2,906 6,734 'W.:HI
FOfgign Cuiiiny exchangn &arences 8 170 37 515
-Addl.m froem Dusiness -m-rtlmtm a b 58 163
Ceher addtions fad ] 65 Hf!l
Retv pmenizidapesals -5 -703 -0 10
Trarsfers a7 -1 -85 1
pFiER (.t rd LIH-T "1.52? .?..HT Ml.

Accumulated amantization

g ) | Lr | 2083 3,045 612
.Fcomgr! Cadiindy evchange o farenied 11 in ) 2.i.'l: 393
Akl oarey AmaiTEATon T 175 S06 678
Retremenis'daposals el =11 e L ]
AR 547 2500 1053 LR ]
Foreign cutiency exchange differences 7 137 171 £
AddEinee amortiatisn -] 208 458 755
Retremenisdspodaly -1CF =103 &1 =873
ANFARTE L] 2041 431 6,806

Carrying amount

LA k] 500 1081 APES

IMINROZE 513 £BE6 2 835 3835
212335
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Significant Intangible Assets
€ mlibor, unless othenmbis Sied - L'.an-pn.g#nm!ni mtﬂ

2 Faredl {in yess)

Ariba ~ Cusbomes relatiorships 140 174 ELE
Concul = Cuslomer nsationiRps Tk ik Bro 1R
Cakadas — Cusiimer reltoaihgs 11 il G 10
Qualtrics - Acquired techrciogies ' s 258 3
Cuaitrics - Customer relationships a7 583 10100 15
Eruarsys = Customer relstionships !I.d& 163 Lo 12
Signinss - Cuslorsr nelabiomPigs 13 184 1L
Tatal significant irmangibbe st FARS 2,788

(D.4) Property, Plant, and Equipment
&) Depreciation of Property, Plant and Equipment

Proparty, plant, and equipment are typically depreciated using the straight-Tine method, Judgment is
reguined in estimating the useful like of the assers. In this assessment we consices, among others, our
history with similar assats and current and future changes in technology.

Useful Lives of Property, Plant, and Equipment

Predominantly
Biicings 2510 50 yeais
Leased SEoets B leasehald inparvemens B 00 the taeim of the Lease Sonteac
information techrology equipment 210 & years
affice turritue £10 20 yoars
ArAnmonles 213 5 years
Property, Plant, and Equipment
. mher Propedy, {Hhay Propety,  Advonce Payments
€ mitsons Land and Buldings T '""’B'l:::x Plant, and Plant, and  and Conssnaction o Total
Equipment  Equipment Leased Progeess
|
ETa AT | 1.60% 1san 15 &l i 4477
LHIUROEZ 1,58% 1,758 1,406 a3 142 4934
Additlons
0FE lad 33 51 1 & 1067
Firrd £ o] 567 0 L 13 11

Thie acclitions (other than from buSiness comiNnations) relate prirnanly 10 the replacemant and
purchase of infarmation technology equipment and the constrection and leasng of buildings and data
cemers, For mode infarmaton about the impairment of leased budldings and data cénter equpment in
Russsa, see Nowe (ol For moe informabon about leases, see More [00.5)
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(D.5) Leases

& Accounting Policies, Judgments, and Estimates

Under IFRS 18, a contract is of contains a lease if the contract comeeys the right to contral the use of
an identified assat for a period of time in exchange lor consideration. As a lessae, SAP recognizes a
right-af-use assel represanting As right to wse the underying assel and a lease Lability rapresenting its
abfgation to make lease payments. The right-ol-wse assets are depreciated on 3 straight-line basis
and interest expense is recognized on the lease liabilites. The vast majority of our [eases consist of
facility and data cener leases, Payments for shon-lerm and lowvalue leases ane expensed aver the
lease term, Extension opbans are included in the lease term if their exercise is reasonably certain.

Leases in the Balance Sheet
o mullions 12312032 Prip i brikd |

Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use azsets = Lnd and buildings 1,758 1,800
Right-ofaise assets — olher peopedty, pLan, and eoupmant i a3 &0
Todal right-al-uie asets i.m 1tk
E Peopamy. plam, and equpmant 4,934 4977
'nim.-ol--.ue aEvets a8 Hoof -l!-Pmperu.puerdaqmnmm. EYl ar

Lease labsdlities

Currorn lease labilios 340 a?
k= Cument fnandal kit o808 4520
Cuutrend besse labdites o5 % of T Corrent Braecial linbilities T ]
Non-current lease lisbilitins ' 170 173
F Non-cumant Srancal linblites 5547 11,042
on-curent lease [abdites a5 % of T Non-cunent francial lablities ﬂ- 15

SAP is commited to luture minimum lease payments in the amount of E49 malion

(2021: €172 million) for facility keases that had not wet commenced as at December 31, 2022, For data
ceners, we have futune commitments 1o spend €5 milion (2021: €226 milkon) on sensces and

IFRS 16-related assets. Because this agreement does not 5I!E':'.|1:,' the mequired spdit, the enting amiowent
has been included in the purchase obligations reporied in Aore (D8]

Leases in the Income Statement

€ millions 2022 2021

Liage dxpenies within operating profit
Depeeciation of fght-ofuse ssets 419 398

Far mare information about right-of-use asset additions, see Awe (0.4, and for a maturity anatyss of
lease liabilities, see Aofe (F11 For mose infarmation about the cash fiow related to lease Gabilities,

3

seg the *Reconciliation of Liabilities Arising from Financing Activites® table within More (E.31
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(D.6) Equity Investments

& Accounting Policies, Judgments, and Estimates

Az we do not designate nanciad assets a5 “at fair vabue through profit or boss.” we generally classiby
financial assets into the foliowing categories: al amortized cost (AC). at fair valee through other
comprehensive mcome (FYOCT), and at falr value through profi or loss (FYTPL), depending on the
contractual cash flows of and our business model for holding the respective asset.

For equity securibes, as the cash Now characteristics are typically other than solefy principal and
interest we take an imvestmant-by-imesiment decision whather to classify as PVTPL or FYOCL

The valuation of equity securifies of private companias requires judgmant because it is ypically based
on significant unobservable inpuls, as no market prices are available and there s inkenent [ack of
licpuadity.

‘W take the most recent qualitative and quantitative information aspects into consideratan to
determine the fair value estimates of these equity securities.

Considerable judgment and assumptions are involved with regard 1o the selection of appropriate
comparable company data, the assessment of cash requirements of the business, the acceplance of
the technology or products in the addressable markets, the actual and forecasted performance, the
millestone achievements, the adequacy of pice points from financing rounds. the transaction of similar
securities of the same company, the rights and preferences of the underlying securities, the selection
of adequate equity allocation parameters, the possible exit scenanios and associated welghbings.
Because all of these assumptions could change significantly. and because valuation is inherently
uncertain, our estimated lair values may differ significantly from the values that would have been used
had rmarket peices for the imestments eusted and that will uiimalely be realized, and those
differences could be matenal

Gaenalasses of equily secunties 31 PVTPL include gainafosses from fir vatue luctuations, fism
disposats as well a5 dividends. while gainsfiosses an equity securities at FYOCE only include
dividends, all of which are shown in Financial income, net. Regular way purchases and sales ane

reconded &5 at the frade date,
Equity Investments
2022 021

€ millions

Current  Non-Current Tokal Cimrerd  Non-Cauirend Tolal
Equity securilies. ] 5.138 5138 o 5,700 5T
ITEEIMENS (R ass0CaLes a 151 151 ¢ 155 155
Equity Investmenis [ 5,289 5,288 ] 5554 5,954
E other financial assets 5 5626 BATD ET5E 8275 033
Equity imwnsbments as % of F Other o - 5 o o i

firdnii s

Investments in Associates

SAP has interests in a number of individually immatesial associates. We own more than 200 ol the
equity interests or have al least 209 of the voting rights. Based on these facts and the nature of the
relatanships, SAP has determined that it has significant influence,
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Thie Tollowang tablbe shows., in aggregate. the carmying amount and shane of profit of these associates,

€ miliony 2022 Forat
CRIMying amount of inbednst in assocates 151 155
Bhane of profn ae SSes o contmung operation =i ]

The vast majority of the carmsng amount of interest in associates relates 1o SAP Fioneer GmbH, which
results out of a divestiture in return for a minedity stake in 2021

The proportionate share of earnings of SAP Fuoneer is included in 5AP's Consolidated Financial
Staternants with a time [ag of one month

For a bist of the names of ather equity imvestments. see AMare (5 91

Financial Commitments in Venture Capital Funds

£ millions W03 g |

COmmEid imEsTmants @ venhues Capital funds 3 755

SAP invests and holds interests in unrelabed parties that manage imestments in venture capital. On
Decernber 31, 2022, total commitments to make such investments amouwnted o €957 million

[2021: €757 malion). of which €654 million had been drawn (2021: €502 millian). By imesting in such
venfure capital funds, we are exposed ba the risks inherent in the business areas in which the entities
aperate. Our maximum expasure 1o loss is the amount imsested plus cantractually committed future
capital contributions.,

Maturities
b T
£ milicnas -
Irreegtmerits im Venmure Capial Furds
Dwse 20323 303
Todtal 303

21633
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(D.7) Non-Current Assets by Region

The fable below shows non-curment assets excluding inancial instruments, defermed tax assels, post-
employment benefil assets, and reghits ansing under insurance conlracts

Non-Current Assets by Region

4 millions. a2 2021
.GErf"ﬂ'l'{ L :ﬁ.m
et of EMEA S.BS‘? La27
EMEA ].'I.m 11,232
Unied States 32414 33,141
e 4f Amaricss 510 &dl
Americad 13883 0,56¢
gl 33;1 ]
APJ I..':ﬂﬂ' 1,263
SAP Group 45928 43077

For a breakdown of our emgloyee headoount by region, see Aore (5 14 and for a breakdown of

revenue by region, see Note (A 14

(D.8) Purchase Obligations

€ muiliong 2022 2021
Comraciual obligatisn foe Boguisitson of peoperty, pLbm, and eguipment and 184 s
kangible aisels

Oﬂ'll'.ﬂul'ﬂ'-ﬁ!l! At AR /560
Purchase MIII:I“}M:- !ﬂﬂ I.TH.

The contractual oblgations for acquisition of praperty, plant, and equipment and intangible assets
relate primarily to the purchase of hardware, software, patents, office equipment, and vehicles. The
remaining obligations ralate mainly to cloud sendces, marketing, consulling, maintenance, license
agreements, and other third-party agreements, The mcrease i5 mainly due 1o new punchase
abligations related to cloud infrastrecture senvices. Historically, the majonity of such purchase
abigations havea been realized.

Maturities
1HIVR0E2
£ mullions o
Purchase Obligations
Duse 2023 1682
D 2024 o 2027 a8
D iherealfie 1512
Total 435
21733
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Section E - Capital Structure,
Financing, and Liquidity

This section describes how SAP manages its capital structure. Our capital management is based on a
high equity ratid, modest fimancial leverage, a wall-balanced maturity profibe, and deap debt capacity.

(E.1) Capital Structure Management

The primary cbiective of our captal structure managemant is b maintain a strong financial profile for
investor, credilon, and customer confidence. and to support the growih of our business, We seek to
maintan & capital strocture that will allow us to -::)ﬂir’!musl;,' COVET Our !ul'u;‘_!'!‘lg TEQuIremMents I|'II'I"'_.I.::._"‘|"
the capital markets on reasonable werms and, in 5o doing, ensure a high level of independence,
confidence, and financial fexbility,

SAP SE's Long-tenm credit rating = A by Moody's {positnve gutlook) and A by Standard & Poor's

[stable cutloak).
12Auee LAELB0EL
% af ol fBin
Cmillions  Total Equity £ milions Total Ecputy
ansd Liabilitses. nd Liakitities
E Eequity 47,849 =] 41533 58 3
T Current liabites 17,453 4 16136 ] ]
B Mownv-coier Gabitiies 11,858 15 13515 18 =12
i Lisbilities 8,311 ] FRUESY &2 -1
Thereal financial debt 11,764 1 13 18 10
Thereol ease Hakiities 2,140 3 2143 k| o
-!*'rmm-quin ard labilities 72,15 100 TLATE 100

AL matwrity, we repadd £900 milion in Eurobonds and USE445 million in private placements in 2022
The ratio of total nominal volume of linancial debt to wotal equity and labdites decreased 2 pp

21833
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(E.2) Total Equity
& Accounting for Interests in Subsidiaries

Changes in SAP'S interest in'a subsidiany that do not resull in a bss of control are accounted for as
equity ransactions. When SAP loses control over the subsidiary. it detecognizes the assets and
liabitties of the subsidiary, and any related non-controliing interests (MCih and other companents of
equity, Amy resulting gain of loss is recognized in profit or loss,

Issued Capital

SAP SE has issued no-pad value bearer shares with 3 caloulated nominal value of €1 per shane. All of
e shares swed are lully paid

Number of Shares

MG, iSued Capial Triviiury Shanes
v 25 340
Poschase ol ressury Shaies i) =14.1
TR R T2 13785 450
1231071 12205 T
Puzchass of reasury Shaes 1] =157
et nnod of Tredsary SPERES. Undsy Shand-Basid plnenieet 1] a3

1231022 12285 =61.4

In 2022, SAP completed two new share repurchase programs. The repurchased shares will prismanly
be used 1o senice futue share-based compensation awards, The programs with a total volurne af
£1,500 million were executed in the period between February 1. 2022, and Seplember 6, 2022. In
September and December 2022, we reissued 3.3 millon treasury shares o senvice share-based
payment awards under aur Move SAP Plan

Authorized Shares

The Articles of Incorporation authorize the Executive Board Lo increase the ssued capatal as follows:

By up to a tetal ameunt of €250 million Dy isswng new no-par value bearer shares dAgaIns
conributions in cash uni May 190 2025 (Authorized Capétal (). The issuance is subject to the
stauiony subscripion fights of existing shareholders.

By up to 3 total ameount of €250 million by issweng new ne-par value bearer shares against
contnbutions in cash o @ kKind until May 19, 2025 (Authodsed Capital 1), Subject i e consent ol
i Supenizory Board, the Executive Board 15 authonzed to extlude the shareholders' statulary
subscnghon mEhls in certain cases.

Contingent Shares

SAP 5E' share capital is subject 1o 3 contngent capital intrease, which may be effected only ta the
extant that the halders ar creditors of comertible bonds ar stock options issued ar guaranteed by
SAP 5E ar any of its directly o ndirectly cantrolled subssdiaries under certain share-based payments
exarcise their comersian of subscription nghts, and no other mathads for Senacing these rights ase
used. As at December 31, 2022, £100 millicn, representing 100 million shares, was still available for
issuance (2021: €100 million).

219733

315/396



SAP

EDINETOOOO
DO0O0OoDoOoOgOooOo(E24727)
oOoOooodn

SAP Integrated Report 2022

Tor Ouad Comibivetd Groug Corsolidited Financlal  Fustker informition an Addional
Stakehoiders Maragereri Roport Statements IFRS Sustanabiiy nlormation
Other Components of Equity
Cash Flow
£ millioms Dinr mmu HedgesiCos Total
of Hediging
UUz020 1776 E 1770

CHIET COMDIEMANSan SCom fod s hat will Be meolassifed

80 prafs of 63, nat of B =278 10 =2.782
1R =1.00& a =1.012
Otitver comprehanaive income for e that wil be seclassifed

f0 profit or loss, net of ks 2E4A =26 FEL]
1231703 1510 -2z 1.808
{itirey eoeniprahanaive comes hor e that wil be reclassilied

10 poofl or losd, net of tax 154 Za24
ik 1l i d 401% 16 4031

Treasury Shares

By resolution of SAP S5E's Annual General Meeting of Shareholders held on May 17, 2018, the
authorization granted by the Annual General Meating of Sharehalders on Jure 4, 2013, regarding the
acquisition of neasury shares was revoked 1o the extent it had not Deen exercesed at that time, and
feplaced by a new authonzation of the Executnee Board of 5AP 5E 1o acquire, on or bafaore

May 16, 2023, shares of SAP SE representing 3 pro rata amount of capital stock of up to €120 millson
in aggregate, provided that the shares purchased wnder the guthonzation, together with any other
shares in the Compamy préviously acquired and held by, ar attributable 1o, SAP SE do not account for
mare than 109 of SAP SE issued share capital. Although reasurny shanes ane legally considened
gutstanding, thare are no dividend or vating fights assodated with them. We may redeem or resell
shares held i reasury, or we may wse lreasury sharas for the purpose of sendcing apbion of
camersion nghts under the Company’s shase-based payment plans. Also, we may use shares held in
treasury as consideration in connechan with margers with, or acquesibons of, other campanias

Distribution Policy and Dividends

Our general intenticn is 9 remain in a position 1o retemn Bguidity o our shareholders by distributing
annual dividends tetaling 40% o more of cur profit after Bax and by patentially repurchasing treasury
shares in future

In 2022, we distributed £2 865 million (E£2 45 per shane, including a special dividend of €0.50 to
celetrate SAPYS 50th annivarsany) in dividends for 2021 compared 1o £2,182 million (€1 55 per share)
paid in 2021 for 2020 and €1,864 millicn (€1 58 per share) paid in 2020 for 2019

The iotal dividend available for distibaticn 1o SAP SE shareholders is based on the profits of SAP SE
a5 reported in its statutory Enancial statements prepaned under ihe accounting nales in the German
Commercial Code (Handelseeselzbuch) For the year ended Decembar 31, 2022, the Expcutie
Board intends to propase that a dividend of £2.05 per shade (that is, an estimated total dividend of
£2,393 million]), be paid from the prafits of SAP SE.

Non-Controlling Interests

In 2022, Qualtrics issued new shares 1o serve share-based payment awards under the Qualtrics
Omnibus plan, which further reduced 5AFs ownership in Qualtrics to 7196 (021 74%), In 2021,
afferings-related cash inflow amounted to €2.828 million and the coresponding vatug of non-
controfling imterasts in net assets was €1,158 million. In 2022, a loss of £366 million

[2021; €274 milion) was altributed to non-controlling interests.
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(E.3) Liquidity

&) Accounting for Non-Derivative Financial instruments
Classification and Measurement of Non-Derivative Financial Debt Investments

Dur non-derivative financial debt imvestments comprise cash ot banks and cash equivalents (highly
liggasdd irrvestrments with odginal maturities of three months or less. such as time deposits and money-
market funds), logns and other financial recelvables, and acquired debt securities,

As we do nol dessgnate inancial assets as "at [air vakes through profit of loss,” wir genedadty classity
fimancial assets as: at amortized cost (AC), at lair value thveugh otiver comprehensive income {FWCCI),
or at kair value theowgh profit or loss (FYTPL), depending on the contractual cash fiows of, and our
business model for, holding the respective asset. Financial assets having cash Now charactenstics
other than solely prancipal snd inbenest sech a3 money market and semdad funds ane genecally
classified as FYTPL. Generally, all cther financial assets- with cash fiows consisting solely of principal
and interest are classified as AC because we follow a conservative Investrent approach, safeguanding
our liguidity by enswering the safety of principal imestment amaounts,

Gains/losses on non-derivative linancial debt investments at PYTPL are reported in Financial income,
riet and show ntesest incomelfaxpenses separately fram cther gainstosses which include gains/osses
Trom Fair value fluctuations and dsposals. Gainsfosses on non-derivative financial debt imestments
at AC are reponted in Financial incorme, net and show interest incomefexpenses separately froem other
gainsosses which include gainsfosses an disposals and changes in expected and incumed credit
logses. Gains/losses fnom lareign cumency exchange rate fluctuations are incleded in Other non-
aperating intomefaxpense, net. Regular way purchases and sales are recorded as at the bade date.

Impairment of Non-Derivative Financial Debt Investments

Far these financial assets, we apply considerable judgment by employing the general impadrment
approach as follows:

- Far cash ot banks, tme deposits, and debl secunities such as acquined bonds and acquined
commercial papers, we apply the low credit sk exceplion, as It s our poliey to irvest only in high-
quality 855615 of issueers with a mivimum rating ol at least investment grade o mnimiee the risk of
credit losses. Thus, these assets are abways allocated 1o stage 1 of the three-stage credit loss
model. and we record a less allowance at an amount equal to 12-maonth expected credit losses.
This loss allowance is caloulated based on our exposure al the respective reparting date, the loss
given default lor this exposure, and the credit default swap spread as a measure for ihe probabity
of default. Even though we imvest oaly in assets of at least investmant-grade, wi atso closely
absernve the development of credit defaull swap spreads as a measure of market participants’
assessments of the crediwodhiness of & deblor to evaluate probable sigraficant increases in credit
risk: bo timety react to changes showld these mamnlest. Amang athers, we consider cash at banks,
time deposits, and debt secunties to be in default when the counterparty is unlikely 1o pay is
obligations in full. when there is information about 3 countenparty’s linancial difficulties or if there is
a drastic increase in a counterparty’s creda defaull swap spread for a prolonged time period while
the overall markat environment remains generally stable. Such financial assets are written off either
partially o in full i the Eelinood of recovery is considerad remaote. whach might be evidenced, for
example, by the bankmuptcy of a counterpanty of such financial assets,

- Loansand other financiai recesvables are monitored based on banower-specific intemat and
external information 1o determne whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition. We consider such assets 1o be in default i they are significantly beyand thesr due
date or if the boncwer is unlikely to pay its obbigation. & write-olf ooours when the liketihood of
recovery s considered remote, for example when bankruptcy proceedings have been linalized of
when all enforcement effarls have been ediausted.
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Mon-Derivative Financial Liabilities

Man-chernative linancial abilites snchude bank loans, ESued bands. prvate placements, and other
linancial lrabilities. Other financial iabedities atso include custarmer funding liabilities which ane funds
we draw from and make payments on behall of our customers lor customers employee expense
resmbursements, related credit cand payments, and vendor payments. We present these funds in cash
and cash equivalents and recond our obligation to make these expense reimbursements and
payments on behall of our customess a5 customer funding liabdites,

As we dio not dessgnate financial Rabilibes as FYTPL. we generally classty non-dedmvative financial
liabilties as AC.

Expenses and gains or losses on financial labdites at AC mainty consist of inlerest expense which is
shown in Financial income, net. Gains/losses from foreign currency exchange rate fluciuations are
included in Other non-operating incomelexpense, net.

Group Liquidity, Financial Debt, and Net Debt

Group liquidity consists of cash at banks, money marked and cther funds, as well as time deposits and
debt securities (both with remaining maturities of less than one year). Financial debt is defined as the
nominal volume of bank loans, issued commercial papers, private placemeants, and bonds, Met debt is
group licpaidity less Bnancial debt

Group Liquidity and Net Debt

£ millicns, 2 201 4
—
F Cask ard cash equialents | 9008 B.ATE 108
Carent ime deposits and debt secunities BBE 2537 ~145
Group Uguldiny G504 11530 =1.837
Caunrent financial debt 3,885 -3,755 730
on-current fnancial dect 1,778 3,338 1560
Financial debe 11,764 13,084 1,330
et diba (-] -2.070 1,563 -507

‘While we conlinuoushy manitar the ratios presented in the capdal structure table, we aclively manage
gur ligeadity and structure of cur financial indebtedness based on the ratios group liquidity and net

dabt

Cash and Cash Equivalents
fra ik 2021
Cuarment Maon-Curmert Tatal Currist] Ban-Cunient Total
Cash at e 37 L 3176 3140 o 3140
Tirne depests 2,002 ] 2032 1420 o 1,820
Khonay marker and oehr lueds 7855 ] 2855 £281 o 4781
Dt spuriias a7 o &7 =i [} B
Expacied ciodd loss sSowanos -3 o =3 ] [x] -3
T Cash and cash equivalents 9,008 ] 92,008 8,898 o 8,898
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Mon-Derivative Financial Debt Investments

2022 2021

i milioes -
Current  Hom-Curnent Tostal Cureeni MiorC ureesm Todal
Time de posiis sy a BST 2,605 o 2,505
D!btio'c-ﬂﬂ 3-3 =} iz 30 o 30
Fif.u.n\nda.-nuunmmmdm employee benafl plans tl m's' m . n 201 201
Loans ard ofher Snancal receables 104 13 o mn 107 185
Espectid ofodd loss Sloadnie -3 1] -3 0 -3
Man-derivative financial debt investments Tad Xk L &m do0g A010
T Canpd francial asses f-x] 5825 EATS 2,758 52 2,033
Pr-iarmeathe Fnbndinl dinl imeRmaents @ & ir a8 . 5

a8 % of [ Other Srancial assen

Time deposits with ariginal matunty of three months or less ae peesented as cash and cash
equivalents, and those with ariginal maturities of greater than three months (investments considerad
in group liquidity) are presentad as ather financial assets. Debt secusities consist of acquired
commercial papers and acquired bonds of mainly financial and non-financial corporations and
municipalities.

Far mone indormation about financial nsk and the nature of risk. see Nore (F1)

Financial Debt
el 0FL
= M\:\nmlh‘n\um C:rr.-.rgmmnl Nu.urriuul'u'\d:mw Cannying Amaunt
Man- Piican - Hor- Mo .
Carrert Curring ey Tartal Curmen Pk Currenm & Tersl
Bonds 1,606 7381 1600 [ B 1SS k] BLGES S0 BES] e
Peivite glaceman
i ir o 387 1] A 405 393 73 356 383 Te0
Commareisl paper o] o v ] L] ] 030 a o3 L] ki ]
Banic loars 1,455 o 1456 L] L4585 1433 a 1533 a 1,533
Financial debe 1,085 7.778 3983 5,960 10,943 3,756 9,338 3,760 9,245 13,005
T Funancial tabdiEes &B08 B547 14354 4528 11042 15570
Fnanclal deot os % of T
&3 73 e B3 B4 B
Fanpncisl iabadtes

Financial liabilities are unsecured, except for the retenticn of ttle and similar rights customarny in our
industry. Effective interest rates on ow financial debt (including the effects from interest rate swaps)
were 1.23% in 2022, 0.83% in 2021, and 0BT im 2020,

Far mane idormation about the sk assocated with our inancial labdities, see More (F11 For mone
infarmation about fair values, see Note (£.20,
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Bonds
F.irrd 2021
Effective Haeminsd Walume fin Carrying Camyirg
Maturity  |ssue Price  Coupon Rate Enbantat RNt respective currency Amount - Amount
ineillions]  {in € millians) (0 € miZons)
Erepbord 8 = 2014 rirr ] a4 THY b b 1.24% £1,000 1,000 QQ&.
Ecenbord § - 2014 W7 sozaew  LTS0% (5 LE £L.000 850 Bes.
Eceobond 17 - 3015 W05 coaee  1OCOW[N L1%% £B0O 538 507
Eisnbond IS - 2018 0 GRSTEW 1000 [fx) 1.06% 00 pree 459
Eurobord 16 - 2018 2000 PEGETW  LITEH (M) 1.50% £500 s 481
Eiroband 18 - 2018 fivrs] POESAW  OLES0N [Nx) 0.36% £200 o B0
Ecebord 19— 2018 2004 gazmm O J's;:rur'fzr fLF:1: 850 Ban Ba?
‘Eusaband 20 - 3018 08 AT 1750 (4 138 fL00 B3 Az
Eiznbord 21 — 2018 03 9838 15T (N 178% £1,250 Py 1,223
Erobond 32 - 2030 v R TRLW  OLODOSE [fx) 007 500 500 G0
Eraobord 23 = 2020 Farrac] S9200% 0L () 0.26% £H00 557 i
Curibord Td — 2024} it ST I?.iil‘ﬁ;iﬂf'-ab 0515 CRO0 li-l-'J- TEl
Eurabonds 78T 8,487
Llﬁﬂbund—mlﬂ s bl iy 4.505 R &, Ta% LFS5300 2‘BI 264
Bonds BA5S 9,751
All of gur Eurobands ane listed for trading on the Luxemboug Stock Exchange.
Private Placements
022 21

Neeninal Volume jin .
Maturity  Coupan Bate EMoctive s pctive Surrancy “'m’fﬂ"" ““""] Carmying Auiount

Interest Rate in milllins) (N o)

LS. privaie placomeris N .
Tranche 7 = 2012 2002 2.18% {fix) 137% nTrres o 296
Teanche 8 - 2012 2024 3.39% () 137% wsta23 08 300
Teanche @ — 2042 2007 35T Rk 1nr uss100 T 0
Priviabe ﬂlém ) - ) i -'.[E- 790

The LS. private placemant nates were issued by one of gur subsidiaries that has the LS. dollar a5 its
functional currency.

Commercial Paper Program

The net proceeds from our commercial paper (Commercial Paper, or CF) program are being used for
general corporate purposes, including dividends and shate repurchases. As at December 31, 2002, we
had €930 miflion of issued commercial papers outstanding with matuities generally fess than gix
ot and the cameng ameunt was €928 millien [Decembier 31, 2021 €931 millon), The wenghted
average interest rate of our CP was 1.96% as at December 31, 2022 {(December 31, 2021 -04856),

Loans

In March 2021, SAP drew two shor-term bank taans of €350 millicn and €300 milban with onginal
lenars of ome year that can be flexibly repaid until September 30, 37033, and currently bear interesy at
3,25% and 3.22%%, respectively,
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Reconciliation of Liabilities Arising from Financing Activities

The changes in our ingncial debts ae reconcied 19 the cash llows from borrowings included n the cash tlow frem financing

aclivities,

€ e YUP0Z2  Cash Flows mﬁ‘r’:‘:::: Di{'"ﬁ F;‘;‘;‘;‘: Caher 133022
Curcent financial debd 3,755 =1 (M L1} =5 o 1,604 3,986
Kon-cumment francial deiol 6,338 L] L] &0 (1] ] e
Finwncial debe [nominsl velume] 13,084 1,406 o £ @ e 11,764
Basis sdjustment =34 Ll 0 2 =Fai ] =F73
Trarsacton costs -55 a a 1] 1] 2 &7
Fenkncial dibs [2arfying hfiaunt) 13,005 ] a n -Tal & 10,943
Aeciued interest and paymert B banis B0 118 0 0 0 24 201
interest ratn swags az 0 0 -1 71 o 753
L' 2.143 ~47h L1} =5 1] a6 2140
Total Gahilities from financing acthvitics 14,250 -1 a m -9 58 14,009
¥ Other includes nevw bease labdtes

€ it MIRH CashRows  Beees fm F"c‘u’;’: Srher  1HIURIZL
Cumént financial debt 1482 540 1 1 0 1361 1,755
P cumert frarcial et 11501 1,252 2 78 0 ~1.791 5,338
Fanancial doba [nomind wolums] 13,353 =37 3 T 4 =} 13,094
Blass, adiustmert 126 o o 3 163 0 4
Trarsacton costs 56 0 0 o 0 1 55
-rﬁﬂl:ﬂ: ﬂ“[wf! FI'I":"FI"] I:H-H -2'-;: 3 a2 L& 11 13,005
Aconed intenes L5 [} [} o L] =1 (]
Intenest rate swaps =114 o o =1 57 [n] a3
Lossa! 2120 -a74 4 106 g ;®/7 2143
Total Esbilities froen fnancing scthities 15,411 —aad F 1 " 247 18,250
* Othes inclusdes new lease labities
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Section F - Management of
Financial Risk Factors

This section discusses fiinancial sk factors and risk management reganding foreign cumency exchange
rabe risk, intenast rabe risk, equity prica fsk, credit risk, and liquidity risk. Further, it containg information
about financial insements.

(F.1) Financial Risk Factors and Risk Management

& Accounting for Derivative Financial Instruments

‘Wi use derivatives 1o hadge foreign currency risk of imerest rate risk and designate them as cash flow
ar fair value hedges if they qualiy for hedge accounting under IFRS 9, which imaives judgment,

Derivatives Not Designated as Hedging Instruments

Marty transactioe s constibute econcmic hedges. and therefone contribute elfectively to the securing af
fmancial risks but do not qualily for hedge accounting under IFRS 9. To hedge currency risks inherent
i loraign-currency denamenated and recognized monelary assels and abilities, we do nol dessgnate
our held-or-trackng dermative inancial instruments as accounting hedges, because the profils and
lesses leam the underlying iransactions are recognized in profit oe 1oss in the same periods s the
profits or losses from the dermatives.

In addition, we occasionally have contracts that contain foreign curmrency embedded derivatives that
ane recuired 1o be accounted for separately.

Fair value fluctuations in the spot component of such derivatives at FVTPL are included in Other non-
operating incomefexpensa, net while the forward element is shown in Financial income, nel

Derivatives Designated as Hedging Instruments

a) Cash Flow Hedge

In general, we apply cash flow hedge accounting ta the foreign currency risk of highly probable
forecasied transactions. With regard 1o foreign currency risk. hedge accounting relates to the spot
price and the intrinsic values of the dervatives designated and qualifying as cash fiow hedges
Azcondingly, the effective porsan of these components detarmingd on a present value basis s
recorded in other compeehensive income. The forwand element and time value as well as foremgn
cumency basis spreads excluded from the hedging relationship are recorded as cost of hedging n a
separale posiicn in other comprehensive income. As the amaunts are not matesal, they are
presentied together wath the effective portion of the cash fiow hedges in our consolidated statements
of compeehensive income and conscbdated statemants ol changes in equaty. All other components
including counterparty credit risk adjustments of the derheative and the ineffective postion are
immediately recognized in Financial Income, net in pralit of ioss Amounts accumulated in cthar
compeehensive income are reclassified to profit o boss to Other non-operating incomelexpense, net
and Financial income, net in the same penod when the hedged item affects profit or loss.

b} Fair Value Hedge

‘W apply fair value hadge accounting for cerain of our hxed-rate financial Babilities and shaw the fair
value fucteations in Financal income, nel.

) Valuation and Testing of Effectiveness

At inception of a designated hedging relationship. we document our risk management strategy and
e econamec relationship between hedged ibem and hedging instrument. The existence of an
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ecanomic relationship is domenstrated ag well 33 the effecthvenaess of the bedgng relatianzhip lested
prospectively by applying the critical terms match for our foreign cumency hedges, Since Curmencies,
miaturities, and the amounts are ctosely algned for the forecasted ransactions and for the spot
element of the forwand exchange rate contract o imrinsic value of the curmency oplions, respactvely.
For interest rate swaps, effectiveness is tested prospectively using statisboal methods in the fonm of a
regression analysis, by which the validity and extent of the relationship between the change in value
of the hedged items &5 ihe independent variable and the fair valee change of the derivatives &5 the
dependent variable is determined. The main sources of ineffectiveness are:

= The effect of the counterparty and our cwn credit risk on the fair vatue of the fansand exchanga
contracts and inbenest rate swaps, which is not reflected in the respectve hedged itern, and

= [iferences in the tming of hedged item and hedged transaction in our cash flow hedges

Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 16, IFRS 4, and IFRS 7 - Interest Rate Benchmark
Reform

The IASE Esued amandments (o FRS 9, 1AS 39, IFRS 16, IFRS 4, and IFRS 7 on August 27, 20020,
completing Phase 2 of the nterest Rate Benchmark Reform (IBOR redorm) peoject. This was
REcEssary DRCAUSE mMaor interest rate benchmarks wene relonmed of sven replaced,

‘W ane exposed 1o interest rabe benchmadks due to our imeesting, inancing, and hedging activities,
The impact of the interest rate banchmank relom, however, s very limsled eiher because the intenest
rate benchmarks we ane mainly using will s1ay in place (that 15, Euriboe, USD Fed Funds Rate), the
instruments wall matune well before the respective benchmarnk rate is discontinwed, or because the
instruments hawve fixed interest rates.

‘We ane impacted by the IBOR reform with regand o

- Derivatives held in a hedging relationship: Wi have already replaced the old interest rate
benchmark with the naw risk-ree rate for our EUR interest rate swaps designated in hedging
reaticnships for which v transitionad from EOMIA 1o Ewo Shon-Tesm Rate (65TR) + B.5bps in the
first quaser of 2021, or

= Mon-derivative financial insifuments: \We have atready replaced the old interest rate benchmark for
our LSD bond of US$300 million during the caurse of 2022, for which we transiboned from the
three-manth LUSD LIBOR to a fixed rate in the last quaster of 2022, We are in the process of
reviewing our €2.5 billion syndicated credit facility agreement, which allows us to bormow in LLS.
dotlars with interest payments based on LIBOR, with the aim of amending the contract befare the
respective IBOR is no longer quoted.

We continue to monitor the [BOR reform progect, assess anmy impact, manage our ransiton o
alternative Denchmark rates; and provide respective disclosures. Apart from that, the IBCR reform had
ng impact on cur risk management sirategy

‘W are exposed o varnous financial risks, swch as market rsks (that is, foreign cunenty exchange rate
risk, intarest rate risk, and equity price nisk), credit risk, and Lguidity risk.

‘We manage market risks, credit risk, and liquidity risk on a Group-wide basis through our global
ireasury department, glohal sk management, and global credit management. Bisk management
poboies are established to identify risks, to set appropaate risk Umits, and to maonitor fisks. Risk
management policies and hedging strategies are laid out ingur internal gudelines (or examgple,
treasury guidebne and other intarnal guidelines), and are swbject to continuous intérnal review,
analysis, and update to reflect changes in market conditions and our business.

‘We only purchase dervativi financial instraments to reduce risks and not for speculation, which is
defined as entering into derfvative instruments without 3 corespanding underying tarsaction,
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Foreign Currency Exchange Rate Risk
Fareign Currency Exchange Rate Risk Factors

As we are active warldwade, our ordinary operatians are subject o risks associated with Ruciuations in
foreign currencies. Since the Group's entities mainly conduct their operating business in their own
functional currencies, our risk of exchange rate fluctuations from ongoing ordinary operations is not
considered significant. Howewer, SAP cocasionally generates fomign cumency-dencminated
receivables, payables, and other monetary items by ransacting in a currency other than the funclional
curmency. To mitigate the extant of the associated foreign currency exchange rate risk, the majority of
these ransactions are hedged as described below:,

In rare circumstances, Iransacting in a currency other than the functional curmency atso leads 1o
embedded foresgn currency derivatives being separated and measured at fair value through prafit or
loss

I addition, the intellectual propeny (IP) holders in the SAP Group ae exposed 1o rsks associated
with farecasted inercompany cash flows in foreign currencies, These cash llows arise out of royalty
paymerds fram subsidiaries 1o the respective 1P hobder, The rovallies are linked 1o the subsidiaries
external revenuwe, This arangament leads 1o a concentration of the foreign cunenty exchange rate sk
with the IP holders, as the rovalties are mostly denominated in the subsidianes’ local curencies, wishe
the functional cumency of the IP holders with the highest rovalty volume & the euro. The highest
foreign currency exchange rate exposure of this kind retates to the cutrencies of subsidiaties with
significant operations, lor example the U.S, dollar, the paund sterling. the Japanese yan, the Swiss
frars, and the Australan dollar

Generally, we a5e nol exposed to any significant foreign currency exchange rale risk with regard to our
irmeesting and financing activities, as such activites are nommally condwcted in the fundional currency
al the smasting or bafrowing entity.

Faoreign Currency Exchange Rate Risk Management

‘W continuously monitar our exposune 1o curmency fluctuation risks based on monetary items and
farecasted transactons and persue a Group-wide strategy to manage fareign currency exchange rate
risk, using derivative financial instruments, paimarity foreign exchange fosward contracts, as
appropriate, with the primary aim of reducing profit or loss volatiity. Most of the hedging instruments
ane not designated as being in a hedge accounbing relationship.

Currency Hedges Designated as Hedging Instruments {Cash Flow Hedges)

W enter inke dervative financial instruments, pamanly foreign exchange leowadd contiacts. 1o hedge
significant forecasted cash Rows (rayalties) fram foreign subsidiaries denaminated in feseign
cunencies with a hedge ratio of 1-1 and & hedge harizon of up o 12 monihs, which is also the
PAxIFU mglerity of the oreign exchange denvatives we use,

Far all years presanted, no previowsly highly probable transaction designated as a hedged item in a
fosaign currency cash flow hedge relationship ceased to be probable. Theralare, we did not
discantinee any of our cash flow hedge relationships. Also, ineffectiveness was either not matenal or
non-existent in all years reported. Generally, the cash flows of the hedged forecasted rransactions are
expeciad o cdour and to be recognized in profit or loss monthly within a time frame of 12 months
from the date of the statement of financial position
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Thi armounts a5 al Decemier 31, 2022, relating 1o items desigrated as hedged qems warne 35 follows:

Designated Hedged Items in Foreign Currency Exchange Rate Hedges

Fesecasing Lioense Paymants

o millioms ke
Change in value wsed for calculating hedge inetiectiveness iz
Cash Now hedge iz
Lont of hedging -a

L]

Balances remaining in cash fiow hedge resens for which hedge accounting
i 0o longer apglied

The amounts as at December 31, 2022, designated as hedging instruments werne as follows:

Designated Hedging Instruments in Foreign Currency Exchange Rate Hedges
Fodpcasiod License Payments

€ il R
Iomanal Smoun] 1371
LETying Smdunt
Cxher financal assets a3
Oeher financial Labditkes -
Change in valin recognized in OC! 7
.J'u-dﬁe netlpctiveness recognired in Fnance intome, et ﬂ'.
Cot of hedging recognized in OC| =]
Ao meciessilied .rr.n;m cash Row hadge n OC1 po Dt non-oparatng 2
indomae, nel
Ayrigeand reclasaified fram cost of Redging in OCI 1o Firance oo, fet =

On Decomber 31, 2022, we hdld the fallowing instrurmants b hedge expasures 1O changes in fanegn
CUTRnCy:

Details on Hedging Instruments in Foreign Currency Exchange Rate Hedges

Malurty

M
1=5 Moriths T=12 Maonths

Fonward excharge contracts

Mt exposune in £ milions 5.2‘2 ESI:I
A.'\-r;lrlm. EUR ﬁﬂﬂm a0E M.ﬁ l-'.'l..ﬁﬂ-
Ruerage ELRBY forveard rane 136,03 13833
Awerage EURCHF forsand e 100 Lik:r)
Aeorad ELIRALRD fonwadd it 153 158
Snerdge EURALISD forwaed rite 106 103
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Foreign Currency Exchange Rate Exposure
Qur isk exposure 15 based on the following assumplions:

The SAP Group's entities generally operatie in their functional currencies. In exceplional cases and
limited esenamic environments, operating transaclions ae denominated in currencies other than
the funcional curency, leading io a foreign curency exchange rate risk for the relaied monelary
instruments. Where material, this foreign currency exchange rate risk is hedged, Therefore,
fluctuations in foresgn currency exchange raes do not have 8 sgndicant impact on edher profit o
ather comprehensnag income with regard 1o eur non-temvalve monetary inancal instruments aad
relaled inconme of eXPEnSes.

Our free-sanding dervatnees designed for hedging foreign currency exchange rate mshs almost
completely balance the changes in the fasr values of the hedged item attributabde to exchange rate
moverments in the Consalidated ncame Staternends in the same period. As a consequence, the
hedged iterns and the hed@ing instruments ane nol exposed o ionign curency exchange rate
risks, and thereby have no effect cn prohit

Consequenthy, we are only exposed to significant fareign currency exchange rate Rucluations wilh
regard o the following:

Thie spat companent of derivatives heid within a designated cash flow hedge relationship affecting
ather comprehensive income

Fareign currency embedded dermvatives alectng cther Nom-Operating expense, Nt

Thus, our loraign Ccusrendy exposune (and our averagehighflow exposure) as al December 31 was as
fellomers:

Foreign Currency Exposure

o4 bliliorn, 2022 Fuiri
Yidr-end expotane 1owdsd al our major curencies ir 1.4
Ay Eage oo LG 13
Highest exposume L7 16
Lot e paoane 13 1.0

Foreign Currency Exchange Rate Sensitivity

We calculate our sensitivity on an upwandidownward shift of «/-10% of the foreign currency exchange
rate bebween the ewo and all major currencies (3021; +/-10% of the foreign curmency exchange rate
hetween the awo and all other major currencies; 20200 +/-10%6 of the foreign currency exchange rate
between the euwro and alt cther major currencies). If, on December 31, 2022, 2021, and 2020, the
foseign currency exchange rates had been highenfower as described above, this would have had the
following effects on cther non-aperating expense, net and oler comprehensive income:
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Foreign Currency Sensitivity

Efpcts on Other Nee-Opieating Experie, Net Efnces on Oeher Compitbarsive Income
€ =il
L 071 30 2022 paral 250
A E— A ———

Derivpeivies Pl wéthin & desigrated cash Nlow Padge relstionshin [ ]
Al maged cumeneChes — L0 (021 oL map cunencees - 105
IR0 B FUOE Cuniencats - 10%) 135 1] ]

Al majos cumencies +10%% (2021 L major currencies +105%; 115 T &3
0E0: 2l major cunrences +L105%)
Ervizichied darivathirs
Al Cumenohes = 106 3l 40 a0
A cmencies +10M : Y a0 o

Interest Rate Risk
Interest Rate Risk Factors

‘W are exposed to inberest rate risk as a result of our mvesting and knancing activibes mainly in euros
and LLS. dollars. sirce a lage pan of our imvestments ane based on variakbbe rates andfor shor
matunties (2022 64%:; 2021 67/%) and most of our fnancing bansactions ane based on fiked rates
and long maturites (2022 87%; 2021 B7H),

Interest Rate Risk Management

The aim of our inberest rate risk management is to reduce prodit or boss volatiline and optimize our
interest result by creating a balanced structure of fixed and vanable cash flows. We theredore manage
interest raté risks by adding intevest-rate-related derivative instruments 1o a given postfalio of
imestments and debt financing. The desiked fixed-Roating mix of our net debt is set by the Treasury
Committee

Derivatives Designated as Hedging Instruments (Fair Value Hedges)

Ter riateh the emterest rate fisk from ourl financing Fansaclions 1o o iINVesSiMments, we usSe recenar
inbesest rate swans 1o conver cetain fed-rate fingncial labilites 1o floating, and by this means
secure the Tair value of the swapped financing ransactions on a 1-1 ratio, Including interest rate
Swaps, SE (2021 S0%) of our total imerest-bearing Ainanczal fabilities outlstanding as at
December 31, 2022, had a fixed interest rate

Thie amaunts as st December 31, 2022, relating o items dasgrnated as hedged Rems were as follows:

Designated Hedged Items in Interest Rate Hedges

20pz
- i Fiaed-Rate Bﬁ'm Fiaed-Ratn Bﬂm
otions] amount 4550 oL
Caimying amoum a.732 5
A et 106 valae afusaments in Cther Seardil a7 Y
Lakiftad
Change i Bair walue uied for medsuning meflediveness T2 2
wimﬂmhrw.hjhmiquﬁmr{lsm o 11
hedged 2ems copsed 00 Be MiSed i hedging grnafosses
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The amounts as at December 31, 2022, designated &5 hedging instruments wie as follows:

Designated Hedging Instruments in Interest Rate Hedges

2022
— Itorest Rt Swaps for_ tarest Rt Swapsfor
EUR Borowing USD Borrowing
Merticens] Semionnn 4550 e
Canyng amount
Ceher Anancial assets [ [
Caher firancal labdivey -?-l“J -.3
Change m fair walue used for measuning, ineflectveness ] =3
As at December 31, 2022, we held the following instruments to hedge exposures to changes in
interast rates:
Details on Hedging Instruments in Interest Rate Hedges
2022
Masusity
€ =tions 2024 2027 ] 2029 2030 FOEL
ELRR Intenesi rabe sevaps
h.a.emf'-.ll AL !..l:m 1000 Wﬂ -'EW 1290
mwag.e vasiable interest ratn 25455 1373 271 3348w 35116

S0 inted oSt imie swmps
Momiral amoLunes 54

Avernge varable inlenes rato 515

heane af the fair valee adjustrment from the recerer Swvaps, the bass adjustment on the underlyng
hedged terms held in fair value hedge relatonships, and the difference between the two recagnized in
Financial incame, e 5 matenial m amy ol the yaars presanted,

Interest Rate Expaosure

Our iterest rate exposwne (and our average/highflow exposure) as at December 31 was as follows:

Interest Rate Risk Exposure

B2 2071
E edlbores
Yiear-End Anerage High Low YearEnd Avriage Hgh Lo
Falr value interest ate risk
Feom imastments 003 QUi 004 oLk ] 109 003 0.03 002
Coash Sews PArIest fals riak
Feom imestments finduding 5.10 553 771 48T .77 5375 7.72 467
cashi
Fram financing 145 171 176 145 1 a7 205 L7
Feoim imendst mbe Sanps 464 454 488 54 4.83 487 483 4.8
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Interest Rate Sensitivity

A sensitivity analysis is provided to shawr the impact of our intérest rate risk expasure on profit or loss
and edquity in accordance with IFRS 7, considering the following:

Changes in interest rates only affect the accounting for non-derivative fixed-rate financial
instrurments if they are recognized at fair value. Therefare, such interast rale changes do not
change the carrying amounts of our non-dermatie fieed-rate financial Eabilities, as we account for
lhem at amostized cost. Investments in fixed-rate financial assets classified as fair value theough
prafit or loss were nat material at each year end reported. Thus, we da not consider any fixed-rate
instruments in the equity-related sensitivity calculation

Income or expanses reccrded in connection with mon-denvative financial instrements with variable
interest rates are subject to interest rate risk if they are nat hedged items in an effective hedge
relationship, Thus, we fake into consideration interesd rate changes relaling to our variable-rate
fingncing and our investments in money markel instruments in the peolfit-relatad sensitivity
cabcutation,

Thie designation of inferest rate receiver Swaps in a fair value nedge relationship leads 10 interest
rate changes altecting Financial income, net, The fair value mavements related 1o the interest rate
swaps are not eeflected in the sensinaty calculation, as they ebset the Toed merect @18 payments
feor the bonds and private placements as hedged dems. However, changes in market interest rates
aftect the amawnt of imterest paymeants from the interest rate swap. As a consequence, we include
thase effects of warkel inlerest rates on interest payments in e pralit-related senstivity
calbculation,

Cue ta the different interest rate expectations for the US. dollar and the eurg area, we base our
sensitivily analyses on a yield curve upeard shiflt of +75/+125 basis points (bps) for the

U5, dollarfeurs area (2021 +75/+20bps for the US. dollarfeuno area; 2020 +50/+10bps for the
LS. dollarfeurs area), and a yield curve dowrnwvand shift of —257-10bps for the LS. dedlar/eurs area
{2021: --25/-20bgs for the ULS, dollarfeuro anea; 2020 50/ 20bps lor the LS. dollarfeurno area)

Ii, on December 31, 2032, 2021, and 2020, interest rates had been higher/lower than as described
above, this would nat have had a material effect on Financial income, net, for aur variable interest rate
imeestments and would hawve had the following effects on Financial income, net.

Interest Rate Sensitivity

Efects on Francisl inooee, Ket
€ mmillera ’
rz Lk} A0

Derhvatives Peld within 3 desigrated fak valos hedge relationship

|muﬂl-w|ﬂ f-?;h-ps I_n-nrl.ls. diodlar preal135kes for euro aroa (2021 « TRi Tt fod 58

W5, disllartenen area; 200 +500e 1000 For U5, dollaieur sma) E -*
Irderedt iales =25bps Tor LS. dollar areal-10bps for ewro anea (2001 ~28-30bos for 5 10 10
WS dollan'suro anea; A0 -5-200ps lor U5 doladeuro avea)

Ve e . + s il
[eapinar ailas + 7500 Tor UG dellar sreabe L25ee for euit aned (2001° « P56 300 fod G 3 I
LS, dollarisuao srea: Jod: «5fei0ons fod L5, dollsifeurs aima)
bt rales —25bps for WS, dollar areal-10bps for ewo area (P01 ~35.-70bps for 1 3 L

E.I_-&_ ﬂlnn'm J:rn'._ uerid -Sﬂl—m - l.I._5 do_s:u’wr_o lm'! !
Equity Price Risk
Equity Price Risk Factors

We ane exposed 1o equsly prce fisk with regard Lo our imestments in equity Securities
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Equity Price Risk Management

Our listed equity imeestments are momilcred based on the current market value that is affected by the
fuctuations in the volatile stock markets worldwide, Unlisted equity imvestments are monitored based
on detailed financial infcemation provided by the investees, The fair value of our listed eqreity
imestments depends on the equity prices, while the far value of the unlisted equty irvestments is
influenced by vamous unohsensable input factors

Equity Price Exposure

On December 31, 2022, our exposure from our investments in equily securities was £5,137 million
{2021; €5,799 million; 2020 £3,113 millign),

Egquity Price Sensitivity

Dur sensitnaty Wowards a fluctuation in equety prices is as follows:

Equity Price Sensitivity

€ milions 023 fierd | 2020

Wre TS i eguly SbSuritieg

IPEIEASE in Bpaly Proes and respectine
urobsenable inputs of 109 - increase of 03 g% fral: ]
financial sncoee, ret

Dcrmass in ety roes and respoctie
urabranate irguns of 109 - docioats of -5 515 -5
frandal indcme. el

Credit Risk
Credit Risk Factors

To reduce the credit risk in investments, wa arrange o receive rights to collateral for certain investing
activities in the full amount of the inestment volume, which we would be allowed to make use of anly
in te case ol default of the courterparty 10 the mastment. In the absence of other signifcant
agreemants 1o reduce aur cradit sk exposue, the total amounts recognized as cash and cash
equivalents, curent investments, loans, and ather inancial receivables, trade recevables, and
dernvative financial assets represent o maxmom axposure to credit risks, except for the agreements
mantoned akne.

Credit Risk Management
Cagh at Banks, Time Deposits, and Debt Securities

Tor mitigate the credit risk from our investing activities and derivative financial assets, we conduct all
aur activities only with approved major financial institutions and issuers that carny high external
ratings, as required by our internal reasury guideline, Among its stipulations, the guideline requires
that we invest only in assets from ssuers with a minimum rating of at least "BEE flat.” We anly imvest
in isuers with & lower rating in exceplional cases. Such investments were not matarial in 2022 and
2021. The weighted average rating of our inancial assets is A We pursue a policy of cautious
imwestments characterized by predominantly current imsestments, standard imvestment instruments, as
well as a wide portfolo diversification by doing business with a variety of counterparties.

To further reduce our credit risk, we require collateral for certain investmants in the full amount of the
investment volume, which we would be aliowed 1o make use of in the case of default of the
countenparty to the imestment, As such collateral, we only accept bonds with at least investrmeant-
grade rating level

In additian, the concentration of credit risk that exists when counterpartes ane imvobved i similar
acihilies by instrument, secios, or geographic area is fuher mitigated by diersiicaton of
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counterparties thaoughout the weeld and adharenci 10 an internal limet System lar each countenparty.
This internal limit system stipulates that the business volume wath individual counterpadiies is
restricted o a defined Lmit that depends on the lowest cificial long-term credit rating available by at
1east one of the mapor rating agences, the Tier 1 capial of the respective financial instilution, of
particapatan in the German Depasitors’ Guarantee Fund or Similar protection schemes. We
continuoushy monitor strict compliance with these countesparty Imits, As the prenium for credit
detault swaps mainly depends on market paricipants’ assessments af the crediworthiness of a
debiorn, we also clesely cbserve the development of credit defasdi swap spreads in the market to
avaluse probable risk develspments and react in a imely manners o changes should thase manitest

For cash at banks, ime deposas, and debt securifies such as acqured bonds ar commercial papers,
we apply the general impairment approach. As s our palicy b2 anly imvest in high-quality assets of
issers wilh a minimum rating of at least investment grade so a5 o minimize the risk of cedit losses,
we e the low credit risk exception. Thus, these assets ae always allocated 1o stage 1 of the three-
stage credit loss model and we record 3 loss allowance for an amount equal to 12-month expected
credht losses, This loss allowance is calculated based on our exposume a5 at the respective reporting
date, the [oss green default for this expasure, and the credit default swap spread as a measuns far the
probability of defauit To ensure that during their lifetime cwr imvestments atways fulfill the requirernen
of being investment-grade, we menies changes in credit risk by tracking published external credit
ralings. Among other things, we consider cash a1 banks, time deposits, and debl securities 1o b2 in
detault when the counterparty is unlikety to pay its obligations in full, when there is infarmation abouwt
a counmterparty’s financial difficulties, or in case of a drastie increase in the credit default swap spread
of @ eounterparty for 8 proleaged time penod while the ovesal] maket @avironment remaing rather
stable. Such hinancial as=sets are wiitten oft either partially ar in full if the likelihood of recovery is
cansidesd rermate, which might be evidenced, lor examgale, by the Bankruptey of a counerpany of
such financial assers,

Trade Receivables

The default risk af our rade receivables is managed separately, mamly based on assessing the
creditworthiness of customers through external ratings and on our past experience with the customers
concerned. Based on this assessment, individial credit limis are established for each customer and
deviations from such credi limits need to be approved by management,

Wi apphy the simplified impairment approach using a provision matrix for a9 rade recenables and
conbract assets 1o take into account any lifetime expected credil lossas already af initial recognition
For the purpose of the provision matrix, customans ane clustered into ditferent fsk classes, mairndy
based an market information such as the country nsk assessment of theer country of orgin, Loss rates
used to reflect [Hetme expecied credit losses ane determined using a roll-rate methed based on the
probability of 2 receivable progressang thaough different stages of being everdue and on our actual
credit loss experience over the past years. These loss rates are enhanced by lorward-looking
infarmation to reftect dilerences betwesn economic conditions during the penod over which the
histarical data has been coliected, current conditions, and the expected changes in ihe eoonomic
conditions over the expected life of the recenvables. Forward-iooking information is based on changes
in country sk ratings, or uctuations in credit default swaps of countries of the customers we do
business with, We comtinuously monitor outstanding receivables locally (o assess whether there is
obective evidence that cur trade recenables and contract assels are credit-impaired. Evidence that
trade receivables and contract assets are credit-impained include, among the trade receivables being
past due, infarmation abou significant financial difficulty of the customer or non-adherence o a
payment plan, Under exireme situations such as the curent war situation in Ukraine, related account
recenables and contract assels ane criically assessed 1o determing whether they are credit-mpained,
‘We consider receivables 1o be in defaull when the counterparty is unlikely to pay ils obligations in full,
Heowever, a delay of payments (foe example, mane than 90 days past due) in the normal coursa of
busaness alone does nod necessarnily indicate a customer default, We wite off accoumt balances either
partially e« in full 4 we judge that the likelihood of recovery is remote, which might be evidenced, lor
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example, wihen Dankiuptey proceedings far 3 customer afe finalized or when all enforcemant elfomns
have been exhausted

The impact of default on cwf trade receivables From indnidual customess is mitigated by our large
custamer base and its distibution across many different industies, company sizes, and countries
warldwide, For morne informaton about our trade recevables and the imgact of SAPS decision to wind
dowm actmvities e Bussia and Belarus on trade recenables, see Ao 4. 7]

Credit Risk Exposure
Cash, Time Deposits, and Debl Secwities

As at December 31, 2022, aur exposure to credit risk from cash, time deposits. and debt secuities
was as follows:

Credit Risk Exposure from Cash, Time Deposits, and Debt Securities

20E2
T T —— Equivalent o Welghted Average Loss  Gross Carrying Amourt  Gross Camying Amount Lo
Extermal “|F‘ Rate Mo Mmplh'\td I::rmﬂ-lmp.l}mcr
Rk class 1 - lowy sk A o BEE- =}, 0¥ 6,554 o =3
Risk elass 2 - Righ risk P now 1 o I
ﬁi"ﬂt‘tlﬂl! 3- Lﬂﬂﬂt 3 . KA —5.5* l‘ﬁ-. D —3.
Tetal - 0.1% 5,631 B &
2021
S TS chiurid ] Eqivalent o Weighted fuerage Loss Gioss Caming Amount  Gioes Caming Amount o
Extemal Ratang R2im ot Credt-impaged Credi-impabed
Risk class 1 - low risk AAA I BBB- ~0.0% 6,864 o -3
Rk cless 2 - Figh risk BE 1o D 007 b o o
Rizk clats 3 - brepted NA ErEey ® P 3

A5 a1 Degembaer 31, 2022, the major pan of cur other Ipans and ather financial receivables was
concentrated in Germany. Thede were nd 10ans, of other fnancdl recenaibles past due bud not
impaired and we had no indications of impairments of swch assets that were not past due and not
impaired as at that date

Tracke Recevvatdles and Contract Assets

As at December 31, 2022, our exposure to credit risk from trade receivables was as follows:

Credit Risk Exposure from Trade Receivables and Contract Assets

0EE
e Y o Welghted Rverage Loss Gross Camying Amount Gross Camying Amount bt
Renise Biot Credit-impaired Credit-impairod
AR ook ddue and dus ~1.0%% 3,345 10 T
AR crercduee 110 30 days =1.06% 1430 ] =15
AR croercke 3010 G0 days —2.3% SE2 ke ~15
AR reardue mane than 90 days -27.2% 4 238 -0
“ToTAL —am se7 0 261
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2z
Weighted Amurage Loas Geos Corng Ameunt.  Geosa Carying Ameur

Raie Mok Caedi-impased Condi: mpained ECL Alkpwarco
-05% 4108 8 18
=10 Gl 57 =7
Lo 514 &R —10
09T 483 220 =130
=L5% 5,713 361 =175

For 2022, the movement in the ECL alicwance for trade recenvables and contract assets i5 as follows:

Movement in ECL Allowance for Trade Receivables and Contract Assets

2022 2021
£ mitions ECL Atlowance ECL Aligwance
.Balarnen n; I.;'l. =175 : -1-35.
et r.mih mmmz\ed -m' -.uJ'
Armourty witten off 100 o
Exlaroe &S ot 1231 ~T61 =175

Far mane indormation about the mmpact of SAPS decisaan 1oowind down activities i Russia and
Belarus on trade receivables. sea Aote (4.7

Liquidity Risk
Liquidity Risk Factars

‘Wi are exposed to liguidity risk from our abligations towards suppliers, employees, and financial
insfitutians.

Ligquidity Risk Management

Owr liquidity is managed by our global reasury department with the primary aim of maintaning
liguadity at a level that is adequate 1o meet our financial obligations.

Generally, our pamary source of Bqudity is lunds generated from our business operations. Cur global
ireasury depariment manages liquidity centrally for all subsidiaries, Where pessible, we pool their
cash surplus so that we can use liquidity centrally for cuwr business operabions, for subsidiaries’ funding
requirements, of bo imvest any net serplus in the market, With this strategy, we seek o optimize yeelds,
while ensusing liquidity, by investing only with counterpaies and issuers of high credit quality, as
explained before, Hence, high levets of liguid assets and marketable secunties provide a strategic
reserve, helping keep SAP flexible, sound, and independent.

Agart from ethective workang capital and cash reanagement, we have reduced the bguidily rsk
inharent in managng our day-io-day operations and meeting our inancing respansibeities by
arcanging an adequate volume of available cradit Iacilithes wath vaniaus francal instlutions on wisch
we can draw f necessary.

I aecked ta retain high financial Aexbadity, in 2017, SAP SE entered into a £2.5 bilion syndicated cradit
facility agreement with a term wntil 2024, Tre use of the aciity is not restricted by amy financial
covanants. Bomowangs under the facility bear intenest of EURIBOR of LIBOR for the respective
cumency plus 3 mangin of 170ps. We are aiso required to pay a commitment fee of 595805 per
annum an e wused available coedit. W have not draven on the acility,
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I September 2009, we intiated a commarcisl paper (Commercial Paper, or CP) program. As at
Decernber 31, 2022, we had €930 million of CP outstanding with maturities generally less than six
months (2021: €930 million}

Additionally, as at December 31, 2022 and 2021, the Group had available Ines of credit tataling
E555 million and £346 million, respectively. There were immaterial borawings outstanding under
e lines of credit in all years presented

Liquidity Risk Exposure

Thia table balow is an analysis of the remasng contractesl maturities af all cwr financial labilties hald
a5 at December 31, 2022, Financial labsdities for which repayment can be requested by the contract
partnar at any time ane assgned 1o the eadiest possible period, Vanable interest payments weng
calcutated using the [atest ralevant interast rate fixed as 3t Decembser 31, 2022, As we generally settle
our derrvatree contracts gross, we show the pay and recene legs separately for all our cumency and
inberest rate dervatives, wiether o ned the fair value af the dervalive is negative. The cash outliows
for the currency dernatnes ane ransiated using the applicable spat rate,

Contractual Maturities of Non-Derivative Financial Liabilities

A — Cortractus Cash Flows
IHELUR022 a0x3 o a5 2036 a7 Themales
R SRR 2 e i iy ¢ =
Trade nayabies o 1,596 ~1436 o o o o o
Lease Gabiliies =2,180 - =317 w287 <228 =188 ~1071
Ceher financial lakiltes =11.365 b2 =188 =565 =1.165 =143 =4.636
T.ﬂilﬂ#:fmﬂ.i.rhlﬂ'ﬂ T‘Eﬂlﬂ.l:lll. mihlﬂn —15..@5’“ —'il..ﬁl.ﬁ -I.F;ll;ﬁ -LEz2 -1.33"-:! —I.iéﬁi.ﬂ -J-..N?.
e m Cortractual Cash Flows
L3103 LR 023 i 2025 b Theeaed
Mon-derivative Fnancial labilities
Trade payabies -1,08% - 1088 o o o 0 o
Lease Pabilties -2,143 -aeg -338 263 208 e a3
Cﬂ‘!ﬁ financial :iab'i-rl'rs =13,205 = =1,595 =120 =036 =1 165 -4 773
T‘:ﬂﬂﬁfmﬂﬂﬂ:h‘lﬁ\"l fimancial Babilitiee -l.ﬂ-.;t?. —6.62! -2.033 =491 -1,144 -5.34% -’.‘-.?l'l.?.
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Contractual Maturities of Derivative Financial Liabilities and Financial Assets

€ itk c::::—n& Coraricrual Cash Flows ?::::: Corenmciual Cash Flows
122022 o Theeafted 12EL02L rarrrd Thereafter
Oerivathee finarcial labdiities and assets
Devivathve Bnarscisd liabifios
Curngrcy divieatives. mol dirsipnated as hedging insirments -8 57
Cash ooafioes -3.185 -13 -2.381 =12
Cash inflows Z113 L1 32T o
Cuandricy deivatyvied deligrated & hed@ng irdtnaerts B ] -1
Cashouthows - i) -8
Cash Inflisvs m ===
Irserest alo dervatives dosignated as hedging instruments ~T53 a5
Cash catfiows =102 =1.201 el =& T
Cash inflows L= ] 364 =] 2l
Tatal af derivitive financial lsbilities -fad —'iJ- ~&&0 -4 -Té &7
Cumn:.ydun'ahm ;\otdts@'m:'d as hedging mstrements 30 4l
Cazh caffiras =1.713 -2.578
Cash inflows 1740 2528
Curency derfeatives desigrated o hediging irddnaments 1 1
l:.a'ih Cafires —IJJ:H -13%
Ea-ﬂ\ Inl'll:h:'f: I.E-ﬂi 137
rieest rale defvalives designated as hedging instruments ] ; T
Cash outfiows a [ A £
Cash infis 0 0 a &
Tatal af dorivati financial asseti 61 5 o E 51 F
Tmiﬂddf;lllm-ﬂﬂlndllmlhmlrﬂ ARRELE -?ﬂ‘? —I-'I. —ﬁﬂ -8z =1 ~E5
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(F.2) Fair Value Disclosures on Financial Instruments

@ Level Transfers

It s aur policy that transfers between the differant levels of the fair value hierarciy are deemed o
have cocurned 3t the beginning of the pericd of the event or change in circumstances that caused the
translern,

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

‘W use varicws types of financial instruments in the ordinary course of business, which are classified
as either amoetized cost (AC) or fair value throwgh peofit or foss (PYTPL). For those financial
instruments measured at fair valse or for which fair value must be disclosed, we have cateporized the
fimancial instruments info a theee-level fair value hierarchy depending on the inpuls used to determine
fair value and their signilicance for the waluation techniques.
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Fair Values of Financial Instruments and Classification Within the Fair Value Hierarchy

Cattgeny Laau0e
£ cslorn Hnw.r!ment Categories Fair "o‘:l'll.ﬂ'
mz m“cﬁ mwﬂ Levell  Rewel2  Level3  Totl
Asteds
Casls jrd caik scuivalems 9,008
Caszh o banks® AC 3178 3176
Torrad eposas’ AC 2076 2976
Mioney maroet and smdar funds FYTFL 2855 2,855 285 2,855
Traechy mnd by meCHvabies G405
Tiade recevaties' AC 5776 5776
Other secevabies’ = L29
Cehey inancial esets BATH
Caeiot sacurities Al a2 2 » 1
Equity securbes PTPL 5,138 5133 z58 1] 4 B850 5138
PP SRETES: i ARSOCiaies’ - ﬁl ] )
Time depodlis AC L Eha (2 BEL
Fenangial ml_r.:rncrrls. Telnted to erpliigee ! 203
e plae’ )
Loars and other finaencial recesalies AT 233 233 233 233
Derbaiive asseis .
D("I-iﬂ:l'lﬂ'l.l!d as hedgieg instiament
FX foreand contracks = k] 3 a3 i3
AR T ARDE - [1] o 1] o
Rt dedignated o Pedging wEtnamen
P forwand contiacts PTRL 30 a0 a0 0
Call optiors for shang-Dased payeents FYTRL ] o ] 0
Gl option on equity Shaes PTPL ] & 5 s
Labilities
Traschy Hﬂ.ﬂf‘f ﬂr“i!h‘-i —?.-T;‘?il
Taade payables AL -.1,41% --I,I‘S;E
Other pagables’ - ~730
Fm;'.cix unh“.r'vg.j. —I-l-.ﬁf.!;l
Hon-l!cr.'.;wlive-‘imrml Ui Hiees -
Loans L. -1:4-_1'15 TI_._"_SE- -1.l56_ -‘t.l_56
Bl AL ~908 2,083 8301 S =829
Piivate pacements ac 05 —a0s B 383 3
Ohiv non-dermeatse Fnancal Babdnes! AC -2 567 2562 437 -43F
Ereivaiingd
Designisied ax hedging instrumaent
FX feranind conlincts = =0 =5 = =
S —p———— - 3 753 753 753
Mot designaned u.hedning aElr M - .
FX foewatnd corfiacty FTPL -pg -8 B8 ]
Total financial imstruments, net 5,311 =F 154 7.212 =5, 156 =3,087 4,885 =3 357
241335
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Fair Values of Financial Instruments and Classification Within the Fair Value Hierarchy
Categoey 12MEUFEL
£ ot Measurement Categosies Fair Walwe
?ﬁ.’: Amontzed u:-: FllrvII:: Liyald. [Laewl2 b LA
Assets
Cask and cash egqusalens BE58

Cash 31 Ganks® A AT 31a8

Tima deporsks’ Al i,d-E:T 1,467

Kooy pearint aed simiar hinds FUTPL 4,381 ) 4 4 4,781

Tratle sod tlber seceiabies 6450
Tuade recehables! AC 5 B8 5888
I FRCHVEDGES! = B o
Ceher Fnancial assets 5003
Debt securiies AL 30 30 30 30
Equsty secudilies FVTPL 519 5.7 T72 155 4871 5T
mnm:.ir-l astotiales’ - ; 'I-ﬁb ;

Tomar CEDosAs AL 2,602 2,602 2502 2,502
Financi imsnaments related 10 employes B = ) '
Banelf plaps’

Loang and ether francal restvabies AT 185 185 185 185

Darelyainat As50s
Dasignmted 83 hadgeg Instrumant

P forsmnd Conbimcts - 1 1 1 i
Wrepest raie samps = T S E J'.
Nu!d-n.plncd o, Pedging estnumen o a )
£ lorsard enntracty ) PTPL a1 T a1 4
Call optors for shane-Dirted plymerts FTPL Q L] L] Q
Call nprion n exuity shares PP 10 10 10 10
Liabilities
Trache senel sliuar purpaelins 1,703
Trade payabies’ AL =1, 085 =1,085
Oiiher paryables' - 513
Fruneis, liabitas -15,571

Peon-derrative fnancal laieliies
Loans AT 1533 1533 1533 1533
s ac 10,882 10682 028 -om -t17e
Private pacements [ =790 =ro0 =gl =01
df.hﬂ nﬂc“u-dnl‘i‘n'\ll-vﬂ I'nnnnal Lableas® AL —?‘.m 3 —]‘.i.:;.l. —zA1 -281

s ; it
Designated as hedgng Instrument

Fx I'Dﬂ'hﬂrd Cortats =i =31 —\3.I —j!. =31
ISt fale mns = A% ] - ]
Hof designated as bedging nstrument
FX lorwnid contaacts FUTPL &7 5 - =2
Total financial IM.;'I..I!H-I'B.MI - 'J'.I.B : =3,194 D.ﬁ =5 164 =E5 4881 =578

Fie do rol sepacately dRche the fad valus (07 Ca5h 2nd Cash Squsalens, ade recehalies, iod JCo0uni DayaEle a6 T CHTying Amours e 2 Meaonable Spnoe Maton

ol s laer valuers.

inge the Bre iermy Trisde cecevabie, Trade payables, and OVt Rndnclal imsets conten Both lrancial sod nec-fnansal ssstss o LaEStes [wach a5 othr Lioes of advante
parymentsy, the carmysng amounts of ron-fnancal asuets or Gatsbes ane shown b oo .a neconcilation fo the cemesponding Une Rems in fe Consobdated Staements of

Prrstion

Fnancial L
" Rt e Gadities, inctudied in the o bem O non-divative Feansisl Sabilises, separise dacimroe of Tair value & not requived
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Fair Values of Financial Instruments by Instrument Classification

Category 1232022
€ =illiern
Camying MmOt s o o Vel
Financial asseis
At fair walue throogh proft or loss FWTFL | Ter] 8,008
At ararticed ol A L3Ry 12Ba7F
Finaneinl Lishilities
A1 R i throgh proft o loss FeTrRL kA L]
Al amoelizad oSy A =-15.002 =15.002

Fair Values of Financial Instruments by Instrument Classification

Calegory A1HIUI0ZL
€ el — A At
Fing Amonized Cost Fair Walug
Financial assets
Al P walue \hrough preft o lods PyTPL i 10,131
.N ﬂmmdw . A um 133133 —
e e T e i
A.Iru.w!ue;htmxg:h prodt or less FUTRL 57 52
Al amortired cost Aac =16.517 =16,517

Determination of Fair Values

A descnipbon of the valuation techrigues and the inputs wsed in the fair value measurement is green
bl

Financial Instruments Measured at Fair Value on a Recurring Basis

Imeneiationshan Beesaan

e Moty VeleNdinon Techaue  weuas | Sunicant Unobsenvabe npus
Al Fiir Valus Mpssungmant
Othe financial asiets
Waiay-rmarket and . .
 sirniae funds Linvel 1 Quoted prices in am oclive marer  MA K&
Dobt securtod Lol 1 Quoted prices in an active maroed  MA HA
Lved 1 Dobed prices iy a0 Active rnddoet A EY
) ) Guobed prites it a8 dclhe Fadost
Ledted eguty deducting a dacount for the
SO Ll 3 daposal restriciion darnved o (LS WA
the présium for B eSpective put
oo,
Level 3 . .
Thir estimated tair value would
e et e o)
Bproe) boprasch Corpanatie 07580 ??ﬂ:l e Thee rervivse Shulisles wene
Uniisted equiby COmpary valation usng revesnue R E msdﬁ“*’ higher {lower)
SECLUTteS myltighes derved from companies o R Lk o Tht: iNYRSIS0s” PVETLES Woe
COMEALATE 10 1P invisies i iz “! i (7.3 1o g lowin)
= m’“"’": ek - The liquitity disctunts wern
novwver (highee)

2437335
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Tor O
Stakeholders

Call ol on Sguity
hares Ll 3

Cther financial assets!’ Financial tabilties

F¥ loreard coniracis  Lewel 2

Inferest rabe swaps  Lmwed

Marcet apprasch. Viemune cagital
el evalaang A vanety af
quantidative and gualitative faciors
such as actual and forecasted
residls, cash positon, secent od
PLEn ITRREIG, M marks
eneparitle ampaned

Last financing round valuations

e RS0 Wil MRt Vi
4 reportiad by the respective
tfunds

Basioel appropch. Verure Capial
o evELIng & variely of
qubmilativd and qualitative acon
such a5 actusi and forscashed
iesidls, cash posiion, secent od
Pl IFarRseions, Aed marke
COmparaie Companies

Dzl Cath N Ling pad
eethod. Expected futune cash
Hiovws based on forsand eschange
TS aro discoumed ol the
TESEECTivE femairisg Lerm of the
contiacts using the sespective
digasd interesl rates and spol
LELLd

Descoueted cash fow, Expacind
fiune cash Sows Are estimated
based on foreard inferest rabes
i cbserabie yeld cures and
EOMERCE irRpR sl raleg, ancated
BBl R OlECHE the Erid ik
o the counterparty.

Financial Instruments Not Measured at Fair Value

Fimpngisl Babdtaes

Type

Falr \ialue Heraechy

Fopd-tme bonds [rancial LaDdities) Lol L

Fooad-rale privale placerwrily’ loans

{fnancial Bebd )

340/396

- Wil ghting? ol Financings
rounds
= DrsCoLn s for Lok of
Aty

- Weighting of aquity
alincation method such as
opftican paicing model and
TGN S0k Squivalent
e

Volatiky assumptions
= Estienatid 1 b0 00T
- IPmsinerm axit waiue

Mature and peicing
indication of Labest fnancing
eouind

Mt st value calculations
of the respective funds
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- Mature and selecton of o

financieg § . The estimabed fair valise would

increase {decrease] if;
Dwfferen financing rounds ane

ainctid

- Weghting of Srancing rourds

changes

Warighting of ehe appiied eauty

Alecation melheds chinges
Wolatilty assumplions veere

Tighat {lowan)

- ERtbmated e 1o #x

AhCreases. (decreises)

- The Imminent axl value

ncreases (decreases)

Tha astimaned L valus would
meredte (decrease)

Price of ldest Srarcing sound
sl InCERaE ((RCrnasT)
- The cvarall company valuss
el B Figher {lower)
- The respeciine aratyred shane
class would be atlected by thes
£hde Sk B0 RS A Aind
prefevenoes
The estimated fai value would
anErease deciease) i
Feponed ned e value of
respective fund would be higher
ot}

HA

HA

A

Determinaton of Fair ValueMaluation Technique

Quscted prices i an active market

Drsconamod cish fows

Future cash outfiows for Sxed imeresd and peincipal ae
discoumed cver the e of the respective Contmos ULng
b markit intdeesl ratis 35 at the repaiting s,
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For ather non-gdefathae financial asseta/liabaties and variable rate financial debl. it i assumed that
thesr carning value reasonably approximates their lair values

Transfers Between Levels 1 and 2

Transers of equity securities from Level 2 1o Level 1, which otcurned because disposal restrictions
lapsed and deducting a discount for such resiction was no longer necessany, ware £93 million in
2022 (2021 €1.030 million). while transhess from Level § o Lewel 2 did not ocour 21 all

Lewvel 3 Fair Value Disclosures

Thee fellowing table shows the reconcibation of fair values from the epening ta the clasing balances for
our unlisted equity securities and call options on equity shares classified as Level 3 fair values:

Reconciliation of Level 3 Fair Values

€ mitions iz Fatra§
Vi &,881 2508
Traralen

[ 0] J.edH 3 1]} a

Oul o Level 3 o as5
Purchases 822 LO76
Salid -43 552
G oisas

Il in finandcial o, ret =TiE |

wcluded in e::h.rstnl'ftr«emmuh.ﬂ P — 7 156
12m a8 4881
Change in uniealized gainsdosses in profit or lods for equéty imvesbmonts beld at the end 788 1780

of the reporting peviod

Transfers cut of Level 3 are due toinitial publss oferings of the respective imvestees or distributions n
kirved iy thia e of Bsted irvestees, Changing 1he unabsesable inputs 1o reflect reasonably possibae
alternatve assumptons would not have a materal irmpact an the far values of owr unlisted egquity
securities held as PYTPL as at the reporting date

245733
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Section G - Other Disclosures

This section provides addiicnal disclosunes on mscellaneces wopics, mcluding information peraineng
i ihe Executive Board, the Supenisony Board, related party iransactions, and otiver corponate
BOvVEINANCE tOpICs.

(G.1) Prepaid Expenses and Other Tax Assets

022 2071
£ Lk,
Cusnret Maon-Currem Totad Cunent For-Curent Todtal
Prepaid oapenses BIB 512 1,340 = 242 830
Cuhed Tax afdets 244 L] =3 219 53 212
Tatal 1072 561 1633 BT 5 Aiak
T e poe-financial assets 2.13% 580 5718 1633 2,628 42561
Prepgaid expenses ancd other
assens as % of T Ciher nan- 50 18 Fl 48 11 26
finaniial Sisets
Pregaid expenses pamarnty consist of prepayrnents for ypersealens, suppart senvices, and solbwane
rayalties. Other tax assets primarnly consist of value-added tax (VAT)
(G.2) Other Tax Liabilities
2023 2021
- : : : . :
Curren Nen-Current Tatal Curment hee-Currenl Tenal
Ciber tax abllites BEZ ] [+ E5 o [
B caher non-financial Vabikies 4818 L] 5573 5J03 R} 5063
Othe tax Babilties as % of B Ceher i o 13 - i i

nin-francial Eabdites

Other tax labdibes primarily consist of VAT, payroll tax, sales tax, and withholding tax

24633
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(G.2) Other Litigation, Claims, and Legal Contingencies

This Note discloses information about intellectusl property-related Bigation and claims, tax-related
lizgation other than ncome tax-related igation (see Aore (250, and anti-bribery mabiers

&) Uncertainty In Context of Legal Matters

Thie pobicies cutlined in Move (4 4) lor customer-related provisions, which inclede provisions bor
custamer-related Bligation cases and claims. equally apply 1o our othay [igaton, claims, and legal
conbrgencies disclosed in this Nate,

The outeamie of litgation and claims is intrinsically subject to considerable uncertainty. Management's
view of these matters may also change in the future. Actual outcames of litgation and claims may
ditfer from the assessments made by management in prior periods, whach could result in a marerial
impact on car business, financial positon, profit, cash fiows, or reputation, hast of the lawsuits and
claanes ae of a very indnadual nature and claims ane gither not quantified by the claimants or the
claa amewits quantfied are, based on histoncal evidence, ol axpectad 1o be & gaod prasy lor the
expenditure that would be requined to resolve the case concermed, The specifics of the jurisdictions
where most of the claims are located further impair the predictabiliey of the outcome of the cases.
Tharefone, i & lypically not practicable 1o reliably estimate the financial effect that these lawsuits and
claims would have if SAP were o incur expenditure for these cases.

Further, the expected timing of any resulting outflows of econamic benefits from these lawsuits and
claims is bypically uncertain and not estimable, as it depends generally on the duration of the legal
proceedings and settliement negotiations required 1o resolve tham,

Wi e subject 108 vanety of claims and Bwsuits that anse from Bme 1o tme in the cadinary course of
our business, including proceedings and claims that relate te companies wi hiane acguired. W will
continue b vigeousty defend against all claims and lawsuits against us. The provisions recorded for
these claims and lawsuits 55 8t December 31, 2022, are neither indviadually nor in the aggregate
matenial o 5P

Amang the claims and lawsuits disclosed in this Mote are the fallowing classes:

Intellectual Property-Related Litigation and Claims

Intellectual property-related [igation and claims are cases in which third parties have threatened or
inikated tigation claiming that SAP viclates one or more intelleciual property rights that they possess.
Such imellectual property rights may include patents, copyrights, and ather similar rfghts,

Contingent liabdities exist from intellectual property-related liGgation and claims far which no provision
has been recognized. Generally, it is not practicable to estimate the financial impact of these
contingent labilites due 1o the uncerainties arcund the [Wigation and claims, as outlined above. The
total amounts claimed by plaintifis in those intellectual property-related lawssts o claims in wiich a
claim has been quantified were not material 1o us as at December 31, 2022 and 2021. Based on ow
past expenience, most of the intellectual property-related litigation and claims tensd 1o be either
dismissed in court or settled out of court for amounts significantty below the oniginally claimed
amounts. We currently believe that resohving the intellectual property-related claims and lawsuils
pemding as at December 31, 2022, will neither indhidually noe in the aggregate have a material
adverse effect an our business, financial position, profit, ar cash flows:

Indnichus! cases of intellectual property-related ligaton and caims nclude the tollowing

I June 2018, Teradata Comporation, Teradata US, Ine, and Teradats Operabons, (a2, (eollectvaly
“Teradata’) filed a civil lwsuil against SAP SE, SAF america, Inc,, and SAF Labs, LLC in LS. lederal
eourt i Cablormea. Teradata alleged that 5AP masapprapriated trade secrets of Teradata, infringed
Teradata's copyrights {this clam was subsequently withdrawn by Teradata). and wviolated LS. antitrust
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laws, Teradata soughtl unspecied manetasy damages and injunctive reliel. tn 2019, SAP asserted
patent indringement cownterclaims against Teradata seeking monetary damages and injunctive relief
In 2020, Teradata mnitiated a second civil Lawsuit against SAP asserting patent infringement, seaking
monetary damages and imgunctive reled; in February 2021, SAP filed patent inlringement
counterclaims against Teradata in this second LS. lawsat a5 well 35 a chvil lawsait against Teradata in
Germany assaing patent infiingement, seeking monetary damages and imunciive reliel, Currenthy, &l
Chisms Detween the parties have been dismissed, Teradata has appealed the dsmissal of 5 rade
secrel and antitrust claims: this appeal is expected 1o be completed by late 2023

Tax-Related Litigation

We ane subject to ongoing audits by domestic and foreign tax authonties. in respect of non-income
taxes, we ane irvahed in vanous proceedings with only 3 few foreign tax authorities regarding
assessments and litigathan matters an intercompany royalty payments and inkercompany senvices, The
iotal potential amewnt in dispute related to these mattess for all applcable years is approsmately
€344 mullion (2021: £155 mElion). We have nat reconded a provision for hese matters, a5 we belidae
1hat we will prevail

Far maore irformation about our income tax-related Btigation, see Nowe (C51

Anti-Bribery Matters

SAP has received communications and whistieblower information alleging canduct that may violate
anti-tribery laws in the United States {including the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act (FCPA)), and
ather countries, The Office of Ethics and Compliance (DEC) of SAP is conducting imvestigabions with
the assistance of an external law firm and voluntarily advised the LS, Securities and Exchange
Commission (LS. SEC) and the U.5, Depanment of Justice (LS. D), as well as local autharities
where potential wolations are being investigated. The imeestigations and dialogue between SAP and
the local authorities and the U5, SEC and U5, [OJ ane ongaing and neither the cutcome of the
imvestigations nor the date wihen substantiated findings will be available is predictable at this paint in
lama,

The alleged conduct may result in monetary penalties or other sanctions under the FOPA andfor other
ant-bribery laws. In additron, SAP'S ability to conduct busaness in cenmain jurisdictions could be
negatively impacted. The comprehensive and exhaustive investigations and the coresponding
remediation activities are still ongoing. In Scuih Arica, SAP is seeking resolution of pending civil
claims nelating to ongoing imvestigations. Although there could be an unfavoratle QLICOME in one o
more of the ongoing inmestigations, it is imposséble a1 this point in time 1o make an informed judgment
about any possible financial impact.

AS 3 consequence, as af December 31, 2022, no provisions have Deen ecognzed for potentsal anti-
b1ty law vialations in our consolidated fnancal Statements. IS curfently alsa nal prachicalble 1o
estimate the financial efect of any contingent liabilites that may result fram these potential violations.
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(G.4) Board of Directors
Executive Board

hMemberships on supenisory boards and other comparable governang bodies of enterprises. other
than subsidiaries of SAP, on December 31, 2022

Christian Klein
Chiel Executive Officer

Coaparate Development and Strategy. Security and Secrecy, Complance, Sustainability and Business
Metwarks

Supendsory Board, adidas AG, Herzogenaurach, Gemmany

Sabine Bendiek
Chiel Peaple & Operating Officer, Labor Relatsans Diector

HR Strategy, Business Transiormation, Leadership Development, Talent Development
Supervisory Board, Schaelfier AG, Herzogenaurach, Germany

Luka Mucic
Chiel Financial Cifices

Global Finance and Administration including irvestor Relations, intemal Audit, Data Pratection &
Privacy, Working Capital Management Solutions

Supervisory Board, HeidelbergCement AG, Heidetberg, Germany
Juergen Mueller
Chiel Technology Officer

Techmolegy & Inmovation

Technobogy and Innovation Strategy, SAP Busimess Technology Piattorm including Data Managernent,
Anatytics and Planning, Imegration, and Appécaticn Development Capabdities

Supenasary Board, DFK] GmbH, Kaiserstautern, Germany (until February 15, 2002)
Scott Russell

Cuslonmer SUCCess

Global Field Ceganization including Sales, Services, Partner Ecosystern, and Customer Engagement

249733
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Thomas Saueressig

SAP Product Engineering

Global Responsiility for all SAP Business Software Applicabons, Cloud Operations and Suppart,
Cross-Development Functions, SAP Enterprise Adopticn Qeganization

Board of Directors. Nokia Corporation, Espod, Finland (lrom Apal 5. 2022)
Julia White

Chiet Marketng and Solutions Officer

Global Marketing, Corpadate Communications, Governmant Aiairs

Supernvisory Board

hemberships on supenvisory boards and other comparable govesning bodies of enerprises, other
than subsidiaries of SAP, on December 3E, 2002

Prof. Dr. h.c. mult. Hasso Plattnes™ %%

Chairperson

L'ars Lamﬁl 4.8

Deputy Chalrperson

Head of Global Sponsorships

Supervisory Board, Bhem-Neckar Logwen GmbH. Kronau, Germany
Manuela Asche-Holstein® ™ ®

Industry Advisor Expert

Membar of the SAP Gearmamy SE & Co. KG Works Coundil

Aicha Evans®* "

Chief Executive Officer and kMember of the Board of Dwrectors, Zoox, Inc., Foster City, CA, United
States

Board of Directors, Joby Aviation LLC, Santa Cruz, CA, Linited States
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Prof. Dr. Gesche Joosth 7

Prafessar for Dasign Research and Head of the Design Research Lab, Berlin Unneersty of the Arts,
Eerdin, G:l}!marr:,-'

Supenisory Board, Onobock SE & Co. KGaa, Duderstadt, Germany
Supervisory Board, ING-DiBla AG, Frankiurt, Germany

Margret Klein-Magar® =24
Vice President, Head of SAP Alumni Relabans

Chairperson of the Spokespersons” Committes of Senior Managens of 3P S5E

Menika Kovachka-Dimitrova® -+ 7
Chiel Qperations Expert
heember of the SAP SE Warks Council (Eurdpe)

Pater Lengler™* 78
Value Advisor Expen

Member of the SAP Germany SE & Co. KIG Works Council and Member of the SAP SE Works
Council (Europe)} (until Movember 21, 2022y

Jennifer Xin-Zhe LI (from May 18, 2022)**
General Partner of Changeheng Investrnent Partners, Baijing, China

Board of Directors, Flex Lid., Singapore and San José, CA, United States (until August 25, 2027)
Board of Directors. ABE Lid,, 2urich, Switzerland
Board af Directors, Kane Gy, Espoo, Finland

Board of Directors, Full Truck Alliance Co. Lid, Manjing, Bangsue, China, and Cayman lslands

Dr, O Lut 7o
CED, MiraclePlus Lid., Beijing, China

Board of Directors, Pinduodud tnc, Shanghal, China
Chairperson of the Bcard of Directors, Pine Field Holding Limited, Cayman Islands

Chairperson of the Board of Direcloss. Pine Field Holding Limited, Hong Kong. China

Chairperson of the Board of Directors. Pine Field Lid,, Beljing. China
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Gerhard Oswald®**

Managing Director of Oswald Corulting GmbH, Walldort, Germany

Advisory Board, TSG 1859 Hoflenheim Fullball-Spielbetriebs GmbH, Sinsheim, Germany
Christing Regitz)- 245

Vice President, User Expetience

vice President, Head of Women in Techif)Sap

Supervisory Board, Schioss Dagstull — Leibraz Center for Informatics, Wademn, Germany (from
hiay 20, 2022)

Supendisory Board, HY Capial Manager GemioH, Munich, Germary (from May 1, 2022}

Dr, Fricderike Rotsch™ %7
Group General Counsel and Head of Group Legal & Compliance, Merck KGaA, Darmstade, Germarny

Heike Steck %7
Senior Operations Manager

Member of the SAP SE Works Council and Member of the SAP SE Works Council (Europe)

Helmut Stengele

Oin Early Retirement

Dr. Rouven Westphal® %8

Member of the Executhe Board of the Hasso Platines Foundation, Potsdam, Germany, and Managing
Direchor of the General Pastner of HPC Garmany GmbH & Co. KG, Potsdam, Germarty

Advisory Board, Sharks Sports & Entertainment LLC, San José, CA, United States

Dr. Gunnar Wiedenfels® % *

Chiel Financial Officer, Warner Bros, Discovery, Inc., New York, WY, United States

Board of Dirsctors, OWH LLC, Weat Holbywood, CA, United States
Board of Directors, Speechagain, Inc.. Mew York, NY, Urited States

James Wright** 5%
Chairperson of the SAP 5E Warks Council (Eurape) (unil Navermber 21, 2022)
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Kemiber af the SAP SE Works Coundl (Europe) (from MNovember 22, 2022)
Supervisory Board Members Who Left During 2022
Bernard Liautawd (unt May 18, 2022)

! Appoariied By P 5AF SE Works Council [Euope)

¥ Warmiber of the Comgany's Pemonne] and Goverante Comsinne
'Mnmﬂwcmtmmc”mecwm

* Waemieer of the Companmy's Techaslogy and Stralegy Commities

¥ Wteminer of the Compamy's Finanoe and lsweemen Comsnes

# Member of the Compamy's Momenaton Commises

" Weember of the Company's People and Culure Commimes

* Wizmiber of the Comaamny’s Go-To-Warke and Operations Comminss

(G.5) Executive and Supervisory Board Compensation

@ Accounting Policy

The share-based payrment amounts disclosed Delow in the tabbe “Executive Board Compensation” ane
based an the grant date fair value of the shane unils in the respective yaar. In 2022, 2021 and 2020,
share units wene issued 1o the Executive Board members under the LTI 2020, For more information
abead the lerms and details of this plan, see Node (.30

In the table “Sharé-Based Payment for Executive Board Members” the share-based payment expensa
15 thee amount recorded in profit or loss under IFRS 2 (Share-Based Payment} in the respecive periad.

The total compensation of the Executive Board members far each of the years 2022, 2021, and 2020
was &5 follows;

Executive Board Compensation

o o el HEZ froikd | A0
Bhaarl-bevm ariphoeeo benalis 12 558 sms Lo
‘Bhare-based payment LTS 5,085 2305
Subtatsl 3382 50,110 28,180
Post-serplioymert benefts 1423 e e
Themeod detaed:benefit =1,433 &561 &£8T
Torminstion Benets 8,800 N ™
Total a1,453 50,574 28,677

Share-Based Payment for Executive Board Members

i d 2021 2030
Mumber of 4hare unis gracked 205,005 23p A28 200650

Tertal ewpeEnse in € 1hossands 5,965 6,355 11,173

Thie defimed benedil abligation (DBEO) lor panssons to Executive Board members and the annual
pansaan entitement of the members of the Executive Baard an reaching age 62 based on
enbilements from performance-based and salary-linked plans ware a3 tollews
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Retirement Pension Plan for Executive Board Members

€ thowisands 2022 2021 2020
DBO 1231 1,462 3,435 3,570
Arrusl persion entemen 114 1o i

The total annual compensation of the Supenviscry Board members is a5 loliows:

Supervisory Board Compensation

Fra—— 2022 2021 2020
Total compeniabion 5205 3858 3,755
Themof fed compensaton .3.1.55 176 3140
Thare! commitias cemundration ' 2058 880 506

The Supervisory Boand members do nod receive any share-based paymert for their senices. As far as
miembers who ane emploves representatings on the Supenisary Board receive share-based payment,
SUCh CoMPensatcon s bor thelr sersces 3 employess only and is whmelated 1 thei S1atus a5
mermbers of the Supenasary Board,

Payments tof/DBO for Former Executive Board Members

o B 0T 201 etk
Paymants 2217 2159 3,010
DAD 12731 327 42,013 k]

SAP did not grant any compensation advance or credit to, or enter into any comemitment for the
bemafit of, ary member of the Executive Board or Supervisory Board in 2022, 2021, or 2020,

Detailed imdormation about the diferent elements of the compensation & disclosed in the
Compensation Report, which i available on SAP's \Web site,

(G.6) Related Party Transactions Other Than Board
Compensation

Cemain Supendsory Board memibers of SAP SE currently hold, or beld wethin the last year, positions of
significant responsibebity with ather antibes. We hawve relabonships with certain of these entities in the
ardinary course ol business, winereby we buy and sell products, assets. and senices at phces
beleved 1o be consstent with those negotated at arm's length Detween winélated panses,

Companies controlled by Hasso Plattnar, Chairpersan of the Supenvisory Board of SAP 5E and Chief
Softeare Advisor of SAP, engaged in the follewing transactions with SAP: providing consulling Services
1o SAP, receiving sport spansaring from 58P, and making purchases of SAP products and senvices

Cccasionally, members of the Executive Board of SAP SE abtain services from SAP for which they pay
a consideration consistent with those negotiated at arm's length between unrelated parties

Al amounts retated 1o the abovementioned fransactions were immaterial to SAP in ali penods
presanted
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Related Party Transactions

Esecutive Board Members Sup ”H.HHB m: Supervisory Board Assoclated Entitics
Merlers
i miliond 2022 ke | 2022 a0 2032 asrs | 2022 1
————— ———— ———— ——— -
Products and
s (o N, 0 0 1 2 1 &
Proc gnd [T HE 2 by ) & 93 37
s recehed
Sponsodng and other
f ) e BiA K Pk KA & a BA HA
Dutstarding balances o year end
[T M o o o o 18 15
(Wenders)
Crtstar@ng balaness o yeo end oy ik 5 & 5 i . i
[Crlomers)
Commitments :
it year end A A o a 51 & [T KA

'Im.ﬁqmmrﬂp&wwrﬁ@mmw Suprviiony Boasd in uﬁ%hwﬁm.
" Thie Lot ol s ComeeIments i i e

Al of these balances are unsecured and interest-free and settlement i expected to odour in cash.

For informaticn about the compensation of our Executive Board and Supervisory Board members, sae

More (G 5]

(G.7) Principal Accountant Fees and Services

AL the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders held on May 18, 2022, our sharehodders elected
KPRG AG WirtschaRsprifungsgeselisehalt (KPMG) as 5APs independant auditor for 2022 KPMG has
been the Compamy's principal auditor since the fiscal year 2002. Bodo Rackwitz has signed as audibor
resporsible for audit of the financial reporting and the group repartirg of 5AP 5E since the fiscal year
20LB. KPMG and ather firms in the global KPMG netacek changed the following hees to 5AP foe audit
and other professional services related to 2022 and the previows years:

s 2021 2020

€ itions KPMGAG  Fomign oy KPMGAG Foegn g KPMGAG  Fowign —
[Cermany) KPMG Firms Germany]  KPMG Firs [Germany) KNG Frms

Bkt fees [ 10 14 3 8 ] 3 ) 12

Audit-related fees 3 T 10 Fd 5 T a 'l 2
Tax fees a o o o o o a o

1 e Tags a o o o 0 o o o o

T 24 19 3 10 14

Testal 17

Audit fees are the aggregate fees charged by KPMG for auditing our consolidated financial statements
and the statutory financial statements of SAF SE and its subsidiaries. Audit-related fees are fees
charged by KPMG lor assurance and related services that are reasonably related to the performance
of the audit and for service organization attestation procedures.

255733

351/396



EDINETOOOO
DO0O0OoDoOoOgOooOo(E24727)

oOoOooodn

T O Cowritirsd Growup Comsolidated Financlal Funber infornition an  Ad@ional
Stakehoiders Maragereri Roport Statements FRS Sustanabily information

(G.8) Events After the Reporting Period

Increased Focus on Strategic Growth Areas and Accelerated Cloud
Transformation

In 2023, SAP will conduct a targeted restruciuring program in selacted areas of the Company. The
purpose is bo further focus on strategic growh areas by aligning ouwr operating models and go-to-
miarket apperoach with dur accelerated cloud transformation. Furthermare, SAP intends to stengthen
its core business and impeove overall process efficiency, The program is expected to affect
approximately 2.5% of SAPS employess. The vast majosty of the €250 mdlion to £300 million in
restructuring casts assaciated with the program s expected ta be recognized in the hirsk quarter of
2023, impacting IFRS operating profit

SAP to Explore a Sale of Its Stake in Qualtrics

In line witin SAP's strategic initative to streamline its portiolio, SAP has decided to explore a sale of its
stake in Qualtrics, In the event of a successful transaction, SAP intends to remain a go-to-market and
technology panner, sendcing its joint custormers and coantributing to its grash and categiany
leadership. SAP is currently evaluating the acoounting treatment and a patential recognition as
dizcontinueed operation according to IFRS 5. A final decision on any ransaction, its conditions, and
tEming is subject to market conditions, agreement on acceptable tesms, regulalony approvals, and the
approval of the SAP SE Supenisary Boasd

Organizational Changes

At the beginning of 2023, AP modified its organizational stnectune 1o further deive simplification and
integration. The organizational changes might also affect S4P's segment repoding,

(G.9) Scope of Consolidation; Subsidiaries and Other Equity
Investments

Entities Consolidated in the Financial Statements
Tedal
12302030
And o
Diaposaty
1o
Mg o
Disposals
130

IHIEILIRIEE

Thie additions relate o kgl entities added in connection with acquisitions and loundations. The
disposals are mainly due to mergers, and liguidations. of legal entities.
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Subsidiaries®
Major Subsidiaries
Mame and Locat:on of Compary 0":;: Taem 1‘"‘;;“;, :_:1:;::::: L“&mig Ernp{x:‘bﬂi m

for FOER 12317022

W £ thousands E thousands £ theoessands
&b Techsloges inda Private Lieited, Bengaluna, india b T T TY T anner 1308
Afiba, e, Palo Alta, CA. Uiked State 100 1457 0L SE3 570 6.187.3M% LdT
Concur 'I'ech.rsulng'-H. Inc., Bellevue, Wi, Urded States 100 2 0E5ohd 329,150 8,702,450 3358
CraitiFics, LLE, Wilmingion, DE, Unded Simes 100 LISME  -LIF.I60 B.276.577 3930
SAP (Chingh Co. L., Sharghal, Ching 100 1,315 556 78,308 =118, 740 GRS Q8
EAF'JE-CN!’I:PAE Bird, Enﬂ:mnm‘k 10D 1370434 121,350 280, TER Foa]
=8P mh‘rl.nnm mmm umunmxdm 00 Laz6sss 1 566 174,850 L
BAP Ararica, Inc., Newtoven Squies, PA, Uniled Siates 100 767957 9123 2052085 927
ElF.ﬁ.rFI'lﬂ A, Buenos A, Hpmml 100 211596 20,369 54,0885 1,115 1=
EAFAH F'|n |,.1:l Eﬂalpom 5-ri.apﬁeu IDlE!‘ .Eﬁﬂ.ﬂﬂ. 15 21? Ié.'-"-'ﬁ Lo I;Ei
TEAP Australis Pry LI, Sydey. Auatratia ) #4197 Ba877 118,683 L7 o
SAP Brasi| Lida., 580 Pavio, Brazl 200 L=t 10,379 BT.004 L rd 1]
SAR Canada inc, Tum.-f_m.d.n i) L l-la.'i.,'.l'?? El.B?I: ?ﬂ:l_'JEd. .";.ICE
SAP Deutschland 58 & Co. K, Walldo!, Gevmaiy 100 5213028 a2 001 1728 800 FE- L
z:pn&ﬁ;sxa:nu Apliessianis y Prdusios & 1 inlonrares, i o i =R i
SAP France 5.4, Levallod-Penet, Fisnte 100 1,008,975 71850 1,082 374 L6
e
ACttolsSgusAdbn el K. Buspet Mgy o uaze amo  zmm
SEP indis Private LHbed.B!r!galu{u. India 100 TR TR 10, &85 &30 58% 2Zm
SAF Indu-m'irs Inu: mm Sq\.m: Pa, Uinited Siates {1in] SER AT 122,341 1,316,745 e
ﬁ;;:ﬁ::mwmmmmm Cara P‘th‘ﬁ{ri e ) B3 E5h 30, T8O 187,510 far
SAP Japan Ca .l.lrh. 'I-'nlq'\u. Japant 100 1186733 103,851 &0V s 1424
Wuhﬁmm Seﬂa Eul,garii 100 'ilTﬁ‘IH:I 4:15‘2 LTS3 1249
SAP Lag India Piivie Linsted, Begtir, Inda 100 ‘w2z 413 205,529 10,406
SAP Labs, LLC, Palo &llo, C&, United Stales 10 Lty | B5OM ?b:E.N!- 1ET1
SAP Méxioo SA. de CW., hk:m:vnﬂ!‘r' [ o] i x] S17.805 =7,337 118388 100
A et Sy S e S PA U o sgs  msan | ssss -
S&P Nederand B, ‘s-Herogenbosch, the Betherands 100 748355 384 254 a7 a3 13
SAF Sepdce ard Supp-orl Certe ||r|!..|r|d§ Lmad’ Dubdin, Ird.and L FT3401 43.55'.‘. BB 00 1,705
SAP Sanvices 510, Peagun, Cech Republic b 100,727 1,764 17,033 1380
St iFacton, Ine., Newtown Squise, PA. Usited Slabes i3] BT ETS 422 508 5,418,645 T
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Other Subsidiaries*

Hurnrind Lmt-:\n-:\"l:nmpurr:.l Owneishp % Fosinobe
~sap H.uakhsran’ I,.LF' Nm.urr, Kazakhstan mb

11{!‘-05- [ N:mm S, PA.. hM'ﬂd Sw.ts :I.ﬂ.t}.

Abakus Uarare Limed Labiity Dnﬂmmp.myu. Ukraine 104

..ﬂ.rl-bmFmpmms Frqu.mry L-FHld._JBtunﬁuhurg, South Affica L0 18
-ﬁuu I::ue-'l Sd.».:w u-:.x Cl\h'-‘.-llr -M Llﬁled 5|mz- 10
ApeGyrer inc, Indlarapalis. B, Unfed SEaies 104y
AppGyaen Oy, Expon, Fintand 100

s Croch .00, Paague, Crech Repulblic 10y

At india Privae Limiled, Gunagram, indis T0dk

Ariba ingemational Hnmng,; nc., H'Hrrbngim DE. Uribed Stases 100

.-ﬂ-riu IR BHicRal wpmm [1- M En‘pm BEngagny .]:ﬂl}

Ariba intemational, nc., Wimingtan, DE., United Stales 100

Ariba Shovak Rl:pubhl: s.n0u, Modioe, Slovakia 106

'mwm-- T-mmmﬁmnqw-}:n uu. mm r.'r-uru 100

.-i.nb.r Mhmﬂ Ketheriands 8.V, 8- Fhmrnmch.ﬂw»ﬂhﬂlanﬂ!. 100 13
w.nr_.mml.Lc muri,l\.l.l r.hnm States o 58
Baiza Capital 5.4 hunembeue, Lumtsrbour Y
[Buaitess Objects Holding BV, ‘- Herogenbosch, the Methedands 10 13
Bunirs Dogects Opton, LLC, Wilmingion, DE, Unied States 100
MMS-EMEI Sofesnne Lismited [Trading &4 SAP Salutions), Dubdin, ireland 10y

Caiidus Softwan inc., San Ramon, Ch, Uviled States 108
ummm Pty 1.1u Epwu-_. Austita 100
CIMM un:iu:llﬂmm Lamiled, Hrﬂmmﬁ Il'ﬁa -:I-ﬂl}

Chiistie Poetrevs Holding .Y, % Hl:ﬁomnhjhehcﬂ-rﬂnnm 106
Claabridge Netherlands B.V., Arsterdam, the Nethedands 100

.L#wﬁue UI'C L, l.mﬂnn 'I-J-nﬂ-ﬂ ﬂmﬂhﬁ 100

.{:l.nnnr-m In., thm Wi, unhad SRsles :i.lill}
C;&ui'l‘nplﬁ:. ma..rrh'm:., Enmu. Mauritius L0
mﬂ‘h-ﬁlm ﬂe«ne 'I'm chn‘amw 5:-‘
ﬂ-}GﬂDﬂﬂ'ﬂlmeuSdﬂ RUL. dr. CL, Mesdco Clty. Mexico 1040

Concud (Carada), inc., Toress, Cannda 100

Concud (Crech) ro. Prague, Crech Fepubic 100y

Conoe (France] 585 Levalbos-Pemet, Fraroe 108

Concur (Germany) GmioH, Frankfurt am Main, Genmany o 14,11
Qmm I,.Il!ﬁl&ﬂ:l.“.‘{‘l , Tokya, Jagan o7

Conoa [Mevw Zesand) Lh'-'i.cd '-'i'ﬁlrmm Hew Zealand 100 15
Concu [Frm.pp-nunrc Ma.-:.luumy F'-M:pp-m.'s- 100

.Qﬂ-\w I_M.rtﬂnmﬂﬁ-rr'ﬂi.mh Suﬂillﬂ.-ll':d 10'} I.5-

.Conr.u Holdings (France] 54,5, Levallos- F:rrm Frace ll)l}

Conou Humrlg: l;mherlard:bﬂ W, mm,g«m-;h the Netherands 104 13
Onna- Tmnmosu‘mm‘ﬂ]i'w Li ml.-d hﬂwr. -'-'-usnrua 100

Lt menﬁfﬁ{mﬁwﬂlm:ﬂ mm China 108y

Concu Technologies (Inda) Private Limited, Bergalury, india 108
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Hame and Location of Company Ownership % Footnobe

Conou T:d‘.nn!ngﬂ{&r‘i;apﬁa;bﬁe. Lid., Sngapoae, Singapoes 1IJI.'l 1B

Coneis Tachnologies (UK) Limted, Feitham, Urited Kingdom 100

ConTgo Contuling Liméed, Fetham, Usiled Kingdom 106 s

ConTge Lsmdted, Feicham, Unted Kingdoen 104y 13

Cnyiral Deciion (L) Limited, Feltham, United Kingdom 104 12

Defighted, LLC. Wimington, DE, Unied Stales 104

D EIMW Rmmlﬁfﬂw .1ﬂ|} £

Ciraiys Ilihv‘i lrrhi'luld Befng, Ching 104

Ernars;.: t'M.lrk:I-ng Sjrsbtﬂﬁ GmibH, Vienna, Ausira 104

Emar:.'r: ::mpm Sisteriar Tic, uu s, J'illrsbd.. t...m-r 1M}

Emarkys Intersiive %ewxn GMH an Garmany 100

Emaryys Limiled. Mong Kong. China 10dk

Emar:.".: Morih Amrica, Inc., Incinmumls IH Urdied Siaies 1060

[n'mwr-sﬂlt L, S-W S-nmm'e Lo

Emariys Pty Ltd, Sydnay, Australia 10

Emarsys 545, Levaliok Pemed, France 100

Emariys Sohweir GmipH, Zudch, Switniand 100

trnnrsr:un un memnngﬁn 1

ﬂmvs Technoiogies ief 5 SaugAltats Kt Bucioest, Hurgary 100

Engagor KLYV, Ghed, Bﬁu«- 100

Ensn,pur Inc, wqmnggnn.ue,umnd States 1040

:5.5 I:um Prourament Pengrietecy :....mm Jnh.uruuﬂ:.ug, South ANica 1M}

(:'Imﬂed Sﬂmw S Ramn, L‘-ﬁ..l.mldsufﬁ .ilil}

Firandial Fusion. inc., San Raman, €A Uniied States 104k

Fiyin Trnnlnnd:'l'm.ﬁ:m Privabe Limeed, Hyderabad, bndia 1040

Fimehlakets Uda . 58 Poto, Baal 100

Higemunic, inc., Sen Francacs, Ca, United Stabes 100

Inylowis (UL5.) Cowperation, Witmington, DE, Uiited States 100

Irylonis G, Mumich, Genmany 100 LU

INMAAS 4.1 L, Rore, Mily 1 &

-n.ugm Fn‘.hr.n‘ Eyim"s Em...p. Inc. wr.mrq;bm IDE, Urited States 1040

P Assel Hohiﬂzﬁ |.I.1'.!. F‘ri:-w ur, H'i.l.ﬂ ﬂla'ts 1.15l|}

LeadFoumis, ine, ‘Sm‘ﬁ'm,tt Uprvted Slabn 104y

LLC Emu-s;.u Moscow, Russla 104

LLC “5aAp l.m Mus.mw I!uwn Lo

LLE “BAP Uraie, Ky, Utkrine i 18

Loyalsys GmbH, Wenna, Austria 106

Lervalsys Techeolagins Smal Lid, Tel Sy, e 106

Warket Mt Iberia L, Barceinna, Span 100

Market Matria Singapors Fe. Lid., Singapone, Sngapon 100

inke Matde, A Claribrdge Company. LLC, Wilmingion, DE. United Stabes 100

New Debden Meger Sub 1| LLE, Wilmingion, DE. United States 1

mmp.rbaux Tokya, Japan 100

Qvl:m:-n. mc San mm-n C-k. I.Inlﬂ Sls'u 1.15l:‘v
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Nm-ndl.oubwn‘tmnpury Ownership % Footnobe
DutlookSah Duuhd*landﬁmbl-{. Wallde, Geermany We 1,1
Plat e Lak 5.1, Genoa, Italy we
IPT S8 indonstia, Jakats, indonetin Wy
QAL Techrologies Py L1d, Sydney. Aushmia 10y
QCL Techoologed Moldings. LLC, Wlmingeon, DL, Ueipsd Siabes hii 1] ]
GEL Techngloges ULE, Torarda, Canada 100
Q0L Technaiagies furu-i Luinich, Gezmany 100
= Tmmagnuﬂt Paes, Fanoe 100
QL Technologies mw,Mn Ioeared 100
.QFLTWQ roa., K-.:mwmu 100
.OGI'. Techralogies. ﬂ'll! le Sn.upo-e Sinu;am ilill}
m.)d‘m.d.-‘lu Pity. Led., Johannesborg, South Africa 10dk
‘Gusacioon Senzil Lida., Ric de taneiro, Bazd 100
Quddreen Chis Lids. Santibgo dé Chls, CHla 100
headrem intermational Lid . Mamihon, Bermuda 100
Quadrem Netherlands BV, ‘s-Hmiogeninosch, the Netherands 100 13
Cuaidneen Draiseds Cooperaiaf LLA., ‘S-HenogerDosch, the Netherisnds 100y
Mﬂﬂ Pi:fu S-JLE Lm Peru 10k
WIIMCMF 5-’-5 m D-C mmm .1|-'l} 5
Qu-ullnﬁ-dthmm 5 RL. !umﬁﬁu A perding 10dr ]
Gualirics Heldings 1, LLC, Wilminglon, DE, Unted States 100 5
.Quallnl:tlrﬂ.ninp.-' LLE, Wimingin, CE, umm — 100 5
.Ou-&llnc!- il g e .w!mmurr. \‘.I'..l.lﬂhd suae-s .ilil} .
-uu.ﬂlnum-gh:urgLumud mngrcm,g,mr.: 104k
Gualirics incia Private Limbed, Mumba, nda 100
Chaltries Iednaliona] ing. .'-'.I'-'.i'-'-'rwu. B, Leited Samies " 1%
Chealtrics fretard Limited, Dubdin, Instand 104
Qualirics Iapan LLC, Tokyo, Japan 100
Cualirics Kones, LLC, Seoul. South Kones 100y
Dualiics Mewicn, 5. DE AL DE CW., Méxco City, Mixoa 106y
Qualirics Middio Eas F2-LLC, Dubal, Uniied Arab Emiates 104 5
.Owllﬁﬁ‘ i H~'~'.~ L 1h¢ H!'Hﬂm‘-dﬁ 1.151"
Guallndhwnﬂo.u.c. Wimrmu.uniﬂdﬂﬂn 104y
Quallrics Sweden AB, Siockhoim, Sweden 100
Qu.ﬂlﬁn:t ‘-'mu'lﬂrl.uhd.ﬁ.ﬁ Z.u'i,r.h ﬂwﬂndﬂnd 1odk
Caslirics Technologies Brasd Lids,. Sla Paudo, Brasi 1
‘Qualtrics Technologhes Spain, S.LU., Madrid, Spain 1060
QUL Technsdoges Limdad, Loedon, Linded Kingdom 100
SAP (Beging) ScMware System Co., L., e China 100
‘SAF {China) Holding Co., Lid, Beging, China 100
AP Anding y cil Chribe CA., CRBCES, Viener weln 104y 18
S&P aF LLC, Baky, Antvbajan 108
SAF Belgaam - Sysbems, Apmmamrrmumﬁﬁ. Brussels, Belglum 104
mﬂ!éwwww Gl!-l'h!ﬁr 1.1Il|}
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Nm-ndl.oubwn‘tmnpury Ownership % Footnobe

EM‘Bd,g,:u'ia EDO0, Soba, B...l.g,m.: 100

Wﬂmﬂ# S-Mr-ml:erﬂ!f MMMB\' A-Hevpe et he Hethelamt 100 13

SaP Chele Limitacs, Santisgs de Chie, Chile 100 1"

SAP IS, LLC, Moscow, Mussia 100

SAP Coloninia S5, Bogotd, D.C., Colomiia 10y iR

SAP Coda Rica, 5S4, San Sosé, Costa Rca 100 1B

S&P CR. spod. § 0.0, Pmgue, Coech Repubiic .:I.DI}

ﬁ-l-;‘."c.wrus Li'hud.;iicwa..mm 104

SAF do.a., £agred, Croatia 104 18

wmmn.rs unpunnapn nam-.m.. 100

SJ-PI:Hle Brnew.mu- |Mmm#mmmlurnﬁmuh.mmr iy 100

'SAPE.nl-\Jn:lurr'icd.Nalmb.Ktm 10dk 18

wzg,-ptu.c Caira, Em'ﬂ 108 18

SAP ICMES ms:de msﬁL Mo, Spain 100

SAP Ertte Betelipungs- und Vermagensweraaltungs GmbH, Walldor!, Geemany g 10,11

SAP Esloria O, Tadien, Extonia 100

SAP Financial. Inc,, Toront, Canada 100

S&P Firland Gy, ernmm 104k

SAI‘thm Hﬁdfﬁﬁﬂm '-'-I'nhdm" Gl-rmany .1Dl}

SAP France Molding 5.4, Lms Pe-nﬂ France 104

SAP Giobal M.mu.ng, e, M Yiork, WY, Unibed Stabes 104

wmua:wumms.n. Am-m Grﬂ:n- 10

Sﬂmﬂﬂcn Led., Hw'l;Koﬂg. Ch-l\l . .ilil} 1]

SAP l'lo-'shng B'-mug.mp GmioH, 5t Leon-Rot. v:.nn-.arg- 108 10,11

EAI"-'n:ia tl-lndd.nﬂ F'In 1.1:I. Srgapmu Slngapou 1040 .

Sap '-'«n'-nlwl Parasng. S.A. P.!r'.!n‘.a Ci'lr. Prdes 10y

SAP temational, Inc., WMiami, FL, Unied Sates 108y

SAP ircesiments, i, Wilminglon, DE, Unied Staes 100

SAP ieland Lirined, Duislioy, Seelend 100 la

S&P feeiand US - Finantial Serdoes Designated Activity Comnpany, Duliing Indtand 104k

ﬂ.P w.ml L1|‘I Ra'anana, Srael 100 12

S-'-T"l'h:-mnr.m msmhm 1,15:0

SAP Labd France 545, Mougr, Frarce 104

SAP Labs srael Lid., Ra‘anana, sl 106

wum I{um. inc.. r-m.l Souah Karea i

WUM&SIA. Figa, Lahva mo

SAP Malaysla Sdn Bhd |, Kualn Lurmipar, Malsysia 106

CAP Mddis Exul and Monh Alvica LLC. Dubal, Usvbed Arsh Emsnates a0 B 18

TAP Matdie East F2-LLC, Dubds, Uited Arad Ermiraled 100 1B

SAP Bedeiand Holdng BV, sHmtogenioosch, the Nethelands 100 13

SAP bupw Testand Limdted, Auckdand, New Tealand 100

SAP Rorge &S, DAk, Norway 104r

wmhwmm-:auu. Etul:una:n y— 100

Wﬂswwhﬁmch '-"4!’-\1 ﬁumu 1,15:6
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Hame and Location of Company Ownership % Footnobe
SAP Perd S.AC, hnl..,.F'un.l - 100 1’
Wmnm ne. !'uu: City, Prilippieus 100 18
SAP Polska 5o, ¢ a6, Wartiw, Poland 106

SAP Pomais Eueops GenoH, Walldod, Ganrany 100

SAP Poals Holding Betedigungs Gevt, Walldor, Germany 100

SAP Poals iseae Lid., Raanana, |saed 100

SA.P‘MM 'Shbﬂ"ﬂﬁ mrmlnlmﬂlﬂm Socedade Unepessoal, LI‘.I-'I

ot ST, POEH. e

Wﬁqmmw u’ﬂmblum Eﬂ‘ﬂ'l \’l'dllih'l Elm'lllh'r .:I.ﬂl}

SAP Public Services, o, Washngon, DG, um-ed States 10&

SAP Puerto Rico GmiH, Walldord, : Germany 104 10, 11, 18

wneuﬂ w..mm wmwlmn GmuH w.luur G-Mnarr:.l 100

Wmﬁa SHL Bu-t,ha-eu rarania 1[!}

SAP Saudi Arinls Softwase Senices Lid, Riyach, kingdom of Saudi Arania L

SAP Saudi ﬂ.rm‘&o&wue Tra-d-'rier. nr:ndh k’ﬂnﬂnﬁn‘ 5.1»4 Mau-a '-'5 1&

SAP Sechile Ed:J.lg,l.mﬂ. mld\'rn"ﬂnmwma‘lw\g.tﬁmmwmdmf Genrany .1IJ|]' 14, 11

SAP St Mnlw und Vemagensvenaniungs GmioH, Wallioe!, Germany 00 10,11

SAP st0m, apFencie i produl 2 oRdel podatko 0.6, Liskqan, Siovenis 100

SAF Siovertion 110, Benlitliva. Siovakis 10dx

SAP Software and Senices LLT, Daha, Catat a5 B, 18

WWMMSI:M smu :I-.l'.'l}

S&P System Application and Products Asia Myanmdar Limited, Yangon, I'J';.mm'll 106

SAF Sysiems, Appications and Products in Data Frocessing (Thalland) Lid., Bangeok, Thaliand 106

W'!’mnc.n l,ncl Tapm "I'lw.m :ml}

WTHHW!-IH P'MNLG.CL Livited Saaes 100

SAP Trainirg and Deviopmant insiitube FECO, Dubal, Unked A Emiates L0 18

wTumut '-'n-mh'lmm w'l'uruks w:nw_fmm- 100

SAP AR, Nnm. Lihuaml .lﬂl'

SAP Vi nLees Investment GmbH, Wakido, Geimany 00 10,11

AP Vipete Betodgungs- vnd Verssdparmeinaliuegs Gmib, Walldon, Gommary 10y

SAP Vietnam Compary Limited, Mo Chi Mirh City, Wietram 108

SAP West Balkans do.o., Baigrade, Sorba 100

BAP Deeite Htlﬁw wrd Wmmwlm Cﬂ‘hh '-'.rmml Geman;r i 1{r..:it

S&P b0 Furd, LP., Austin, TX, Unlled Sties o T

“Sappkire Fund Investments || Hoidings, LLE, Astin, T, Unked States 100 7

S-upph't Fn.-na Inmm'im i, L P Mn Tx.'.rm'tﬂ Ssam. D T

upﬁhmm Imvestmerts, i) Hdﬁng: LLE. Aasstin, TX, Urited Siates 100 BT

Sa-pplweﬁ.mdlmrrr\-erulll L.P_, Austin, T, United States o T

MWWWEQMMFMLP Mm TLM‘MN—& D 7

SSWWNMHFM!.LP..MT\.TL Urited Sates 0 T

‘Sapphire Verhuoes Fund 0, LP., Austn, TX, Urited Stales L] T

Sapphine Voniuees Fund 0, LI Austin, TX, Urited States [ 7

Sappdine Verhates Furd . LP., Auitin, TX, United States 0 7

‘Sapphine Ventures Fund v, LP., Austin, T, Unied Stabes L] T

iq.pphrr';runrupi Fund W1, LP,, Austin, m..ur-ma.mn /] T
26233
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Nm-ndl.oubwn‘tmnpury Ownership % Footnobe
‘Sappld\evmlmHFN'\l'uA.LF .nl..:.'.'hn n: Unuumum o 57
SAPY [Masuritis). EDene, Maciliss w7
Sharghai SAP Clowd Technology Commpany, Lbd.. Shanghal. Ohing o &
Signavio ANT Py Licl, Melnourrs. Australia 100

Signavio Pre. Lid, S . Sngap hii 1]
Signanvio LK Lid, Bemngham, Unted Kingdom 104 12
Signavio, Inc., Newtown Square, P4 errﬂ States 100
latving. I.I.C 'mnunau I:‘f_'l..lrl-htd Slnﬁ- 1.00
MnsFa:lnt:{F'H:p-pmﬂ], Inc., Pasig City, Fhilippines 108y i
m-mpau.mcqm Led., Grand c-,wnc.:,mmm 100
smml.-.amm-nmlmr I.L'.'.- 'fnl'lr-'iﬂﬂm.bd: Linited Sames 10!}

'S:.'b:m.- Angul.u uba, Liards, Angols 10dk 17
i,iqm |h-efu_.5 L, umhd,sm.n 104
Emlﬂhﬂﬁmwcmuw LLC, Sam Framas, CA, Ueited Sinles 10y

Syt Inc., Gan Ramon, A Uribed Stabed 0¥
Symbems Apobcations Products [Africa Region) Proprietary Limbed, Johannesbog, South Africa 100
“Sysiems Apploationg Produces [Al'na] Propeietany Limiled, Johannasiung. South Alrica 100y
smmpmmmmmm [Souh ifnl:.l] Plnﬁr-l.".l.'y Llrrdtﬂ.}nr-anrﬁmnl Souah Arnta B1 1]
iﬁmmaum mwuun-aud. mm Island, Nigaria 100 18
Touia (Sranghai) Sman Technalogy Co. Lid. S-hmw l:’}hM 160 ]
Touta Austria P'r;l Lid., Erdlrr Australia 104 5
TmEa Eul,gnril Emr.r. Safia, Eulpril 100 5
Tw.-a G, Dmem!_ Gerﬂ‘lw .:I.Iil}. 5
Touta LLE, San Francisco, CA, United States. i LY
Thﬂd Ek'gapﬂn Fre. Lidl, Enppm S-n-gapor\e 1040 5
T T-MH TWW Dc.rut-lﬂarf Gty .1[l} &
Tauta UK Lid.. Landon, United Kingdom 100 &
Technodogy Management Assoclates inc, Crantlly, WA, Uniled Staies 100

Torkin Geeoup. LLC, Wilmsingon, DE, Unied Suames. 100y

T™ Property Moidings, LLC. Wimingon, DE, Uriled States 1
Tomoriowhiow, Inc., Bayan, T, Unted States 1040
TEKWLI‘HN Fezham, I.Mh-zljli-mw 1.1Il|}

TR Technologies india Private Limied, Bengatun, inda b i)

TR L Limibed, Feham, uﬂmmw 104 12
TR, Ine., Besievur, WA, Urited States we
u:ernrddoﬁhogao.aemmur S m-:-
Uzermind éemational, LLC, Pawva, UT, Unibed Stales 10k
Ugareringd, LLC. Prove. UT, Unded States 10dx

Wislurme Imtegation, ine., Resion, Vi, Unied Suasey 104y

! For the clirssfration of the sutrdiariesy, the faliewing higeres oe consdeed: nevenies, probifioe afer s, o] equity and romiber of
empioyees.

4 Tz figures are based on oo ocal IFRS financial slaterments prios 1o eliminafion rewdiicg rom comelidation and Semdore do not
sefect the conf-Eution of thess companies included i the Consolidebed Frnencial Satements. The translafion of the egquly inbe Group
Cutrency i baned on paricd-end closng exchange rates, and on serrage exchange rases for nevenue and nel incemelos.

' As o Dpcember &L, 2007, including sanageg drecsors, in FTE
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* Frpures oy proBUfiees after e and botl Squity poreant 10 HGE, secion 285 and section 313 ane nof disclosed if they ane ol ming:
sgnifcance bor ol preseniaton of the profitatelty, Dgudity, capiol resodoes, and fnancal poston of SAP SE, porsiant 1o HGE,
section 313 (7) sentence 3 no. 4 and section 286 (3] sentence 1 ro, 1

¥ Consolidaied for the Erad Bme in 2022
4 Agreements with The other sharehoiders provide Bl SAP SE lully contrals the entiy.
" Struckred ectity Belonging o SAPF 5B, Ther!umolopemmnlmrﬁhnm nchuded in SRy consolidated rancial satements

in accordance with FRS 10 [C idabed Finacial
':slgwdm-blrﬂlu r-rMMernsumluhhmmaM%mehmhmmw
ACEDEL.

* Eriey whose persanally Sable paneef B SAP SE

¥ sty ity (ool aeed) lirss trarder sgreemens

1k Pursant to HGE, secton 264 (3} or secnon 2640, the sutsdany & ensmg o appieng cerzen iegal requirements i thiir staninsy

standhaiore nancal siatemenss inclisding e iegunement o prepane notes B0 the Bnancal siatements and 3 review of opeTations. the

reguremen of independent s, and the requrement of publc dschosee.

¥ Pursuant 1o secion 430 ol the UK Companees Act 2004, the entity is ewempt rom Faving & Snancal vistements audited en the grounds

b The entity & arttled o B berelits Bom g dormant entity exesgion in renpect of i Inangial yesr ended Degesster 31, 022

1 Pursusnt o article 400 of e Duteh Chvil Coda, the ety n enempt from sislying oedain lepal requitement b theit ilatuinfy tand-

sl finandial statemarnts including s regquinement B prinang e Enancal st mises, the seguitemem of independen| s, and the

eegaresen of public dacioune, o the bash That SAP SE hus provided & puarmes of The enity's lablives in respect of it francial year

ended December 31, 2022, or in respect of its eancal yeor ended Septemper 30, 30032, respectively,

W Purswant 1o irish Comparnees At 2014, crapier 16 of Part 6, secion 385, the emity & snemg from having i fnancat sisiements

adited o0 the grounds that ©e ectity b entitied to the benefits rom 2 dormant enfity exempton in respect of it fnanclsl year ended

Decembeer A1, 2002

™ Pt o artcle T270, paragrach 2 of Be Swine Code of Oblgafom, P ecsity b exempt riom having i Francial stsements sadited

N Iespec o it Frangial year ended Decemter 31, 2002, o in reipect of its francial yoor ended Sepoemeser 30, 022, resgsrcvely,

“WWWMHL[#HWMIFHMCMAQIMN#EMI!EHQIHF rmﬂulmﬂ-:l 2013, the ptity
Pl peenensed Eariusisne and M ot requited B3 lodge madoed nancisl sl s it respect of i Fancal year esaded

September 30, 2023,

" Pursuant 10 Angolas Tax Law and Presdental Decree no. LATVLE of Ociober 1, 2013, the entty dees. not quably as beng a Lags

Taxpayer and Fevefore s exempt from hawing s fnancls) stsiements. sudied bn respect of &8 fnanclal year ended December 31, 212

™ Entity with suppon better mwued by SAF SE

1® Share of voting ighes b 953

264335
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Other Equity Investmeants

Hame and Locaton of Company Cowmnership 5
Juirt Arrang and I in A i

Chira DatsCom Compaation Limiled. Guangrhou, Ching i
Frocusement begacias Eloiebricos 508, R de Janeiro. Bzl 17
SAP Fieneer GmiH, Walda, Genmany 0

Hame and Location of Company

Equity Investmenis with Ownership of ot Least 5%

4:3‘1!1 Seonel Pacneds |, LI I-Itm.ﬂ-Pmk. CA, Unaed Sears
H3Worth IV, LP., Hertzalia, sraed

Aty GmbH, Vienna, Austria

...ugnson. m: m-ﬂmoda:rry CA, l.hw-:l 5““1

.i.ld'-em-ﬂ Attelerator Fund | LLE, San Franmt-u CA, United States
.aunpha-usw.' L., Grand Ca-.-m.un ca:.-mun tslands

All 'I'.u 'Di.lr!nrrr sdm Tﬁmm.a;ﬁ.ﬁ. Ko Flr.m Benzil
Ariplify Padterd, LP. Mend Pack. Ch, Uviited Siates

Amplify Pastners || LP., Menlo Pass, CA, Uniled Stabes

Areplily Paares 111, LP., Moo Pasr, CO United Stated

Arriplify Pastners IV, LP._ Menio Par, Ca, Unitied States

Amplily Pasiners Selecl Fund IV, L.P., Mento Fang, CA, Uinited Sales
B35 Heldings. 0., Austn, TX, U:I"i'll!d s

Bitoric Technology Labs, inc.. Karatska, inda

Blue ¥ard Clp-raL 1 Afiernatve GmbH & Co. KG, Berén, Grrrrun;.a
Btur \'md up-ul [ GmH acm KG, Bﬂhn B?W':r

Bl ¥ard Srdpo 1, LP., Hot ﬁmnus\fﬁm AR, Unked States
Boldstar Vertues ¥, LP., New Yok, N, Unied Sisies
MIM'M'PMH-'-"I LP Mw'-'ﬂ'k N'r' J.h'm:l SEmMS
Bﬁﬂlﬁﬂd Haldings, Ine_. New York, NY, Linftid States

BY Capital 2 GrmbH & Ca. KiG, Bavln, Gemany

Crrvas Vienlues 3, LP,, Pomods Vatley. CA, Unied Staies
Catdrport Syitec, Inc., ke Yok, NY, Unitled Smes

0 &G, 3. Gallen, S'Iltz-:ﬂ.lrd

Ctl.l'!-brl lrim,vlﬂ Fn.nﬂ I-LP ‘?1 MN SISy, Ehlr'rll I!..ﬂ'r:h
m%wmu Fund il L-P Sl oL, iy, CHIH!'.I!-.-I-IH!
Chatlen Viertures Fund 11l LP., 5t Helier, Jersey, Channed islands
Cﬁ(leﬁl e, E.tnﬁum:&un, CA Unfted Sxates

f=T 1N S.n'lr‘r-'lle GCA, Urtitdsunu

ComponentLab, Inc., Seattie, W, umnﬂﬁm=

Comenifiul Glooal, Inc_, Bedin, Geimamy

Castinna Venture Captal 1l LP.. P Ma, GA. United Stites
Costanoa Venture Captal 11 LF., Pato Alta, T4A, Uniled Stales
Coftaroa Venuee Capiad OF, LLC. Palo Alto, CA, Unised Sttes
Creandur 5PV TR (D) AB, Siackhotm, Sweden

Cutlume Amp, Inc., San Francsco, CA, Unded Sides
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Mame and Location of Gnmpur':,'

C',.'pim x, ., Aflanta, L'-.ﬂ.. Urﬂndﬁull:

ﬂl'ln %w-w e P‘ﬂk:l NM CA Unded States

(Dta Cotiective 111 LP Palo Alta, Ca, Uinibed Srabes

Dpta Colisctive 0, LP., Pala Allo, CA, Urited St

Dagital Mul: Rhein-Mecil Gribk, Ludwigshafen, Germany

Dll:mru Corporbon, 5."‘.!! Claaa, CA, Unfied States

n-nd.m S Lisben, :Panui,ul

'-'{'H C-EM#. “l'id I, Lo, UM.H Hlﬂﬂﬂ'ﬁtﬂ

Felle Vertutes 11, LP., London, Linked K.lrwiom

Firon Saddices, Inc, [ﬂn Cn.irl:ﬂl Maw Yo, I-I'f' Lhrtd EID'-I
lfw.owwn-u Ine. San Fumm L‘-i.unrﬂ 'SHTI'S
GiGuardan SA5, Parls, France

Gur@::. Inc., S.tnl'-.larm-sm CA, Lindod SEates

Hl-ysucle '-Mu-‘!-s V.LP, Mu. Walley. Ch, United Sustas
HEptack Ventures VI, LP., M Valley, Ch, Urdled States

DG Wemures USA N, LP., San Francisco, CA, Unded SEstes

I Giowg, InC.. b Waork, INY, Linibed Soanes

wfluniata, nc . San Francison, Ca. Unted Stabes

hldﬁilﬂ‘{.ﬂn SPYVLLE, L;'ILrh:r_ (=8 Ll‘l'ﬂfﬂ.ﬂlllﬂ

o Tnchmﬂ@e— und Grinderzertrum Walldord Stitung GerbH, Walldor!, Geomany
Imﬂl.w i, 'n: Sama Morsa, CA. thlds‘lmn

Jhﬂl.trm I, WI‘SNF hﬂ\.uﬂiﬂ SIMH

Kaltuea, inc., New Yok, NY, Unked States

LeariDats, e, Sunnywvale, CA, Uniied Staies

LGV F | LLE, D, BIL Unted SEasis

Lacal Globe VI, LP., 5t Paler Porl, Guesneey, Charnal =lards
Local Globe VI, L.P,, S0 Peter Poel, Gueinsey, Chanmel isands
Local Globe X, LP., St Meted Port, Godeniy, Channal iiands
lmalﬁlm Xl LP., 5t Peler Porl, Goewnsey, Channe] I:.'.ard!
I.MIEI.EEIII L.l F' 5t Pﬂl:f PDﬂ G.l.lﬂn&ql EMN’CI IH.I.r‘dE
l.%vﬂ G-h#! napon-.uﬂy Ful'ﬂ] I. P SI F‘HHM ﬁultfrﬂr ﬂh‘lﬂﬂﬂ I.-.um!s
Mlngo 'Canlli 2018, LP Lo Albos, '.‘:A,Lll'a'ltcl Sames
mn&u{aplﬂ.m LP_, Los Alboes, Eﬁ, Unfed States
Mlneo{'-hnal-lt .'h'-'l?.?' L 3 I.Mﬂm C-'- Urll'lld 5-um

Mmi.lm- L1u A.lr-r\cham umgﬂlﬁw

Medabie Inc., Palo Ao, CA. Unfed SEates

WP Sambagic Patnenhip Fund GmbH & Co. KG., Munsch, Geimaity
Motation Capial || CIRC, LLC, Broakdym, MY, Urined S1ates .
Kotation Capital, LP., Brooalyn, N¥, Unded Sinies

Hatation Capital |1, LP. Brookiym, KY, Unsited S

Nmﬂ.rnn Capital 111, L.P_, Brooidyn, KY, Uriled Stales

ND'I'&.HI:MI I 5F"|I' 5'-' EI:TPJIIN LLC, Emﬂ!l:{n. hl'f' I.Inhnd SADAES
Qﬁl‘ﬂf wam Prsm-e-ﬂa l:#..i.lrl-itd SlHﬂ

286335
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Hame and Location of t‘.ompur':.-

ﬂ-pu..‘t.lm Inc., San Jose, CA, Ur&]nﬁi&m:ﬁ-

l".!-ﬂ-h' Emm%ﬂm-‘r I, Mamnep., Cardads
Perdaio, ng., Raleigh, WG, Unfted SEstes

Pwothiomh Eaty Furd I, LP., Athermon, CA_ Wniled Siates
Paint ke Annex Gmikl & Co. KG. Berin. Germany

[Podnt Mene Capdtal Fund |} GmbH & Co. ms Berlin, Germany
Pnrru h—nrc:pml Fund 11i ﬁmuH?.cn. Kﬁ E:-rl..n I:'vumarry
Pq-m h'-ntl:-amnlrumw w&ow m mﬁn Gy
Point h‘metapﬂal Fund W GmiH & Co. KG, Berln, Germany
Poq_tcl 4-:._ wng., :m:agn. L, United States

qun Ine., Sar Francisco, ch. uma Saates

dhalifed com. Inc., San Frandico, Ca, United States

Reltio, rc,, Redwoosd Shores, CA, Undded Sintes

Restreae. inc.. fustin, TH, Urted Stptes

Ridge Vemlures 0V, LP., San Franczoo, ChA, Unided Stales
idge Verlures V. L P, San Francescn, CA, United States
SaleGanph, Inc., Demeer, OO, Unied Staes

Sapphine Spon, LP. mr- T um.cu Slabes
sauﬂhrtﬁmﬂ Plhﬂﬁ.-‘-d I.l‘ At Tﬁ unrﬁlﬁmra
Sapphine Spon Paatiel Fund 11, LP. Ause n. T, Wnibed mm
Shde, Inc, San Francisco, CA, Unbed States

"..'umn l;i..' F'I.nnnmi..l;'u: .. Tadkyo, Jagan ;

Selashang, Inc., San Jose. CA, LiniLed States

Spring Mobile Satutions, nc., Salt ;J:he City, UT, United States
StackdHewi, inc., Devrver, OO0, Unded E.Il#l

Sterm Verdures V. LP.. Ménis Pk, €A, Usited States

Sun Baskel, Inc., San Franciico, CA, United Siates
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T O Cowritirsd Growup Comsolidated Financlal Funber infornition an  Ad@ional
Stakehoiders Maragereri Roport Statements FRS Sustanabily information

(G.10) German Code of Corporate Governance

Thie German bederal povvedmumeent published the German Cofporate Governance Code (the “Code”) in
February 200 and introduced a cormmisson that amends the Code from time to time, The Code
contars Statulony requinements and a number of recommendabions and suggeshons, Only the legal
requirernents ang banding for German companies. With regard 1o the recommendations. the Geoman
Stock Corporation Act, section 161, requires that every year, listed comparées publicly state the exbent
10 which ey have implemented them, Companies can deviate from the sugpestions withaut having
o make any publc statements

In 2022 and 2021, the Executive Board and Supenasary Board of SAP SE issued the redquined
declarabons of implementation, The declaration o 2022 was issued at the end of Ootober 2022
These statements ane avadable on cuwr Web sta:
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Independent Auditor®s Report

To SAP SE, Walldorf

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements and of the
Group Management Report

Opinions

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of SAP SE, Walldorf, and its subsidiaries (the
Group), which comprise the consolidated statements of financial position as at December 31, 2022,
consolidated income statements, consolidated statements of comprehensive income, consolidated statements of
changes in equity and consolidated statements of cash flows for the financial year from January 1 to
December 31, 2022 and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies.

In addition, we have audited the combined Group Management Report by the SAP Group and the Management
Report of SAP SE, Walldorf (““Group Management Report””) for the financial year from January 1 to December
31, 2022. In accordance with German legal requirements, we have not audited the content of those components
of the Group Management Report specified in the "Other Information™ section of our auditor®s report.

In our opinion, on the basis of the knowledge obtained in the audit,

the accompanying consolidated financial statements comply, in all material respects, with the IFRSs as
adopted by the EU and the additional requirements of German commercial law pursuant to Section 315e (1)
HGB [Handelsgesetzbuch: German Commercial Code], as well as the IFRSs as adopted by the International
Accounting Standards Board and, in compliance with these requirements, give a true and fair view of the
assets, liabilities and financial position of the Group as at December 31, 2022, and of its financial
performance for the financial year from January 1 to December 31, 2022 and

the accompanying Group Management Report as a whole provides an appropriate view of the Group®s
position. In all material respects, this Group Management Report is consistent with the consolidated
financial statements, complies with German legal requirements and appropriately presents the
opportunities and risks of future development. Our opinion on the Group Management Report does not
cover the content of those components of the Group Management Report specified in the "Other
Information" section of the auditor"s report.

Pursuant to Section 322 (3) sentence 1 HGB, we declare that our audit has not led to any reservations

relating to the legal compliance of the consolidated financial statements and of the Group Management
Report.
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Basis for the Opinions

We conducted our audit of the consolidated financial statements and of the Group Management Report in
accordance with Section 317 HGB and the EU Audit Regulation No. 537/2014 (referred to subsequently as ““EU
Audit Regulation””) and in compliance with German Generally Accepted Standards for Financial Statement
Audits promulgated by the Institut der Wirtschaftsprifer [Institute of Public Auditors in Germany] (IDW) as
well as in supplementary compliance with the International Standards on Auditing (ISAs) and guidelines of
the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States).

Our responsibilities under those requirements, principles and standards are further described in the
““Auditor®s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements and of the Group
Management Report”” section of our auditor®s report. We are independent of the group entities in accordance
with the requirements of European law and German commercial and professional law, and we have fulfilled our
other German professional responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. In addition, in
accordance with Article 10 (2) point (f) of the EU Audit Regulation, we declare that we have not provided
non-audit services prohibited under Article 5 (1) of the EU Audit Regulation. We believe that the evidence
we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinions on the consolidated
financial statements and on the Group Management Report.

Key Audit Matters in the Audit of Consolidated Financial Statements
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our
audit of the consolidated financial statements for the financial year from January 1 to December 31, 2022.

These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a
whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Software license revenue recognition
Refer to note (A.1) —Revenue and Group Management Report, section Risk Management and Risks.
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENT RISK

In the financial year 2022 SAP generated revenue of EUR 30,871 million, of which EUR 13,965 million relate
to revenues from sales of software licenses and support.

The evaluation of software licenses revenue recognition bears an inherent risk of errors as SAP"s software
customer contracts are complex. SAP defined detailed policies, procedures and processes to manage the
accounting for its customer contracts, which are also described in the notes. Applying them often requires
significant judgments, in particular in the assessment of the following:

1. whether various contracts are economically interrelated,

2. whether products and services qualify as separate performance obligations, and

3. the allocation of the transaction price of a customer contract to the performance obligations in the
contract based on standalone-selling prices.

There is the financial statement risk that the recognition cut-off of software license revenue as at the
balance sheet date is incorrect and that revenues are allocated incorrectly.
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OUR AUDIT APPROACH

On software revenue recognition, we evaluated the compliance of SAP"s accounting policies with the IFRS
Framework and IFRS 15.

We evaluated the design and tested the operating effectiveness of certain internal controls related to the
revenue process including controls related to the identification of economically interrelated contracts,
separate performance obligations and allocation of the transaction price to the performance obligations in
the contract.

For a sample of customer contracts, which were selected using a statistical approach, we:

inspected the underlying contractual agreements and other related documents as well as inquired with
SAP*s accounting and/or sales representatives to evaluate SAP"s assessment of whether contracts were
economically interrelated as well as to evaluate the identified performance obligations and allocation
of transaction price,

obtained and inspected external confirmations of the key terms and conditions from the respective
customers to test whether contracts were economically interrelated, as well as to evaluate the
identified performance obligations,

evaluated the allocation of the transaction price for each of the deliverables that qualified as a
separate performance obligation by assessing the methodology applied and testing mathematical accuracy
of the underlying calculations.

For the majority of software support revenue, we compared the actual support revenue with the support
revenue that is expected based on last year"s support revenue, the loss rate of last year"s support
contracts and the current year software sales that trigger additional support revenue.

OUR OBSERVATIONS

SAP has developed an adequate framework for determining the accounting treatment for its revenue. For the
vast majority of the software arrangements entered into during 2022, it was clear which of SAP"s revenue
recognition policies should be applied. Where there was room for interpretation, SAP"s judgment was
balanced and appropriate.

Assessment of the Group®s uncertain tax treatments

Refer to note (C.5) —-Income Taxes, and Group Management Report section Risk Management and Risks.
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENT RISK

SAP operates in multiple tax jurisdictions with complexities and uncertainties due to different
interpretations of tax laws, such as those involving transfer pricing and intercompany transactions between
SAP Group entities. The determination of provisions for tax uncertainties requires SAP to make judgments on
tax issues and develop estimates regarding SAP"s exposure to tax risks. SAP regularly engages external
experts to provide tax opinions to support their own risk assessment. The risk for the consolidated
financial statements relates to the completeness, measurement and disclosure of the provision for uncertain
tax treatments. As of December 31, 2022 SAP disclosed contingent liabilities relating to tax uncertainties
of EUR 1,571 million.
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OUR AUDIT APPROACH

We evaluated the design and tested the operating effectiveness of certain internal controls over the tax
process including controls over the Group®s assessment of tax law and the process to estimate the related
exposures. We assessed the competency, skills and objectivity of the external experts and evaluated the
related expert opinions. We inquired of the Group®s tax department and inspected correspondence with the
relevant tax authorities. We involved tax professionals with specialized skills and knowledge, who assisted
in evaluating SAP*s conclusions over the estimate of tax uncertainties based on their knowledge and
experience regarding the application of relevant legislation by tax authorities and courts.

Finally, we assessed whether the disclosures in the notes with respect to uncertain tax treatments are
complete and appropriate.

OUR OBSERVATIONS

SAP"s judgments as to the amounts recognized as tax provisions for tax uncertainties as of December 31,
2022 are appropriate. The disclosures in the notes to the consolidated financial statements are complete
and appropriate.

Valuation of unlisted equity securities
Refer to note (D.6) -Equity Investments and note (F.2) —Fair Value Disclosures on Financial Instruments
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENT RISK

As of December 31, 2022, the Company holds unlisted equity securities with a carrying amount of EUR 4,879
million. These financial instruments are classified as equity securities at fair value through profit and
loss and their valuations are based on significant unobservable inputs (Level 3 of the fair value
hierarchy).

The measurement of fair value of such investments is complex and, with regard to the assumptions made,
highly dependent on management"s estimates and judgments. This applies particularly to selection of the
appropriate valuation method and the determination of the significant unobservable inputs.

There is the risk for the consolidated financial statements that the valuations are not appropriate. There
is also the risk that the related disclosures in the notes are not appropriate.

OUR AUDIT APPROACH

We evaluated the design and implementation and tested the operating effectiveness of certain internal
controls over the Company®s investments process. This included controls related to selection of the
valuation model and the relevance and reliability of the significant unobservable inputs. We also involved
financial instrument valuation professionals with specialized skills and knowledge, who assisted in testing
management®s ability to produce a fair value estimate compliant with IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurements for a
selection of investments by (1) testing the appropriateness of the valuation method selected by comparing
it to our expectation based on industry experience and knowledge of the investment, and (2) assessing the
reliability and relevance of the significant unobservable inputs by comparing them to historical and market
information.

Finally, we assessed whether the related disclosures in the notes regarding the determination of fair value
are appropriate.
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OUR OBSERVATIONS

The valuation method used for the valuation of unlisted equity securities is appropriate and in line with
the accounting policies. The Company®s underlying assumptions and data are appropriate. The related
disclosures in the notes are appropriate.

Other Information

The Executive Board and the Supervisory Board, respectively, of SAP SE is responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the following components of the Management Report, whose
content was not audited:

the combined non-financial statement, included in section ““Non-Financial Statement Including
Information on Sustainable Activities”” of the Group Management Report,

the corporate governance statement, referred to in section ““Corporate Governance Fundamentals”” of the
Group Management Report, and

information extraneous to the Group Management Report and marked as unaudited.

The other information also includes the annual report on Form 20-F and remaining parts of the annual

report.
The other information does not include the consolidated financial statements, group management report
information and our auditor®s report thereon.

Our opinions on the consolidated financial statements and on the Group Management Report do not cover the
other information and consequently we do not express an opinion or any other form of assurance conclusion
thereon.

In connection with our audit, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in so doing, to
consider whether the other information

is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements, with the Group Management Report
information audited for content or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or

otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

In addition, we were engaged to perform an independent assurance engagement on selected qualitative and
quantitative sustainability disclosures of the integrated report 2022. In regard to the nature, extent and
conclusions of this independent assurance engagement we refer to our Independence Assurance Report dated on
February 22, 2023.
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Responsibilities of the Executive Board and the Supervisory Board for the
Consolidated Financial Statements and the Group Management Report

The Executive Board of SAP SE is responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements
that comply, in all material respects, with IFRSs as adopted by the EU and the additional requirements of
German commercial law pursuant to Section 315e (1) HGB as well as IFRSs as adopted by the International
Accounting Standards Board and that the consolidated financial statements, in compliance with these
requirements, give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position, and financial
performance of the Group. In addition, the Executive Board is responsible for such internal control as the
Executive Board has determined necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud (i.e., fraudulent financial reporting and
misappropriation of assets) or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Executive Board is responsible for assessing the
Group®s ability to continue as a going concern. The Executive Board also has the responsibility for
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern. In addition, the Executive Board is
responsible for financial reporting based on the going concern basis of accounting unless there is an
intention to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or there is no realistic alternative but to do so.

Furthermore, the Executive Board is responsible for the preparation of the Group Management Report that, as
a whole, provides an appropriate view of the Group®s position and is, in all material respects, consistent
with the consolidated financial statements, complies with the German legal requirements and appropriately
presents the opportunities and risks of future development. In addition, the Executive Board is responsible
for such arrangements and measures (systems) as the Executive Board has considered necessary to enable the
preparation of the Group Management Report that is in accordance with the applicable German legal
requirements, the German Accounting Standards number 17 and 20 (GAS 17, GAS 20) and the IFRS Practice
Statement Management Commentary and to be able to provide sufficient appropriate evidence for the
assertions in the Group Management Report.

The Supervisory Board 1is responsible for overseeing the Group®"s financial reporting process for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements and of the Group Management Report.

Auditor®s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements and of the Group Management Report

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and whether the Group Management
Report as a whole provides an appropriate view of the Group®s position and, in all material respects, is
consistent with the consolidated financial statements and the knowledge obtained in the audit, complies
with the German legal requirements and appropriately presents the opportunities and risks of future
development, as well as to issue an auditor®s report that includes our opinions on the consolidated
financial statements and on the Group Management Report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with Section 317 HGB and the EU Audit Regulation and in compliance with German Generally
Accepted Standards for Financial Statement Audits promulgated by the Institut der Wirtschaftsprifer (IDW)
as well as in supplementary compliance with ISAs and guidelines of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States) will always detect a material misstatement. Misstatements can arise from fraud or
error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements
and this Group Management Report.
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We exercise professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements and of
the Group Management Report, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinions. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than the risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit of the consolidated financial
statements and of arrangements and measures (systems) relevant to the audit of the Group Management
Report in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used by the Executive Board and the reasonableness
of accounting estimates made by the Executive Board and related disclosures.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the Executive Board"s use of the going concern basis of accounting
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group®s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in the auditor™s report
to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements and in the Group Management Report
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our respective opinions. Our conclusions are based on
the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor"s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to be able to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements present the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the assets, liabilities, financial position and financial performance of the Group in
compliance with IFRSs as adopted by the EU as well as with IFRSs as adopted by the International
Accounting Standards Board and the additional requirements of German commercial law pursuant to Section
315e (1) HGB.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business activities within the Group to express opinions on the consolidated financial statements and
on the Group Management Report. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of
the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our opinions.

Evaluate the consistency of the Group Management Report with the consolidated financial statements, its
conformity with German law, and the view of the Group®s position it provides.

Perform audit procedures on the prospective information presented by the Executive Board in the Group
Management Report. On the basis of sufficient appropriate audit evidence we evaluate, in particular,
the significant assumptions used by the Executive Board as a basis for the prospective information, and
evaluate the proper derivation of the prospective information from these assumptions. We do not express
a separate opinion on the prospective information and on the assumptions used as a basis. There is a
substantial unavoidable risk that future events will differ materially from the prospective
information.

We communicate with the Supervisory Board regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of
the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that
we identify during our audit.
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We also provide the Supervisory Board with a statement that we have complied with relevant independence
requirements and communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought
to bear on our independence, and where applicable the actions taken or safeguards applied to eliminate
independence threats.

From the matters communicated with the Supervisory Board, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor®s report, unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter.

Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting in the Consolidated
Financial Statements pursuant to PCAOB

Opinion on Internal Control over Financial Reporting in the Consolidated
Financial Statements

We have audited the internal control over financial reporting in the consolidated financial statements of
SAP SE, Walldorf, and its subsidiaries in place as at December 31, 2022. This control system is based on
criteria set out in the Internal Control —Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (C0SO).

In our opinion, SAP maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial
reporting in the consolidated financial statements as at December 31, 2022 based on the criteria set out in
the Internal Control —Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the COSO.

Executive Board"s and Supervisory Board"s Responsibility for the Internal Control over Financial Reporting
in the Consolidated Financial Statements

SAP SE"s Executive Board is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting
in the consolidated financial statements and assessing its effectiveness, which is included in the
Executive Board"s report on the internal control over consolidated financial reporting.

A company®s internal control over financial reporting in the consolidated financial statements is a process
designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting in the
consolidated financial statements and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company®s internal control over financial
reporting in the consolidated financial statements includes policies and procedures to (1) ensure an
accounting system that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflects the transactions and
dispositions of the company®s assets, (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as
necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles, and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized
acquisition, use or disposition of the company"s assets that could have a material effect on the financial
statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect
material misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject
to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of
compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.
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The Supervisory Board is responsible for overseeing the Group®s internal control over financial reporting
in the consolidated financial statements.

Auditor®s Responsibility for the Internal Control over Financial Reporting in
the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the internal control over financial reporting in the
consolidated financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with the
standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we
plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over
financial reporting in the consolidated financial statements was maintained in all material respects. Our
audit of internal control over financial reporting in the consolidated financial statements included
obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk of material
deficiencies in internal control, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal
control based on this assessment, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the
circumstances.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion.

Report on the Assurance on the Electronic Rendering of the Consolidated
Financial Statements and the Group Management Report Prepared for Publication
Purposes in Accordance with Section 317 (3a) HGB

We have performed assurance work in accordance with Section 317 (3a) HGB to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the rendering of the consolidated financial statements and the group management report
(hereinafter the ““ESEF documents®”) contained in the electronic file ,sap-2022-12-31-DE.zip““ (SHA256-
Hashwert: 80f4afbc 863116ce74f79636274454b3ed17912533F2b0fca74443e6d9ac657a) made available and prepared
for publication purposes complies in all material respects with the requirements of Section 328 (1) HGB for
the electronic reporting format (““ESEF format””). In accordance with German legal requirements, this
assurance work extends only to the conversion of the information contained in the consolidated financial
statements and the group management report into the ESEF format and therefore relates neither to the
information contained in these renderings nor to any other information contained in the file identified
above.

In our opinion, the rendering of the consolidated financial statements and the group management report
contained in the electronic file made available, identified above and prepared for publication purposes
complies in all material respects with the requirements of Section 328 (1) HGB for the electronic reporting
format. Beyond this assurance opinion and our audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial
statements and the accompanying group management report for the financial year from January 1, 2022 to
December 31, 2022 contained in the ““Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements and the
Group Management Report”” above, we do not express any assurance opinion on the information contained
within these renderings or on the other information contained in the file identified above.

We conducted our assurance work on the rendering of the consolidated financial statements and the group
management report contained in the file made available and identified above in accordance with Section 317
(3a) HGB and the IDW Assurance Standard: Assurance Work on the Electronic Rendering of Financial Statements
and Management Reports Prepared for Publication Purposes in Accordance with Section 317 (3a) HGB (IDW AsS
410 (6.2022)). Our responsibility in accordance therewith is further described below. Our audit firm
applies the IDW Standard on Quality Management 1: Requirements for Quality Management in Audit Firms (IDW
QS 1).
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The company®s management is responsible for the preparation of the ESEF documents including the electronic
rendering of the consolidated financial statements and the group management report in accordance with
Section 328 (1) sentence 4 item 1 HGB and for the tagging of the consolidated financial statements in
accordance with Section 328 (1) sentence 4 item 2 HGB.

In addition, the company®s management is responsible for such internal control that they have considered
necessary to enable the preparation of ESEF documents that are free from material intentional or
unintentional non-compliance with the requirements of Section 328 (1) HGB for the electronic reporting
format.

The Supervisory Board is responsible for overseeing the process of preparing the ESEF documents as part of
the financial reporting process.

Our objective is to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the ESEF documents are free from material
intentional or unintentional non-compliance with the requirements of Section 328 (1) HGB.

We exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the assurance work. We
also:

Identify and assess the risks of material intentional or unintentional non-compliance with the
requirements of Section 328 (1) HGB, design and perform assurance procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain assurance evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our assurance
opinion.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the assurance on the ESEF documents in order to
design assurance procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an assurance opinion on the effectiveness of these controls.

Evaluate the technical validity of the ESEF documents, i.e. whether the file made available containing
the ESEF documents meets the requirements of the Delegated Regulation (EU) 2019/815, as amended as at
the reporting date, on the technical specification for this electronic file.

Evaluate whether the ESEF documents provide an XHTML rendering with content equivalent to the audited
consolidated financial statements and the audited group management report.

Evaluate whether the tagging of the ESEF documents with Inline XBRL technology (iXBRL) in accordance
with the requirements of Articles 4 and 6 of the Delegated Regulation (EU) 2019/815, as amended as at
the reporting date, enables an appropriate and complete machine-readable XBRL copy of the XHTML
rendering.

Further Information pursuant to Article 10 of the EU Audit Regulation

We were elected as group auditor at the annual general meeting on May 18, 2022. We were engaged by the
Chairman of the Audit and Compliance Committee of the Supervisory Board of SAP SE on June 9, 2022, and this
engagement was confirmed on July 13, 2022. We have been the group auditor of SAP SE without interruption

since the financial year 2002.

We declare that the opinions expressed in this auditor®s report are consistent with the additional report
to the audit committee pursuant to Article 11 of the EU Audit Regulation (long-form audit report).

In addition to the financial statement audit, we have provided to group entities the following services
that are not disclosed in the consolidated financial statements or in the Group Management Report:
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We audited the financial statements of SAP SE and performed various financial statement audits at
subsidiaries. Furthermore, other assurance services required by law or on a contractual basis were
performed, including an assurance engagement on selected qualitative and quantitative sustainability
disclosures of the Integrated Report 2022 and an EMIR assurance service pursuant to section 20 of German
Securities Trading Act [WpHG] and service organization attestation procedures.

Other matter — Use of the Auditor"s Report

Our auditor™s report must always be read together with the audited consolidated financial statements and
the audited group management report as well as the examined ESEF documents. The consolidated financial
statements and group management report converted to the ESEF format —including the versions to be entered
in the company register —are merely electronic renderings of the audited consolidated financial statements
and the audited group management report and do not take their place. In particular, the ESEF report and our
assurance opinion contained therein are to be used solely together with the examined ESEF documents made
available in electronic form.

German Public Auditor Responsible for the Engagement
The German Public Auditor responsible for the engagement is Bodo Rackwitz.
Mannheim, February 22, 2023

KPMG AG Wirtschaftspriifungsgesellschaft

Rackwitz Melliand
Wirtschaftsprifer Wirtschaftsprifer
German Public Auditor German Public Auditor
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